PROSPECTUS

US$1,500,000,000

. AngloAmerican

Anglo American Capital plc
US$1,000,000,0002.625% Senior Notes due 2030
US$500,000,000 3.950% Senior Notes due 2050

Guaranteed by Anglo American plc

This prospectus is being published by Anglo American Capitalplc (the “Issuer” or “Anglo American
Capital”’) in connection with Admission (as defined below) of its US$ 1,000 million of its 2.625% Senior Notes
due 2030 (the “2030 Notes”)and US$500 million of its 3.950% Senior Notes due 2050 (the“2050Notes” and,
together with the 2030 Notes, the “Notes”) with such Notes to be guaranteed (the “Guarantees”) by Anglo
Americanplc (the “Company”, “Guarantor” or “Anglo American” and, together with the Company’s
subsidiaries, jointventures and associates, “Anglo American Group”, the “Group”, or “we”). Interestwill be
paid on the Notes semi-annually and in arrears on March 10 and September 10 of each year, commencing on
March 10,2021. The 2030 Notes andthe2050 Notes willmature on September 10,2030and on September 10,

2050, respectively.

The Issuerhasthe option to redeem all ora portion ofthe Notes at any timeat the redemption prices set
forth in this document.

The Notes will be unsecured senior obligations of the Issuerand willrank equally with all of its other
existingand future unsubordinated indebtedness.

The Notes will be issued in fully registered form and only in denominations of US$200,000 and integral
multiples of US$1,000 in excess thereof.

Fora more detailed description of the Notes, see “Description of the Notes and the Guarantees”
beginningonpage 106.

An investmentin the Notes involves risks. See “Risk Factors” beginning on page 10.

Offering Price for the 2030 Notes: 99.095% plus accrued interest, if any, from September 10,2020
Offering Price for the 2050 Notes: 98.563% plus accrued interest, if any, from September 10,2020

Applicationhas been made to the Financial Conduct Authority in its capacity as competentauthority
pursuantto Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the “FCA”) for eachseries of the Notes to
be admitted to the officiallist of the FCA (the “Official List”) and tothe London Stock Exchange plc (the
“London Stock Exchange”) for each series of the Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock
Exchange’s Regulated Market (“Admission”). References in this document tothe Notes beinglisted (and all
related references) shallmean that the Notes have been admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s
Regulated Market and have been admitted to the Official List. The London Stock Exchange’s Regulated Market
is a regulated market for purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU (“MiFIDI1”). The securities to which this
documentrelates have notbeen recommended by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
or any other U.S. federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority nor havesuch authorities
confirmed the accuracy or adequacy of this document. Any representation to the contraryis a criminal
offense in the United States.

The Notes and the Guarantees havenot beenregistered, and we do notintend to registerthe Notes orthe
Guarantees, underthe U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act), orany securities laws of
any other jurisdiction. Accordingly,theNotes are beingofferedandsold in the United States only to qualified
institutional buyers in accordance with Rule 144A underthe Securities Act (“Rule 144A””) and outside the
United States to certain non-U.S. persons in accordance with Regulation S underthe Securities Act
(“Regulation S”). Prospective purchasers thatare qualified institutional buyers are hereby notified that
the seller of the Notes and the related Guarantees may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of



Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. For further details about eligible offerees and transfer
restrictions, see “Plan of Distribution” and “Transfer Restrictions”.

The Company’s credit ratings have beenissued by Moody ’s Investors Service Ltd. (“Moody’s”) and
Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services Europe Limited (“S&P”’) and are Baa2 (negativeoutlook) and BBB
(stable outlook), respectively. In general, Europeanregulated investors are restricted from using a rating for
regulatory purposes if such ratingis not issued by a credit ratinga gency established in the European Unionand
registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 (the “CRA Regulation™), unless the rating is provided by a
credit rating agency operating in the European Unionbefore June7,2010 which has submitted an application
forregistration in accordance with the CRA Regulation and such registration is not refused. S&P and Moody’s
have each beenregistered under the CRA Regulation by the European Securities and Markets Authorityas of

October31,2011.

BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., Santander Investment
Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Corp. and Scotia Capital (USA) Inc. (collectively, the “Joint Bookrunners”
or the “Initial Purchasers”) expectto deliver the Notes to purchasers on orabout September 10, 2020 through
the facilities of The Depository Trust Company including its participants Euroclear Bank SA/NV and
Clearstream Banking, société anonyme.

Joint Bookrunners
BNP PARIBAS Goldman Sachs &Co. HSBC Santander
LLC
CIBC Capital Markets Scotiabank

Prospectus dated September 10,2020
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION
NOTICE TOINVESTORS

The Issuer and the Company accept responsibility forthe information containedin this document. To the best
of the knowledge of the Issuer and the Company theinformation containedin this document is in accordance with
the facts andthis document contains no omission likely to affect its import. Where theinformationin this document
has been sourcedfroma thirdparty, suchinformation has been accuratelyreproduced andso far as the Issuer and
the Company are aware and are able to ascertain from information published by that thirdparty, no facts have been
omitted which wouldrender the reproducedinformation inaccurate or misleading.

This document contains and incorporates by reference information that you should consider when making your
investment decision. We have notauthorized anyoneto provide youwith information, whether orally orin writing,
either different from that contained in this documentornot set forthin this document, and if you believe that there is
any other informationupon which you wish to rely that is either different from ornot set forth in this document you
shouldnotrely onitatall. Weare offeringto sellthe Notes only where offers and sales arepermitted. The
information contained in this documentis accurate only as of thedate of this document, regardless of thetime of
delivery of this documentoranyresale of the Notes and, exceptas required by the FCA orapplicable law and
regulation, willnot be updated.

By purchasingany Notes, youwill be deemed tohaveacknowledged that: (1)you havereviewed this
document; (2) youhavehad anopportunity to review all information considered by youto be necessary to make
yourinvestment decision and to verify theaccuracy of, orto supplement, the information contained in this
document; (3) youhavenotrelied on the Initial Purchasers orany persona ffiliated with the Initial Purchasers in
connection with your investigation of the accuracy ofsuch information or your investment decision; (4) the Initial
Purchasers are not responsible for, and are notmaking any representation to you concerning, our future performance
or the accuracy or completeness of this document; and (5) no personhas been authorized to give any information or
to make anyrepresentation concerning us or the Notes, other than as contained in this document. If given ormade,
any such otherinformation or representation should notbe relied upon as having been authorized by us or the Initial
Purchasers.

You should read this documentbeforemakinga decision whether to purchaseany Notes. Inmakingany
investment decision, you mustrely on your own examination of the Issuer and the Company and the terms ofthis
offering, including the merits and risks involved. You should consult with your own advisors as needed to assist

you in making your investmentdecisionand to advise you whether youare legally permitted to purchasethe Notes.

You must comply with allapplicable laws and regulations in force in any jurisdiction in connection with the
possession or distribution ofthis document and the purchase, offer orsale of the Notes, and youmust obtain any
required consent, approval or permission for the purchase, offer orsale by youof the Notes underthe laws and
regulations applicable to youin force in any jurisdiction to which youaresubject or in which you make such
purchases, offers orsales. Neither we northe Initial Purchasers are responsible for your compliance with these legal
requirements.

We are offering the Notes and the Guarantees in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of
the Securities Act. These exemptions apply to offers andsales of securities thatdo not involve a public offering.

The Notes are subject to restrictions on resale and transfer as described under “Transfer Restrictions”. By
purchasing any Notes, youwill be deemedto havemade certain acknowledgments, representations and a greements
asdescribed in thatsection ofthis document. You may be requiredto bearthe financialrisks of investing in the

Notes foran indefinite period of time.

The Initial Purchasers make no representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the accuracy or
completeness of theinfommation contained in this document. Nothing contained in this documentis, or should be
relied upon as, a promise or representation by the Initial Purchasers as to the pastor future. The Initial Purchasers
havenot independently verified any ofthe information contained herein (financial, legal or otherwise) and assume
no responsibility forthe accuracy or completeness of any such information.

In connection with the offering, the Initial Purchasers are not acting foranyone other thanus and will not be
responsible to anyone other than us for providing the protections a fforded to their clients nor for providingadvicein
relation to the offering.

NOTICE TOINVESTORS INTHE EUROPEAN ECONOMIC AREA AND THE UNITED KINGDOM

This document constitutes a prospectus thathas been prepared solely foruse in connection with Admission of
the Notes, andit has been approvedby the FCA forsuchpurpose. Purchasers of Notes are notified that this
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documentdoes not constitutean offer forsale ofthe Notes and hasnotbeen approved by the FCA in connection
with any such offer.

This document has been prepared on the basis thatany offer of Notes in any Member State of the European
Economic Area (“EEA”) orin the United Kingdom (“UK””) will be made pursuant to an exemptionunder the
Prospectus Regulation from the requirement to publish a prospectus for offers of the Notes. The expression

“Prospectus Regulation” means Regulation (EU)2017/1129 (as amended or superseded).

PRITPS REGULATION/PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA AND UNITED KINGDOM RETAIL
INVESTORS

The Notesare notintended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or
otherwise made available to anyretail investor in the European Economic Area (“EEA”) orin the UK. Forthese
purposes, a retail investor means a person whois one (ormore)of: (i)a retailclient as definedin point (11)of
Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID I1”); or (ii) a customer within themeaning of Directive
(EU) 2016/97 (as amended, the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), where that customer would not qualifyas a
professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFID I1. Consequently no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the “PRIIPs Regulation™) for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise
making them available to retail investors in the EEA orin the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or selling
the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA orin the UK maybeunlawfulunder
the PRIIPs Regulation.

References to Regulations or Directives include, in relation to the UK, those Regulations or Directives as they
form part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 orhavebeenimplemented in

UK domestic law, as appropriate.

MIFID IT PRODUCT GOVERNANCE/ PROFESSIONALINVESTORS AND ECPSONLY TARGET
MARKET

Solely forthe purposes ofthe manufacturer’s product approval process, the target marketassessment in respect
ofthe Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and
professional clients only, eachas defined in MiFID I1;and (ii) all channels for distribution ofthe Notes to eligible
counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending
the Notes (a “distributor’”’) should take into consideration the manufacturer’s target market assessment; however, a
distributor subject to MiFID I1 is responsible forundertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the
Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer’s target market a ssessment) and determining a ppropriate
distribution channels.

STABILIZATION

In connection with theissue of the Notes,any one of BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Goldman Sachs & Co.
LLC,HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. and Santander Investment Securities Inc. (the “Stabilizing Managers”) orany
person acting on behalf of a Stabilizing Manager may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to
supporting the market price ofthe Notes ata level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, there
is no assurance that the Stabilizing Managers (or persons acting on their behalf) will undertake any stabilization
action. Any stabilization actionmay begin on or a fter the date on which adequate public disclosure oftheterms of
the offer ofthe Notes ismade and, if begun, may be endedatanytime, but it mustend no later thanthe earlier of
30 days afterthe date on whichthe Issuerreceived the proceeds of the offering, orno later than 60 days after the
date ofthe allotmentof the Notes, whichever is the earlier. Any such stabilization or over-allotment mustbe
conducted by the Stabilizing Managers (or persons acting on behalf ofany Stabilizing Manager) in accordance with
all applicable laws, regulations and rules.

MISCELLANEOUS INFORMATION

This document comprises a prospectus for the purposesof Art. 6 of the Prospectus Regulation and has been filed
with,and approved by, the FCA, as competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation. The FCA only approves
this document as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and consistency imposed by the
Prospectus Regulation. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement ofthe Issuer or the Company or
of'the quality ofthe Notes that are the subjects of this document. Investors should make their own assessmentas to
the suitability of any investmentin the Notes.

The distribution of this documentand the offeringand sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be
restricted by law. The Issuer, the Company and the Initial Purchasers require persons in possession ofthis document
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to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. This documentdoes not constitutean offer of, or
an invitationto purchase, any ofthe Notes in any jurisdiction in which such offer or invitation would be unlawful.

This documentis for distribution only to persons who (i) have professional experiencein matters relating to
investments fallingwithin Article 19(5) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion)
Order 2005 (as amended, the “Financial Promotion Order”), (ii) are persons falling within Article 49(2)(a) to (d)
(“‘high net worth companies, unincorporated associations etc”’) of the Financial Promotion Order, (iii) are outside
the United Kingdom, or (iv) are persons to whom an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity
(within the meaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000) in connection withthe issue or
sale of any securities may otherwise lawfully be communicated or causedto be communicated (all such persons
together being referred to as ‘‘relevantpersons”). This document is directed only at relevantpersons and must not
be acted on orreliedon by persons who are not relevant persons. Any investmentor investment activity to which
this document relates is available only to relevant persons and will beengagedin onlywithrelevantpersons.

In this document, references to “Anglo American”, the “Anglo American Group”, the “Group”, “we”, “us”, and
“our” are to referto either Anglo Americanplc and its subsidiaries and/or those who work forthem generally, or
where it is not necessary to referto a particular entity, entities or persons. The useof these generic terms herein is
forconvenienceonly, andis in no way indicative of how the Anglo American Group or any entity within it is
structured, managed or controlled. Anglo American subsidiaries, and their management, are responsible for their
own day-to-day operations, including but not limited to securing and maintaining all relevant licenses and permits,
operational adaptation and implementation of Group policies, management, training and any applicable local
grievance mechanisms. Anglo American produces group-wide policies and procedures to ensurebest uniform
practices and standardisation across the Anglo American Group butis not responsible forthe dayto day
implementation of suchpolicies. Such policies and procedures constitute prescribed minimum standards only.
Group operating subsidiaries are responsible foradapting thosepolicies and proceduresto reflectlocal conditions
where appropriate, and forimplementation, oversight and monitoring within their specific businesses.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This document includes “forward-looking information” within themeaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act
and Section 2 1E of the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All
statements other than statements of historical factare, ormay be deemed to be, forward-looking statements,
including without limitation those concerning levels of a ctual production during any period, levels of global demand
and commodity market prices, mineral resource exploration and development capabilities, recovery rates and other
operational capabilities, the effects of global pandemics and outbreaks of infectious diseases, sustainability
aspirations, the availability of mining and processing equipment, theability to produce and transport products
profitably, the availability of transportation infrastructure, theimpactof foreign currency exchange rates on market
prices and operating costs, levels of capital expenditure, ratingand leverage targets, the availability of sufficient
credit, the effects of inflation, political uncertainty and economic conditions in relevantareas of the world, the
actions of competitors, activities by governmental authorities suchas permitting and changes in taxation or safety,
health, environmental or other types of regulation in the countries where Anglo American operates, conflicts over
land and resource ownership rights and such otherrisk factors identified in this document (see “Risk Factors™).
These forward-looking statements are notbased on historical facts, butrather reflect our current expectations
concerning future results and events and generally may be identified by the use of forward-looking words or phrases
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such as “believe”, “aim”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “foresee”, “forecast”, “likely”, “should”, “planned”,
29 ¢

“may”, “estimated”, “potential”, “projected”, “will”, “continue” or other similar words and phrases. Similarly,
statements that describe our objectives, plans or goals are ormay be forward-looking statements.

These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors thatmay
cause ouractual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from the anticipated results, performance
or achievements expressed orimplied by these forward-looking statements. Although we believe that the
expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements arereasonable, no assurancecanbe given that such
expectations will prove to havebeen correct.

The risk factors described in this document could affect our future results, causing theseresults to differ
materially from those expressed in any forward-looking statements. Thesefactors are not necessarily allthe
important factors that could cause ouractualresults to differ materially from those expressed in any forward-looking
statements. Otherunknown orunpredictable factors could also have material adverseeffects on futureresults.

You should review carefully allinformation, including the financial statements and the notes to the financial
statements, which are incorporated by reference into this document. The forward-looking statements included in
this document are madeonly as of the lastpracticable datepriorto the date hereof. Exceptasrequiredby the FCA
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or applicable law and regulation, neither we nor the Initial Purchasers undertake any obligation to update publicly or
release anyrevisions to these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances a fter the date ofthis
documentorto reflect theoccurrence of unanticipated events. All subsequentwritten and oral forward-looking
statements attributable to us orany personacting on our behalf are qualified by the cautionary statements in this
section.

MARKET AND INDUSTRY DATA

Where cited in this document, marketdata and industry data and forecasts were obtained and reproduced from
reports prepared by Wood Mackenzie, CRU, Platts, the World Steel Association, the London Metal Exchange, the
LondonPlatinum and Palladium Market, Camdaq, the Metal Bulletin, Argus/McCloskey Coal Price Index and the
globalCOAL. Industry surveys, publications, consultant surveys and forecasts generally statethatthe information
contained therein has been obtained from sources believed to bereliable, butthatthe accuracy and completeness of
such informationis not guaranteed. We have notindependently verified any of the data from third party sources,
norhave we ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon therein. Similarly, industry forecasts and
market research, which we believe to be reliable based upon the Group management’s knowledge ofthe industry,
have not been independently verified. Forecasts areparticularly likely to be ina ccurate, especially over longperiods
oftime. In addition, we do notnecessarily know whatassumptions regarding general economic growth were used in
preparing the forecasts we cite. We do not makeany representation as to theaccuracy ofdata from third party
sources, industry forecasts and marketresearch and we expressly disclaim any responsibility for, or liability in
respect of, such third party information. Statements as to the Group’s market positionare based on themost
currently available data. While we are not awareof any misstatements regarding the Group’s industry data
presented herein, our estimates involve risks and uncertainties and are subject to change based on various factors,
includingthose discussed under the heading “Risk Factors” in this document. Neither we northe Initial Purchasers
can guaranteethe accuracy or completeness of any such industry data contained in this document. Where the
information in this document has been sourced from a third party, such information has been accurately reproduced
and so farasthelssuerandthe Company are aware and are able to ascertain from information published by that
third party, no facts have been omitted which would render thereproduced information inaccurate or misleading.
Further, where the information in this document has been sourced from a third party, reference is madeto thethird
party source where such information appears in the document.

CAUTIONARY NOTE TO U.S. INVESTORS CONCERNING ESTIMATES OF MEASURED,
INDICATED AND INFERRED RESOURCES FORMINING OPERATIONS

There are differences in reporting regimes for Ore Reserve estimates between Australasian Code for Reporting
of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, 2012 edition (the “JORC Code”) and the South
African Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Mineral Reserves (2016 Edition ) on the
one hand, each of which are used by the Group, and the United States reporting regime under the requirements as
adopted by the SEC in its Industry Guide 7—Description of Property by Issuers engaged orto be engagedin
Significant Mining Operations (“Industry Guide 7”’) on the otherhand. The principal difference is the absence under
Industry Guide 7 of any provision forthe reporting of estimates other than proven (measured) or probable
(indicated)reserves, and the SEC does notpermit mining companies to disclose Mineral Resources in SEC filings.
There is, therefore, no equivalent for “resources” or “mineral resources” underthe SEC’s Industry Guide 7.

Additionally, under Industry Guide 7, reserves mustbe estimated on the basis of current economic and legal
conditions, whereas the JORC Code permits the use of “realistic” assumptions, which may include forecastprices
and reasonable expectations thatrequired permits will be granted in the future and contracts will be entered into for
the sale of production.

The SEC has applied the following reporting definitions to reserves under Industry Guide 7:

e A‘“reserve”is “thatpart ofa mineral deposit which could be economically and legally extracted or
produced at thetime ofthereserve determination. Reserves are customarily stated in terms of “ore”
when dealing with metalliferous minerals; when other materials suchas coal, oil, shale, tar, sands,
limestone, etc. are involved, an appropriate term suchas “recoverable coal” may be substituted.”

e  “Proven (measured) reserves’ are“reserves for which: (a)quantity is computed from dimensions
revealedin outcrops, trenches, workings or drill holes; grade and/or quality are computed from the
results of detailed sampling; and (b) the sites for inspection, sampling and measurementare spaced so
closely and the geologic characteris so well defined that size, shape, depthand mineral content of
reserves are well-established.”

v



e  “Probable (indicated) reserves” are “reserves for which quantity and grade and/or quality are
computed from information similar to that used for proven (measured) reserves, but the sites for
inspection, sampling and measurement are farther apartorare otherwise less adequately spaced. The
degree of assurance, although lower than that for proven (measured) reserves, is high enough to
assume continuity between points of observation.”

For United States public company reporting purposes, the SEC has adopted amendments to its disclosurerules
to modernize the mineral property disclosure requirements for issuers whose securities are registered with the SEC
underthe Exchange Act. These amendments becameeffective February 25,2019 (the “SECModernization Rules”)
with compliance required for the first fiscal year beginning on orafter January 1,202 1. The SEC Modernization
Rulesreplace thehistorical property disclosure requirements for mining registrants that were included in Guide 7,
which will be rescinded from and aftertherequired compliance date ofthe SEC Moderization Rules.

This prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference herein usethe term “Mineral Resources”, which
are comprised of “measured”, “indicated”and “inferred” mineral resources. “Inferred” mineral resources have a
great amount ofuncertainty as to their existence and great uncertainty as to theireconomic and legal feasibility. It
cannotbe assumed thatallorany partof an “inferred” mineral resource will ever be upgradedto a higher category.
Under SEC rules, estimates of “inferred” mineral resources may not form the basis of feasibility or other economic
studies. Investors should not assume thatallorany partof “measured” or “indicated” resources willever be
convertedinto Ore Reserves. Investors are also cautioned not to assume thatallorany partof an “inferred” mineral
resource exists oris economically mineable.

Accordingly, investors should be awarethatif this prospectus and the documents incorporated by reference
herein had been prepared in accordance with Industry Guide 7, the Group’s Mineral Resources would not be

permitted to be reported and our Ore Reserves would differ from those described herein and therein.
SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL LIABILITIES

The Company and the Issuer are incorporated under thelaws of England and Wales. Mostofthedirectors and
executive officers of the Company andallthe directors of the Issuer live outside the United States. Most ofthe
assets of the Company’s and the Issuer’s directors and executive officers and substantially allthe Company’s and
the Issuer’s assets are located outside the United States. Asa result, it may be difficult for you toserve process on
those persons orthe Company orthe Issuerin the United States or to enforce judgments obtained in U.S. courts
against them based on civil liability provisions of the securities laws ofthe United States.

There is doubtas to enforceability in the English courts, in originalactions orin actions for enforcementof
judgments of U.S. courts, ofliabilities predicated solely uponthe federal securities laws ofthe United States. In
addition, awards of punitive damages in actions brought in the United States or elsewhere maynotbe enforceable in
the United Kingdom. The enforceability of any judgmentin the United Kingdom will depend onthe particular facts
of the case in effect atthe time.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

Forso longasthe Company is neither subject to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, nor exempt from
reporting pursuantto Rule 12g3-2(b) thereunder, the Issuer and the Company, respectively, will furnish to theholder
of any Notes andto each prospective purchaser designated by any such holder, uponthe request of suchholder or
prospective purchaser, the informationrequired to be delivered pursuantto Rule 144A (d)(4) under the Securities
Act. Any suchrequestmaybe made to usat20 Carlton House Terrace, London, SW1Y 5SAN, England. Asofthe
date hereof, the Company is exempt from suchreporting obligations under Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Exchange Act.



PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Unless otherwise indicated, financial information in this document has been prepared onthe basis of IFRS. The
financial information of the Group has been prepared on thebasis of applicable law and IFRS. The financial
information of the Issuer has been prepared on thebasis of applicable lawand UK GAAP, including FRS 101

“Reduced Disclosure Framework™.

The Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, incorporated by reference into this document, are
unaudited and havebeenreviewed by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (“PwC”), independent accountants registered to
carry out audit work by the Institute of Chartered Accountantsin Englandand Wales, with anaddress at 1
Embankment Place, London WC2N 6RH. The Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, and the Issuer2019
Financial Statements incorporated by reference into this document, have beenaudited by Deloitte LLP (“Deloitte),
independentaccountants who areregistered to carry out audit work by the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, with an address at2 New Street Square, London, EC4A 3HQ, as stated in theirreports
appearingtherein. The Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements, Group2017 Consolidated Financial
Statements, Issuer 2018 Financial Statements and Issuer 201 7 Financial Statements are incorporated by reference in
this document and havebeen audited by Deloitte, as stated in theirreports also incorporated therein. Forthe Group
2018 Consolidated Financial Statements, following a reassessment ofthe Group’s reportable segments in 2018, the
Group has presented theresults of the Iron Ore businesses as the Iron Ore reportable segment. Manganese, which
was previously reported with Iron Ore has been aggregated with Nickelas a single reportable segment. Comparative

information has been restated toreflect this change.

Our business unit structure focuses our portfolio around principal products which arelocated in areas of key
geographic focus foreach product. These business units are:

e  De Beers(Botswana, Canada, Namibia and South Africa);

e  Copper(Chile, Finland and Peru);

e Platinum Group Metals (“PGMs”) (South Africa and Zimbabwe);
e  [ron Ore (Braziland South Africa);

e Coal(Australia, Canada, Colombia and South Africa);

e Nickeland Manganese (Australia, Braziland South Africa);

e  Crop Nutrients (United Kingdom); and

e  Corporate and Other (Worldwide).

Our Group results are reported ona reportable segmentbasis in accordance with IFRS. Reportable segments
are:

e De Beers;

e  Copper;

e PGMs;

e  IronOre;

e (Coal;

e Nickeland Manganese;
e  Crop Nutrients;and

e  Corporate and Other

The Group’s operating segments are aligned to thosebusiness units that areevaluated regularly by the chief
operating decisionmakerin decidinghow to allocate resources and in assessing performance. Operating segments
with similar economic characteristics are aggregated into reportable segments. Shippingrevenue relatedto
shipments ofthe Group’s products is shown within the relevant operating segment. Revenue from other shipping
arrangements is presented within the ‘Corporate and Other’ segment, which also includes unallocated corporate
costsand exploration costs. Segments predominantly derive revenue as follows — De Beers: rough diamonds and
diamond jewellery; Copper: copper; Platinum Group Metals (“PGMs”): platinum group metals andnickel; Iron
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Ore: iron ore; Coal: metallurgical coaland thermal coal; Nickeland Manganese: nickel, manganeseore andalloys.
The segmentresults arestated after elimination of inter-segmenttransactions and include anallocation of corporate
costs.

Some financialand other information in this document has been rounded and, as a result, the figures shownas
totals in this document may vary slightly from the exact arithmetic a ggregation ofthe figures thatprecede them.

The financial results of the PGMs segment and Kumba’s contribution to the Iron Ore segment, reconcile to the
financialresults of Anglo American Platinum and Kumba, respectively, when taking into accountcertain
adjustments, principally consolidation adjustments and corporate costallocations.

NON-IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURES

When assessing and discussing the Group’s reported financial performance, financial position and cash flows,
management makes reference to Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”) of historical or future financial
performance, financial position or cash flows thatare not defined or specified under [IFRS.

The APMsused by the Group fallinto two categories:

* Financial APMs: Thesefinancial measures are usually derived from the financial statements, prepared
in accordancewith IFRS. Certain financial measures cannotbe directly derived from the financial
statements as they contain additional information, such as financial information from earlier periods or
profit estimates or projections. The accounting policies applied when calculating APMs, where relevant
and unless otherwise stated, are thesameas thosedisclosed in the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial
Statements.

* Non-financial APMs: Thesemeasures incorporate certain non-financial information that management
believes is useful whenassessing the performance ofthe Group.

APMs are not uniformly defined by all companies, including those in the Group’s industry. Accordingly, the
APMsused by the Group may not be comparable with similarly titled measures and disclosures made by other
companies. APMs shouldbe considered in addition to, and not as a substitute for oras superior to, measures of

financial performance, financial position or cash flows reported in accordance with I[FRS.

The Group uses APMs to improve the comparability of information between reporting periods and business
units, either by adjusting foruncontrollable factors or special items which impactupon IFRS measures or, by
aggregating measures, to aid the user in understanding the activity taking place across the Group’s portfolio.

Theiruse is driven by characteristics particularly visible in the mining sector:

» Eamingsvolatility: The Groupmines and markets a number of products, including precious metals and
minerals. The sectoris characterized by significant volatility in earnings driven by movements in
macroeconomic factors, primarily commodity price and foreign exchange rates. This volatility is
outside the control of management and can mask underlying changes in performance. Assuch, when
comparing year-on-year performance, management excludes certain items (suchas thoseclassed as
“specialitems”)to aid comparability and then quantifies and isolates uncontrollable factors in orderto
improve understanding of the controllable portion of variances.

* Nature of investment: Investments in the sectortypically occuroverseveral yearsandare large,
requiring significant funding before generating cash. Theseinvestments are often made with partners
and the nature ofthe Group’s ownership interest a ffects how the financial results of these operations are
reflected in the Group’s results, e.g. whether full consolidation (subsidiaries), consolidation ofthe
Group’s attributable assets and liabilities (joint operations) or equity accounted (associates andjoint
ventures). Attributable metrics are therefore presented to help demonstrate the financial performance
and returns available to the Group, forinvestmentand financing activities, excluding the effect of
differentaccounting treatments for different ownership interests.

»  Portfolio complexity: The Groupmines, processes, moves andsells a number of different products,
including precious metals and minerals. The cost, valueof andreturn from each saleable unit (e.g.
tonne, pound, carat, ounce) can differ materially between each business. This makes understanding
both the overall portfolio performance and therelative performance of its constituent parts on a like-for-
like basis, more challenging. The Group thereforeuses composite APMs to provide a consistent metric

to assess performance at theportfolio level.

Consequently, APMs areused by the Boardand management for planning, reporting and incentive-setting
purposes. Asubsetisalso used by management in setting director and managementremuneration.
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The portion ofthe Company’s 2019 Annual Report incorporated by reference herein contains an Alternative
Performance Measures section thatsets outthe Financial APMs used by the Group along with the closestequivalent
IFRS measure and the rationale for adjustments. The 2020 Group Condensed Interim Financial Statements and the
Group 2019,2018 and 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference in this document, include
the adjustments to reconcile the APMs to the primary financial statements. In addition, the Company’s2019 Annual
Report also contains the Non-Financial APMs used by the Group along with the purpose for the Group using these
measures. The APMsused bythe Group are defined below.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)

Group Revenue includes the Group’s attributable share ofassociates’ and joint ventures’ revenue. A
reconciliation to “Revenue”, the closestequivalent IFRS measure to Group Revenue is disclosed in Note 3 of the
Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, Note 2 to the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements,
Note 2 to the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 2 to the Group 2017 Consolidated Financial
Statements, incorporated by reference herein.

Underlying EBIT

Underlying EBIT is “operating profit/(loss)” presented before special items and re-measurements and includes
the Group’s attributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ underlying EBIT. Underlying EBIT ofassociates
and joint ventures is the Group’s attributable share of associates’ andjointventures’ revenue less operating costs
before special items and re-measurements ofassociates and joint ventures. A reconciliationto “profit/(loss)before
net financeincome/(costs) and tax”, the closest equivalent IFRS measure to underlying EBITis provided within
Note 3 of the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, Note 2 to the Group 2019 Consolidated
Financial Statements, Note 2 to the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements and Note?2 to the Group 2017
Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference herein. Further, “profit/(loss) before net finance
(costs)/income and tax”, is reconciled to “profit/(loss) for the financial period” in the consolidated income statement
onpage 31 of the Group2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, consolidated income statement onpage 148
of the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, page 134 ofthe Group 2018 Consolidated Financial
Statements and page 122 ofthe Group 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements, as included in the respective 2019,
2018 and2017 Annual Reports of the Company, incorporated by reference herein.

Underlying EBITDA

Underlying EBITDA is underlying EBIT before depreciation and amortization and includes the Group’s
attributable share ofassociates’ and joint ventures’ underlying EBITbeforedepreciation and amortization. A
reconciliation to “profit/(loss) beforenet finance income/(costs) and tax”, the closestequivalent IFRS measure to
underlying EBITDA, is provided within Note 3 of the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, Note 2
to the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 2 to the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements
and Note 2 to the Group 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference herein. Further,
“profit/(loss) before net finance (costs)/income and tax”, is reconciled to “profit/(loss) for the financial period” in
the consolidated income statement onpage 31 ofthe Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, on page
148 of the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, page 134 ofthe Group 2018 Consolidated Financial
Statements and page 122 ofthe Group 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements, as included in the respective 2019,
2018 and2017 Annual Reports of the Company, incorporated by reference herein.

Underlying earnings

Underlying earnings is “profit/(loss) for the financial period attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company”before special items and remeasurements and is therefore presented after net finance costs, incometax
expenseand non-controlling interests. A reconciliationto “profit/(loss) forthe financial period attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company”, the closestequivalent IFRS measure to underlying earnings is disclosed in Note 3 of
the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, Note2 to the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial
Statements, Note 2 to the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 2 to the Group2017

Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference herein.

Mining EBITDA margin

The Mining EBITDA margin is derived from the Group’s Underlying EBITDA as a percentage of Group
Revenue, adjusted to exclude certain items to better reflect the performance of the Group’s mining business.
The Mining EBITDA margin reflects Debswana accounting treatment as a 50/50 joint operation, excludes
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third-party sales, purchases and trading and excludes Platinum Group Metals’ purchase of concentrate. A
reconciliation to the IFRS measure operating profit margin is disclosed in Other Information, Alternative
Performance Measures, as included in the 2019 Annual Report of the Company as incorporated by reference
herein.

Net debt

Net debtiscalculatedas total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents (including derivatives which provide
an economic hedge ofnet debt). Borrowings donotincludethe Hancock royalty liabilities which arose asof H1
2020, on thebasis thatobligations to make cash payments a gainst this liability only arise whenthe Woodsmith
project generates revenues, and that otherwise the Group is not currently contractually liable to make any payments
under this arrangement (other thanin the eventof the Woodsmith project’s insolvency). A reconciliation to the [IFRS
measure consolidated balance sheetis disclosed in Note 13 of the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial
Statements, Note 20to the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 20to the Group 2018 Consolidated
Financial Statements and Note 20 to the Group 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference
herein.

Capital expenditure

Capital expenditureis defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related
derivatives, andis presented netof proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct
funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests in order to match more closely the way in which it is
managed. Areconciliationto “expenditure on property, plantand equipment”, the closest IFRS measure to capital
expenditure is disclosed in Note 11 of the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, Note 12 tothe
Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 12 to the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements and
Note 12 to the Group 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference herein.

Capital employed

Capitalemployed is defined as net assets excludingnet debtand financial asset investments. Attributable
capitalemployed includes the Group’s share ofassociates’ and joint ventures’ capital employed and excludes capital
employedof non-controlling interests. Average attributable capitalemployedis calculated by addingthe opening
and closingattributable capital employed for therelevant period and dividing by two. A reconciliation tothe closest
IFRS measure is disclosed in Note 10 of the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, Note9 to the
Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, Note 9 to the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements and

Note 9 to the Group 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference herein.

Underlying effective tax rate

The underlying effective tax rate equates to the income tax expensebefore special items and remeasurements
and includingthe Group’s share ofassociates’ andjoint ventures’ tax before special items and remeasurements,
divided by profit before tax before specialitems and remeasurements and including the Group’s share ofassociates’
and jointventures’ profit before tax before special items and remeasurements.

The calculation ofunderlying effectivetax rate for the six-month periodended June30,2020 and the years
2019,2018and 2017 is set forth onpage 69 ofthis document as part ofthe Operatingand Financial Review.

Attributable free cash flow

Attributable free cash flow is calculated as “Cash flows from operations” plus dividends received from
associates, joint ventures and financial assetinvestments, less capital expenditure, less tax cash payments excluding
tax payments relatingto disposals, less net interest paid including interest on derivatives hedgingnet debt, less
dividends paid to non-controlling interests, less capital repaymentof lease obligations. A reconciliation to “cash
flows from operations”, the closest equivalent [IFRS measure, is provided on page 6 of the 2020 Half Year Financial
Report of the Group, page 54 ofthe Group Financial Review in the 2019 Annual Report of the Company, page 52 of
the Group Financial Review in the 2018 Annual Report ofthe Company and page 38 of the Group Financial Review
in the 2017 Annual Reportof the Company, incorporated by reference herein.



Sustaining attributablefree cash flow

Sustainingattributable free cashflow is used to measure theamount of cash available to finance returns to
shareholders or growth a fter servicing debt, providing a return to minority shareholders and meeting the capex
commitments needed to sustainthe current production base ofexistingassets. Sustaining attributable free cashflow
is also used as anincentive measure in executives’ remuneration and is proposed to be used in the Anglo American
Long Term Incentive Plan 2020 (“LTIP 20”). It is calculated as attributable free cash flow priorto growth capex. A
reconciliation to “cash flows from operations”, the closestequivalent IFRS measure, is provided on page 6 of the
2020 Half Year Financial Report ofthe Group.

Copper equivalent production

Copperequivalent production, expressed as copper equivalent tonnes, shows changes in underlying production
volume. Itiscalculated by expressing each commodity’s volume as revenue, subsequently converting the revenue
into copper equivalent units by dividing by the copper price (pertonne). Longterm prices (and foreign exchange
rates where appropriate) are used, in order that period on period comparisons exclude any impact for movements in
price.

When calculating copper equivalentproduction, all volumes relating to domestic sales are excluded, as are
volumes from Samancor and sales from non-miningactivities. Volume from projects in pre-commercial production
are included.

Unit cost

Unit cost is the direct cash cost including direct cash support costs incurred in producing oneunit of saleable
production.

Forbulk products (coal, iron ore), unit costs shownare FOB i.e. cost on board atport. Forbase metals (copper,
nickel), they are shown at C1 i.e. afterinclusion of by-product credits and logistics costs. For PGMs and diamonds,
unit costs include all direct expensed cash costs incurred i.e. excluding, amongst other things, market development
activity, corporate overhead etc. PGM unit costs exclude by-product credits. Royalties are excluded from allunit
cost calculations.

Copper equivalent unit cost

Copperequivalentunit cost is the cost incurred to produce onetonne of copper equivalent. Only the cost
incurred in mined output from subsidiaries and joint operations is included, representing direct costs in the
consolidated income statement controllable by the Group. Costs and volumes from associates and joint ventures are
excluded, as are those from operations thatare not yetin commercial production, thatdeliver domestic production,
and those associated with third-party volume purchases of diamonds and platinum concentrate.

When calculating copper equivalentunit cost, unit costs for each commaodity are multiplied by relevant
production, combined and then divided by thetotal copper equivalent production, to get a copper equivalent unit
costie. the cost of miningone tonneof copper equivalent. The metric is in U.S. dollars and, where appropriate,
long-term foreign exchange rates are used to convert from local currency to U.S. dollars.

Productivity

The Group’s productivity measure calculates the copper equivalent production generated peremployee. Itisa
measure that represents how wellheadcountis drivingrevenue. Itiscalculated by dividing copper equivalent
productionby theaverage direct headcount from consolidated mining operations in a given year.

Volume and cash costimprovements
The Group uses anunderlying EBITDA waterfall to understand its year-on-yearunderlying EBITDA

performance. The waterfallisolates the impact ofuncontrollable factors in orderthat thereal year-on-year
improvement in performance canbe seen by the user.

The following variables are normalized in the results of subsidiaries and joint operations, for:

*  Price: The movement in price between comparative periods is removed, by multiplying current year
sales volume by the movement in realized price for each product group.



*  Foreign Exchange: The year-on-year movementin exchange is removed fromthe currentyearnon-US.
dollarcost base i.e. they are restated at prior year foreign exchange rates. The non-U.S. dollar cash cost
base excludes costs which areprice linked (e.g. purchase of concentrate from third-party platinum
providers, third-party diamond purchases).

* Inflation: consumer price index (CPI)isremoved from cash costs, restating these costs at thelevelof
the base year.

¢ COVID-19 volume impact: The volume impact of COVID-19 related disruption to the productionand
the supply chain is removed, along with the impactof reduced diamond demand.

The remaining variances in the underlying EBITDA waterfallare in real U.S. dollarterms forthebase yeari.e.
fora waterfall comparing 2019 with 2018, the sales volume and cash cost variances exclude the impactof price,
foreign exchange rates and CPI andare hence in real2018 terms. This allows the user of the waterfall to understand
the underlyingreal movementin sales volumes and cash costs ona consistentbasis.
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INCORPORATION OF CERTAININFORMATIONBY REFERENCE

We are incorporating by reference certain information into this document, which means we are disclosing
important information to you by referring youto such information. The informationbeingincorporated by reference
is an importantpart of this document and should be reviewed before deciding whether ornot to purchase the Notes
described herein. Subjectto thelimitations and exclusions described in the paragraphs below, the following
documents, which have previously been published and have been filed with the FCA, shallbe incorporated by
reference into this document:

e Theauditor’sreview report andunaudited condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the
six months ended June 30,2020 of Anglo American plc and its subsidiaries, associates, joint ventures
asincluded in the 2020 Half Year Financial Report ofthe Group

(https://www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-income-investors/issuer-document-downloads), on
pages29 to 71 thereof;

e Alternative Performance Measures as included in the 2020 Half Year Financial Report ofthe Group,
on pages 66— 69 thereof;

e Theauditor’sreport and audited consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year-ended
December31,2019 of Anglo American plc (https:/www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-income-
investors/issuer-document-downloads) (such information, the “Group 2019 Consolidated Financial
Statements”) as includedin the 2019 Annual Report ofthe Company, on pages 141 to 220 thereof;

e Alternative Performance Measures as included in the 2019 Annual Reportof the Company, on pages
228 —231 thereof;

e Theauditor’sreport andaudited consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year-ended
December31,2018 of Anglo American plc (https:/www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-income-
investors/issuer-document-downloads) (such information, the “Group 2018 Consolidated Financial
Statements”)as included in the 2018 Annual Report ofthe Company, on pages 127 to 200 thereof;

e Alternative Performance Measures as included in the 2018 Annual Reportof the Company, on pages
208 to 211 thereof;

e Theauditor’sreport and audited consolidated annual financial statements for the financial year-ended

December31,2017 of Anglo American plc (https:/www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-income-

investors/issuer-document-downloads) (such information, the “Group 2017 Consolidated Financial
Statements™) asincludedin the 2017 Annual Report ofthe Company, on pages 117 to 186 thereof;

e  Alternative Performance Measures as includedin the 2017 Annual Reportof the Company, on pages
194 to 197 thereof;

e Theauditor’sreport and audited non-consolidated annual financial statements for the year-ended
December31,2019 of Anglo American Capital plc (https://www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-
income-investors/issuer-document-downloads) (such information, the “Issuer 2019 Financial
Statements”) asincludedin the 2019 Annual Report and Financial Statements ofthe Issuer, on
pages6to 31 thereof;

e Theauditor’sreport and audited non-consolidated annual financial statements for the year-ended
December31,2018 of Anglo American Capital plc (https://www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-
income-investors/issuer-document-downloads) (such information, the “Issuer 2018 Financial
Statements”)as included in the 2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements ofthe Issuer, on pages

5to 31 thereof;

e Theauditor’sreport and audited non-consolidated annual financial statements for the year-ended
December31,2017 of Anglo American Capital plc (https://www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-
income-investors/issuer-document-downloads) (such information, the “Issuer 2017 Financial
Statements”)as included in the 2017 Annual Report and Financial Statements ofthe Issuer, on pages
6 to 34 thereof; and

e Estimated Ore Reserves and estimated Mineral Resources as at December 31,2019 of Anglo
Americanplc asincluded in the 2019 Annual Report ofthe Company, on pages 221 to 225 thereof.
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Except as expressly statedabove, no partof the2020 Half Year Financial Report ofthe Group, 2019 Annual
Report of the Company, the2018 Annual Report ofthe Company, the 2017 Annual Report ofthe Company, the
2019 Annual Report and Financial Statements of the Issuer, the2018 Annual Report and Financial Statements of the
Issuerorthe 2017 Annual Report and Financial Statements ofthe Issuer or any other document referred to in the
documents listed aboveis incorporated by reference herein and does not form any part of this document. Non-
incorporated parts or other documents referred to in the documents listed above are eithernot relevant for the

investororare covered elsewhere in the document.

The documents which havebeenincorporated by referenceinto this document may also beaccessed
at https:/www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-income-investors (the “special purpose website”). The special
purpose website contains only the foregoing informationand is not part of our website. The content of our website
doesnot fomm any partofthis document. You mayalsoobtain copies ofthis information by telephoning +44 (0)20
7968 8888. This documentwill be published, in accordance with paragraph 3.2.2 of the FCA Prospectus Regulation
Rules, on the website of the London Stock Exchange, by means ofanannouncementthrougha Regulatory

Information Service (which may be accessed at http:/www.londonstockexchange.com/exchange/mews/market-

news/market-news-home.html).
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OVERVIEW

This overview highlights certain information containedin this document. This overviewdoes notcontain allthe
information youshould consider before purchasingthe Notes. You should read this entiredocument carefully,
includingthe sections entitled “Forward-Looking Statements”, “RiskFactors”, “Business Description” and
“Operating and Financial Review” included elsewhere inthis document andthe financial information andthe notes
thereto incorporated by reference as outlinedin the section entitled “Incorporation of Certain Information by
Reference”. Otherthanunder “Descriptionofthe Notes andthe Guarantees” or where the contextindicates

otherwise, references hereinto “us”, “we”, “our” and similar terms are to the Group.

THE ANGLO AMERICAN GROUP

Anglo American is a leading global mining company, with a world class portfolio of miningand processing
operations and undeveloped resources — spanning diamonds (through De Beers), copper, platinum group metals, iron
ore, coal, nickel, manganese and crop nutrients. We provide the essential metals and minerals that enable a cleaner,
greener and more sustainable world and that meet the growing consumer-driven demands ofthe world’s developed
and maturing economies.

Anglo American plc is the holding company of the Group. Itis a public limited company incorporated under
the laws of England and Wales and registered in Englandand Wales.

UNDERLYINGEBIT BY SEGMENT

Our businesses’ contribution to underlying EBIT (underlying EBIT is “operating profit/(loss)” presented before
specialitems and remeasurements and includes the Group’s attributable share ofassociates’ and joint ventures’
underlying EBIT)in2019,2018 and 2017 and H1 2020 and H1 2019 is summarized in the table below, reflecting

the total of subsidiaries and equity accounted entities:

Six months ended

Year-ended December 31, June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(USSm)

873 694 168 324 (179)
923 1,234 960 469 378
Platinum Group Metals..............uvvvvuvrieiniiiiiiiiieiiiiiiiiiiieinnennnnns 512 705 1,672 659 476
Tron OreD ..o 1,500 747 2,952 1,819 1,606
0L 2,274 2,538 1,010 607 (271)
Nickel and Manganese®...........cooooveimeeioeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 478 685 477 249 132
Crop NULTIENTS. ...coeiiiiiiiiiiieiiieeeeeeeeeeeee e - - - - 4
Corporate and Other...............ccoveveveeeeeeeeiieeeeeeeeeeeen. (313) (226) (229) (112) (62)
6,247 6,377 7,010 4,015 2,084

(1) Following a reassessment of the Group’s reportable segments in 2018, the Group has presented the results of the Iron Ore businesses
as the Iron Ore reportable segment. Manganese, which was previously reported with Iron Ore has been aggregated with Nickel as a
single reportable segment. Comparative information has been restated to reflect this change.

Business Overview

Wearea globalleaderin the production of platinum and diamonds and have significant interests in
metallurgicaland themal coal, copper, iron ore, nickel and manganese metals. The Anglo Americanbusiness
segments are outlined below. Fora more detailed description of the business segments, see “Business Description—
Business Segments”.

The quality, longlife and growth potential of our mineral assets are the foundations of our global business.
Anglo American has transformed the quality and performance ofits portfolio over the pastseven years, halvingthe
number of assets while producing more physical product. This transformationhas been achieved through extensive
operational self-help and other efficiency work, together with the sale, placing onto care and maintenance, and



closure of less attractiveassets, resulting in a step change in our operational performance, profitability and cash flow
generation.

Fora more detailed description of the Group’s strategy and strategic growth projects, see “Business
Description—Strategy”.

De Beers

De Beers plc (“De Beers”)is Anglo American’s 85%-owned diamond business, with mining operations in
Botswana, Canada, Namibia and South Africa. In 2019, De Beers, together with its joint venture partners, was
responsible forthe production of approximately one-third of globalrough diamond supply by value. De Beers sells
the majority ofits rough diamonds through 10 Sight sales each yearto term contract sales to customers (knownas
Sightholders)and Accredited Buyers. It markets andsells polished diamonds and diamond jewellery via its
Forevermark™and De Beers Jewellers businesses.

Copper

In Chile, we haveinterests in two major copper operations: a 50.1%interest in the Los Bronces mine, which
we manage and operate, anda 44% interest in the independently managed Collahuasijoint venture; we also manage
and operate the El Soldado mine and Chagres smelter (we have a 50.1% interest in both).

In Peru, the Group has a 60% interest in the Quellaveco project, which was approved for development in mid-
2018. In Finland we own the polymetallic Sakatti deposit.

Platinum

Our Platinum Group Metals (PGMs) business (held through an effective 79.4% interest in Anglo American
Platinum)is a leading producer of platinum, palladium and other PGMs. It mines, processes and refines the
platinum basket of metals from its high quality resource base, located in one ofthe world’s biggest PGM deposits —
the Bushveld Complex in South Africa. Italso hasa significant stakein the Unkimine onthe Great Dyke in
Zimbabwe—one of the world’s largest PGM deposits outside of South Africa.

IronOre

The Group’s iron ore operations provide customers with high iron contentore, a large percentage of which is
direct-charge productfor steelmaking blastfurnaces. In South Africa, we havea 69.7% interestin Kumba, whose
Sishen and Kolomela mines producehigh-grade and high-quality lumpore andalsoa premium fine ore. In Brazil,
we havedeveloped theintegrated Minas-Rio operation (100% ownership), consisting of an open pit mineand
beneficiation plant, which produces a high gradepellet feed product, with low levels of contaminants. The iron ore
is then transported through a 529-kilometre pipelineto the iron ore handlingand shipping facilities at the port of
Acu, in which Anglo Americanhasa 50% interest.

Coal

Metallurgical Coal:

Our coalassets include the Moranbah North (88% ownership) and Grosvenor (100% ownership at December
31,2019;see “—Key Strategic Growth Projects—Portfolio update) metallurgical coal mines, both located in
Queensland. We are the world’s third largestexporter of metallurgical coal, accordingto CRU, and our coal

operations in Australia serve customers throughout Asia and the Indian subcontinent, Europeand South America.

Coal South Africaand Cerrejon:

Coal South Africa’s export productis derived from three wholly-owned and wholly-operated mines—
Goedehoop, Greenside and Khwezela, as wellas the 73% owned mine Zibulo. We also have product from Mafube
colliery,a 50:50 joint operation. Our Isibonelo mine is engaged in the production of thermal coal for Sasol
Synthetic Fuels. Ouroperations routeall export coalthrough the Richards Bay Coal Terminal, in which we hold a
23.2% stake. Wealso retain an effective 37% interestin the double-stage Phola Coal Processing Plant,a 50:50 joint
operationwith South32. Foran update onourplans in relation to our themal coal operations in South Africa, see
“Recent Developments—Thermal Coal”.In Colombia, Anglo American, BHP and Glencore each have a one-third
shareholding in Cerrejon, anindependently managed joint venture and one ofthe country’s largestthemal coal
exporters.



Nickel and Manganese

Nickel: OurNickelbusiness has capacity to produce around 45,000 tonnes per year of nickel, the primary end
use of which is in the globalstainless steel industry. Ourassets (both 100% owned) are in Brazil, with two
ferronickel productionsites: Barro Alto and Codemin.

Manganese: We havea 40% interest in Samancor (managed by South32, which holds 60%), with operations
based in South Africa and Australia.

Crop Nutrients

The Woodsmith project(100% owned) in north east England, partof our Crop Nutrients business which
also incorporates the further development of global demand for POLY4, is expected to be a world class supplier
of premium quality fertiliser certified for organic use and with a low carbon footprint,intended to help meet
food demand from a fast-growing global population.

Corporate and Other

This business segment includes the non-corebusinesses previously reported under Other Mining and Industrial.

Strategy

Our strategy is to secure, develop and operate a portfolio of high quality and longlife resource assets, with the
potentialto deliver leading shareholder returns. We seek to achieve this through innovative practices and
technologies—in the hands of our world class people—towards our common purpose of re-imagining mining to
improve people’slives.

Portfolio

We focus on securing and continuously improving assets that we believe offer the mostattractive long-term
value-creation potential, as measured by sustainable cash flows and returns.

Innovation

Across every aspect of our business, we seek to think innovatively abouthow we work to ensure thesa fety of
ourpeople, enhance our sustainability performance, and deliver industry leading margins andreturns. From
explorationto delivering our products to our customers, Future Smart Mining™ is our innovation-led a pproach to
sustainable mining. This approach, coupled with the operational improvements beingdelivered from our Operating
Model, is fundamentally changing the way we extract, process and market our productsand will provide the next
step-change in operating and financial performance.

People

Our people arecriticalto allthat we do. The partnerships we build locally and globally are central to
maintaining our regulatory and social licenses to operate and our sustained commercial success. We create inclusive
and diverse working environments thatencourage and supporta high performance culture and innovative thinking.
Our Organisation Model seeks to ensure that we have the right people in the right roles doing the right value-adding
work at the right time, with clear accountabilities that minimize work duplicationand increase capability and
effectiveness.

Key Strategic Growth Projects

Portfolio upgrade

In 2019, the Group entered into, or completed, a number of transactions, including the equalization of
ownership across its integrated metallurgical coal operations at Moranbah North and Grosvenor, in Queensland,
Australia, through thesale of 12% in Grosvenor to the existingnon-Anglo American Moranbah North Coaljoint
venturers (transaction currently expected to completeduring 2020). The Grosvenor mineuses Moranbah North’s
coalprocessing infrastructure, where numerous debottlenecking, expansion and product blending options offer
considerable cost, productivity and margin benefits for the integrated operation. In South Africa, we completed the
two-phased Atlatsa (PGMs) restructuring plan which entailed, amongst other aspects, the acquisition ofthe
explorationproperties adjacent to Mogalakwena mine. In Namibia, De Beers also announced the sale of Elizabeth
Bay (currently on care and maintenance) to a member of the Lewcor Group.



Woodsmith

On March 17,2020, we completed theacquisition of Sirius Minerals Plc which has been developinga major
new polyhalite project in the UK. Anglo Americanis continuing to develop whatis now known as the Woodsmith
project in the north eastof England to access the world’s largest known deposit of polyhalite, a natural mineral
fertiliser product containing potassium, sulphur, magnesium and calcium—four of the six nutrients that every plant
needsto grow. The mine is being constructed a pproximately three kilometres south of Whitby and the entire
operationis designed to be sympathetic to its natural surroundings. Ore will be extracted via two 1.6 kilometre deep
mine shafts and transported to theportat Teessideon a conveyor belt in a 37 kilometreunderground tunnel, thereby
minimising impacton thesurfaceabove. The ore will then be granulatedata materials handling facility, with the
majority of the product—known as POLY4—expected to beexported to a network of customers in overseas
markets.

Quellaveco

Anglo American announced on July 26,2018, that its Board had approved the development of the Quellaveco
copper project in Peru. This follows the completion ofthe transaction announced in June 2018, whereby Mitsubishi
Corporation (“Mitsubishi”’) increased its interest in Anglo American Quellaveco S.A. (“AAQSA”), which owns the
Quellavecoproject, to 40% via the issuance of new shares.

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, projectexecution was ahead of schedule, with allapplicable milestones
achieved. At the Vizcachas dam, partof the water-source infrastructure located approximately 90 kilometres from
the plant, water impoundment had started as scheduled and construction works across the mine, plantandtailings
areas were alsoprogressingto plan. However, the project has beenaffected by the implementation of Peru’s national
quarantine since March 15,2020.

On March 17,2020, Quellaveco withdrew the majority of the project’s 10,000-strong work force from site a fter
the Peruvian government’s announcement ofaninitial 1 5-day national quarantine. Construction work was
significantly slowed, maintaining only limited critical works. Following subsequent extensions ofthe quarantine, on
April 23,2020, Anglo American announced the suspension of non-critical works foran expected periodof up to
three months in support ofthe government’s continuing efforts to control the spread of COVID-19, allowing for a
safe andresponsible restart to be planned.

During the suspension, the focus has been on thesafety of our workforce and the local community, as well as on
the development of a restart and updated constructionplan. These plans incorporate leading health protocols which
havebeenapproved by the Peruvian authorities, enablinga gradual and safe restart of site activities. From the
beginning of July 2020, activities have recommenced on site and are currently expected torampup duringthe
second halfof 2020, subject to further COVID-19related impacts.

Costshave beenrecast taking into account the demobilization and the currentremobilization. Total project
capital expenditure guidance was updatedas part of the 2020 interim results presentationto US$ 5.3 billion to
US$5.5 billion, of which ourshareis $2.7 — 2.8 billion. Since March 2020, the team has also taken the opportunity
to optimise theprojectdevelopment and mineplans in order to help mitigate the effectsof thesuspensionand
protect value. Despitethe COVID-19related slowdown, we still currently expect first productionin 2022.

Key project activities in the second half of this year will be the construction ofanapproximately 95-kilometre
water pipeline from the water-source area to the Quellaveco site, the start of pre-stripping activities to remove

surfacewaste material, and assembly ofthe mills.

Future projectoptions

Strict value criteria are applied to theassessmentof Anglo American’s portfolio of future growth options.
Where appropriate, we aim to seek partners for the development of major greenfield projects at theright time and
are likely to not commit to the full development of more than one such project at any given time. The Group will
continue to maintain optionality to progresswith value-accretive projects, should capital a vailability permit.

In May 2019, we announced theapproval by Debmarine Namibia, a 50:50joint venture between De Beers and
the Government of the Republic of Namibia, of the construction ofa new custom-built diamondrecovery vessel. At
a currently expectedtotal capital costof US$468 million (US$234 million attributable to Anglo American), this new
vessel will becomethe seventh in the Debmarine Namibia fleet. It was initia lly expected to begin productionin
2022, with the capacity to add 500,000 carats of annual production, a 35% increase above Debmarine Namibia’s
current levels. In July 2019, the Board approved the Aquila project to extend thelife of the Capcoalunderground
hard cokingcoal operations in Queensland, Australia, by six years, to 2028. Atan expectedattributable capital cost
of US$226 million, Aquila offers a high-margin extension to themine, with an average annual saleable production
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of 3.5 million tonnes (attributable) of premium quality hard coking coal. Development work beganin September
2019 and first longwall production is expected in early 2022. On July 28,2020, Kumba announced the approval of
its Kapstevel South projectatits Kolomela mine by the boards of Kumba and Anglo American. Thetotal capital
cost of the project is currently expected to be approximately ZAR 7 billion, including pre-stripping.

Longerterm, the Group has a number of future organic growth options under consideration, including the
polymetallic Sakattideposit in Finland, expansions at Collahuasiand Los Bronces copper mines in Chile and the
Mogalakwena PGMs complex in South Africa, and a number of debottlenecking and expansion opportunities atthe
Moranbah North/Grosvenor metallurgical coal complex in Australia.

THE COMPANY

Anglo American plc is a public limited company organized under the laws of Englandand Wales. Anglo
Americanhas its primary listing on the London Stock Exchange andis one of the FTSE 100 companies, which
comprises the 100 largest UK listed companies by market capitalization. AsofJune 30,2020, Anglo American’s
market capitalization was approximately US$3 1.3 billion (GB£25.5 billion).

Anglo American is a publicly traded company with no single controlling shareholder. The principal offices of
Anglo American plc are located at 20 Carlton House Terrace, London, SW1Y 5AN, England and its telephone
numberis+44 (0)20 7968 8888.

THE ISSUER

Anglo American Capital plc is a public limited company organized under the laws of Englandand Wales. It
was formed for the purpose of securing and providing financing for the Anglo American Group.

The principal offices of Anglo American Capitalplc are located at 20 Carlton House Terrace, London,
SW1Y 5AN, England. For further information onthe Issuer, see “Description of Anglo American Capital plc”.

THE OFFERING

Certainofthe terms and conditions described below are subject toimportant limitations and exceptions. The
“Descriptionofthe Notes and the Guarantees” section of this document contains a more detailed description of the
terms and conditions of the Notes and the Guarantees. Capitalized terms used but not defined inthis section have
the meanings set forthin “Description of the Notes and the Guarantees”.

The IsSuer...........cccoveiiveieene. Anglo American Capital plc, a public limited company organized under
the laws of England and Wales. The Issuerisa wholly owned subsidiary
of Anglo Americanplc that serves as a financing vehicle through which
the Anglo American Groupraises funds to support its operations.

The Guarantor of the Notes............. Anglo American plc, a public limited company organizedunderthelaws
of Englandand Wales. The Company is the ultimate holding company
forthe Anglo American Group.

The Notes.........cccocoeereeeeerrieiens USS$1,000million a ggregate principal amount 0f2.625% Senior Notes
due 2030(the “2030 Notes”); and
US$500 million aggregate principal amountof 3.950% Senior Notes
due 2050(the “2050 Notes” and, together with the 2030 Notes, the
“Notes”).

Each series of the Notes willbe issued under the Indenture among the
Issuer, the Company andthe Trustee. The 2030 Notes and the2050
Notes will each be treated as a separateclass of securities underthe
Indenture.

The Guarantees.............c.ccoveeueunnee. The obligations of the Issuer under the Notes will be unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed on a senior and unsecured basis by the Company
(the “Guarantees”) pursuant to the Indenture.

Offering Format................cccccoooeeee.. The Notes are being offered in the United States to qualified institutional
buyers in reliance on Rule 144A and outside the United States to persons
otherthan U.S. persons in reliance upon Regulation S.

Issue Price.........c.cccoovvvvvvviveceiieenne. 99.095% forthe 2030 Notes; and
98.563% forthe 2050 Notes.
Issue Date...........ccocoovviiiniriiiee. September 10,2020.



Maturity Date.............cocooeeiinnnne. September 10,2030 forthe 2030 Notes; and
September 10,2050 forthe 2050 Notes.
Interest..........ccooovveveieereeereeeeieee The 2030 Notes and the 2050 Notes will bear interest from the [ssue Date
attherateof2.625% perannum and 3.950% per annum, respectively
payable semi-annually in arrears.

Interest Payment Dates.................... March 10and September 10 ofeach year, commencing March 10,2021,
until the applicable Maturity Date.
Regular Record Dates....................... February25 and August25 ofeachyear(whether ornot a business day)

immediately preceding each interest paymentdate.

Status of the Notes and the

Guarantees.............c..ccocveeveevenennn. The Notes and the Guarantees will be direct, unsecured and

unsubordinated obligations ofeach of the Issuer and the Company,
respectively, ranking pari passu amongthemselves and with all other
direct, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations (exceptthose
obligations preferred by statute or operation oflaw) of the Issuerand the
Company, respectively. The Notes and the Guarantees will be effectively
subordinated to any debtor other obligations of any other subsidiary of
the Company with respect to the earnings and assets of that subsidiary.

Use of Proceeds...........cccoceevvrerennnnne. The net proceeds ofthe offering will be applied to fund the Issuer’s offers
to purchase(i)a portion of the Issuer’s €377,819,0002.500% Guaranteed
Notes due 2021 and €750,000,000 3.500% Guaranteed Notes due2022
and (ii) any and all of the Issuer’s US$ 600,000,0004.125% Senior Notes
due 2022. Any netproceeds of the offeringnotused to repurchase notes
in the Tender Offers, will be used for general corporate purposes
including but not limited to financing potential future liability
management activities such as redemptions of outstanding securities.

Covenants............ccceeeeeeeeeeeeenennns The Issuerand the Company have agreed to certain covenants with
respect to the Notes and the Guarantees, including limitations on:

e liens;
e saleand leasebacktransactions; and
* mergers and consolidations.

Events of Default.................cccccccc.c..... The occurrenceor existence of certain conditions or events, including the
acceleration of certain other indebtedness ofthe Issuer or the Company,
may accelerate the Issuerand the Company’s obligations under the Notes.

Optional Redemption....................... The Issuermay redeem either or both series of the Notes, in whole orin
part,atits option,atany time and from time totime, prior to, in the case
ofthe 2030 Notes, June 10,2030 (three months prior to thematurity date
ofthe 2030 Notes) (the “2030 Notes Par Call Date””) and in the case of the
2050 Notes, March 10,2050 (six months prior to the maturity date of the
2050 Notes) (the “2050 Notes Par Call Date”),at a redemption price
equalto thegreater of (i) 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be
redeemed and (ii) as determined by the Independent Investment Banker,
the sum of thepresent values ofthe applicable Remaining Scheduled
Payments discounted to the Redemption Dateon a semi-annual basis
(assuminga 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months) at the
Treasury Rate plus, in the case ofthe2030 Notes, 35 basis points and, in
the case of the 2050 Notes, 40 basis points, together with, in each case,
accruedinterest on the principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed to,
butnot including, the Redemption Date.

The Issuermayredeem theNotes in whole orin part,at its option,at any
time and from timeto time, on orafter, in the case ofthe 2030 Notes, the
2030 Notes ParCall Date and in the case ofthe 2050 Notes, the 2050
Notes ParCall Date, at a redemption price equalto 100% of the principal
amount ofthe Notes to be redeemed, together with accrued and unpaid
interest on the principalamountof the Notes to be redeemed to, but not
including, the RedemptionDate.



Optional Tax Redemption............... The Notes are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the
Issuer, in whole but not in part, attheir principal amount, plus accrued
interest to the Redemption Date and any Additional Amounts, in the
event of certain Changes in Tax Laws that would require the Issuer or the
Company to pay Additional Amounts on the Notes.

Additional Amounts.......................... Subject to certain exceptions and limitations provided forin the
Indenture, the Issuer and the Company will pay such Additional Amounts
on the Notes (orunder the Guarantees in respect thereof) as may be
necessary to ensure thatthe net amounts received by each holderofa
Note afterall withholding or deductions shallequalthe amountof
principal, any premium and interest which such holder would have
received in respect of such Note (or payments under the Guarantees in
respect thereof) in the absence of such withholding or deduction.

Change of Control...............c.cccoeuu..... Ifa Changeof Control Repurchase Event occurs (as defined under
“Description of the Notes and the Guarantees™), theIssuer orthe
Company may be required to repurchasethe Notes at a purchase price
equalto 101%of their principal amount, plus any accrued and unpaid
interest. See “Descriptionof theNotes and the Guarantees—Change of
ControlRepurchase Event”.

Denomination, Form and

Registration of Notes....................... The Notes will be issued in fully registered form and only in
denominations 0of US$200,000 and integral multiples of US$1,000 in
excess thereof. The Notes will be issued initially as Global Notes. The
Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) will act as depositary for the Notes.
Except in limited circumstances, Global Notes willnot be exchangeable
forcertificated notes.

Further Issues............ccccooeoeierrnnnnen. The Issuermay from time to time withoutthe consentof the holders of
the Notes issue as many distinctseries of debt securities under the
Indenture as it wishes. Subject tocertain conditions, it may also from
time to time without theconsent oftheholders of the Notes issue
additionalnotes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes issued
hereunder. The period ofresale restrictions applicable to any Notes
previously offeredandsold in reliance on Rule 144A shall automatically
be extendedto thelast day of the period of any resale restrictions imposed
on any such additional notes.

Trustee, Paying Agent, Registrar Citibank, N.A., whose address is Citigroup Centre, Canada Square,

and Transfer Agent...............ceeunnee. Canary Wharf, London, E14 5LB, United Kingdom.

Settlement..............ccooevinennninenenenecnene The Issuerexpects to deliver the Notes onorabout September 10,2020
(the “Settlement Date’”) which will be the second business day following
the pricingdate ofthe offering (this settlement cycle beingreferred to as
“TH27).

Transfer Restrictions.............c.c.o..c..... Neither the Notes nor the Guarantees have been or will be registered
underthe Securities Act and each is subject to certain restrictions on
resale and transfer.

Ratings.........cocooiiiiiceeceee Itis expected that the Notes will be rated Baa2 (negativeoutlook) by
Moody’s and BBB (stable outlook) by S&P, subject to confirmation on
the Settlement Date.

A creditratingis not a recommendation to buy or hold securities and may
be subjectto revisions, suspension or withdrawal at any timeby the

assigningratingagency.

Governing Law............cccccceeeirnnnnnen. The Indenture, the Notes and the Guarantees will be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws ofthe State of New York.

Listing .......ccoooveveeivieeeieeeeeeen The Company expects to make an application for Admission ofthe Notes

to listing on the Official List and to trading on the London Stock
Exchange’s Regulated Market, a regulated market for purposes of MiFID
II.

Risk Factors.............ccccoovvverereenrnnnne. We urge you to consider carefully the risks described in “Risk Factors”
beginning on page 10 of this documentbefore making an investment
decision.






SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The summary financial information of the Group set forth below forthe years ended December31,2019,2018
and 2017 andthe six months ended June 30,2020 and 2019 has been extracted from, and should be read in
conjunction with, the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto prepared in accordance with IFRS, 2020
Condensed Interim Financial Statements and notes thereto prepared in accordance with IAS 34, and incorporated by
reference in this document. See “Presentationof Financial Information”.

You should regard the financial data below only as an introduction and should base your investment decision on
a review of this entire document and the information incorporated by reference herein. The disclosures in this
section includecertain Alternative Performance Measures (“APMs”). Formore information on the APMs please see
“Presentation of Financial Information”.

Six months ended June

Year-ended December 31, 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(USSm unless otherwise stated)

REVEINUC......tiiieiiiiie ettt 26,243 27,610 29,870 14,772 12,474
Group Revenue!D.........ooiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 28,650 30,196 31,825 15,874 13,222
Underlying EBIT ..o 6,247 6,377 7,010 4,015 2,084
Operating profit 5,529 6,069 6,176 3,348 1,766
Profit before tax 5,505 6,189 6,146 3,385 1,555
Profit for the financial period 4,059 4,373 4,582 2,496 817
Profit for the financial period attributable to equity

shareholders of the Company 3,166 3,549 3,547 1,883 471
Underlying eamingsD........cocooooviiniiniinieen, 3,272 3,237 3,468 2,005 886
Dividend per share (U.S. cents)®
(07 T e F:Y o RSP SUSR 102 100 109 62 28
Nt ASSCIS.eeeuriereririeeeiiieeesireeesrreeesbreeesareeesareeeesreeensnns 28,882 29,832 31,385 31,250 28,873
Net debtD i (4,501) (2,848) (4,626) (3,411) (7,617)
Net cash inflows from operating activities........................ 8,049 7,127 7,664 3,405 1,205
Capital expenditure(V 2,150 2,818 3,840 1,386 1,808
Proposed Interim Ordinary Dividend 610 765 798 349

(1) Definitions are set out in the “Non-IFRS financial measures” section.
(2) Interim and year-end dividends proposed in respect of the applicable period.



RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should read and carefully consider the following risk factors and other information in this
document before decidingto purchase the Notes. We believe thatthe riskfactors identified below represent the
principal risks inherentin purchasing the Notes, but they are not the only risk factors we face. Additional risk
factors not presently known tous or that we currently believe to be immaterial also may adversely affect our
business, financial condition andresults of operations. Should any known or unknown risk factors develop into
actualevents, these developments could have material adverse effects on our business, financial condition and

results of operations.

Unless otherwise specified by reference to Anglo American or Anglo American Capital, therisks apply in the
contextof the Group andare also applicable to eachof Anglo American plcand Anglo American Capitalplc.

In this context, thefollowing specific risks have been identified:

RISKS RELATING TO OUR BUSINESS AND INDUSTRY

Damage to or breakdown of a physical asset, including due to fire, explosion, natural catastrophe, thefi or
terrorism may adversely affect our operating results andresult in loss of revenue, loss of cash flow or other losses.

Damage to or breakdown orloss of a physical asset, includingas a result of fire, explosion, natural catastrophe,
theft of high value products, terrorism or other factors which restrictthe ability to undertake maintenance including
mandatory, regulatory, or court-ordered measures, canresult in a loss of assets and subsequent financial losses. Our
operations and development projects are exposed to naturalrisks, such as earthquakes and extreme weather
conditions. Other catastrophic risks faced by ourbusiness include failure of mine pit slopes, breaches of tailings
dam walls, fire and explosion in underground mines or in buildings, plant and equipment and sudden and
unexpected failure of mineshafts. The occurrenceof one ormoreof these events could potentially lead to multiple
fatalities and injuries, long term environmental damage, significant reputational damage, greaterregulatory scrutiny
and loss of ordelays in obtaining licenses to operate. In particular, in response to recent tailings dam breaches, there
may be greater scrutiny and regulation oftailings dams which could result in a dditional permitting requirements,
delaysin obtaining permits and higher costs, particularly in Brazil. Leaks from pipelines(such as the two leaks at
the Minas-Rio pipelinein 2018) or other storage vessels can cause production delays, possible environmental
damage orcreatesafety implications. The financialimpactassociated with clean-up costs andlegalliability claims
could be substantial. Ourinsurancewith respectto any catastrophic or other significant event risk may not be
sufficientto cover our financial loss flowing from an event and insurance is not available oris unavailable on
economically viable terms formany risks we may face. Theoccurrenceof events for which we are not insured, or
forwhich ourinsuranceis insufficient, may materially and adversely a ffect our revenues, operating results, cash
flows and financial condition.

Our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition have been and may continue to be
adversely affected by commodity and diamond price fluctuations and adverse economic conditions.

Commodity anddiamond prices are determined principally by international marketsand global supply and
demand dynamics. Fluctuations in commodity and diamond prices have givenrise,and may continue to give rise, to
commodity price risk across the Group. Historically, suchprices have been subjectto substantial variation. See “—
The COVID-19 global pandemic has had a negative impacton worldwide economic activity and s likely to
adversely affect our business” and “Industry Overview”.

Volatility or falls in commodity and diamond prices may have an adverse effecton our operating results, cash
flows and financial conditionand could prevent us from completing certain transactions that are important to our
business, which may have an adverse effecton our financial position. For example, we maynot beableto sell assets
atthe values or within the timelines expected, complete planned acquisitions or createjoint ventures.

Pandemics, epidemics, outbreaks of infectious diseases or any other serious public health concerns (suchas
Ebola,avian flu, HIN1, SARS and COVID-19) whether on a regional or globalscale, together with anyresulting
restrictions on travel, imposition of quarantines and prolonged closures of workplaces, are likely to havea material
adverseeffect onthe globaleconomy in general, as wellas on demand for our products and on commodity and
diamond prices.

Adverse and volatile economic conditions, coupled with a negative price environment, can also limit our
visibility in terms of anticipated revenues and costs and can a ffect our ability to approve, finance orimplement
planned projects and repay debt. In addition, ratinga gencies and industry analysts are likely to take such conditions
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into account when assessing our business and creditworthiness and any adverse determinations, including ratings
downgrades, may makeit more difficult orexpensive forus to raise capital in the future and may adversely a ffect
the marketprice of theNotes. Furthermore, certain of our financings contain financialand operational covenants.
Our ability to comply with such covenants may comeunder greater pressure in a volatile economic environment and
may therefore restrict our financial flexibility.

If globaleconomic growth weakens in the medium to long-term, our ability to grow or maintain revenues in
future years may be adversely a ffected, we maynot be able to compete fornew, complex projects that require
significant capital investmentand, at certain long-term price levels fora given commodity, certain of our extractive
operations with respect to that commodity maynot be economic. We may haveto suspend certain operations in
orderto reduce orstop production fora periodof time. Suchdevelopments could havea materially adverse effect
on our business, operational results, cash flows and financial condition.

The COVID-19 global pandemic has had a negative impact on worldwide economic activity and is likely to
adversely affectour business.

The rapid spread of COVID-19 has adversely affected the economies of many countries with many national
economies having entered recessions and some having experienced material slowdowns in economic growth. In
June 2020, threekey multilateral organisations (IMF, World Bankand OECD) issued growth forecasts thatindicated
a significant global GDP decline in 2020. For example, according to these forecasts, the yearly outlook forthe US
economyranges between-6.1% and-8%, while the EU economy is expected to shrink between-9.1%to -10.2%.
Financial markets were and continue to be volatile and the prices of our products were affected.

Government measures taken in response to the COVID-19 outbreak, including containment and lockdown
restrictions, and other indirect effects that COVID-19 is ha ving on economic activity, have resulted in economic
downturns in the markets in which we sell our products and lead toreduced demand orevenno demand in key
jurisdictions for certain of our products in such markets, for example if our customers shutdown their operations,
and have required us, and may furtherrequire us, to curtail, reschedule or suspend operations, construction or
development at our facilities and projects. The extension or intensification of such measures, other countries
implementing similar measures, or any other mandatory, regula tory or court-ordered measures relatingto COVID-
19 would increase theimpact on Anglo American’s operations, projects and production. Forexample, see a
discussion of recentactions by the public prosecutor and the federal labour public prosecutor ofthe State of Minas
Geraisunder “Recent Developments—COVID-19 Pandemic—Impactof COVID-19 on operations”. Inaddition,
our customers or suppliers may seek to excusetheir performance under their existing contracts with us by claiming
that theongoing pandemic, and governmentresponses, constitute a force majeure event. Future spread of COVID-
19,including in areas where our mining operations and our material facilities are located, may result in greater risk
of exposure to ouremployees, and we may respond by curtailing, rescheduling or suspending our operations,
constructionordevelopmentatour facilities and projects or be required to do so. In addition, COVID-19 could
represent a threatto maintaining a skilled workforcein the mining industry and couldbe a health-care challenge for
the operations of Anglo American. The Group and the Group’s personnel may, and may continue to be, impacted by
this pandemic disease and the Group may ultimately see its workforce productivity reduced orincurincreased
medical costs/insurance premiums as a result of these healthrisks. Fora more detailed description ofthe Group’s
measures taken thus farin responseto COVID-19, pleasesee “Recent Developments—COVID-19 Pandemic™.

The COVID-19 outbreak has also led to extreme disruption and volatility in the global capital markets, which
could increase our cost of capitaland adversely a ffect ourability to accessthe capital markets. In addition, the
uncertainty surrounding the magnitude of the impactof COVID-19 may cause certain financial institutions to reduce
the amount of, orimpose more unfavorable terms on, new credit lines they extend to companies. Therefore our
ability to raise future financing required for our operations may be severely restrictedata time when we would like,
or need, to do so, which could have anadverse effecton ourability to meet our currentand future funding
requirements and onour flexibility to react to changing economic and business conditions. Furthermore, our
customers’ ability to pay may be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic as such customers may haveto curtail or
shutdown their operations, potentially leadingto increased credit risks if the current economic downturn and the
measures to curb thespread ofthe pandemic continue foranextended period oftime. See “—Our business may be
adversely affected by liquidity and counterparty risk”.

In addition, we review our goodwilland assets when events or changes in circumstances suggest that the
carryingamountmaynotbe recoverable. If there are indications thatimpairmentmay have occurred, we prepare
estimates of expected future cash flows foreach group ofassets. Volatility of the prices forthe Group’s products, a
significant reduction orabsence of demand for diamonds, as well as operational developments due to COVID-19,
may haveanadverse impact onthe Group’s assessment of therecoverable amount of operating assets and could
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result in significant impairments, which could materially and adversely affect ourresults of operations or financial
condition. See “—Certain factors may affect ourability to supportthe carrying value of our property, plants and
equipment, acquired properties, investments and goodwill on our balance sheet” and “—Inaccurate assumptions in
respect of critical accounting judgments could adversely a ffect financial results”.

The COVID-19 outbreak is likely to continue to adversely affectthe globaleconomy duringat least the
remainderof2020and could result in a significant negativeimpacton the Group’s business, financial condition,
results of operationsand prospects. The effects of the COVID-19 outbreak are highly uncertain, including the
duration ofthe outbreak, new information that may emerge concerning the severity ofthe infection, the scope,
duration and economic impact ofactions taken to contain the spread of the virus ortreat its impact, and the impact
of each ofthese items on macroeconomic conditions and financial markets globally. Any of these factors could have
a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

Slower levels of growth in Chinesedemand for commodities may negativelyimpactpricing.

China is an important driver of global demand and pricing for commodities worldwide. Commodity prices have
been adversely affected by slower than expected levels of GDP growth in China, as wellas by the ongoingtrade
tensions between the United States and China, and such factors could continue to have a negative impact on
commodity prices generally, which would have a negative impact on our business andrevenues. In the World
Bank’s latest report published onMarch 31,2020, China GDP growth in 2020 is projected to slow to 2.3%in the
baseline scenario, oraslowas 0.1% in the lower-case scenario, compared to growth 0f6.1% in 2019. Factors
contributing to slower levels of growth in Chinese demand for commodities may include slower or flattened
economic growth, the COVID-19 outbreak, unsuccessful economic reforms, government policies that affect
commodities markets, reduced urbanization or industrialization and a slowing expansion of the middle class.
Slowing demand for commodities from China and a sustained slowdown in China’s growth, whether caused by
these factors or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on ourbusiness, operational results, cash flows,
financial condition and competitive position.

Unplanned and unexpected operational issues may affect our ability to achieve our delivery of the Group’s
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (“Underlying EBITDA”) improvementtargets.

In orderto support our continuous financial performance enhancement goal, net cost and volume improvements
aretargeted. Risksto delivery include unplanned orunexpected operational issues, lack ofjoint venture partner
support, limited and or stretched resources to manage complex and multi-disciplinary projects and inability to
deliver savings throughimplementation of new technology and innovation. Failure to deliver ourunderlying
EBITDA improvement targets could adversely affect our cash flow levels, reduce investor confidence and adversely
affect our business.

Our operations and development projects couldbe adversely affected by shortages of, as well as lead times to
deliver, certain key inputs.

The inability to obtain, in a timely manner, strategic consumables, raw materials and mining and processing
equipment could lead to lower output volumes and could have an adverse impact on our results of operations,
development projects and financial condition. During periods of strong demand for commodities, increased demand
forsuch supplies may result in periods when supplies arenotalways available or cause costs to increase above normal
inflation rates. Any interruption to oursupplies orincrease in our costs would adversely affect our operating results
and cash flows and such effects could be material.

Our business may be adversely affected byliquidity and counterparty risk.

We are exposedto liquidity risk arising from the need to finance our ongoing operations and growth, as wellas
refinance our debt maturities as they falldue. Global credit markets have been severely constrained in the pastand
ourability to obtain funding has been and may in the future be significantly reduced.

Any future potential credit rating downgrade may havea negative impact onourability to obtain fundingand
may further increase the cost of financing orrequire us to agree to moreonerous financing terms and may adversely
affect the value of the Notes being offered.

[f we are unable to obtain sufficient funding, either dueto banking and capital market conditions generally, or
due to factors specific to our business, we may not have sufficient cashto meetongoing financingneeds and other
requirements, which in turn could materially and adversely a ffect our financial condition and could result in a loss of
all orpart of yourinvestmentin the Notes. Forexample, therecent COVID-19 pandemic has adversely impacted the
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globalbanking and capital markets and may adversely impact our operating cash flows and increase our
counterparty risk in light of measures taken to reduce capacity as a result of government measures toslow down the
spread of COVID-19. See “—The emerging COVID-19 global pandemic has had a negativeimpact on worldwide
economic activity and is likely to adversely a ffect our business”.

To the extent that our operating cash flows are insufficient to meet our debtservice obligations, including
payments of interestand principal on the Notes, we may be required to raise funds through disposals of assets oruse
alternative funding sourcessuch as our Group-levelrevolving credit bank facility. There can be no assurance,
however, thatsuch cash flows or proceeds will be sufficient or that refinancing will be available on commercially
viable terms. Any failure to meetourdebt service obligations or to obtain refinancing on commercially viable terms
would have a material adverse effect on our financial conditionand couldresult in a loss of allorpart of your
investment in the Notes.

In addition, we are exposed to counterparty risk from customers and financial institutions that could result in
financiallosses should those counterparties become unable to meettheir obligations to us. Furthermore, thetreasury
operations of ourjoint ventures and associates are independently managed and may expose us to liquidity,
counterparty and other financial risks. Should our counterparties be unable to meet their obligations tous, orshould
the treasury operations of our joint ventures or associates incur losses, our operating results, cash flows, competitive
position and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

The use of mining contractors at certain of our operations may expose those operations to delays or
suspensions in mining activities.

Mining contractors are usedata number of our operations to perform various operational tasks, including
carrying out miningactivities and delivering ore to processing plants. In periods ofhigh commodity prices, demand
for contractors may exceed supply resulting in increased costs or lack ofavailability ofkey contractors. Disruptions
of operations or increased costs also canoccuras a result of disputes with contractors ora shortage of contractors
with particular capabilities. Additionally, because we do nothave thesame control over contractors as we do over
employees, there is a risk that contractors will not operate in accordance with our sa fety standards or other policies.
To the extent that any of the foregoing risks materialize, our operating results and cash flows could be adversely
affected.

Our operations and development projects could be adversely affected by shortages of appropriately skilled
employees, for whom we competewith mining and other companies to recruit, develop and retain.

Our ability to recruit, develop and retain personnel with a ppropriate skills is affected by global competition for
skilled labor, particularly in periods ofhigh commodity prices when demand for such personnel typically increases.
Any failure to retain skilled employees or to recruit new staff may lead to increased costs, interruptions to existing
operations and delay of new projects.

Labor disruptions could have an adverse effect onour results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

There is a risk that strikes or other types of conflict with unions or employees may occuratany one ofour
operations, development projects or suppliers of critical goods and services, orin any of the geographic regions in
which we operate. In key countries where we operate, the majority of employees are members oftrade unions,
especially in South Africa and South America. Labordisruptions may be used not only forreasons specific to our
business, but also to advocatelabor, political or social goals. Any labor disruptions could increase operational costs
and decreaserevenues, and if such disruptions are material, they could adversely affect, possibly significantly, our
results of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Failure to meet production, construction, delivery and cost targets can adversely affect both operational
performance and our ability to implement projects in a timely and efficient manner, resulting in increased costs.

Failure to meet productiontargets canresult in increased unit costs, and such increases may be especially
pronouncedatoperations with higher levels of fixed costs. Unit costs may exceed forecasts, adversely affecting
performanceandresults of operations. Results of operations canbe a ffected by a range oftechnical and engineering
factors. In addition, failure to meetproject delivery times and costs couldhavea negativeeffect on operational
performanceandleadto increased costs orreductions in revenue and profitability. Suchincreases could materially
and adversely a ffect the economics ofa project, and consequently ourresults of operations, cash flows and financial
condition.

Restrictions on our ability to obtain, sustain or secure access to water and necessary infrastructure services,
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including utilities and transportation, may adversely affect our operations.

Inadequate supply of thecritical infrastructure elements for mining activity could result in reduced production
or sales volumes orimpactourdevelopment projects, which could have a negative effect on our financial
performance. Prioritization, restrictions on supply or disruptions in the supply of essential utility services, such as
waterandelectricity, can reduce or halt our production for the duration oftherestriction or disruption and, when
unexpected, may cause loss of life or damage to our mining equipmentor facilities, which may in turn affect our
ability to recommence operations on a timely basis.

Adequate provision of transportation services, in particularrail services and timely portaccess,are critical to
getting our products to marketand disruptions to such services may a ffect our operations. We are largely dependent
on third party providers of utility and transportation services includingrail, port and shipping services, and their
provision of services, maintenance ofnetworks and expansionand contingency plans are outside our control.

In certain instances, our growth plans are reliant on third party rail providers expanding their carrying capacity.

Poorwaterresource management or inadequate onsite storage, combined with reduced water supply atsome
operations as weather patterns change, canaffect production. Loss of permits to use water in our operations and
damage to stakeholder rela tionships or reputational damage canresult from failure to manage waterin a sustainable
manner.

In South Africa, there is a risk that theelectricity supply may not be able to meet the country’s demands,
leadingto unplanned outages and failure of the national grid. We are a significantconsumer of power owingto the
extent ofour operations in South Africa. Therisk is created through the lack of investment in generating capacity
and a maintenance backlogin some genernating facilities leading to unplanned outages and/or potential extraordinary
tariff increases. Unplanned and short-notice power supply outages can lead to productionshortfalls, with a negative
effect onrevenue, costs and productivity. There arepotential sa fety implications, particularly forunderground
mines and process activities.

Loss of critical computing systems can interrupt nomal business activities.

Any such events are likely to adversely affectour production volumes and may increase our costs, which would
in turn adversely a ffect ourresults of operations and cash flows, and such effects could be material.

Our business may be adversely affected by attacks from third parties on our information systems.

We maintain and rely on information technology systems, consisting of digital infrastructure, a pplications and
communications networks to support our business activities. These systems may be subject to security breaches or
otherincidents that may result in the theft, loss, disclosure or corruption of personal (in breach ofapplicable data
protection legislation), sensitive or proprietary information including informationrelating to acquisitions and
divestments, strategic decision-making, investment market communications or commercially sensitive information
relatingto major contracts. Security breaches may alsoresult in misappropriation of funds, fraud, disruptions to our
business operations, environmental damage, increased health and safety risks to people, poor product quality, theft
or loss of intellectual property legal orregulatory breaches and liability orreputational damage. Damage isalso
possible to equipment that is critical to mining or processing of ore, resulting in interruption to production and
possible financial loss.

The risk arises from cyber-crime oractivist activity aimed atcausing disruption or attempts by third parties to
access sensitive information. The pace oftechnological development makes it challenging to prevent increasingly
sophisticated methods ofattacking information technology systems.

Substitution of commodities mined by our business could adversely affect sales volumes and revenue.

Reduced demand for products mined by our business through substitution dueto technological developments,
forexample alternatives being developedto the use of platinum group metals in catalytic converters and a switch to
battery operated vehicles instead of fuel cell electric vehicles, or substitution of supply through recycling, could
have an adverse effect on ourresults of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

Technological developments are resulting in increased production and distribution of manufactured synthetic
gem diamonds. These may be fraudulently sold as natural stones (undisclosed) ormarketed and sold as synthetics
(disclosed). Increased competition from disclosed synthetics may lead to a potential reduction in rough diamond
sales, which could have a materialadverse effecton ourrevenue, cash flow, profitability and value.
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We may have fewer reserves or resources than our estimates indicate.

Our Mineral Resource and Ore Reserve estimates arebased on a number of assumptions which are inherently
prone to variability. Our Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves estimates are stated asatDecember31,2019 and
such calculations are based ona number of assumptions, including the price of commodities, production costs,
recovery rates, the availability and quality of geological and technical information, industry practice and subjective
judgments madeby management and our other competent persons with regard to the presence and grade ofore
bodies andtheability to extractand process the ores economically. Thereare also risks associated with such
estimates, includingthat ore mined may be different from the resource estimates in quality, volume, overburden strip
ratio or stripping cost. In addition, ores maynotultimately be extracted at a profit.

If we encounter mineralization or geological ormining conditions different from those predicted by historical
drilling, samplingand similar examinations, we may have to adjust our miningplans in a way that could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations and reduce the estimated amount of
resources andreserves available for production and expansion plans.

In addition, our portfolio of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves includes inferred mineral resources. Inferred
mineralresources havea greatamount ofuncertainty as to their existence and physical properties and their
economic andlegal feasibility. It cannot be assumedthat allorany part ofaninferred mineral resource willeverbe
upgraded toa higher category. Furthermore, thereis no guaranteethatalloranypart of aninferred mineral resource
will everbeupgraded to ameasured orindicated mineral resource category. The inclusionof Mineral Resource
estimates should notbe regarded as a representation that these amounts could be exploited economically. There is
no guaranteethatthe resources estimated are capable of being directly converted to reserves, northatallorany part
of the inferred mineral resources will everbe upgraded to a measured orindicated mineral resource category .

Future fluctuations in the variables underlying our estimates may result in material changes to our Ore Reserve
estimates and such changes may have a materially adverseimpact on our operating results, cash flows or financial
conditionand prospects.

Failure to discover new economic mineralization, enhance existing reserves or adequately develop new projects
could adversely affect our business.

Explorationand development arecostly, speculative and often unproductive activities, butare necessary forour
future growth. Failure to discover new economic mineralization, to maintain our existing mineral rights, to enhance
existingreserves or to economically extract reserves in sufficient amounts and in a timely manner could materially
and adversely affect ourresults of operations, cash flows, financial condition and prospects. In addition, we may not
be able to recover the funds we spend identifying new mining opportunities through our exploration programme.

Increasingly stringent requirements relating to regulatory, environmental and social approvals canresult in
significant delays in construction of our facilities and may adversely a ffect the economics ofnew mining projects,
the expansion of existing operations and, consequently, our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition
and such effects could be material.

Our business may be adversely affected by currency exchange rate fluctuations and interest rate movements.

Because ofthe globalnature of our business, we are exposed to currency risk principally where transactions are
not conducted in U.S. dollars or where assets and liabilities are not U.S. dollar-denominated. The majority of our
sales revenue is denominated in U.S. dollars, while the majority of our operating costs are influenced by the
currencies of the countries where our operations are located and by the currencies in which the costs of imported
equipment and services are denominated. The South Africanrand, Chileanpeso, Brazilianreal, Australian dollar,
Canadian dollar, British poundand U.S. dollarare the mostimportant currencies influencing our operating costs and
asset valuations. Because ourpolicy is generally notto hedge such exposures, fluctuations in the exchange rates of
these currencies may adversely a ffect our operatingresults, cash flows or financial condition to a material extent.

If the Group is subjected to volatile interest rate fluctuations, its operating results, cash flows, competitive
position and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected. See “Opermatingand Financial Review
of the Group—Financial Risk Exposureand Management—Interest rate risk™.

Inflation may have an adverseeffect on our results of operations and cash flows.
Because we cannot control the market price at which commodities we produceare sold, we may be unable to

passthrough increased costs of productionto our customers. Asa result, it is possible that significantly higher
future inflation in the countries in which we operate may increase future operational costs withouta corresponding
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increase in the U.S. dollar price of the commodities we produce, ora concurrent depreciation ofthe local currency
against the U.S. dollar.

Costinflation in the mining sector is more apparent during periods of high commodity prices because demand
formining-related products and services can tend to exceed supply during such periods. However, suchinflation
canoccurat any pointin the commodity cycle, and in the pastwe have also experienced cost inflation during
periods of decreasing commodity prices. Alagin the reductionof input costs relative to declining commodity prices
will havea similarnegativeeffect onourresults of operations. Any such increased costs or delays in cost reductions
may adversely affect our profit margins, cash flows and results of operations and such effects could be material.

Our non-controlled assets may not comply with our standards.

Some of our operations are controlled and managed by joint venture partners, associates or by other companies.
Managementof non-controlled assets may not comply with our standards, for example, on safety, health and
environmental matters or on financial or other controls and procedures. Thismayleadto highercosts and lower

productionand adversely a ffect ourresults of operations, cash flows, financial condition or reputation.

Certain factors may affect our ability to support the carrying value of our property, plants and equipment,
acquired properties, investments and goodwill on our balance sheet.

We review and testthe carrying value of our assets wheneventsor changes in circumstances suggest that the
carryingamountmaynotbe recoverable. See, forexample, “Recent Developments—Incident at Grosvenor”. 1f
there are indications thatimpairment may have occurred, we prepare estimates of expected future cash flows for
each group of assets. Expected future cash flows are inherently uncertain and could materia lly change overtime.
They are significantly affected by reserve and production estimates, together with economic factors such as spot and
forward commodity prices, discountrates, currency exchange rates, estimates of costs to produce reserves and future
capital expenditure.

Ifany ofthese uncertainties occur, either alone or in combination, it could require managementto recognize an
impairment, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations or financial condition.

Inaccurate assumptions in respectof critical accounting judgments could adversely affect financial results.

In the course of preparing financial statements, our management necessarily makes judgments and estimates
that canhave a significant impact on our financial statements. The mostcritical of theserelateto impairment and
impairment reversals of assets, taxation, contingent liabilities, joint arrangements, estimation of Ore Reserves,
assessment of fair value, restoration, rehabilita tion and environmental costs, retirement benefits and deferred
stripping. The use of inaccurateassumptions in calculations for any ofthese estimates could havea significant
impacton ourresults of operations and financial condition.

LEGAL, REGULATORY, POLITICAL AND TAX RISKS

Safety, health and environmental exposures and related regulations may expose us to additional litigation,
compliance costs, interruptions to operations, unforeseen environmental remediation expenses and loss of
reputation.

Miningis a potentially hazardous industry and is highly regulated by safety, healthand environmental laws and
regulations. Working conditions, including aspects suchas weather, altitudeand temperature, canaddto the
inherent dangers of mining, whetherunderground orin openpit mines. Failure toprovide a safe and healthy
working environment or an environmentally a cceptable one in accordance with the relevant applicable legislation or
regulations mayresult in government authorities, regulators or courts forcing closure of mines and ceasing of
operations or maintenance of our assets, in each caseon a temporary or permanent basis or refusing mining right
applications,among othermeasures. Forexample, see a discussion ofrecent actions by the public prosecutorand
the federal labour public prosecutor of the State of Minas Gerais under “Recent Developments—COVID-19
Pandemic—Impact of COVID-19 onoperations”.

Inability to delivera sustained improvementin sa fety performance or occupational health may result from
management interventions and training initia tives failing to translate into behavioral change by allemployees and
contractors. Non-compliance with critical controls isa common failure in safety incidents which can lead to loss of
life, workplace injuries and safety-related stoppages, all of which immediately impact productionand in the long
term, threaten our license to operate. Asa consequence ofsafety, health orenvironmental incidents, we could face
civil or criminal fines and penalties, liability to employees and third parties for injuryillness, or death, statutory
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liability for environmental remediation, mandatory operational changes and other financial consequences, which
may be significant. See “RecentDevelopments—IncidentatGrosvenor”. We are currently subject to ongoing
litigation relating to some oftheseareas of risk and may faceadditional litigation or prosecution in the future. Inthe
last fewyears, local claimants in countries outside Europe and the U.S. haveincreasingly sought to raise claims
arising from local environmental incidents in European (including U.K.)and U.S. courts. Althoughthe successof
these attempts remains uncertain, we could facethe threatof similar claims.

The mining process, includingblasting and processing ore bodies, can generate environmental impacts
including dust and noise and may require the storage of waste materials (including in liquid form). Risk in the form
of dust, noise orleakage of product or polluting substances from pipelines or site operations oruncontrolled
breaches of mine residue facilities such as tailings dams have the potential of generating harm to our employees,
communities and the environment near our operations. Potential impacts include fines and penalties, statutory
liability for environmental remediation, mandatory operational changes and other financial consequences that may
be significant. Governments may force closure of mines ona temporary or permanent basis or refuse future mining
right applications.

We could also sufferimpairment to our reputation, industrial a ction, difficulty in recruiting and retaining skilled
employees ora change in buying behaviour away from the products offered by the Group. Any future changes in
laws, regulations or community expectations governing our operations could result in increased compliance and
remediation costs.

Any of the foregoing developments could havea materially adverseeffect on ourresults of operations, cash
flows or financial condition.

Legal and regulatory uncertainty, political and economic instability and social conditions in the countries in
which our business operates could adversely affect our business.

Our business is affected by legal and regulatory uncertainty, political and economic instability and social
conditions in the countries and jurisdictionsin which we operate. We are exposed to variousrisks resulting from
developments and changes (dueto elections or other means) to political or fiscal regimes or otherlegal orregulatory
regimes that may result in restrictions onthe export of currency, expropriation of assets, nationalization, political
instability, corruption, terrorism, the imposition of royalties or new taxes, failure to effect orrenew a greements with
host governments and requirements for local ownership or beneficiation.

Politicalinstability canalso result in civil unrest or nullification of existing a greements, mining permits or
leases which may adversely a ffect our operations orresults of operations. Uncertainty over future business
conditions can lead toa lack of confidence in making investment decisions, which can influence future financial
performance. We may in the future incur significant costs as a result of changes in the interpretation of existing

laws and guidelines or the imposition of new conditions on our mining rights.

A newminingcharter (referred to as “MCIII””) was published in the Government Gazettein South Africa on
September27,2018. Importantly, MCIII purports to introduce new requirements rela ting to equity ownership
participation requirements for historically disadvantaged South Africans in the mining industry, particularly in
respect of new miningrights. Owing to the lack ofclarity as to the legalstatus of MCIII, combined with ongoing
litigation betweenthe Minerals Council of South Africa (formerly the Chamber of Mines) and the Minister of
Mineral Resources and Energy overthelegalstatus and contentof MCIII, there is significant uncertainty asto when
and how MCIITwillimpact the Company. Fora description of MCIII and its current status, among other related
regulatory matters, see “Regulation—South Africa—The MPRDA and the Mining Charter”.

Actualorpotential developments and changes may undermine investor confidence, which may hamper
investment and thereby reduce economic growth, and otherwise may adversely a ffect the economic or other
conditions under which we operate in ways that couldhavea materially negative effect on ourbusiness. Any of
these risks may materially and adversely a ffect our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition or
deprive us of the economic benefits of ownership ofourassets. Increased costs canalso be incurredas a result of
additional regulations orresource taxes, while the ability to execute strategic initiatives that reduce costs ordivest
assets mayalso be restricted.

We may be unable to obtain, renew, amend or extend key contracts, required licenses, permits and other
authorizations and/or such key contracts, licenses, permits and other authorizations may besuspended, terminated
orrevoked prior to their expiration.

We currently conduct, and willin the futurebe required to conduct, our operations (including prospecting and
explorationactivities) pursuant to licenses, permits and other authorizations. Any delay and/orrefusal by relevant
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government authorities in the obtaining orrenewing of a license, permit or other authorization may require a delay
in ourinvestment or development ofa resource or our implementation of new technology and innovation which may
adversely affect our production outputand revenues and may have a material adverse effecton ourresults of
operations, cash flows and financial condition. In addition, our existing licenses, permits and other authorizations
may be suspended, terminated or revoked if we failto comply with therelevantrequirements. Forexample, the
operations at, and expansion of, Minas-Rio aredependentonthe Group acquiring and maintaining environmental
licenses. The Step 3 environmental license forthe mine was granted in December 2018 and the Step 3 operational
licenses forthe heightening ofthe tailings damto level 689 was obtained in December2019. Further heightening of
the tailings damto level 7001is under way and the Step 3 operational license for that heightening willbe sought in
early 2021. See also “Business Description—Business Segments—Iron Ore—Iron Ore Brazil” for a discussion ofthe
legalchallenges to the operational license for the heightening ofthetailings dam. In light of new rules being
implemented in Brazilin responseto recenttailings dam breaches, we may encounter difficulties and consequential
delays in obtaining therelevant license for the heightening of the tailings dam.

In South Africa, if MCIII is implemented, the Group may in the future incur significantcosts asa resultof the
implementation of new equity ownership participation requirements for historically disadvantaged South Africansin
relation to applications for new mining rights or for therenewal of existing rights. Fora descriptionof MCIII and its
current status, among other related regula tory matters, see “Regulation—South Africa—The MPRDA and the
Mining Charter”.

In all of the jurisdictions in which we operate mines, should we fail to fulfill the specific terms of any of our
licenses, permits and other authorizations or if we operate our business in a manner that violates applicable law,
regulators may impose fines or suspend or terminate the license, permit or other authorization, any of which could have
a material adverse effecton ourresults of operations, cash flows and financial condition.

In Botswana, the diamond sales agreement for the sale of the majority of Debswana’s production to De Beers
expires in December 2020. A new sales agreement is currently being negotiated between the Government of the
Republic of Botswana and De Beers. Failure to renew the sales agreement could materially and adversely a ffect the
Group’s operations, cash flows, financial condition and prospects, although De Beers’ interests in Debswana’s financial
returns would continue pursuant to the Debswana joint venture arrangements.

Failure to prevent acts of fraud, bribery, corruption or anti-competitive behavior could adversely affect our
business.

Potential impacts of violations oflaws governing fraud, bribery, corruption, money laundering and trade
sanctions or anti-competitive behavior include prosecution, fines, penalties and reputational damage. We may suffer
financialloss if we are the victim ofa fraudulentact. Asindicatedby indicespreparedby independent
non-governmental organizations, we operate in certain countries where the risk of corruption is high, and certain
industries in which we operate have in the past faced prosecution for anti-competitive behavior.

We are subject to risks associated with litigation and regulatory proceedings.

As with most large corporations, we are involved from timeto time as a party to various lawsuits, arbitrations,
regulatory proceedings, investigations or other disputes. Litigation, arbitrationand othersuchlegalproceedings or
investigations involveinherentuncertainties and, as a result, we facerisks associated with adverse judgmentsor
outcomes in these matters. Amongothermatters, regulatory proceedings or litigation could occurin relationto a
wide variety of matters such as contractual disputes, license to operate challenges, environmental and humanrights
related matters, data breaches (including personal or sensitive data under relevantdata protection legislation) or
allegations of discrimination or harassment. Evenin cases where we may ultimately prevail on the merits of any
dispute, we may face significant costs defending ourrights, lose certain rights or benefits during the pendency of
any proceeding or suffer reputational damageas a result of ourinvolvement. We are currently engaged in a number
of'legaland regulatory proceedings and arbitrations in various jurisdictions. See “General Information—Litiga tion”.

There can be no assurance as tothe outcome ofany litigation, arbitration or other legal proceedingor
investigation, and theadverse determination of material litigation could have a materially adverse effect on our

business, operational results, cash flows and financial condition.

Our business is exposedto certain tax risks

We are subjectto corporate and othertax laws, rules and regulations in the jurisdictions in which we operate.
Changes in taxrates, tax relief and tax laws, rules and regulations, changes in practice or interpretation or
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inconsistent enforcementof thelaw by the relevant tax authorities, increasing challenges by relevant tax authorities,
or any failure to manage tax risks adequately could result in increased charges, financial loss, penalties and
reputational damage, which may have a negative impacton the Group’s results or financial condition. In particular,
revenue needs mean thatincreased levels of tax enforcementhave become a higher priority for many governments
and tax authorities in jurisdictions in which we operate, which has led to anincreasein tax audits, enquiries and
challenges, orthe testing through litigation ofthe boundaries of the correct interpretation oflegislation. Tax
authorities may also actively pursue additional taxes based on retroactive changes to tax laws (or seek to interpret
prospective tax laws and guidance retrospectively) and we may disagree with tax authorities’ legalinterpretations
which could result in a material restatement to the tax position.

In line with ourtax strategy we are committed to complying with relevanttax laws, payingthe right tax at the
right time, andrecognising the importance ofrespectingboth thespirit and the letter of thelaws of each country in
which we operate. Nevertheless, as a complex business, we have beenand will continueto be subject to the risk of
adverseoraggressive interpretations of tax laws orregulations or the imposition ofarbitrary or onerous taxes,
interest charges and penalties. The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Developmentand other
government agencies in jurisdictions in which we operate have increasingly focused onissues related tothe taxation
of multinational corporations, including base erosion and profit shifting and the impact of digitalisation and
globalisation onvalue chains and tax bases — the outcomes of multilateral and unilateral reforms in these areas are
inherently uncertain. As a complex business we couldalso be exposed to significant fines and penalties and to
enforcement measures, including, but not limited to, tax assessments, despite our bestefforts at compliance. In
response to tax assessments or similartax deficiency notices in particular jurisdictions, we may be required to pay
the fullamountof thetax assessed (including stated penalties and interest charges) or post security for suchamounts
notwithstanding that we may contestthe assessmentand related amounts.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RISKS

Failure to manage relationships with local communities, government and non-governmental organizations
orrecognize, respond andalign to evolving stakeholder requirements and expectations could adversely affect our

future growth potential.

We operatein several countries where ownership ofrights in respect of landand resources is uncertain and
where disputes in relation to ownership or other community matters may arise. These disputes arenotalways
predictable and may causedisruptionto projects or operations. Our operations canalso have an impact on local
communities, including the need, from timeto time, to relocate communities or infrastructure networks such as
railways and utility services. Implementation ofnew technologies may have implications for employment or
prospects for future employment in local communities. Failure to manage relationships with local communities,
government and non-governmental organizations may negatively a ffect our reputation, as wellas our ability to bring
projects into production, which could in turn adversely a ffect our revenues, results of operations and cash flows,
potentially in a material manner.

Failure to recognize, respond and align to changing stakeholder expectations and requirements regarding issues
such as environment, social and governance (ESG) matters, particularly linked to climate change, fossil fuels and
carbon emissions, could affect our growth opportunities and our future revenues and cash flows. Stakeholder
requirements and expectations continueto evolve, and different stakeholder groups can have opposing requirements
and expectations ofus. Forexample, an increasing number of financial stakeholders are adopting stricter investment
criteria with regards to fossil fuels and carbon emissions. Thisishavinga growingimpact onindustries that are
majorproducers, and users, of fossil fuels and which are major emitters of CO2 and other greenhouse gases. Yet
such industries, particularly in poorand developing countries, are often a significantdevelopment player,
contributing to such countries’ economic progress, providingemployment, along with earnings and foreign
exchange. Failure to balance opposing stakeholder expectations adequately could lead to potential loss of investor
confidence in the Group.

Climatechange as well as existing and proposed legislation and regulations on greenhouse gas emissions may
adversely affect certain of our operations.

Anglo American is a significant user of energy and is also a major coal producer and exporter. Our operations
are exposedto changes in climateand the need to comply with changes in the regulatory environment aimed at
reducingthe effect of climatechange. Various measures aimed atreducing greenhouse gas emissions and
improving energy efficiency may a ffect our operations and customer demand for our products overtime. Policy
developments at an international, regional, national and sub-national level and emissions trading systems, suchas
the Emissions Trading System ofthe European Union, have implications on the profitability of our business where
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our greenhouse gas-intensive and energy-intensive assets are concerned.

Potentialimpacts from climate change for ourassets depend on the circumstances at individual sites, but
increasedrainfall, flooding, water shortages, fires and higher a verage temperatures may increase costs, reduce

productionlevels orimpactthe results of operations.

We face certain risks fromthe high infection rates of HIV/AIDS that may adversely affect our business and
the communities in which we operate.

We recognize that the HIV/AIDS epidemic in sub-Saharan Africa is a significantthreat to economic growth and
development in thatregion and affects our business. In additionto thecosts associated with the provision of anti-
retroviral therapy to employees and their dependents and occupational health services (both ofwhich will increase if
the incidenceof HIV/AIDS spreads), there is a risk that therecruitment and retention ofthe skilled personnel needed
to maintain and grow our business in southern Africa (and other regions where HIV/AIDS is a major social issue)
will be impacted. Ifthisoccurs, ourbusiness would be adversely affected.

Investor activism may result in an inability to execute our strategy should investors seek to influence
management to take an alternative direction.

Any larger, influential shareholder, or shareholders, may exert pressure on managementto take a directionthey
assert is more conduciveto realizing higherreturns. This pressure may include the Group’s portfolio composition,
commodity choices or geographical locations in which the Group operates or plans to operate in, any of which may
have an adverse impact on the Group’s results or financial condition.

RiSKS RELATING TO THE NOTES
Thereis no established trading marketfor the Notes and one may not develop.

The Notes will be new securities for which there currently is no established tradingmarket. The Notes havenot
been and willnot be registered under the Securities Act and will be subject to significantrestrictions on resale. See
“Transfer Restrictions”. There canbe no assurance regarding the future development ofa market forthe Notes or
the ability of holders ofthe Notes to sell their Notes or the price at which such holders maybe able to sell their
Notes. If such a market were to develop, the Notes could tradeatprices thatmay be lower thanthenitial offering
prices depending on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, our operating results and the market for similar
securities. Therefore, there can be noassurance asto the liquidity of any trading market forthe Notes or that active
markets forthe Notes will develop. We have made anapplication for listing the Notes on the Official List and for
Admission to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Regulated Market. However, our listing and Admission may
notbe approved or, if approved, may not be maintained.

The Tender Offers may not complete

The Issuerintends to launch the Tender Offers to repurchase (i) a portion of the Issuer’s €377,819,000 2.500%
Guaranteed Notes due2021 and€750,000,000 3.500% Guaranteed Notes due2022 and (ii)any and all of the
Issuer’s S$ 600,000,0004.125% Senior Notes due 2022.

The US Tender Offeris expected to expire on September 14,2020 and the Euro Tender Offeris expected to
expire on September 15,2020. The US Tender Offeris expected to settle on September 17,2020 and the Euro
Tender Offeris expected to settle on September 18,2020. There is no guaranteethateach of the US Tender Offer
and Euro Tender Offer will settle on the dateexpectedorat all. We have the right, in our sole discretion, to
terminateeither orboth Tender Offers, at any time and forany reason. We intend to use any netproceeds ofthe
offeringnotused torepurchase notes in the Tender Offers for general corporate purposes includingbut not limited
to financing potential future liability management activities such as redemptions of outstanding securities.

Changesin our creditratings could adversely affectthe valueofthe Notes.

Any of the rating agencies that rate the debt ofthe Company has the ability to lower the ratings currently
assigned to that debt as a result ofits views aboutthe Group’s currentor future business, financial condition, results
of operations or other matters including, but not limited to, the sovereign credit ratings of the jurisdictions in which
we operate (and in particular of South Africa). Any ratings decline could adversely a ffect the value of the Notes. In
addition, the credit ratings ascribed to the Group and the Notes are intended to reflect our ability to meet our
repayment obligations in respect ofthe Notes and the Guarantees, and may notreflectthe potential impact ofall
risks related to the structure, the market, the Group and other factors on the valueof the Notes. A creditratingisnot

20



a recommendation to buy, sellor hold securities and may be subject torevision or withdrawalat any timeby the
assigningrating organization. Each ratingshould be evaluated independently of any otherrating.

Proposed Financial Transactions Tax (“FTT”).

On February 14,2013, the European Commission published a proposed draftfora common FTT in Belgium,
Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, [taly, Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (each, other than Estonia, a

“participating Member State’”). However, Estonia has since stated that it will not participate.

The published draft fora common FTT has very broad scope and could, if introduced in its current form, a pply
to certain transactions relating to the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.
Primary markettransactions referred to in Article 5(c) of Regulation (EC)No. 1287/2006 are expected to be exempt.

Under current proposals the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the
participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain transactions relating to the Notes where atleast
one partyisa financial institution (asdefinedin the FTT),andatleastone partyis established in a participating
Member State. A party maybe deemedto be “established” in a participating Member Statein a broad range of
circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a person established in a participating Member State or (b) where
the financial instrument which is the subject ofthe transaction is issued in a participating Member State.

The EU Economic and Financial Affairs Council indicated in a report dated June 14,2019 that participating
Member States are discussing the option ofadoptinga common FTT based on France’s domestic model of the
financial transaction tax, which would apply initially to certain listed company shares and may therefore not apply to
dealings in the Notes. However, no finalagreementhas beenreachedyet.

The FTT proposalremains subjectto negotiation between the participating Member States. It may therefore be
altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU Member States may
decide to participateand/or certain ofthe participating Member States may decide to withdraw. Prospective holders
of'the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relationto the FTT.

Our holding company structure means that the claims of creditors of subsidiaries of the Company will
generally havepriority over claims on the guarantee obligations.

Anglo American plc is a holding company and derives themajority ofits operating income and cash flow from
its subsidiaries. It must rely upon distributions from its subsidiaries to generate funds necessary to meet its
obligations, including any payments under the Guarantees. These subsidiaries may not be able to make distributions
to Anglo American plc. Any payment of interest, dividends, distributions, loans or advances by the Company’s
subsidiaries could be subjectto restrictions on dividends or repatriation of earnings under applicable locallaw,
monetary transfer restrictions and foreign currency exchange regulations in the jurisdictions in which the
subsidiaries operate orare incorporated. The obligations ofthe Issuerunderthe Notes are unsecured and rank
equally in right of payment with allunsecured, unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer. The obligations of Anglo
Americanunder the Guarantees are unsecured and rank equally with allunsecured, unsubordinated obligations of
Anglo American. These obligations willalso be structurally subordinated to theholders of secured and unsecured
debt and other creditors of subsidiaries of Anglo American. The Indenture does notplace any limitation onthe
amount ofunsecured debt thatmay be incurred by us orany of our subsidiaries (including the Issuer). From time to
time, the Group opportunistically accesses the debtcapital markets, including through issuances underits EMTN
program. The Groupmay seekto raise additional debt financing in the future, subject to market conditions. Asof
June 30,2020, a small proportion ofour debt was outstanding at our subsidiaries and joint ventures (ona
proportional basis), to which thenotes would be structurally subordinated.

The Issueris a finance vehicle, with no independent business operations.

Anglo American Capitalplc is a financevehicle, the primary business of which is the raising of money forthe
purpose ofon-lending to other members of the Group. Accordingly, substantially allofthe assets of theIssuerare
loans and advances made to othermembers of the Group. The ability of the Issuerto satisfy its obligations in
respect of theNotes depends upon payments being made to it by other members of the Group in respect ofloans and
advances made by the Issuer.

Investorsinthe Notes may havelimitedrecourseagainstthe independent auditors.
The auditors’ reports include language limiting the independentauditors’ scope of duty in relation tosuch

reports andthe various financial statements to which theyrelate. In particular, thereview reportof PwC, with
respect to the Consolidated Interim Financial Statements for the six months ended 30 June 2020 in accordance with
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guidanceissued by The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, includes the following limita tions:
“Ourresponsibility is to express a conclusion on the interim financial statements in the half year financial report
based onourreview. This report, including the conclusion, has been prepared forand only for the company for the
purpose of complying with the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules sourcebook ofthe United Kingdom’s
Financial Conduct Authority and forno other purpose. We do not, in giving this conclusion, accept or assume
responsibility forany other purpose orto any other person to whom this report is shown orinto whose hands it may
come save where expressly agreed by our prior consentin writing”.

Additionally, the February 19,2020 report of Deloitte, with respect to the Group 2019 Financial Statements, in
accordance with guidance issued by The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, provides as
follows: “Thisreportis made solely to the company’s members, as abody, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16
of the Companies Act 2006. Ouraudit work has been undertaken so that we might state tothe company’s members
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s reportand forno other purpose. To the fullestextent
permitted by law, we do notacceptorassume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for ouraudit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.”

The SEC would not permit such limiting language to be included in a registration statementor a prospectus
used in connection with an offering of securities registered under the Securities Act orin a report filed underthe
Exchange Act. Ifa U.S. court (orany other court) were to give effectto thelanguage quoted above, therecourse
that investors in the Notes may have a gainst the independentaccountants based on theirreports or the consolidated
financial statements to which they relate could be limited.

EnforcementofU.S. judgments may be difficult.
The Issuerand the Company are companies organized under thelaws of England and Wales, and substantially
all theirrespectiveassets are, ormay be, located in jurisdictions outside the U.S. Accordingly, it could be difficult

forholders of Notes to recoveragainstthe Issuerand the Company on judgments of U.S. courts predicated upon
civil liabilities underthe U.S. federal securities laws. See “Service of Process and Enforcement of Civil Liabilities”.
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CAPITALIZATION

The followingtable sets forth the consolidated capitalization of the Groupas of June30,2020, on an actual
basis. Youshouldreadthe followingtable together with “Use of Proceeds”, “Operatingand Financial Review”,
“Description of the Notes and the Guarantees” and the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements and the

notes thereto incorporated by reference in this document:

As of
June 30,2020
(USSm)

TOtAL AEBt ...ttt ettt ettt et 13,983
Equity:

Called-Up SHATE CAPILAL.......ccviiviiiiiiietieee ettt ettt ettt ettt et et e et et et e et e et et e et e et et et et et et e et e eaeeseeaeeaees 748

ShATE PrEMIUIT ACCOUNL......vevietirietieieteetetteteeetesteteteteeteseeteseesesesesseseebeseesessese s esesseseeseseeseneesesesesseseeseneesesenas 4,358

OtHET TESEIVES ...ttt eiteteetteteteee et tetes et et et s et et et e st et b et es e et s e e ea e s s e b es e s s ehes e e b s e e ebes et e s esese et e b esens s e b et eseas s esenens (12,138)

Retained earnings and own shares held ... 29,900

Equity attributable to equity shareholders of the COmMPANY...........c.ccvieeiiiiiiiieriiiieiieie e 22,868

Total Capitalization (P)............coiuiiiiei et 36,851

(1) Including short-term, medium-term and long-term borrowings. As at June 30, 2020, secured and unsecured debt totaled US$603 million and
US$13,380 million, respectively. Formore information regarding our secured and unsecured debt, see “Operating and Financial Review”.
(2) Capitalization comprises oftotal debt and equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company.

Anglo American considers participationin debt markets as part of the ongoing management of’its liquidity and
capitalresources.

Also see “RecentDevelopments—Tender Offers”.
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RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

Tender Offers

Concurrently with this offering, the Issuer intends to launch the Tender Offers. We intend to use the proceeds
of the Notes offered hereby, to fund the Tender Offers.

This document is not anofferto purchase, ora solicitation of an offer to sell, any notes that are the subjectof
the Tender Offers. The Tender Offers are conditional uponthe satisfaction or waiver of certain specified conditions,
including the completion of this offering. There is no assurance thatthe Issuer will be able to complete the proposed
Tender Offers on acceptable terms, orat all. The offering of the Notes offered hereby is not conditionaluponthe
consummation ofthe Tender Offers orany part ofthe Tender Offers. Forthe US Tender Offer, settlement is
expected tooccuron September 17,2020. Forthe Euro Tender Offer, settlementis expected to occur on September
18,2020.

Thermal Coal

We have recently communicated our initial plans to work towards anexit of our thermal coal operations in
South Africa, with a demerger being the Group’s likely preferred exit option, currently expected in the nexttwo to
three years, with a potential primary listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange for the demerged business. The
Group will continue to consider other exit options as we enga ge with stakeholders as part of our commitmentto a
responsible transitionbutas of now there isno finalplanin placeforthe eventual exit.

Anglo American Platinum ACP plant shutdown

On March 6,2020, Anglo American Platinum announced the temporary shutdown ofthe entire Anglo
Converter Plant (the“ACP”), part ofthe chain of processing facilities, and the need to declare force majeure.

Anglo American Platinum’s ACP phase A converter plant, at Waterval smelter in Rustenburg, was damaged
following an explosion within the converter on February 10,2020. Nobody was injured in the incident.

As pernormal business procedure, the phase B unit was commissioned to take over from thephase A plant and
was in the process of ramping up to steady state when water was detected in the furnace. Notwithstanding extensive
testingbeing conducted to determine thesource ofthe water, and a number of circuits beingisolated, water
continuedto be observedin the furnace. This poseda high risk of explosionand Anglo American Platinum
determinedthatit hadno other optionbut to temporarily shutdown the phase B unit, to ensure thesafety of all
employees,andavoid a catastrophic event. ACP phase B returned to operation onMay 12,2020, and, followinga
further two-week shut-downat the beginning of June 2020 due to localised damage to a single cooler tube resulting
in a further water leak, hasrampedup and is operatingat full capacity. The leak was unconnected to the repair work
recently completed on ACP phaseB.

Increased monitoring will likely result in intermittent stoppages to inspect theplantuntil the repairs to the ACP
Phase A unit are completed. The repairs to the ACP Phase A unit are progressingand areexpected to complete
towards the end of 2020 due to thesuccessful accelerated procurement of key long-lead time items. Other
maintenance continues to be carried out and additional controls were put in place whilst the ACP Phase B unit was
off-line in orderto provide greater operational stability.

During the period the ACP was down, there was a build up in work-in-progress inventory, which is currently
expected tobe refined to normalised levels through the second halfof 2020 andinto 2021.

Anglo American Platinum will continue to receive concentrate from third parties andjoint ventures under the
purchase of concentrate and toll agreements and will continue to deliver metal to customers.

COVID-19 Pandemic
In relation to the COVID-19 pandemic, Anglo Americanis followingthe advice from the government and
health authorities in its different operating jurisdictions and is also im plementing a dditional measures across its

offices and operations, guided by the World Health Organisation and national public health authorities along with
the Group’s own expertise and experience, as appropriate.

The nature of Anglo American’s business is such thatmuch of its work cannot be done remotely, so the Group’s
focusisonreducingthe risk of the virus spreading into and across its sites. Operational continuity is considered by
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Anglo American to be critical forjobs, for the communities around its operations and forthelocaland global
economies. Anglo American’s sites and offices therefore have escalation plans to accommodate the ongoing impact
of the pandemic and these will continueto be revised as thesituationevolves.

Anglo American is taking all appropriate measures, often tailored to the specific nature andlocationof a
particularsite, to protectthe safety, healthand wellbeing of its people and all those who interact with its business
around theworld. Anglo Americanbelieves thatit hasa clearresponsibility to protectthe security and integrity of
its business and assets forthe longterm, preserving its ability to restart and ramp up any a ffected operations safely
and as quickly as possible once permitted to doso. This approach is intended to minimise any interruption of supply
to its customers and to place Anglo Americanin a position to support what willbe a vital economic recovery phase
forthe countries in which it operates and the global economy.

Impact of COVID-19 onoperations

Anglo American continues to supportthe actions taken by governments in its host countries to curb the spread
of COVID-19 and safeguard people’s healthand wellbeing. The Group has implemented a ppropriate measures
across its operations, with a focus on de-densification of the workforce, rigorous health screening, and isolation
where needed. Across southern Africa, operational disruptions as a result ofthe COVID-19 pandemic were
primarily due to the implementation ofa national lockdown by the South African government from March 26,2020,
and the Botswanan government taking similaraction from April 2,2020. These restrictions a ffected PGMs, Kumba,
De Beers and Thermal Coal significantly throughoutthe second quarter of 2020, as further described below. Since
the imposition of the restrictions, however, the Group’s operations have built up production levels from around 60%
of total capacity in April2020, to approximately 90%by theend of June2020.

e The COVID-19 outbreak has had a majorimpact onthe diamond industry, affectingall stages ofthe
diamond supply chain and resultingin a 45% decreasein rough diamond sales volumes at De Beersin H1
2020, compared to H12019. Jewellery retailer restocking has therefore been very limited, with many
jewellers suspending all polished purchases and/or delaying payments to their suppliers. In additionto the
impacton consumer markets, most ofthe Indian and southern African diamond cuttingand polishing
centres closed due to the lockdown restrictions. A gradual opening of diamond cuttingand polishing
centres started atthe end ofMay 2020; however, COVID-19 restrictions have remained in place,
particularly in India, limiting capacity. De Beers increased flexibility in response to this lower demand.
Rough diamondsales havealso been materially a ffected by lockdowns and travel restrictions, delaying the
shipping of rough diamonds into cutting and trading centres and preventing buyers from attending sales
events. China has seen strong diamond jewellery sales post-lockdown, with sales for May and June 2020
above those forthe comparable periods in 2019. Recovery in the US will be dependenton thereopening of

its economy.

e At the Group’s copper operations in Chile, including Los Bronces and Collahuasi, disruption to operations
asa result of COVID-19has been limited, with measures in place to help safeguard the workforce and
localcommunities.

e At Platinum Group Metals, during H12020 platinum and palladium metalin concentrate production
decreased by 25%and21%, respectively, comparedto H1 2019. Thedecrease in production was primarily
due to COVID-19related lockdowns in southern Africa which reduced operating capacity formostof the
second quarter of 2020, although Mogalakwena had ramped up towards nommallevels by the end of June
2020, with Amandelbult currently expected to reach 85% productionlevels by theend 0f2020. Regarding
the American Platinum ACP plant repairs and theimpacton refined production, see “Anglo American
Platinum ACP plant shutdown” above.

e At the Kumba operations in South Africa, iron ore productiondecreased by 11%in H1 2020, compared to
H12019, mainly due to lower workforce levels in response to the COVID-19 lockdown. However, both

Sishen and Kolomela had ramped up to normal run rates by theend of June 2020.

e At the Minas-Rio iron ore operation in Brazil,the COVID-19 measures in place to help safeguard the
workforceand local communities did not significantly affectproductionin H1 2020. Thescheduled one-
month production stoppage to carry out routine internal scanning of the pipeline was deferred to the
second halfoftheyear (previously scheduled for Q2 2020) owingto prevailing COVID-19 related
constraints. On September2,2020, the Public Prosecutor’s Office of the State of Minas Gerais filed a
claim againstMinas-Rio fora preliminary injunction requesting the ceasing of mining operations fora
period of 30 days and the postponement of the Minas-Rio pipeline inspection until Anglo Americancan
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demonstrate compliance with the requirements in relationto COVID-19 established by the Conceigaodo
Mato Dentro Municipality in the State of Minas Gerais. On September 8,2020, Anglo American learned
of'a claim fora preliminary injunction that was filed by the Federal Labour Public Prosecutor on
September4,2020,atthe Labour Court in Guanhes in Brazil on the basis of substantially similar grounds
to the claim filed by the Public Prosecutor’s Office ofthe State of Minas Gerais although the preliminary
injunction soughtby the Federal Labour Public Prosecutoris fora period of 14 days. Anglo American
believes that it continues to comply with the COVID-19 related requirements and has opposedthe

injunction applications and a decision from the Courts is awaited.

e Disruption to operations from COVID-19 at the Group’s metallurgical coal operations in Australia has
been limited, with measures in place to help sa feguard the workforce and local communities. Open cut
operations have been scaled back at Dawson and Capcoal in response to reduced demand for lower quality
metallurgical coal. Despite the limited disruptiondueto COVID-19, metallurgical coal production
decreasedby 22%in H1 2020, comparedto H12019, principally as a result oftwo incidents underground
that affected Moranbah and Grosvenor (see “Incident at Grosvenor” below),as wellas longwallmoves at
Grosvenor and Grasstree.

e Thermalcoaltotalexport productiondecreasedby 20%in H1 2020, comparedto H12019, largely due to
the impact of COVID-19 lockdown restrictions. In South Africa, operations operated at50% throughout
the lockdown period and have ramped up to operate at approximately 80%since June 2020 as aresult of
COVID-19 measures implemented to help safeguard the workforce. In Colombia, operations restarted in
May 2020 andare progressively rampingup towards planned levels in the third quarter of 2020.

e The Barro Alto and Codemin nickel operations in Brazil are continuing atnormal levels with measures in
place to help safeguard the workforce and local communities.

Projects update

In Peru, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, projectexecutionatthe Quellaveco copper project was ahead of
schedule, with allapplicable milestones achieved. At the Vizcachas dam, part ofthe water-source infrastructure
located approximately 90kilometres from the plant, water impoundment had started as scheduled and construction
works across themine, plant and tailings areas were also progressing to plan. However, the project has been a ffected
by the implementation of Peru’s national quarantine since March 15,2020.

On March 17,2020, Quellaveco withdrew the majority of the project’s 10,000-strong work force from site a fter
the Peruvian government’s announcement of aninitial 1 5-day national quarantine. Construction work was
significantly slowed, maintaining only limited critical works. Following subsequent extensions ofthe quarantine, on
April 23,2020, Anglo American announced the suspension of non-critical works foran expected periodof up to
three months in support ofthe government’s continuing efforts to control the spread of COVID-19, allowing for a
safe andresponsible restart to be planned.

During the suspension, the focus has been on thesa fety of the Group’s workforce and thelocal community, as
well ason the development ofa restartand updated constructionplan. These plansincorporate leading health
protocols which have been approved by the Peruvian authorities, enablinga gradual and safe restart of site activities.
From the beginning of July 2020, activities haverecommenced onsite and areexpected to ramp up during the
second halfof 2020, subject to further COVID-19related impacts. Key projectactivities in the second half of 2020
will be the construction ofanapproximately 95-kilometre water pipeline from the water-source area to the
Quellavecosite, the start of pre-stripping activities to remove surface wastematerial, and assembly of the mills.

At the Woodsmith polyhalite projectin the UK, integration activities have progressed welland the development
of'the project has continued in line with Anglo American’s currently expected US$300 million capital expenditure
on the project for2020. Theimpactof COVID-19 on theproject’s development has beenlimited dueto the
successful implementation of allappropriate health measures. By the end of June, 2020, the first drive of the
project’s 37 kilometre tunnel to accommodate the underground mineral transport system had reached 7.3 kilometres
and continues to progress well. At the mine head, the first shaft-boring machine is being assembled within the
service sha ft (where the early shaft-sinking work has taken place), with works atthe production shaft also
progressing well. During the secondhalf oftheyear, a review of the project’s overall development plan will
continue, makingany appropriate adjustments to further optimise the projectand align it with Anglo American’s
technical and other standards.
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Supporting our employees and host communities

e Anglo American has implemented an extensive health awareness and support programme called
“WeCare”, specifically to protect the health and wellbeing of its employees and full-time contractors,as
well as measures in supportof its host communities, around the world duringthe COVID-19 pandemic. As
part of this programme, Anglo Americanis helping collea gues better understand how to protect
themselves and others from catching the virus, to monitor their health to pick up early symptoms, andto
manage their health if they test positive for COVID-19. For example, all operational colleagues are self-
monitoring for symptoms, including checks priorto, during and after their shift, with any symptoms being
reported via anapp thattriggers medical assistance. For further details, see “Sustainable Development
(Including Safety, Health, Environment and Social)—"WeCare” response programme’”.

Further spread of COVID-19

Anglo American continues to take all appropriate preventative measures to reduce the probability of the virus
spreading, including by reducing the density of people on its sites. However, the rapid spread of COVID-19 has
adversely affected the economies of many countries and has resulted in extreme disruptionand volatility to capital
and financial markets and the prices for many of Anglo American’s products. Government measures taken in
response to the COVID-19 outbreak, including containment and lockdown restrictions, and other indirect effects that
COVID-19 ishavingon economic activity, arelikely to result in economic downturns in the markets in which Anglo
Americansells its products and lead to reduced demand or evenno demand in key jurisdictions for certain products
in such markets, and have required, and may furtherrequire, the Group to curtail, reschedule or suspend operations,
constructionordevelopmentatits facilities and projects. The extension or intensification of such measures, or other
countries implementing similar measures, would increase the impact on Anglo American’s operations, projects and
production. The COVID-19 outbreak has had and s likely to continueto have anadverse effect the global economy
duringat least theremainder of 2020 and could result in a significantnegative impact onthe Group’s business,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects. For further discussion of risks associated with the COVID-
19 pandemic and its potential impacton Anglo American’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects, see “Risk Factors—The COVID-19 global pandemic has had a negative impact onworldwide economic
activity and is likely to adversely affectthe Group’s business”.

Incident at Grosvenor

At the Grosvenor metallurgical coalmine in Australia, operations have been suspended since the beginning of
May 2020 followinga gas ignition incident underground, which caused serious injuries to fiveminers. The internal
investigation into the incident at Grosvenoris ongoing. The a ffected longwall panelis being sealed off for safety
reasons to facilitate works to preparethe mine for restart, resulting in a $75 million write-down relatingto the lost
equipment in that area.

The Queensland Governmenthas constituteda Board of Inquiry, and that Board of Inquiry is currently
conducting an inquiry into the Grosvenor incident and various other high potential incidents involving longwall-
related exceedances of methane that occurred in the Queensland coal mining industry from 2019 and will make
recommendations based onits findings.

Miningoperations will restart only when it is safe to do so, with the benefit oflearnings from the internal
investigation and the Board of Inquiry, and with any additional sa fety measures in place. Grosvenor is therefore

currently expected to return to operation in the second halfof2021.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

The net proceeds of the offering will be applied to fund the Issuer’s offerto purchase (i) a portion of the
Issuer’s €377,819,000 2.500% Guaranteed Notes due 2021 and €750,000,0003.500% Guaranteed Notes due
2022 and (ii) any and allof the Issuer’s US$ 600,000,000 4.125% Senior Notes due 2022. Any net proceeds of
the offering notused to repurchase notes in the Tender Offers, will be used for general corporate purposes,
including butnot limited to financingpotential future liability management activities such as redemptions of
outstandingsecurities.
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BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Anglo American plc is the holding company of the Group, a leading global mining company with a world class
portfolio of mining and processing operations and undeveloped resources. The Groupis geographically diverse,
with operations across theworld.

STRATEGY

Our strategy is to secure, develop and operate a portfolio of high quality and longlife resource assets with the
potentialto deliverleading shareholderreturns. We seek to achieve this through innovative practices and
technologies—in the hands of our world class people—towards our common purpose; re-imagining mining to
improve people’s lives.

Portfolio

Anglo American’s portfolio of world-class mining operations and undeveloped resources — spanning diamonds
(through De Beers), copper, platinum group metals, iron ore, coal, nickel, manganese and crop nutrients—provides
the rawmaterials to meetthe growing consumer-driven demands of the world’s developed and maturing economies.
The scale and diversity ofthe portfolio allows us to leverage our financial resources, technical expertise and supplier
relationships towards delivery on our potential, and to the benefit of our customers.

We plan to continue to refineandupgrade our asset portfolio as a matter of courseto ensure that our capitalis
deployed effectively to generate enhanced and sustainable returns for our shareholders. Anglo American has
transformed the quality and performance of its portfolio overthe past seven years, halvingthe number of assets
while producing more physical product. This transformation has been achieved through extensive operational self-
help and other efficiency work, together with the sale, placing onto careand maintenance, and closure of less
attractive assets, resulting in a step change in our operational performance, profitability and cash flow generation.

Portfolio Update

In2019, the Group entered into, or completed, a number of transactions, including the equalization of
ownership across its integrated metallurgical coal operations at Moranbah North and Grosvenor in Queensland,
Australia, through thesale of 12% in Grosvenor to the existingnon- Anglo American Moranbah North Coaljoint
venturers (transaction currently expected to completeduring2020). The Grosvenor mineuses Moranbah North’s
coalprocessing infrastructure, where numerous debottlenecking, expansion and product blending options offer
considerable cost, productivity and margin benefits for the integrated operation. In South Africa, we completed the
two-phased Atlatsa (PGMs) restructuring plan which entailed, amongst other aspects, the acquisition ofthe
exploration properties adjacent to Mogalakwena mine. In Namibia, De Beers also announced the sale of Elizabeth
Bay (currently oncare and maintenance) to a member of the Lewcor Group.

Projects

Strict value criteria are applied to theassessmentof Anglo American’s portfolio of future growth options.
Where appropriate, we aim to seek partners forthe development of major greenfield projects and will avoid
committing to too many projects atthe same time. The Group will continue to maintain optionality to progress with

value accretive projects, should market conditions and capital a vailability permit.

Anglo American announced on July 26,2018, that its Board had approved the development of the Quellaveco
copper project in Peru. This follows the completion ofthe transaction announced in June 2018, whereby Mitsubishi
increased its interest in AAQSA, which owns the Quellaveco project, to 40% via the issuance of new shares. See

“Business Description—Business Segments—Copp er—Significant Transactions and Restructuring”.

In May 2019, we announced theapproval by Debmarine Namibia, a 50:50joint venture between De Beers and
the Government of the Republic of Namibia, of the construction ofa new custom-built diamondrecovery vessel. At
a currently expected total capital costof US$468 million (US$234 million attributable to Anglo American), this new
vessel will becomethe seventh in the Debmarine Namibia fleet. It was initially expected to begin production in
2022, with the capacity to add 500,000 carats of annual production, a 35% increase above Debmarine Namibia’s
current levels.

In July 2019, the Board approved the Aquila project to extend the life of the Capcoal underground hard coking
coaloperations in Queensland, Australia, by six years, to 2028. Atan expected attributable capital cost of US$226
million, Aquila offers a high-margin extensionto the mine, with anaverage annual saleable productionof 3.5
million tonnes (attributable) of premium quality hard coking coal. Development work began in September2019 and
first longwall productionis expected in early 2022.
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On March 17,2020, we completed theacquisition of Sirius Minerals Plc which has been developinga major
new polyhalite project in the United Kingdom. See “Business Description—Business Segments—Crop Nutrients”.

On July 28,2020, Kumba announced the approval of its Kapstevel South project at its Kolomela mine by the
boards of Kumba’s and Anglo American’s boards. The total capital cost of the project is currently expected to be
approximately ZAR 7 billion, including pre-stripping.

Longerterm, the Group has a number of future organic growth options under consideration, including the
polymetallic Sakattideposit in Finland, expansions at Collahuasiand Los Bronces copper mines in Chile and the
Mogalakwena PGMs complex in South Africa, and a number of debottlenecking and expansion opportunities atthe
Moranbah North/Grosvenor metallurgical coal complex in Australia.

Discovery

Discovery and Geosciences, including our exploration activities, is consolidated across the Group, covering
near-asset and greenfield discovery, projects,and operations. The integrated function is supportinga greater
technicalunderstanding of our world-class assets, a strategic advantage thatis beingapplied to maximize realization
of value from them, and to gain significant benefit in both near-asset and greenfield discovery work. We are
concentrating on the discovery of mineral deposits in existingand new districts that arecapable of delivering
sustainable returns ona material scale, and which provide greater diversification and optionality for the business.

Innovation

Across every aspect of our business, we are thinking innovatively abouthow we work to ensure the safety or
ourpeople, enhance our sustainability performance, and deliver industry-leading margins and returns.

Operating Model

Our Operating Modelis the foundation to support us in achieving this, by providing structure, stability and
predictability in the way that we planand execute every task. Unplanned work is inherently more costly, and less
safe, thanplanned work.

Marketing Model

Our Marketing Model maximizes the value from our mineral resources. We do this by seekingto fully
understand and address our customers’ specific needs and leveraging our capabilities in the financialand physical
markets to drivethe right commercial decisions across the value chain—from mine to market.

PI101

P101 is our transformational asset productivity programmethat we build on top of the stability provided by the
OperatingModel. Itisaboutimprovingthe performance of our most value-drivingmining and other processes to
industry best-in-class benchmarks, then pushing the capability boundary further, seekingto establish new
benchmarks for the industry in terms of efficiency and the way we work. P101 sets the context for our progress and
is criticalto enable thedelivery of Future Smart Mining™.

FutureSmart Mining™: a blueprintfor thefutureof our business

FutureSmart Mining™ is the blueprint for the future of ourbusiness. A future in which broad innovative
thinking, enabling technologies, and collaborative partnerships will shapeanindustry thatis safer, more sustainable
and efficient, and better harmonised with the needs of our host communities and society as a whole. We expect
technologies and digitalization will fundamentally change how we source, mine, process, move and market our
products; and our Sustainable Mining Plan will transform how our stakeholders experience Anglo Americanalong
ourentire value chain. Throughtechnologies and digitalization, we envisage four concepts underpinninga new way
of mining: Concentratingthe Mine™, the Water-less Mine, the Modern Mine, and the Intelligent Mine.

Concentratingthe Mine™ s lookingto address the need for increased precision in mining, with minimal
energy, waterand capital intensity. We are applyingtechnologies including coarse particle recovery, bulk sorting
and ultrafine recovery, thatmore precisely targetthe desired metals or minerals, delivering grea ter than 30%
reductions in the use of water, energy and capital intensity, and producing less waste in the process, in line with our
overalltrajectory towards carbon neutralmining. The work we are doingon ConcentratingtheMine™ s creating
pathways to the Water-less Mine. Given that75%of Anglo American’s currentasset portfolio is located in water
constrained areas, it is essential thatwe reduce our dependence on water and associated tailings facilities. Two
technologies we are focusing on to achieve our ambition of operatinga waterless mine are coarseparticle recovery
and novelleaching. AspartoftheModern Mine, we are developinga new generation of engineered controls to
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reduce the exposure of people to risk. This includesusingexisting technologies, like electro-hydraulic drills, and by
removingscraper winches. The Intelligent Mine is one in which vast quantities of quality data are transformed into
predictive intelligence, leading to safe, fully integrated, systemised and self-learning operations. The aimis to
remove the uncertainty and variability that characterises mining today.

People

Our peoplearecriticalto allthat we do. The partnerships we build locally and globally are central to
maintaining ourregulatory andsocial licenses to operate and our sustained commercial success. We create inclusive
and diverse working environments thatencourage and supporta high performance culture and innovative thinking,.
Our Organisation Model ensures we have theright people in the right roles doing the right value-adding work at the
right time, with clearaccountabilities that minimize work duplicationand increase capability and effectiveness.

Safety

Safety comes foremost in everything we do; we train, equip and empower our people to work sa fely every day.
Webelieve, too, that creatinganinclusiveand diverse working environment and culture that encourages and
supportshigh performance and innovative thinking gives our business a competitive advantage. We have intensified
our focus on the elimination of fatalities at our operations, refreshing our values, and linking them closely with
culturalchange at alllevels of the business.

Capital allocation

Underpinning our strategy, we have a value-focused approach to capital allocation with clear prioritization:
sustaining capital to maintain assetintegrity (includingreserve life); then the base dividend to our shareholders,
determined on a 40% underlying earnings-based payoutratio; while ensuringa strongbalance sheet. Based ona
balanced approach, discretionary capital is then eitherallocated to growth investments or upgrades to our portfolio
that are subject to a demanding risk framework and that meetour stringent value criteria oris considered for
additional returns to shareholders.

Disciplined capital allocation throughout the cycle is critical to protecting and enhancing our shareholders’
invested capital, given the longterm and capital-intensive nature of our business. Ouraim is to providea balanced
offeringof a strong balance sheet, which reduces risk and creates opportunity for counter-cyclical investment,
attractive shareholder returns and value-adding disciplined growth. Since 2012, we have reduced the number of
assets across the Group by half, upgraded the portfolio and improved the performance of the assets we have
retained. During 2020, we reduced our planned capital expenditure spend by approximately US$ 1 billion with non-
critical project deferrals and taking into account favourable foreign exchange rates. We remain committed to
disciplined, valueadded growth, progressing the construction ofour Quellaveco copper project,and investing
USS$ 300million at Woodsmith following the Sirius acquisition. We will continue to allocate the appropriate capital
across our portfolio of assets, to both sustain ourbusiness andto protectand enhancevalue. The US$1 billion share
buyback programmeannounced on July 25,2019, completed on March 2,2020.
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HISTORY

Anglo American was incorporated onMay 14, 1998 and became a public listed company in May 1999
followingthe completion of a combination with Anglo American Corporation of South Africa Limited, a public
limited company incorporated in South Africa, now known as Anglo American South Africa Proprietary Limited
(“AASA”), and an exchange offer for the shares of Minorco Société Anonyme, now knownas Minorco Overseas
Holdings Limited (“Minorco”). AASA was founded in South Africa in 1917 to exploit gold mining opportunities in
the country. Inthe succeedingdecades, AASA became increasingly involved in a wide range of mining and other
industries. The successful simultaneous development in the 1950s of five gold mines in South Africa brought
AASA to the forefront ofthe mining industry internationally.

Beginningin the mid-1960s, AASA developed a range of investments in Europe, North America, Australia and
South East Asia. We entered intonew markets, including the steel industry through theacquisition of Scaw Metals,
the timber, pulp and paper industry with the founding of the Mondi Group (“Mondi”’), and increased investment in
the South African coalindustry through the developmentof a portfolio of ninecoalmines and a stake in the
Richards Bay Coal Terminal.

By the 1990s, AASA had a wide range of mining, financial and industrial interests both in sub-Saharan Africa
and internationally, with the latter largely held through Minorco, which was originally incorporated in the UK in
1928 as Rhodesian Anglo American Limited. The structures of AASA and Minorco had arisen as a result of South
Africa’s period of political and financial isola tion from the international community and had proven increasingly
complicated as we sought to developa focused strategy forthe Group. Asa result,in 1999,thenewly formed Anglo
Americanacquired allthe shares of both companies, a combination designedto create focused divisions, to achieve
simplicity and transparency of structure and, in the process, to enhance shareholder value.
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS

This section provides background information, anindustry overview and informationrelated to strategy and

business developmentforeach segment.

UNDERLYING EBIT BY SEGMENT

The followingtable sets forth the Group’s underlying EBIT for the periods presented ona segment basis. The table

below summarizes the split by subsidiaries, equity accounted entities and total Group underlying EBIT:

equity accounted entities.........
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Year ended Year ended Year ended Six months Six months
December 3 December December 31, ended June ended June
1,2017 % 31,2018 % 2019 % 30, 2019 % 30,2020 %
(US $m unless otherwise stated)
Subsidiaries
DeBEErS ...vvneeeeeeeeeeeeaeea, 871 13.9 694 10.9 168 2.4 324 8.1 (179) (8.6)
(010)3)3 1 923 14.8 1,234 19.4 960  13.7 469 11.7 378 18.1
Platinum Group Metals............. 528 8.5 708 11.1 1,672 239 659 16.4 476 22.8
Iron Ore™................. 1,444 23.1 740 11.6 2,886  42.1 1,787 44.5 1,542 74.0
Coal.ueeeiiiiiiiiieeee, 1,788 28.6 2,011 31.5 792 11.3 457 11.4 (302) (14.5)
Nickel and Manganese” ........... - 0.0) 75 1.2 89 1.3 1 0.0 9 0.4
Crop Nutrients®...................... - - - 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0
Corporate and Other®............... (312) (.00 @31 (.0 2400 (3.4 a3y (2.8) (57) 2.7
TOtal .. 5,242 5,231 6,327 3,584 1,867
Equity accounted entities
De Beers ....uueeeeiiiiiiiiieeeeeea, 2 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 - 0.0
Platinum Group Metals............. (16) 0.3) 3 0.0 0 0.0 0 0.0 - 0.0
Tron Ore®...ovviiiiiiieeiieeee, 56 0.9 7 0.1 66 0.9 32 0.8 64 3.1
Coal...uviiiiiieiiiieeeee e 486 7.8 527 8.3 218 3.1 150 3.7 31 1.5
Nickel and Manganese ............. 478 7.7 610 9.6 388 5.5 248 6.2 123 5.9
Crop Nutrients® ..................... - 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 - 0.0 4 0.2
Corporate and Other®............... @ 0.0 5 01 11 0.2 1 0.0 ®) 0.2)
Total Group operations including 6,377 100 7,010 100 4,015 100 2,084 100
equity accounted entities......... 6,247 100
Less: associates and joint (1,005) (1,146) (683) 431) 217)
VENTULES ..uvvneiineeineeieeiieeiiaanns 2
Total Group operations excluding 5,231 6,327 3.584 1,867
. o 5,242 ’ >
equity accounted entities.........
Reconciliation:
.N‘et income from associates and 567 728 389 247 45
joint ventures..............coeeeuennn.
Special items and 282 744 (144) (241) (60)
remeasurements..
Net finance costs ... .. (586) (514) (426) (205) 297)
Income tax expense.................. _ (1,446) (1,816) (1,564) (889) (738)
Profit for the financial year ....... 4,059 100 4,373 100 4.582 100 2,496 100 817 100
Subsidiaries and attributable
share of equity accounted
entities
De Beers 873 14.0 694 10.9 168 2.4 324 8.01 (179) (8.6)
Copper...... 923 14.8 1,234 19.3 960 13.7 469 11.7 378 18.1
PGMs.......... 512 8.2 705 11.1 1,672 239 659 16.4 476 22.8
Iron Ore'” 1,500 24.0 747 11.7 2,952 42.1 1,819 45.3 1,606 77.1
(070 DR 2,274 36.4 2,538  39.8 1,010 14.4 607 15.1 271) (13.0)
Nickel and Manganese" ........... 478 7.6 685 10.7 477 6.8 249 6.2 132 6.3
Crop Nutrients - - - - - - 0 0.0 4 0.2
Corporate and Other®.............. 313 (5.0) 226 3.5) 229 (3.3) (112) 2.8) (62) (3.0)
Total Group operations including 6.247 100 6.377 100 7.010 100 4,015 100 2,084 100



(1) Following a reassessment of the Group’s reportable segments in 2018, the Group has presented the results of the Iron Ore

@

(€)

businesses as the Iron Ore reportable segment. Manganese, which was previously reported with Iron Ore has been aggregated
with Nickel as a single reportable segment. Comparative information has been restated to reflect this change.

The ‘Corporate and Other’ segment includes unallocated corporate costs, exploration costs and the Other Mining and Industrial
business unit. Exploration costs represent the cost of the Group’s exploration activities across all segments.

On March 17,2020 the Group acquired a 100% interest in Sirius Minerals Plc, and since that date it has been accounted for as a
subsidiary ofthe Group and reported as the Crop Nutrients segment.

The above tables present equity accounted entities (associates and joint ventures) separately from subsidiaries.

Associates are investments over which the Groupis in a position to exercise significant influence, but
not control orjoint control, through participationin the financialand operating policy decisions ofthe
investee. Typically, the Group owns between20%and 50% of the votingequity ofassociates. The
financial results of associates are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of the Group
usingthe equity method ofaccounting.

UnderIFRS 11, a jointventure is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that havejointcontrol of the
arrangement haverights to the net assets ofthe arrangement.

The followingtable sets forth the Group’s geographical analysis of Group Revenue allocated based onthe
country in which the customeris located:
Year ended Year ended Year ended Six months Six months
December 31, December 31, December 31, ended June ended June
2017 2018 2019 30,2019 30, 2020

SOUth AFHEE v 1,876 1,466 807 489 262

Other AfHHCA ..vvvveeeeeeieee e 1,709 1,816 1,220 656 365

422 383 437 240 230

432 540 574 298 259

9 35 71 50 9

875 714 786 404 319

41 47 229 1 13

CRINA ..o 6,451 6,933 9,470 4,089 5,149

AR e, 3,636 3,796 2,898 1,639 841

JADAN ..ot 2,625 2,840 3,114 1,423 1,841

OHHET ASIB. oo 5,514 5,813 6,055 3,346 1,951
United Kingdom (Anglo American plc’s country

of domicile)......ccuvviveiiieiiiiiiii 1,571 1,889 2,379 1,091 655

Other BUTOPE ....cvvveeeeiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 3,489 3,924 3,785 2,138 1,328

Group Revenue (including attributable share of

associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)........... 28,650 30,196 31,825 15,874 13,222

Less: associates and joint ventures..................... (2,407) (2,586) (1,955) (1,102) (743)

REVENUE ... 26,243 27,610 29,870 14,772 12,474
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BUSINESS SEGMENTS

This section provides background information, a business overview, infommation related to strategy and
business developmentand any significant growth or restructuring projects for each segment.

De Beers
Business Overview

De Beers is the world’s leading diamond company, accounting for approximately onethird of the world’s rough
diamond supply by value. De Beers recovers diamonds from four countries: Botswana, Canada, Namibia and South
Africa.

De Beers sells the majority ofits rough diamonds through 10 Sight sales each year to term contract Sightholders
and Accredited Buyers. It markets and sells polished diamonds and diamondjewellery via its Forevermark™ and
De Beers Jewellers businesses.

In Botswana, viaa 50:50 joint venture with the Government ofthe Republic of Botswana (“GRB”’) knownas
Debswana Diamond Company (Proprietary) Limited (“Debswana”), the company recovers diamonds from four
mines; Jwaneng, Orapa, Letlhakane and Damtshaa. Jwanengis one of the world’s richest diamond mines by value.
The mine’s high-grade ore contributes between 60-70% of Debswana’s revenue. The US$2 billion ‘Cut-9°
expansion of Jwanengis expected to extend the life of the mine to 2035 andis expected to yield an estimated 53
million carats ofrough diamonds from a pproximately 44 million tonnes of treated material. The sales a greement for
the sale of the majority of Debswana’s productionto De Beers expires in December2020. Anew sales agreementis
currently beingnegotiated between GRB and De Beers.

In Namibia, De Beers hasa 50:50joint venture with the Government of the Republic of Namibia through
Namdeb Holdings, where they recover both land-based diamonds (Namdeb) and offshore diamonds (Debmarine
Namibia). Namibia has the richestknown marine diamond deposits in the world, with diamond resources estimated
atmore than 80 million carats in approximately 1.1 million k(m?). Marine diamond deposits represent around 65%
of Namdeb Holdings’ total diamond production and 90% of’its diamond resources. Marine diamond recovery
produces more in annual volumes thanthe country’s land-based diamond mining.

In South Africa, De Beers Consolidated Mines (in which the Group has a 74% interest) recovers diamonds from
Venetia mine in Limpopo Province. Venetia is an open-pit mine andthe country’s largest producer of diamonds,
contributing40% of the country’s annual diamond production. Open-pit miningat Venetia is likely to run until
2021 andthe transitionis already under way to convertto underground mining, which is expected to extend the life
ofthe mine to 2046. The project is expected to treat 132 million tonnes of material containing an estimated 100
million carats. In the fourth quarterof2018, De Beers placed Voorspoed, owned by DBCM, on care and
maintenance.

In Canada, De Beers has a majority interestin and is the sole operator of Gahcho Kué mine, in the Northwest
Territories, which began commercial productionin 2017. The open-pit mine, with an 11-yearlife, is expected to
produceanaverage of 4.5 million carats a year, yieldinga total of 54 million carats from approximately 33 million
tonnes of material treated.

De Beers sells rough diamonds through two distribution channels: mostare sold via term contractsales to
customers (knownas Sightholders) through De Beers Global Sightholder Sales (Proprietary) Limited, based in
Botswana, with the remainder being sold via regularauctions via De Beers Auction Sales, basedin Singapore. In
2014, De Beers announced details of a new approach to its rough diamond sales contracts to Sightholders (and
Accredited Buyers). The current contractperiod, which started at theend of March 2015, foran initial three-year
period,andextended in April2018 and April2019, and is scheduled to terminate in December2020. De Beers has
commenced its Sightholder selection process for the rough diamond supply contractperiod commencing in January
2021. The stages ofthis process are being kept underreview as a result of COVID-19 and could result in changes to
the currently envisaged timeframes. De Beersisalso an equaljoint venture partner in Diamond Trading Company
Botswana (Proprietary) Limited and in Namibia Diamond Trading Company (Proprietary) Limited (“NDTC”’) with
the GRB and GRN, respectively; these local companies are engaged in sorting and valuing diamonds andalso
support De Beers’ globalselling function. NDTC alsosells diamonds to local Namibian based Sightholders. In
South Africa, De Beers holds, via DBCM, a 74% interestin De Beers Sightholder Sales South Africa Proprietary
Limited (“DBSSSA”), with the remaining26%held by Ponahalo Holdings (Proprietary) Limited. DBSSSA is
engaged in sortingand valuing South African productionandalso supports De Beers in the global selling function.
Italso sells diamonds locally to South African based Sightholders.
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De Beers also develops industrial super materials through Element Six, which includes the production of
laboratory grown diamonds for Lightbox Jewelry. De Beers continues to offer diamond grading and testing services
through De Beers Group Industry services (formerly known as International Institute of Diamond Grading &
Research).

All parts of thediamond supply chain were severely impacted by the global lockdown measures introduced in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the first half of 2020.

Aftera strong US holiday season at theend of 2019, the rough diamond industry started 2020 positively as the
industry’s midstream restocked. However, from February, the COVID-19 outbreak began tohavea significant
impacton diamond jewellery retail sales and supply chain. Jewellery retailer restocking has therefore been limited,

with manyjewellers suspending polished purchases and/or delaying payments to their suppliers.

In addition to the impact on consumer markets, most ofthe Indian and southern African diamond cuttingand
polishing centres closed dueto the lockdown restrictions. A gradual opening of diamond cuttingand polishing
centres started atthe end ofMay 2020; however, COVID-19 restrictions have remained in place, particularly in
India, limiting capacity. De Beers increased flexibility in responseto this lower demand. Rough diamond sales have
also been materially a ffected by lockdowns and travel restrictions, delaying the shipping of rough diamonds into
cuttingandtrading centres and preventing buyers from attending sales events. China has seen strong diamond
jewellery sales post-lockdown, with sales for May and June2020 abovethose forthe comparable periodsin 2019.
Recovery in the US will be dependenton thereopening of its economy.

Significant Transactions and Restructuring

Snap Lake

Snap Lakewas put on extended care and maintenance in December2015, followinga review of themine’s
operationin light of market conditions. Followingthe flooding of theunderground works in January 2017, Snap
Lake continues to be in a stateof care and maintenance.

Acquisition of remaining 50%interest in De Beers Jewellers

In March2017, De Beers acquired LVMH Moét Hennessy Louis Vuitton’s 50% shareholding in De Beers
Jewellers, rendering De Beers Jewellers a 100% owned subsidiary of De Beers.

Voorspoedmine
Voorspoed mine, owned by DBCM, was placed on care and maintenance in December2018.
Acquisition of Peregrine Diamonds Ltd

On September 13,2018 De Beers announced the completion of the purchase of Peregrine Diamonds Ltd, fora
totalcash considerationof CAD107 million (US$87 million equivalent). The acquisition includes the high quality
Chidliak diamondresources located in Canada’s Nunavut Territory and other properties elsewhere in Nunavut and
Canada’s Northwest Territories.

Debmarinejointventure

On May 16,2019 the Group announced theapprovalby Debmarine Namibia, a 50:50joint venture between De
Beers Group and the Government ofthe Republic of Namibia, ofthe construction ofa new custom-built diamond
recovery vessel. Ata currently expected total capital cost of US$468 million (US$234 million attributable to Anglo
American), this new vessel will become the seventh in the Debmarine Namibia fleet. It was initially expectedto
begin productionin 2022, with the capacity to add 500,000 carats ofannual production, a 35% increase above
Debmarine Namibia’s currentlevels.

Victor mine

In Canada, miningat Victor Mine ended in June 2019 with the depletion ofthe economically mineable reserve
and the mine is now preparing for mine closure.

Other Recent Developments

De Beers hasrecently communicated that it is proceeding with a company transformation intended to support
the implementation of our vision of being pioneers in the diamond industry, butas a lower costbusiness. We
currently expect that this transformation willbe generally completed by the end of 2020.
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Whilst the De Beers transformation may result in some headcountreduction, this is subject to a formal
consultation (where required) and engagement process with employees and is intended to be conducted in a manner
that will ensure we retain the skills, knowledge and competence required to maximise future value opportunities.

Copper
Business Overview

In Chile, we haveinterests in two major copper operations: a 50.1%interest in the Los Bronces mine, which
we manage and operate, anda 44% interest in the independently managed Collahuasijoint venture; we also manage
and operate the E1 Soldado mine and Chagres smelter (50.1% interest in both). In Peru, we havea 60% interest in
the Quellaveco project, which was approved for development in mid-2018. Duringthe first 10 years, productionis
expected toaverage 300,000 tonnes of copper equivalent per year, with a first quartile cash cost of 105¢/Ib (2018
realbasis). The Group alsohas a future potential project, the polymetallic Sakattideposit in Finland.

The average LME cash copper price in the first half 0of2020 was 11% lower than for the same periodin 2019.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had the greatest impacton global demand, hitting consumptionas lockdowns
hampered economic activity. Arecovery isnow becomingevidentin China while, elsewhere, measures to restart
activity havetaken effect and thereare signs of pendingrecovery. Despite uncertainties, copper prices increased
laterin the period as investors focused on copper’s positive fundaments, potential for disruption to supply and a
decline in reported inventories.

Significant Transactions and Restructuring

Anglo American announcedon July 26,2018, that its Board had approved the development of the Quellaveco
copperproject in Peru. This follows the completion ofthe transaction announced in June 2018, whereby Mitsubishi
increased its interest in AAQSA, which owns the Quellaveco project, to 40% via the issuance of new shares.

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, projectexecution was ahead of schedule, with allapplicable milestones
achieved. At the Vizcachas dam, partof thewater-source infrastructure located approximately 90 kilometres from
the plant, water impoundment had started as scheduled and construction works across the mine, plantandtailings
areas were alsoprogressing to plan. However, the project has beenaffected by the implementation of Peru’s national
quarantine since March 15,2020.

On March 17,2020 Quellaveco withdrew the majority of the project’s 10,000-strong work force from site a fter
the Peruvian government’s announcement of aninitial 1 5-day national quarantine. Construction work was
significantly slowed, maintaining only limited critical works. Following subsequent further extensions ofthe
quarantine,on April23,2020 Anglo American announced the suspension of non-critical works foran expected
period of up to threemonths in support ofthe government’s continuing efforts to control the spreadof COVID-19,
allowing fora safeand responsible restart to be planned.

During the suspension, the focus has been on thesa fety of our workforce and the local community, as wellas on
the development of a restart and updated constructionplan. Theseplans incorporate leading health protocols which
have beenapprovedby the Peruvian authorities, enablinga gradual and sa fe restart of'site activities. From the
beginning of July, activities have recommenced on site and are expected to ramp up during the second half of 2020,

subject to further COVID-19related impacts.

Costshave beenrecast taking into account the demobilization and the currentremobilization. Totalproject
capital expenditure guidance was updated as part of the 2020 interim results presentationto US$5.3 billion to
US$5.5billion, of which our share is $2.7 — 2.8 billion. Since March 2020, the teamhas also taken the opportunity to
optimise the projectdevelopment and mineplans in orderto help mitigate theeffects ofthe suspension and protect
value. Despite the COVID-19related slowdown, we still currently expect first productionin 2022.

Key project activities in the second six months will be the construction ofanapproximately 95 kilometre water
pipeline from the water-source area to the Quellavecosite, the start of pre-stripping a ctivities to remove surface

waste material, and assembly ofthe mills.

Platinum Group Metals
Business Overview

Anglo American is a leading producer of PGMs, essential metals for cleaning vehicle exhaust emissionsandas
the catalyst in electric fuel celltechnology. We own and operatethreemining complexes in South Africa’s
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Bushveld complex, including Mogalakwena — the world’s largest open-pit PGMs mine; Amandelbult and Mototolo,
aswell asthe Unkimine, in Zimbabwe. In South Africa and Zimbabwe, we also own smeltingandrefining
operations which treat concentrates from our wholly owned mines, our joint venture operations and third parties.

The average platinum price increased by 2% in the first half of 2020, compared with the same period in 2019.
The average palladium and rhodium prices were significantly stronger, with both metals hittingall-time price highs
duringthe period, increasingby 51%and 225% respectively. The initial gains were driven by strong automotive
demand and, while bothmetals moved lower when COVID-19 spread globally, they stillended the period
significantly higher yearon year.

Significant Transactions and Restructuring

Disposal of Rustenburg

On November 1,2016, Anglo American Platinum completed the sale of the Rustenburgminingand
concentration operations (the “Rustenburg Operations”) by its wholly owned subsidiary Rustenburg Platinum Mines
Limited to Sibanye Rustenburg Platinum Mines Proprietary Limited (“Sibanye”), a subsidiary of Sibanye Gold
Limited (“Sibanye Gold”).

The upfrontcash proceeds of ZAR 1.5 billion (US$ 110 million) were used to reduce netdebt and further
strengthen Anglo American Platinum’s balance sheet. Sibanye will also pay minimum deferred proceeds of ZAR3.0
billion (in nominal terms) (US$220million), to be earned through a 35% share of the distributable free cash flows
generated by the Rustenburg Operations on anannual basis fora period of six full years commencing from January
1,2017.

To the extent that there is an outstanding minimum deferred proceeds balanceatthe end ofthe six year period,
Sibanyehas the option to extend the payment period forup to two years (to December31,2024), oruntil the
minimum deferred payment has been paid in full (whicheveris earlier). Sibanye also has theoptionto settle the
outstandingbalance in cashor listed Sibanye Gold ordinary shares atthe end ofthe six oreight yearperiod. In
February 2020, with Anglo American Platinum consent, Sibanye completeda Scheme of Arrangement in orderto
effect aninternal restructuring of the Sibanye group. Asa result of the restructuring should Sibanye elect to settle
any outstanding balance in shares, the shares issued will be ordinary listed shares in Sibanye-Stillwater Limited
ratherthanin Sibanye Gold.

Disposal of Union Mineand MASA Chrome Company Proprietary Limited

On February 15,2017, the Group announced thatit hadagreed thesale of Anglo American Platinum’s 85%
interest in the Union platinum mineandits 50.1% in MASA Chrome Company Proprietary Limited to Siyanda
ResourcesProprietary Limited for consideration comprising upfront cash of ZAR400 million (a pproximately US$29
million) and deferred consideration based on the operation’s free cash flow generation overa tenyearperiod. The
transactionwas completed on February 1,2018.

The fair valueof the Union mine and its associated mineral resources is expected to be recovered principally
through thesale. An impairmentof US$197 million (US$1 13 million a fter tax and non-controlling interests) was
recorded in 2018 to bringthe operation’s carrying value into line with its fair valueless costs of disposal. The
impairment charge was recorded principally against property, plantand equipment.

Bafokeng Rasimone disposal

On July 5, 2018, Anglo American Platinum announced thatits wholly-owned subsidiary, Rustenburg Platinum
Mines Limited (“RPM”), had accepted an offer from Royal Ba fokeng Platinum Limited (“RBPlat”) to purchase its
33% interest in the Bafokeng Rasimone Platinum Mine joint venture (“BRPM JV”). The total purchase
considerationat the time of announcement was R2.178 billion (a purchaseconsideration of R1.863 billion plus the
repayment of Anglo American Platinum’s contributions into the BRPM JV until completion ofthe transaction). In
December2018, Anglo American Platinum announced that all conditions precedentto the sale and purchase
agreementwith RBPlat hadbeen fulfilled. An upfront consideration of R555 million was settled by a cash payment
by Royal Bafokeng Resources Limited onthe completion date. The remaining deferred consideration ofR1.851
billion (including accumulated interest) was settledin full on January 30,2020.
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Disposal of 11% interestin Royal Bafokeng Platinum

On April 24,2018, Anglo American Platinum disposed of 1 7.3 million shares in RBPlat forR0.4 billion. The
sale of Anglo AmericanPlatinum’s residual shareholding in RBPlat was completed on August7,2018, realizingnet
proceeds ofR0.1 billion.

Purchase of Mototolo

On November 1,2018, Anglo American Platinum announced the completion of the acquisition of both
Glencore Operations South Africa Proprietary Limited’s 40.2% interest and Kagiso Platinum Ventures Proprietary
Limited’s 9.8% interest in the Mototolo joint venture. With effect from November 1,2018, Mototolo becamea

wholly owned operation of Anglo American Platinum.

Investment in venture capital fund

On July 17,2018 Anglo Americanreported that its 79.4% owned subsidiary, Anglo American Platinum
Limited, announced its subsidiary, Anglo Platinum Marketing Limited (“APML”), had subscribed for interests in
two UK-based venture capital funds (the “Funds”), with a total a ggregate commitment of US$ 100 million. Anglo
AmericanPlatinum’s commitment to the Funds is matched by a US$100 million commitment from South Africa’s
Government Employees Pension Fund represented by the Public Investment Corporation SOC Ltd (“PIC”).

Acquisition of Kwanda North and Central block prospecting rights

On August 27,2019 Anglo American Platinum and Atlatsa completed the acquisition and inclusionofthe
resources specified in the Central Block and Kwanda North prospecting rights into RPM’s Mogalakwena mining
right. The acquisition was part ofa composite transaction which included, among others: the disposal of Anglo
AmericanPlatinum’s 22.55% shareholding in Atlatsa fora nominal cash consideration;the waiver and/or
capitalizationof all of the current debt owing by Atlatsa group to Anglo American Platinum totaling approximately
R4 .8 billion (the loans hadalready been fully impaired); the waiver of further debtto be provided to Atlatsa until
December31,2019, for care and maintenance costs at Bokoni Mine; andthewaiverof allof the debtowingby
Atlatsa Holdings Proprietary Limited, Atlatsa’s controlling shareholder, to Anglo American Platinum totaling
approximately R0.5 billion (this loan hasalsoalready been fully impaired). Atlatsaand Anglo American Platinum
retain their 51% and 49% respective shareholdings in the Bokoni Mine joint venture.

Iron Ore
Business Overview

Anglo American’s iron ore operations provide customers with high-grade iron ore products which help our steel
customers meetever tighter emissions standards. In South Africa, we have a majority share (69.7%) in Kumba,
while in Brazilwe have developedthe integrated Minas-Rio operation.

Anglo American’s strategy is to supply premium iron ore products a gainst a background of declining quality
globaliron ore supplies. We havea unique iron ore resource profile, with extensive, high quality resource bases in
South Africa and Brazil.

Kumba

Kumba, which is listed on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange, operates two open-pit mines—Sishen and
Kolomela—both located in the Northern Cape of South Africa, producing high-grade (64.3%Fe) and high-quality
lump ore and a premium fine ore. Around67% of Kumba’s productionis lump, which commands a premium price,
owingto its physical strength and high iron content. Kumba is serviced by an 861 -kilometre rail line, the iron ore
export channel, managedby Transnet. Our marketing teams work closely with our customers to blend and match
our products with theirneeds—before shipment from Saldanha Bay to China, Japanand Europe andnow
increasingly to theMiddle Eastand India.

Kumba seeks to deliver sustainable stakeholder returns by unlocking the full potential of Kumba’s assets
through safe, efficientand innovative operational performance. Kumba is well positioned to drive margin expansion
across the value chain through higher price realizations from improved product quality while continuingto deliver
cost savings and operational efficiencies.

In addition to optimizing its current assets, Kumba seeks to grow its core business by investing in new
technologies to beneficiate potential in situ and stockpile/discard materials and realize various identified life
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extension projects around both Sishenand Kolomela. Kumba seeks to focus on theNorthern Cape, as the region
contains themost attractive ore bodies.

Kumba captures value across the value chain through its commercialand logistics strategies and by executing
its growth projects efficiently, while continuing to deliver on its organizational responsibilities, ca pabilities and
societal obligations.

Iron Ore Brazil

Our integrated iron ore operation in Brazil, Minas-Rio, consists of anopen pit mine and beneficiationplant,
which produces a high-grade (~67%Fe) pellet feed product, with low levels of contaminants. The iron ore is then
transported through a 529-kilometre pipeline to the iron ore handling and shipping facilities at the port of Agu, in
which Anglo Americanhasa 50% interest.

In December 2018, Minas-Rio received regulatory approvalrelating to the Step 3 environmental license forthe
mine area of Minas-Rio. Accessto theStep 3 areas provides greater operational flexibility and access to higher
grade iron ore to support the increase of production of operation towards its full design capacity of 26.5 Mt (wet
basis). Followingthe suspension of operations atMinas-Rio on March29,2018asaresult of asecondleakin a
pipeline on this date, Minas-Rio resumed operations on December21, 2018, following an extensive and detailed
technicalinspection ofthe pipeline, which confirmedits integrity. Followingthe leak,a pipeline scanwas
completed and independently verified, 4 kilometres of pipeline was replaced as a precaution, additional monitoring
equipment was installed and pig inspection frequency will be increased to 2 years, from 5.

In December2019the Group received thenextphase ofits operating license, following the work to raise the
dam fromlevel 680to level 700 as part ofthe Step 3 license area of the mine. The regulatory authorities in Brazil
granted the installation license for this work in January 2018 and the construction work to level 689 was completed
in accordance with thatlicense in August 2019. During2019, operations at Minas-Rioachieveda successful ramp-
up and theoperating license for the first tailings dam extensionto level 689 was awarded in December2019.
Construction work forlevel 700 is under way and is currently expected to be completed by the end of 2020 with the
operatinglicense fortheincreaseto level 700 currently expected to be obtained early in 2021.

In January 2020, Anglo American and the State of Minas Gerais receiveda citizenclaimrequesting a
declaration that the operating license for the heightening of thetailings damto level 689 be declarednulland void.
Both the State of Minas Gerais and Anglo American opposedthe relief and the injunction was denied. Theclaimant
hasnow withdrawnits claim. In March2020, the Public Prosecutor of Conceigdo do Mato Dentro filed a public
civil claim against Anglo American and the State of Minas Gerais in similarterms to the aforementioned January
2020 civil claim, seeking an injunction to suspend the implementation ofthe tailings dam heightening operating
license, as well as additional relief. Both the State of Minas Gerais and Anglo American have opposed the injunction
application, anda decision from the Court is awaited.

See also “Recent Developments—COVID-19 Pandemic—Impact of COVID-19 on operations” fora discussion
of the claim by the Public Prosecutor’s Office ofthe State of Minas Gerais on September2,2020and the claim by
the Federal Labour Public Prosecutor on September4,2020 fora preliminary injunction a gainst Minas-Rio in
relation to compliance with the COVID-19 requirements established by the Concei¢do do Mato Dentro Municipality
in the Stateof Minas Gerais.

Significant Transactions and Restructuring

Sishen Mining Right

Sishen’s applicationto extend its Sishen mine’s mining right by the inclusion of theadjacent Dingleton area
was granted on June 25,2017 and executed by notary on June 29,2018. Thisallows Sishenmine to expand its
current operations within theadjacent Dingletonarea. Mining operations have since commenced in one of the
pushbackareas, namely pushback 16, following the deproclamation of that area and rezoning to mining.

Kolomela consolidated mining right granted

The Section 102 application to amend the Kolomela mining right and the mining work programme to include
Heuningkranz and portion 1 of Langverwacht was granted on October 14,2018. The Environmental authorization
was approvedon November 7,2018. The grant allows Kolomela mineto expand its current mining operations
within the adjacent Heuningkranz area.

Disposal of Thabazimbi Mine
SIOC and ArcelorMittal SA entered into anagreementin 2016 to transfer Thabazimbimineto ArcelorMittal
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SA, subject to the fulfilmentof certain conditions precedent. On October 12,2018, Kumba and ArcelorMittal SA
announcedthatallthe conditions precedent to thetransfer of Thabazimbimine, together with the miningrights, had
eitherbeen fulfilled orwaived. The employees, assets and liabilities as wellas the miningrights and the assumed
liabilities of the mine were transferred at a nominal purchase consideration from SIOC to Thabazimbi Iron Ore Mine
(Pty) Ltd (previously ArcelorMittal South Africa Operations (Pty) Ltd.),a wholly-owned subsidiary of
ArcelorMittal SA on November 1,2018.

Kapstevel South Project at Kolomela approved

On July 28,2020 Kumba announced the approval of its Kapstevel South projectat its Kolomela mine by the
boards of Kumba and Anglo American. The total capital cost ofthe projectis currently expected tobe
approximately R7 billion, including pre-stripping. The projectentails the developmentof a new pit, Kapstevel South
and associated infrastructure atKolomela. Thepit isa conventional truck and shovel operation producing high
quality directshippingore.

Other Recent Developments

Changesinthe Brazilian Mining Code and Calculation of Royalties

At the end of December2017, Brazilian Law 13,540 introduced some amendments to the Brazilian mining code
and the creation ofthe National Mining Agency (the “ANM”), replacing the National Department of Mineral
Production (the “DNPM”). The main changethathas affected our business was a change in the rates of CFEM

applicable to iron ore, which has increased from 2% to 3.5%;the CFEMrate fornickelremained at 2%.

Most of the changes to themining code were aimed at bringing it up to date and eliminating oradjusting
provisions that impaired a more efficient development ofprojects. The creationof the ANM puts the mining
industry into the same management modelalready applied in Brazilto oil, gas, powerand communication, with
expected increases in transparency and efficiency.

Changes in regulations related to tailings disposal in Brazil

On February 15,2019, the ANM issued new regulations on tailings storage facilities and banning upstream
constructionand heightening of tailings storage facilities. Since the Group’s tailings storage facility is to be
heightened using the downstream method, the banning of upstream heightening oftailings storage facilities is not
currently expected to impact directly on the Group, however otheraspects of thenew rules, including the reporting

requirements and licensing rules, will apply.

On February 25,2019, the State of Minas Gerais issued State Lawnr.23.291/2019 providing fora new policy
fortailings disposalin the State. The new rules includestricter procedures for tailings storage facilities and
eliminate the possibility of upstream heightening of tailings stora ge facilities. Federallaws, Minas Gerais state laws
and the Municipality of Concei¢do do Mato Dentro laws are under continued scrutiny and additional regulations are
expected tobe issued and may impose restrictions and/or create additional challenges in relation tomining
operations, including the provision of guarantees for reclamation and damages should an incidentoccur.

Coal
Business Overview

Our high quality assets providea reliable supply of niche products our wide range of customers need, in both
metallurgical coal (for steelmaking) and thermal coal (for electricity generation). Our coal portfolio is
geographically diverse, with metallurgical coal assets in Australia,and thermal coal assets in South Africa and
Colombia.

Metallurgical Coal

Our assets include the Moranbah North (8 8% ownership) and Grosvenor (100% ownership at December 3 1; see
“—Key Strategic Growth Projects—Portfolio update”) metallurgical coalmines, both located in Queensland,

Australia. The Group’s Canadian operations (Peace River Coal) are on care and maintenance.

Metallurgical coalis an essential ingredient in bla st-furnace steel production, beingused for its mechanical,
chemicaland energy properties. Around 70% of globalsteel outputis producedusingthis method. Emerging
markets, particularly in the Asia-Pacific region, continue to drive demand for metallurgicalcoal—to help generate
the steelneeded for infrastructure, housing, transport and machinery.
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Metallurgical Coalrecordeda 36% reductionin its realised price for the first half 0£2020, with its volume and
cost performances principally impacted by two underground operational incidents at Moranbah North and
Grosvenor, as wellas longwallmoves at Grosvenor and Grasstree.

Coal South Africaand Cerrejon

We have narrowed our South Africanthermal coal portfolio to concentrate on exportmarkets, supplying around
18 million tonnes (Mt) of thermal coala yearto our customers in Europeand Asia. Our South African export
productis derived from three wholly-owned and operated mines — Goedehoop, Greenside and Khwezela;as wellas
the 73% owned mine Zibulo. We also have product from Mafube colliery, a 50:50 joint operation. Our Isibonelo
mine is engaged in the production ofthermal coal for Sasol Synthetic Fuels. Thesemines operatein the first quartie
of the seaborne cost curve and produce high quality thermal coal. The Groupalso retains aneffective 3 7% interest
in the Phola washingplant,a 50:50 jointoperation with South32. InColombia, Anglo American, BHP and
Glencore eachhave a one-third shareholding in Cerrejon, an independently managedjoint venture and one ofthe
country’s largest thermal coal exporters.

Thermal coalis the heatsource foraround40% ofallelectricity generated globally today. India and China’s
reliance on themal coalis expected to drive demand in absolute temms in the near term. However, fossil fuels are
beingincreasingly contested by society and a responsible transition away from their use is necessary to achieve the
Paris Agreement.

The impact of COVID-19 led to a decline in thermal coal prices, with supply exceeding demand. India, a key
market for South African coal, experienced an estimated 23% decrease in imports in the first half of 2020. Towards
the end of the half, the US and Indonesia had started to respond by reducing their seaborne supply.

We have recently communicated our initial plans to work towards anexit of our thermal coal operations in
South Africa, with a demerger being the Group’s likely preferred exit option, currently expected in the nexttwo to
three years, with a potential primary listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange for the demerged business. The
Group will continue to consider other exit options as we enga ge with stakeholders as part of our commitmentto a
responsible transitionbutas of now there isno finalplanin place forthe eventual exit.

Significant Transactions and Restructuring

Dartbrook disposal

On December24,2015, the Group announced thatit had entered into a sale and purchase agreement(and
agreed to enterinto a related Royalty Deed) with a wholly owned subsidiary of Australian Pacific Coal Ltd to sellits
83.33% interest in the Dartbrook Coal Mine (“Dartbrook”) in the Hunter Valley, New South Wales, Australia, for
upfront proceeds of AUD25 million anda future royalty stream. Dartbrook consists of an underground thermal coal
mine andassociated processing infrastructure that has been in care and maintenancesince 2006. On May 29,2017,
the Group completed this sale with the net gain on disposal of US$76 million.

Disposal of Drayton mine

On May 4,2017,the Group announced that it had entered into a sale and purchase Agreement with a wholly
owned subsidiary of Malabar Coal Limited to sellits 88.17% interest in the Drayton thermal coalmine and Dra yton
South project, located in New South Wales, Australia. The transaction was effected via a sale of shares in the
subsidiary companies holding Anglo American’s interestin Drayton. The Group ceased miningactivities atthe
Draytonmineduring2016. This transaction was completed on February26,2018.

Disposal of Eskom-tied domestic thermal coal operations

On April 10,2017, the Group announced the sale of the Eskom-tied domestic thermal coal operations which
consisted ofthe New Vaal, New Denmark and Kriel collieries, as well as four closed collieries, allin South Africa,
(together, the “Eskom tied operations”) by Anglo Operations Proprietary Limited and Anglo American Inyosi Coal
Proprietary Limited to a wholly owned subsidiary of Seriti Resources Holdings Proprietary Limited, fora
considerationpayable asatJanuary 1,2017 of ZAR2 .3 billion (approximately US$ 164 million). The sale was
completedon March 1,2018.

Disposal of New Largo

On August 1,2018, the Group completedthesale of New Largo in South Africa, by its 73 %-held subsidiary
AAIC, to the New Largo Coal Proprietary Limited, which is owned by Seriti Resources Proprietary Limited and
Coalzar Proprietary Limited, two companies majority owned and controlled by HDSAs and the IDC.
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Agquila life extending project

On July 25,2019, the Group announced theapproval by its Board ofthe Aquila projectto extend thelife of the
Capcoalunderground hard coking coal operations in Queensland, Australia by six years, to 2028. With an expected
attributable capital cost of US$226 million, development work beganin September 2019, with first longwall
production of premium quality hard coking coal planned forearly 2022.

Moranbah North-Grosvenor ownership equalization

On November27,2019,the Group announced the entry into an agreement providing for equalization of
ownership across its integrated metallurgical coal operations at Moranbah North and Grosvenor, in Queensland,
Australia. The long-established Moranbah North mine and processing operation is 88% owned by Anglo American,
with 12% owned by a consortium ofJapanese companies (Nippon Steel Corporation, Mitsui & Co., Ltd, Nippon
Steel Trading Corporation, Shinsho Corporationand JFE Mineral Co., Ltd). The neighbouring Grosvenor mine is
wholly owned by Anglo American and cameonstream in 2016. The Grosvenor mine uses Moranbah North’s coal
processing infrastructure, therefore the Group soughtto replicate the ownership structure of Moranbah Northat
Grosvenor, through theagreed sale of a 12% interest in the Grosvenor mine to the same consortium partners, in
orderto align the interests ofall of the owners. Underthe terms ofthe agreement, which is subject to a number of
conditions priorto completion, Anglo American will receive cash proceeds of approximately US$ 141 million,
subject to working capital and other completion adjustments in respectof the sale ofthe 12% minority interest in the
Grosvenormine.

Nickel and Manganese
Business Overview

The Nickeland Manganese operations both provide ingredients for stainless and alloy steels. Theyare located
in Brazil (Nickel), as well as South Africa and Australia (Manganese).

Nickel

Our nickelassets are wholly owned, consisting of two ferronickel production sites: Barro Alto and Codemin.
Our Nickel business produces around 45,000 tonnes per annum of ferronickel, whose primary end useis in the
globalstainless steel industry.

The average LME nickel price remained largely unchanged at 566 c/Ibas comparedto 559 c/Ib forJune 30,
2019, despite thenegative impacts of COVID-19 on demand and market sentiment. Nickel demand for stainless
steel productionhada strongrecovery in China in the second quarter, while the global supply of nickel decreased
owingto the impact of COVID-19 containment measures. Nickel demand for electric vehicle batteries also benefited
from the strong year-on-year growth in sales of zero-emission vehicles in Europe.

Manganese

In Manganese, we have a 40% interest in Samancor (managed by South32, which holds 60%) with operations
based in South Africa and Australia. Samancoris the world’s largest producer of manganese ore and is amongthe
top globalproducers of manganese alloy.

The average benchmark price for manganese ore (Metal Bulletin 44% manganese ore CIF China) was
US$5.07/dmtu, a decreaseof 20% (June 30,2019: US$6.33/dmtu). The adverseeffects of COVID-19 shutdowns

led to lower demand and prices.

Other Recent Developments

Disposal of TEMCO

On August 13, 2020, South32 announced that GEMCO, owned by Samancor, had entered into a binding
agreementforthe sale of its shareholding in TEMCO to an entity within GFG Alliance (“GFG”). Completion of the
transaction is subject to approval from Australia’s Foreign Investment Review Board. Upon satisfaction of this
condition, GFG will make a nominal payment to GEMCO to acquire 100% ofthe shares in TEMCO. As a condition

to the completion ofthe transaction, the parties haveentered into an ore supply a greement from GEMCO to TEMCO.
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Changesinthe Brazilian Mining Code and Calculation of Royalties

At the end of 2017, Brazilian Law 13,540 introduced some amendments to the Brazilian mining code and the
creationof the ANM, replacingthe DNPM. See “Iron Ore—Other Recent Developments—Changes in the Brazilian

Mining Code and Calculation of Royalties”.
Crop Nutrients

Business Overview

Anglo Americanis developingthe Woodsmith project in the north eastof Englandto access the world’s largest
known deposit of polyhalite, a natural mineral fertiliser product containing potassium, sulphur, magnesium and
calcium—four of the six nutrients that every plant needs to grow. The mineis being constructed approximately three
kilometres south of Whitby where polyhalite ore will be extracted via two 1.6 kilometre deep mine shafts and
transported totheport at Teesside ona conveyor belt system in a 37 kilometre underground tunnel, thereby minimising
impacton the surface above. It will then be granulated at a materials handling facility, with the majority of the
product—known as POLY4—expected to be exported to a network of customers in overseas markets.

Recent Developments

Following the completion oftheacquisition of Sirius Minerals Plc on March 17,2020, integration activities have
progressed well and the development of the project has continued in line with Anglo American’s currently expected
$300 million capital expenditure on the project for2020. The impact of COVID-19 onthe project’s development has

been limited dueto the successful implementation ofall appropriate health measures.

By the end of June, 2020, the first drive of the project’s 37 kilometre tunnel to accommodate the undergound
mineraltransport system hadreached 7.3 kilometres and continues to progress well. At the mine head, the first shaft-
boringmachine is beingassembled within the service shaft (where the early shaft-sinking work has taken place), with
works at the production shaft also progressing well.

During the second halfof theyear, a review of the project’s overall development plan will continue, making any

appropriate adjustments to further optimise the project and align it with Anglo American’s technical and other
standards.

Corporate and Other
Business Overview

This business segment includes the non-corebusinesses previously reported under Other Miningand Industrial.

Significant Transactions and Restructuring

USS$1 billion additional shareholder returns

On July 25,2019, the Group announced its intention to returnup to US$ 1 billion to its shareholders throughan
on-marketirrevocable and non-discretionary share buyback programme (the “Programme”). The Programme began
on July 25,2019 and was completed on March 2,2020.
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MINERAL PRODUCTION

This section provides theentire outputof consolidated entities and the Group’s attributable share of joint
operations, associates and joint ventures where applicable, except for De Beers’ jointoperations which are presented
ona 100% basis.

Six months ended
Year-ended December 31, June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020

(thousands of carats)

De Beers segment)

Debswana 22,684 24,132 23,254 11,668 7,469
Namdeb Holdings 1,805 2,008 1,700 818 869
DBCM .ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiv e 5,208 4,682 1,922 953 1,306
De Beers Canada..........oovvoovvooooeoooeeoo. 3,757 4,475 3,900 2,112 1,633

33,454 35297 30,776 15,551 11,277

(1)  De Beers production is on a 100% basis, except for the Gahcho Kué joint venture which is on an attributable 51% basis.

Six months ended June 30,

Year-ended December 31,

2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(tonnes)
Copper segmentV®
Collahuasi (44% share) 230,500 246,000 248,800 112,000 142,200
AA Sur — Los Bronces mine............cccceevuunneee 308,300 369,500 335,000 182,900 149,400
AA Sur — El Soldado mine............ccceeeeeeeenn. 40,500 52,700 54,200 25,300 22,300
Total attributable copper production............ 579.300 668.300 638.000 320,200 313,900

(1) Production is presented on a contained metal basis.
(2) Excludes Anglo American Platinum’s copper production.

Year-ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020

(thousands of ounces, except where noted otherwise)

Platinum Group Metals segment

Produced ounces")

Platinum ..o 2,397 2,485 2,051 992 748
Refined®

Platinum ........oooeeviiiiiiiieeie e, 2,512 2,402 2211 1,003 401
Palladium........cccoooiiiiniiiiiiiiiiiiicce 1,669 1,502 1,481 722 345
Rhodium.......cccoooiiiiiie 323 293 293 136 78
Copper — Refined (tonnes)........ccccceeeevnuneeene 15,700 14,300 14,200 6,700 4,500
Nickel — Refined (tonnes)..........ccceevveeennee. 26,000 23,100 23,000 9,800 5,100

115 105 106 45 40

(1) Reflects own mine production and purchases of metals in concentrate.
(2) Excludes toll treated volumes
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Year-ended December 31,

Six months ended June 30,

2017 2018 2019

2019 2020

(thousands of tonnes)

Iron Ore segment
Ironore— Kumba.......cccccoeveeiiiiiiiiee e 44,983 43,106 42,388
Iron ore — Minas-Rio™ ..., 16,787 3,382 23,115

(1) Wet basis.

Year-ended
December 31,

20,060 17,924
10,825 12,622

Six months ended June 30,

2017 2018 2019

2019 2020

(thousands of tonnes)

Coal segment

Australia

Metallurgical — EXPOIt.....c..eeeeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeiieee e 19,661 21,830 22,852 10,000 7,803
Thermal — EXPOTt......ccooiiiiiiniiiiiiiiieeiiieeeee e 1,641 1,381 1,411 584 871
South Africa

Thermal — Export(D. ..., 18,593 18,359 17,79 8,992 7,783
Thermal — Domestic (Eskom)..........ccccociiiiiiiiiiniiiiiiie, 23,859 2,826 - - -
Thermal — Domestic (Non-Eskom) @...........ccccocooviiiiioiiiiinnn 7,454 10,867 10,046 4,914 6,445
Colombia

Thermal — EXPOTt...cccovviiiieeeieiiiiiiee et 10,642 10,220 8,586 4,216 2,745

(1) Thermal export — All product produced and sold into the export market, and production sold domestically at export parity pricing and pre-
commerical production volumes from Navigation section of Khwezela. Comparatives have been restated to reflect current presentation.

(2) Thermal domestic (Non-Eskom) includes Thermal — Domestic (Other) and Thermal Domestic (Isibonelo & Rietvlei). Thermal — Domestic
(Other) is product sold domestically excluding Eskom-tied and Isibonelo and Rietvlei. Comparatives have been restated to reflect current

presentation.

Year-ended Six months ended
December 31, June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020

Nickel and Manganese segment™”

INTCKEL. ettt et e e e e e e e e e e s eabbreeeaeennnarnees 44 42
2
Man@anese 0re D ..........ooiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 3.486 3.607

149 157

(1) Excludes Anglo American Platinum’s nickel production.
(2) Saleable production.
(3) Production includes medium carbon ferro-manganese.

(thousands of tonnes)

43 20 22
3513 1,700 1,639
137 76 48
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
GLOBAL MARKETS

Global growth

By Q2 2020 the globaleconomy has entered a severe economic crisis deeper than the Global Financial Crisis of
2007-2008 (the “GFC”)accordingto the IMF (World Economic Outlook, April2020). In June2020, three key
multilateral organisations (IMF, World Bank and OECD) issued growth forecasts that indicated a significant global
GDP decline in 2020. The IMF was themost optimistic ofthe three, with global growth at-4.9% for2020, while the
OECD expects-7.5%fordeveloped countries. The outlook forthe US economy ranges between-6.1%and-8%,
while EU economic prospects are expected to bemore negative at -9.1%to -10.2%.

As negativeastheoutlook is forthe whole of 2020, mostcommentators expect positive and robust economic
growth to start from 2021, with global growth eventually returning to the same historical growth ratetrend although
from a lower point. This assumptionmay be challenged in the future if the global economy undergoes significant
structural changes that will lower the growth rate trend. These could include global high indebtedness, changes to
the established trade a greements (notably US-China), a stronger than expected environmental a genda, and changed
workingand consumption patterns.

While almostallcommodity prices havebeennegatively a ffected, a number of Anglo American’s products
performedbetter thanmay have been expected, dueto industry supply disruptions. Notably, supply-side

developments in iron ore havebeen supportive for this commodity.

Please also see “Recent Developments—COVID-19 Pandemic” and “Risk Factors—Theemerging COVID-19
globalpandemic has had a negative impacton worldwide economic activity and s likely to adversely a ffect our
business”.

Trade and Politics

World trade has shrunk noticeably for only the second time since the mid-1980s. In April2020, globaltrade
volumes havedeclined by 12%relative to March 2020. This is the largest monthly drop overthe past20 years, twice
asdeep asduringthe GFC. Relativeto average 2019 trade volumes, April2020 was down 16%. While it is difficult
to make conclusions from this numberalone, the COVID-19 disruptionis another serious blow in an already
challengingsituation as US-China tradedisputes become more heated.

Governments globally have committed around US$ 10 trillion in fiscalmeasures alone totackle the crisis. On
top of these, unprecedented loose monetary policy has been applied with policy rates closeto zero in most
developed countries. While these measures seem tobe supporting the global economy and staving offa financial
crisis fornow, it is not clear whether the risks havebeen mitigated and whether governments willbe able to taper
these measures without a negative impact.

CoMMODITY REVIEW

Diamonds

All parts of thediamond supply chain were severely impacted by the globallockdown measures introduced in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic in the first half o 2020.

Aftera strong US holidayseason at theend of 2019, the rough diamond industry started 2020 positively as the
midstream restocked. However, from February, the COVID-19 outbreak beganto have a significant impact on
diamond jewellery, retail sales and supply chain. Jewellery retailer restocking has therefore been limited, with many
jewellers suspending polished purchases and/or delaying payments to their suppliers.

In addition to the impact on consumer markets, most ofthe Indian and southern African diamond cuttingand
polishing centres closed dueto the lockdown restrictions. A gradual opening of diamond cuttingand polishing
centres startedatthe end ofMay 2020; however, COVID-19 restrictions have remained in place, particularly in
India, limiting capacity. De Beers increased flexibility in responseto this lower demand.

Rough diamondsales havealso beenmaterially affected by lockdowns and travelrestrictions, delaying the
shipping of rough diamonds into cutting and trading centres and preventing buyers from attending sales events.
China has seen strong diamond jewellery sales post-lockdown, with sales for May and June 2020 above those for the
comparable periodsin 2019. Recovery in the US will be dependent on the reopening of its economy.
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A range of factors created significant challenges forrough diamond demandin 2019: in late 2018, stock market
volatility and U.S.-China trade tensions resulted in lower than expected holiday retail sales, which led to higherthan
anticipated stock levels in the industry’s midstream atthe start of 2019. Throughoutthe courseof2019,the
midstream inventory position was under further pressuredue to the closure of some U.S. retail outlets, an increase in
online purchasing (where inventory levels are lower), and retailers increasing their stock held on consignment.
Tighter financingalso affected the midstream’s ability to hold stock, all of which resulted in lower demand for
rough diamonds.

In U.S. dollarterms, global consumer demand for diamond jewellery was broadly flat in 2019. This was despite
the challenges of increased uncertainty around the economic outlook owing to the continued U.S.-China trade
tensions, as wellas the impactof the Hong Kong protests and certain macro-economic issues a ffecting consumer
confidence in India. U.S. consumer demand remained reasonably strong, but growth in local currency terms in
China andJapan was offset by the strength of the U.S. dollar, while demand from India and the Gulf declined.

Platinum Group Metals (PGMs)

In the first half 02020, the realised basket price of PGMs increased by 106% in US dollartermsand 137% in
South African rand terms, compared with the same periodin 2019. The average marketplatinum price was 2%
higher, havinga strongstart to theyear before decliningas the impact of COVID-19 started to be felt worldwide.
Palladium and rhodium were significantly stronger, with both metals hitting all-time price highs during the period,
increasingby 51%and 22 1%, respectively. The gains were driven by strongautomotive demand and, while both
metals moved substantially lower when COVID-19 spread globally, they still ended the period significantly higher
year-on-year.

PGMs prices fared better than basemetals and bulk commodities in 2019, with palladium reachinga record
US$1,980/0z andrhodiumrecordingan 1 1-year high of US$6,155/0z. Platinum climbed from US$794/0z to
US$971/ozoverthe course ofthe year. Increasingly strict emissions regulations supported higher PGM loadings on
vehicles, particularly in China, resulting in PGM demand growth from the global automotive sector, despite weak
automotivesales in many parts ofthe world.

Platinum demand was supported by increases in the investment and industrial segments, although it faced some
headwinds, including softer jewellery sales in China, in line with the country’s slower economic growth, and weaker
demand in the European and Indian light-duty diesel vehicle sector.

Palladium remained in a deficit of approximately 1.1 million ounces in 2019, while rhodium was more closely
balanced. Despite theweak automotivesector, the current global vehicle sales levels, if maintained, would support
palladium andrhodium prices, againsta backdrop of constrained supply growth anda multi-year deficit expected for
both metals. Primary mined platinum and palladium remained broadly flat year on year, at around 13 million
ounces. South African output was flatyear-on-yearat7.05 million ounces, while secondary supply increased by
10%to 5.1 million ouncesin 2019 (2018: 4.7 million ounces).

Base metals

The average LME cash copper price in the first half 0of2020 was 11% lower than for the same periodin 2019.
The COVID-19 pandemic has had the greatest impacton globaldemand, hitting consumptionas lockdowns
hampered economic activity. A recovery isnow, however, evidentin China, the first country to be deeply a ffected
by the crisis. Measures to restart activity havetaken effect and there are signs of pending recovery elsewhere.
Despite uncertainties, copper prices displayed firmer increases later in the period as investors recognised underlying
positive fundamentals. Disruptions to supply have also takenplace, leadingto a decline in reported inventories.
Ferronickelis traded based on discounts or premiums to the LME nickel price, depending on market conditions,
supplier products and consumer preferences. Differences between marketprices andrealised prices are largely due
to variances between the LME and the ferronickel price. The average LME nickel price increased by 1% to 566 ¢/Ib
(30 June 2019:559 ¢/Ib). Despite the negative impacts of COVID-19 on demand and market sentiment, prices held
up relatively well compared with the same period in the prior year. Nickel demand for stainless steel production had
a recovery in China in the second quarter, while the supply ofnickel decreased owingto the globalimpact of
COVID-19 containmentmeasures. Nickel demand for electric vehicle batteries also benefited from the strong year-
on-year growth in sales of zero-emission vehicles in Europe.

In 2019 nickel demand was stronger, primarily drivenby a 3.3% increase in stainless steel output, the largest
end-use application fornickel, resulting in an estimated deficit 0£23,000tonnes in 2019. LMEnickelstocks
decreasedto a multi-year low of 67,000 tonnes in October2019, althoughuncertainty remains overthe volume of
material available in the market, not onthe LME.
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The nickel price was volatile during 2019, primarily as a result of the Indonesian ore exportban being brought
forward by two years, to January 2020. In addition, there were some temporary supply concerns, which adversely
affected severalnickel mining operations. The nickel price reached a high 0of845 ¢/Ib andaveraged 632 ¢/Ib,a 6%
increase over2018 (2018: 595¢/Ib).

Bulk commodities

Iron ore prices have thus far remainedresilient throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, averaging over $90/t for
the first half 0f 2020. Latest World Steel data from July suggests that World ex. China steel productionis down 14%
yearto date whilst productionin China is currently over 3% higher yearto date. Strength in the Chinese steel
industry, coupled with lower iron ore output from Brazil, primarily dueto rainfalland production issues, has lent
support toiron ore pricing. As with many other commodities, COVID-19 restrictions have also impacted supply in a
number of iron ore producing countries.

The supply-demand balance supported iron ore prices throughout 2019. In the first half, theloss of output
following the Brumadinho damdisaster and adverse weather in Braziland Australia, combined with strong steel
production in China, pushed iron ore prices above US$ 100/t for the first time since 2014. Prices fellback duringthe
second six months as supply gradually recovered, with the full year benchmark CFR China 62% Fe price averaging
US$93/t(2018: US$69/t). Premiums and discounts for high-gradeand low-grade ore were narrower than in 2018,
dueto a decrease in steel mill profitability; however, the a verage lump premium increased, reflecting the supply-
demand balance. Globaliron ore consumptionincreased by 1.7% to2.23 billion tonnesin 2019(2018: 2.20 billion
tonnes).

During H1 2020 metallurgical coal average realised prices differ from the average market price owingto
differences in material gradeand timing of contracts. Market prices decreased in line with demand through the first
half of theyear. Demand was a ffected by the slowdown in the global economy due to the COVID-19 pandemic and
increasingly stringent coalimportpolicies at ports in China.

Metallurgical coal showed continued strength in the first half 02019, with benchmark hard coking coal (HCC)
prices consistently above US$200/t onan FOB Australia basis, owingto strong crudesteel output, particularly in
China. However, a combination of factors, including weakening steel markets outside of China, particularly in
Europe andIndia; an increase in seaborne volumes from Australia; customs clearance restrictions for coalimportsat
Chinese ports; and weaker global thermal coal prices saw the benchmark HCC price fall significantly in the third
quarter. Acrossthe year,the average HCCbenchmark price was US$177/t(2018: US$207/t), with global
consumption of metallurgical coalincreasingby 2.7% to 1.15 billion tonnes (2018: 1.12 billion tonnes).

Thermal coal prices declined over the six months to 30 June 2020 as demand was impacted to a greater extent
than supply by the effects of COVID-19. India, a key market for South African coal, experienced an estimated 23%
decrease in imports over the first half 0£2020. Increased concerns around customs clearanceat Chinese ports in the
second quarteralso contributed to the reduced seaborne demand. Towards theend of thehalf, the US and Indonesia
had started torespond by reducing their seaborne supply.

Thermal coal prices were driven lowerin 2019 by a combination of factors, includingan increase in exports
from Russia and Indonesia, combined with decreased demand from Europeas significant supply growth in the gas
market drovedown European gas prices, displacing coal-fired power generation. Laterin the year, the threatof
strike action in South Africa drovethe FOB Richards Bay price higher, though there was little response from other
benchmark coalprices. Forthe yearasa whole, the FOB South Africa price averaged US$72/t (2018: US$98/t).
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The selected financial information for the Group set forth below as at or for each of the unaudited six month
periods ended June 30,2020 and 2019 and the years ended December31,2019,2018 and2017 has been derived
from, and should be read in conjunction with, the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, the Group
2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements and the Group 2017
Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto, and has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 and[FRS

respectively and incorporated by reference herein.

You should regardthe selected financial data below only as anintroductionand should baseyour investment
decision on a review of this entire document, including the sections entitled “Operatingand Financial Review” and
“Non-IFRS Financial Measures”. The disclosures in this section include certain Alternative Performance Measures

(“APMs”). Formore information on the APMs please see “Presentation of Financial Information”.

As ator for As ator for As ator for
the year-ended the year-ended the year-ended Six months  Six months
December 31, December 31, December 31, ended June ended June
2017 2018 2019 30,2019 30, 2020
(US $m unless otherwise stated)
Income statement measures
ReVenue .....oooiiiiiiiiiii 26,243 27,610 29,870 14,772 12,474
Group Revenue V .......c.oooviviiiiiiiiiiiiiece.
28,650 30,196 31,825 15,874 13,222
Operating profit before special items and 3,584 1,867
TEMEASUTEMENE ... ..ueveeniineeneineiernernennnnns 5,242 5,231 6,327
Underlying EBITY? ..., 6,247 6,377 7,010 4,015 2,084
Underlying EBITDA® .......cccccoooviiiiiiiiiiean, 8,823 9,161 10,006 5,451 3,350
Profit for the financial period......................... 4.059 4.373 4.582 2,496 817
Underlying earnings'” ..........cccccoovvieieniieenns 3,272 3,237 3,468 2,005 886
Earnings/(loss) per share (USS)
2.48 2.80 2.81 1.48 0.38
2.45 2.74 2.76 1.46 0.38
102.0 100.0 109.0 62.0 28.0
Balance sheet measures
Total @SSELS ..uovvviveeiieeiieiieeieeee e 54.561 52.196 56.152 54,798 55,828
Medium and long-term borrowings................. (10,620) (8,371) (9,744) (9,780) (11,638)
Net debt!” ..o 4,501) (2,848) (4,626) (3.411) (7.617)
Cash flow measures
Net cash inflows from operating activities........ 8.049 7127 7. 664 3,405 1,205
Net cash used in investing activities................ (1,947) (3,098) (4,716) (1,820) (2,360)
Net cash used in from financing activities ........ (4,553) (4,977) (3,116) (1,096) 1,311
(1) Definitions are set out in “Non-IFRS Financial Measures”.
(2) The reconciliation from underlying EBIT to underlying EBITDA is as follows:
As ator for As ator for
As ator for the year- the year-
the year-ended ended ended Six months
December 31, December 31, December 31, Six monthsended ended June30,
2017 2018 2019 June 30,2019 2020
(US $m unless otherwise stated)
Income statement measures
Underlying EBIT...........cooooii 6,247 6,377 7,010 4,015 2,084
Depreciation and amortization (including 1.436 1.266
associates and joint ventures)¥ .................. 2,576 2,784 2,996 ’ ’
Underlying EBITDA 8,823 9,161 10,006 5,451 3,350

(3) Year-end dividends proposed in respect of the applicable year-ended December 31.

(4) Non-IFRS measure: depreciation and amortisation, including associates and joint ventures. Reconciliation to the closest IFRS measure,

consolidated depreciation and amortisation, is disclosed in Note 2 of the 2019 Group Consolidated Financial Statements.

50



OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

This “Operating and Financial Review ” section is intended to convey management s perspective onthe
Group ’s operational performance andits financial performance as measured inaccordance with IFRS. We intend
this disclosure to assistinvestors in understanding and interpreting the financial statements incorporated by
referencein this document. This section is based on and should be readin conjunctionwith the Group 2020
Condensed Interim Financial Statements, 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group 2018 Consolidated
Financial Statements andthe Group 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements, which are incorporated by reference
into this document, as well as the “Presentation of Financial Information ” section. In this analysis, all references
to “H1 2020 are to thesix months ended June 30, 2020 and allveferencesto “HI 2019 or the “prior period” are
to the six monthsendedJune 30, 2019. All referencesto “2019” are to the year ended December 31,2019, all
references to 2018 orthe “prioryear” are to the year ended December 31, 2018 and all referencesto “2017” are
to the year ended December 31,2017.

The following discussion also contains trend information and forward-looking statements. Actualresults could
differ materially from those discussedin these forward-looking statements. Factors thatcould cause or contribute
to such differences include, but are not limited to, thosediscussed below and elsewherein this document,
particularly under “Forward-Looking Statements” and “Risk Factors”.

We make reference herein to certain non-IFRS financial information thatis explained in “Non-IFRS Financial
Measures”.

OVERVIEW

The Group’sunderlyingearningsin H1 2020 andH12019 were US$886 million and US$2,005 million
respectively. The 56%decrease was primarily due to the impactof COVID-19related disruption to production and

diamond demand, as wellas operationalissues at PGMs and Metallurgical Coal.

The Group’sunderlyingearningsin 2019,2018 and 2017 were US$3,468 million, US$3,237 million and
US$3,272 million, respectively.

2019 underlying earnings were 7% above 2018, reflecting increased earnings at Minas-Rio following the re-

start in operations, as well as higherrealized prices and favorable exchange rates, partially offsetby diamond
industry midstream weakness.

2018 underlyingearnings were in line with 2017 (1% decrease) as increases in overall production volumes and
higherrealized product prices were offset by inputcost inflation and operational stoppages, including the two leaks
atthe Minas-Rio pipeline, third partyrail constraints on iron ore export volumes at Kumba and a 40-day
maintenance stoppage at Nickel’s Barro Alto plant. Average exchange rates were relatively unchanged from2017.

The reconciliation of profit for the financial period to underlying earnings is set out below:

Six months ended

Year-ended December 31, June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(US $m)
Profit/(loss) for the financial period..........c.ccovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicceee 4.059 4373 4582 2,496 817
Non-controlling interests ...........ocoeviiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s (é93) (524) (1,2)35) (613) 346
Profit/(loss) for the financial period attributable to equity shareholders of the 1,883 471
COMPANY ..eettiiitiiteitititeeeeeteteetbeeeeeaeeaeaassss s s s s s st s s s s s s s s sssssssssssssnsnsnen 3,166 3,549 3,547
Operating special itemsD.............ocoooiiiioeeeeee e (382)  (963) 49 180 77
Operating remeasurementst!)................cocoooiiieeioieeeeceee e 95 125 102 56 24
Non-operating special items(...............cccooiiviieiiieeeeecee e 5 94 (7 5 (41)
Financing special items and remeasurements®..................ccoooiviiviiiciiien, 113 134 6 8) 4)
Special items and remeasuremMents taX........coouveerueeeueerieerreenueeenieenreenneenenes 122 326 (196) (70) 283
Non-controlling interests on special items and remeasurements..................... 145 (39) (33) (39) 1)
Share of associates’ and joint ventures’ special items and remeasurements.... 8 11 0 (2) 77
Underlying €amings .........cccooouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieie e 3272 3,237 3,468 _2,005 886

(1) Before tax and non-controlling interests
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The Group’s profit attributable to equity shareholders for H12020and H12019 was US$471 million and
US$1,883 million respectively. The decrease was due to decreased underlying earnings from subsidiaries and joint
operations, in additionto lower income from associates andjointventures, driven by lower manganese and coal
prices, as well as the net impact of special items, principally tax remeasurements, driven by the weaker Brazilian
real.

The Group’s profit attributable to equity shareholders for2019,2018and2017 was US$3,547 million,
US$3,549 million and US$3,166 million respectively.

2019 profit attributable to equity shareholders was flat comparedto 2018, as increased underlying earnings from
subsidiaries and jointoperations were offset by lower income from associates and joint ventures, driven by lower
manganese and coal prices, as wellas the net impact of special items, principally impairments and impairment
reversals.

The US$383 million increase in profit attributable to equity shareholders from 2017 to 2018 was driven by
increased prices across the Group, particularly the PGM basket of metals, thermal coal, metallurgical coal, and
nickel, as well as, continued productivity improvements and costcontrol across the portfolio thatmore than offset
the impact ofinflation across the Group.

FACTORS AFFECTING RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The Group’s results of operations and year-to-year comparability of its financial results are affected by a
number of factors, including changes in commodity prices and exchange rates, production levels, cost pressures,
acquisitions, divestments and a ccounting standards. In addition, the H12020results were a ffected by the COVID-19

pandemic, mainly related to national lockdowns in southern Africa.

Commodity Prices

The table below sets forththeaverage market prices for certain of our key commodities for the periods
presented:

Year-ended
December 31, Six months ending June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020

Average prices for the period

Copper (U.S. cents/ID) D ..o 280 296 272 280 249
Platinum (USS/0Z) ... 950 880 864 832 848
Palladium (USS$/0Z)@ ... 871 1,029 1,539 1,410 2,136
Rhodium (US$/0z) ......ocvoviiiinn 1,097 2,214 3,914 2,846 9,254
Iron ore (62% Fe CFR) (US$/tonne)® 71 69 93 91 91
Iron ore (66% Fe Concentrate CFR) (US$/tonne).................. 87 95 104 106 104
Hard coking coal (FOB Australia) (US$/tonne)® .................... 188 207 177 205 137
PCI (FOB Australia)®........coocoviiieieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens 119 136 110 125 83
Thermal coal (FOB South Africa) (US$/tonne)©.........cce....... 84 98 72 74 67
Thermal coal (FOB Australia) (US$/tonne)?..........ccccevveee... 89 107 78 88 61
Thermal coal (FOB Colombia) (US$/tonne)@..........ccooveenen.. 78 85 54 60 46
Nickel (U.S. cents/ID) D ..o, 472 595 632 559 566
Manganese ore (44% CIF China) (US$/dmtu)® ...........c.......... 591 7.24 5.58 6.33 5.07

(1) Source: London Metal Exchange (LME).

(2) Source: London Platinum and Palladium Market (LPPM).
(3) Source: Johnson Matthey/Comdaq.

(4) Source: Platts.

(5) Source: Metal Bulletin.

(6) Source: Argus/McCloskey.

(7) Source: global COAL.

For furtherdiscussion on contributing factors to changes in commodity prices, see “Industry Overview—
Commodity Review”.

Set forth below is the impacton H1 2020 underlying earnings of a 10% fluctuation in the prices for certain of
the Group’s key commodities. These sensitivities reflect movement ofanindividual commodity price in isolation
and are offered forillustrative purposes. In reality the combination of movements in commodity prices, exchange
rates andinterest rates willresult in a different outcome.
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Six months ended

June 30,2020
10%

sensitivity

(US$m)@
TEOT OTEMD e ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt +/-164
Hard coking coal +/-37
Thermal coal®............ +/-29
+/-81
+-18
+-10
+/-34

(1) Sensitivity reflects the impact ofa 10% change in the average price across lump and fine.

(2) Sensitivity reflects the impact ofa 10% change in South African thermal coal prices.

(3) Sensitivity excludes the impact of provisionally priced copper.

(4) Stated after tax at marginal rate. Sensitivities are the average of the positive and negative and reflect the impact of a 10% change in the
average prices achieved during H12020. Increases in commodity prices increase underlying earnings and vice versa.

Average marketprices forthe Group’s basket of commodities and products decreased from H12019to H1
2020 by 2%, reducing underlying EBITDA by US$0.6 billion. Realised prices decreased across most ofthe Group’s
products, butprincipally for metallurgical coal (36% decrease), Kumba’s iron ore (14% decrease), and copper (11%
decrease). Thesereductions were partly offset by the price achieved forthe PGMs basket, which increased by 106%,
largely due to palladium and rhodium increasing by 53% and 216%, respectively.

Average marketprices for the Group’s basket of commodities and products increased from 2018 to 2019 by 1%,
contributing US$0.4 billion of improvementto underlying EBITDA. The average realized FOB iron ore price for
Kumba'’s iron ore increased by 35%, outperforming the market index owingto its higher iron contentandrelatively
high proportionof lump ore. Theprice achieved forthe PGMs basketincreased by 27%, largely dueto palladium
and rhodium, whichrecorded increases of 48% and 73% respectively. This was partly offset bya 30% decrease in
the realized price forexport thermal coal, 12%decreasein realized price for metallurgicalhard coking coaland 4%
decrease in realized price for copper.

The table below sets forththe spotmarket prices for certain of our key commodities atperiod end:

At December 31, At June 30,

Period end prices 2017 2018 2019 2019 2020

Copper (U.S. cents/I) V..., 325 270 279 271 274
Platinum (USS/0Z)@ ..ot 925 794 971 818 814
Palladium (USS/0Z) P . ...eeeeeeeeeeeeeeee oo 1,057 1,263 1,920 1,524 1,905
Rhodium (USS/0Z) ) ...t 1,700 2,445 6,050 3,365 8,000
Tron ore (62% Fe CFR) (US$/tonne).........cvveeeeeeeeeeereean. 74 73 92 118 101
Iron ore (66% Fe Concentrate CFR) (US$/tonne).................. 96 91 106 123 110
Hard coking coal (FOB Australia) (US$/tonne)®.................... 262 220 140 194 116
PCI (FOB AUSalia)@.........ooovieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 147 122 87 122 70
Thermal coal (FOB South Africa) (US$/tonne)©.........cc.c....... 95 97 87 64 50
Thermal coal (FOB Australia) (US$/tonne)?...........ccocvvee... 104 103 66 69 51
Thermal coal (FOB Colombia) (US$/0onne)©...........ooorvvvene.... 86 79 47 42 43
Nickel (U.S. cents/Ib) D) ..o 556 481 635 574 580
Manganese ore (44% CIF China) (US$/dmtu)(5) ...................... 6.88 6.85 4.0 5.74 5.02

(1) Source: London Metal Exchange (LME).

(2) Source: London Platinum and Palladium Market (LPPM).
(3) Source: Johnson Matthey/Comdaq.

(4) Source: Platts.

(5) Source: Metal Bulletin.

(6) Source: Argus/McCloskey.

(7) Source: global COAL.
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The Group’s policy is generally notto hedge exposure to commodity prices. This is discussed further under “—
Financial Risk Exposure and Management”. Pleasealso see “Risk Factors—Theemerging COVID-19 global
pandemic has had a negative impact on worldwide economic activity and is likely to adversely affectour business”.

ExchangeRates

The Group’sresults are influenced by a variety of currencies (the most important of which are listed in the table
below)owingto its geographical diversity and because we sell our products principally in U.S. dollars but incur
most of ourcosts in local currencies.

The table below sets forth theaverage exchange rates for certain of our key currencies with respect to the U.S.
dollar forthe periods presented. The average exchangeratehas been determinedusingthe end ofday Bloomberg

rates averaged for the period.

Year-ended December 31, Six months ended June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020

Average spot prices for the period (per U.S. dollar)

South African rand..........ccceecvveeeriiieeniieeeiee e, 13.31 13.25 14.45 14.20 16.67
Brazilian real..........ccccooviiiiiiiieeiiiee s 3.19 3.65 3.95 3.84 4.92
British pound.........cocevveiiriiieiiiiie e 0.78 0.75 0.78 0.77 0.79
Australian dollar............ccvvvviieeriiiiiiiee e 1.30 1.34 1.44 1.42 1.52
BUTO. ettt 0.89 0.85 0.89 0.89 0.91
Chilean peso... 649 642 703 676 813
Peruvian SoL......c.eeviiiiiiiiiii e 3.26 3.29 3.34 3.32 3.42
Botswanan pula.........ccceeevieeeriiieeiieeeeeee e 10.34 10.18 10.77 10.67 11.49
Closing spot prices

South African rand........cccccoeviiiiiiiiiiiiiee, 12.31 14.38 14.03 14.17 17.36
Brazilian real...... 3.31 3.88 4.02 3.82 5.40
British pound 0.74 0.78 0.76 0.79 0.82
Australian dollar...........cccvvieeeeiiiiiiiiee e 1.28 1.42 1.43 1.43 1.46
BUTO. ettt 0.83 0.87 0.89 0.88 0.89
Chilean PeSO.......ueeerurieeiiiiee ettt 615 694 752 680 818
Peruvian Sol.........coeveiiiiiiiiiiieee s 3.24 3.37 3.32 3.29 3.53
Botswanan pula...........ccoevviiiiniiiiiiieeeeeeee e 9.85 10.71 10.60 10.63 11.81

Set forth below is the impact for H1 2020 underlying earings of the Group of a 10% fluctuation in certain
exchange rates. These sensitivities reflectmovementof an individual exchange rate in isolation and are offered for
illustrative purposes. In reality, the combination of movements in commodity prices, exchange rates and interest
rates will result in a different outcome.

Six months
ended June 30,
2020
10%
(US$m)™
South African rand/U.S. dOIArO...........oov oottt ettt et ettt +/-109
Australian dol1ar/U.S. doAr® ........c.oov oottt ettt ettt +/-67
Chilean peso/U.S. dollar®........... +/-17
Brazilian real/U.S. dollar® +-29

(1) Excludes the effect of any hedging activities. Stated after tax at marginal rate.
(2) A strengthening ofthe South African rand, Australian dollar, Chilean peso and Brazilian real relative to the U.S. dollar reduces underlying
earnings and vice versa.

InH1 2020, the impact of foreign exchange on Underlying EBITDA of US$0.6 billion was largely dueto the
weaker South African rand, Brazilianrealand Chileanpeso.

In2019,theimpactof foreign exchange on Underlying EBITDA of US$0.8 billion was largely due to the
weaker South African rand, Australiandollarand Brazilian real. In 2018 the impactof foreign exchange on
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Underlying EBITDA of US$0.2 billion was largely due to revaluations of monetary items on the balancesheet,
resulting from the effectof weaker producer closing currency rates.

Input Costs and Effects of Inflation

The mining industry continues to experienceprice inflation for costs ofinputs used in production, which leads
to higher production costs reported by many mining companies, including the Group which has experienced
generally higher production costs across its operations.

Commodity prices are determined principally by international markets and global supply and demandand the
Group is unable to control the prices at which it sells the commodities it produces. Accordingly, in the event of
significant inflation in input costs, particularly laborand power costs, without a concurrentdevaluation ofthe local
currency oranincreasein commodity prices, therecouldbe a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of
operations and financial condition.

InH1 2020, the Group’s weighted average CPI was 3.1%, compared with 3.3% in the first six months of 2019.
The reduction was driven by lower diesel and electricity prices. The impact of inflation on costs reduced underlying
EBITDA by US$0.2 billion.

In2019,the Group’s cost improvements caused unit costreductions to more than outweigh the effects of above
CPI inflationary pressure onthe mining industry related largely to electricity prices and labor.

Divestments

We haveundertaken a number of significanttransactions since thebeginning o£ 2015, including several that
were entered into for the purpose ofactively restructuring the Group in order to improve our portfolio and
strengthen our financial position.

The transformation of our portfolio is well advanced, moving from 68assetsin 2013 to34 atthe end of
December2019. We will continue to refineandupgrade our asset portfolio on an ongoing basis in order to ensure
that ourcapitalis deployed effectively to generate enhanced and sustainable returns for our shareholders. For
further discussion of major divestment transactions, see “Business Description—Strategy”. The table below
summarizes thekey divestments since January 1,2017.
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Operation
Dartbrook

Union Mine and MASA
Chrome Company
Proprietary Limited

Drayton

Eskom-tied domestic coal
operations

Royal Bafokeng Platinum

Bafokeng Rasimone

New Largo

Thabazimbi Mine

Segment
Coal

Platinum

Coal

Coal

Platinum

Platinum

Coal

Iron Ore

Date
May 29,2017

February 1,2018

February26,2018

March1,2018

April 24,2018

July 5,2018

August 1,2018

November1,2018
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Further information (including proceeds)

Business Description—Coal—
Significant Transactions and
Restructuring—Disposal Dartbrook

Business Description—Platinum—
Significant Transactions and
Restructuring— Disposal of Union
Mine and MASA Chrome Company

Proprietary Limited

Business Description—Coal—
Significant Transactions and
Restructuring—Disposal of Drayton
mine

Business Description—Coal—
Significant Transactions and
Restructuring—Disposal of Eskom-tied
domestic themmal coal operations

Business Description—Platinum—
Significant Transactions and
Restructuring— Disposalof 11%
interest in Royal Ba fokeng Platinum

Business Description—Platinum—
Significant Transactions and
Restructuring—Bafokeng Rasimone

disposal

Business Description—Coal—
Significant Transactions and
Restructuring—Disposal New Largo

Business Description—Iron Ore—
Significant Transactions and
Restructuring—Disposal of Thabazimbi
Mine



RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE PERIODS ENDED JUNE 30,2020 AND 2019

The table below summarizes the Group’s income statement and certain other measures for the periods indicated
and should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the Group unaudited
condensed consolidated interim financial statements for the six months ended June 30,2020 and notes thereto,
which havebeen prepared and presented in accordance with IAS 34 and are incorporated by reference into this
document.

Six month ended Six months
June 30, ended June 30,
2019 2020
Income statement
REVEIUE ...t annnnan 14,772 12,474
Total operating costs before special items and remeasurements.............. (11,188) (10,607)
Operating profit before special items and remeasurements..................... 3,584 1,867
Operating special items................... (180) 77)
Operating remeasurements (56) (34)
EBIT from subsidiaries and joint Operations ............ccceeeeeeeeeeenveeeeeeennn. 3,348 1,766
Non-operating special items.........ccoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeennn. (5) 41
Share of net income from associates and joint ventures" 247 45
Total profit from operations and aSSOCIALES...........vvvvvvvvvvvrrrrrrereerrrrrennnnns 3,590 1,852
Net finance costs before financing special items and remeasurements..... (213) (301)
Financing special items and remeasurements ..........o.cocecveerveeneeeneenneen. 8 4
Profit DEfOre taX .. uuuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt 3,385 1,555
INCOME tAX EXPEINSE...eerieriiiieeeeeeiiiiiieeee e ettt teeee e e s eeeeeessrnnreeeeeeeenes (889) (738)
Profit for the financial Year..........ccvvvveeeeiiiiiiiiiie e 2,496 817
Underlying EBIT ......ooiiiiiiiiiiee e 3,584 2,084
Underlying amings......cccoouueeeriiieeniiiieiiieeeeiiee et e ettt eeiiee e 1,760 886
Dividends per share (U.S. cents)®
OFAINATY oottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eens 62 28
Balance sheet
TOtAl ASSEES..uvuvriiieeeeeeeiiiiete e e e ettt e e e e e ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e s eeeeeeeennnnee 54,798 55,828
B[S A2 T T 31,250 28,873
Total Share Capital.............uvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeeeeaeaaeea e aaaaeaaaaaaae 5,130 5,106
D[S o SRR 3,411) (7,617)
(1) Associates’ EBIT is reconciled to “Share ofnet income from associates
and joint ventures” as follows:
REVEINUE. ...ttt e e 1,102 748
Operating costs (before special items and remeasurements) ................. (671) (531)
Associates’ and joint ventures’ underlying EBIT. 431 217
Net fiNance COSES ...ovvvvneeriiieeriiiieeiiiee e e e e eainees (15) 3
INCOME tAX EXPEISE ..vvvneeriietiiieeeti ettt et e et e e e e e e e et e e eaaeeeaens (167) (96)
NON-CONIOIING INLETESES ..uvveriieiieiie e e e et e e e e e e e ) 2)
Share of netincome from associates and joint ventures (before special
items and remeasurements) ...............c.oveiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 245 122
Special items and remeasurements ..... - 77)
Special items and remeasurements tax 2 -
Share of net (loss)/income from associates and joint ventures .................. 247 45

Revenue

Revenue forH12020andH1 2019 was US$12,474 million and US$ 14,772 million, respectively. The 16%
decrease in revenue from H12019 toH1 2020 was principally driven by decrease in sales volumes across the
Group, particularly in De Beers and PGMs. Realised prices decreased across most ofthe Group’s products, but
principally formetallurgical coal (36% decrease), Kumba’s iron ore (14% decrease), and copper (1 1% decrease).
These reductions were partly offsetby theprice achieved forthe PGMs basket, which increased by 106%, largely
due to palladium andrhodium increasing by 53% and 21 6%, respectively.

Revenue for2019,2018and 2017 was US$29,870 million, US$27,610 million and US$26,243 million,
respectively. The 8% increasein revenue from 2018 to 2019 was principally driven by increased prices across the
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Group, particularly in iron ore and PGMs. The 5% increase in revenue from2017to 2018 was principally driven by
increased prices across the Group, particularly the PGM basket of metals, thermal and metallurgical coaland nickel.

Total Operating Costs

Total operating costs before operating special items and remeasurements for H1 2020and H1 2019 were
US$10,607 million and US$ 11,188 million, respectively. The 5% decrease in operating costs from H12019 toH1

2020 was principally due to lower production volumes.

Operating Special Items and Remeasurements

Operating special items (beforetax and non-controlling interest) in H1 2020andH1 2019 were a loss of US$77
million and a loss of US$180 million, respectively, and operating remeasurements were a loss of US$24 million and

a loss of US$56 million, respectively.

The operating special loss for the six months ended 30 June 2020 of US$77 million principally relates to a
US$75 million write-off oflongwall assets assessed to haveno future economic benefit followingthe incident at
Grosvenor (Coal). The operating special loss for the six months ended 30 June 2019 of US$ 180 million principally
related to thecost tothe Group ofterminating a long-term power supply contract in Copper.

The operating remeasurements loss for the six months ended 30 June2020 of US$24 million principally relates
to a US$36 million depreciation and amortisation charge arising due to the fair value uplift on the Group’s pre-
existing45% shareholding in De Beers, which was required onacquisition of a controlling stakeoffset by a gain of
US$ 12 million in respect of derivatives. The operating remeasurements loss for the six months ended 30 June2019
of US$60 million principally relates toa US$52 million depreciation and amortisation charge arising due to the fair
value uplifton the Group’s pre-existing 4 5% shareholding in De Beers, which was required on acquisitionofa
controlling stake.

Non-Operating Special Items

Non-operatingspecial items in H1 2020and H12019 amounted to US$4 1 million gain and US$5 million loss
respectively.

The gain of US$41 million in H1 2020andloss of US$5 million on H12019related to a djustments in respect of
disposals completed in prior periods.

Share of Net Income from Associates and Joint Ventures

Our share of net income from associates and joint ventures in H1 2020 and H12019 was US$45 million income
and US$247 million income, respectively.

The US$202 million decrease fromH1 2019to H12020 was principally dueto a decrease in net income from
Cerrejon (see “—Coal”) and Samancor Holdings (see “—Nickel and Manganese™): US$70 million and US$120
million decreaserespectively. Cerrejonwas subjectto 26% decrease in the realised price and a 29%reduction in
sales volumes as a result of the impact of COVID-19 on production and weaker demand. Samancor experienced a

lower manganeseore price and a25%decreasein alloy sales, drivenby lower production.

Net Finance Costs before Financing Special Items and Remeasurements

Net finance costs before financing special items and remeasurements in H1 2020 and H12019 were US$301
million and US$2 13 million, respectively.

The increase fromH12019 toH1 2020 was principally driven by fair value losses on the revaluation of
deferred considerationbalances at PGMs relating to the Mototolo acquisition.

Financing Special Items and Remeasurements
Financingspecial items and remeasurements in H1 2020and H1 2019 were a US$4 million gain anda

USS$8 million gain respectively. Financing remeasurements principally comprise a gain on derivatives hedging net
debt.
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Income Tax ExpensebeforeSpecial Items and Remeasurements

Income tax expensebeforespecial items and remeasurements in H1 2020 and H12019 was US$455 million and
US$959 million respectively. Income tax expenseis a function of profit before tax andthe tax rates applicable in the
various geographic locations in which the Group operates. The decreasefrom H12019to H1 2020 was impacted by
the relative levels of profits arising in the Group’s operating jurisdictions. Effectivetaxrate movementsare
analyzed in greater detail after the table below.

The table below summarizes the Group’s tax expense before special items and remeasurements for the periods
indicated.

Six months ended June 30,2019 Six months ended June 30,2020

Associates’ and

Associates’ and

Before joint ventures’ joint ventures’
special items tax and Calculation of tax and Calculation of
and non- underlying  special items and non- underlying
remeasure- controlling effective tax remeasur- controlling effective tax
ments interests ¥ rate ements interests ¥ rate
Profit before tax ............ 3,616 171 3,787 1,688 98 1,786
Tax......ooo 959) 167) (1,126) (455) 96) (551)
Profit for the financial
VEAT wvveeiirieeeiriaeeans 2,657 4 2,661 1,233 2 1,235
Effective tax rate
including associates...
29.7% 30.9%

(1) This corresponds to the share of associates and joint ventures tax and non-controlling interests, presented net but not disclosed
separately on the income statement.

Income Tax Expense— Special Items and Remeasurements

ForH1 2020, tax remeasurements amounted to US$295 million charge (H12019: US$ 13 million credit).

Of the totaltax charge 0f$283 million (six months ended 30 June2019: credit of $70 million), thereis a net
current tax charge of $4 million (six months ended 30 June2019: credit of $57 million) and a netdeferred tax charge
0f$279 million (six months ended 30 June2019: credit of $13 million).

Profitforthe Financial Year

Profit/(loss) forH1 2020and H1 2019 was US$817 million and US$2,496 million respectively. The yearon
yearmovements are explained by reference to the movements ofthe componentparts which are discussed above.

59



BUSINESS SEGMENT DISCUSSION — SIX MONTHS ENDED JUNE 30,2020 AND 2019

In this section, Group Revenue and underlying EBIT include the Group’s share ofrevenue and EBIT from
associates andjoint ventures and excludes special items and remeasurements, unless otherwise stated. Capital
expenditure relates to cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment in the period presented.

The table below sets forth the Group’s underlying EBIT by business segment for the periods presented:

Six months ended Six months ended
June 30,2019 % June 30,2020 %
(USSm unless otherwise stated)
DE BEEIS ... 324 8 (179) 9)
COPPCT i 469 12 378 18
PGMS..viiiiiiiie ettt 659 16 476 23
TEON OF€.iiiiiiieiiiee e 1,819 45 1,606 77
€Al . 607 15 271) (13)
Nickel and Manganese...............uuuveevvueeunennenenennnnnn 249 6 132 6
Crop NULTIENtS......ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiceeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee, - - 4 0
Corporate and Other..................cccc, (112) 3) (62) 3)
De Beers

The following table summarizes the results of operations of De Beers fortheperiods indicated:

Six months ended June 30,

2019 2020
(US$m unless otherwise
stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)... 2,647 1,223
Underlying EBIT ... ... e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ee e eenns 324 (179)
Underlying EBITDAL ... ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e ee e e 518 2
Capital @MPLOYEd ..o e e e e 8,648 8,658
Capital expenditture!) ... .....coo oo 278 159
Share of Group EBIT .....cooooiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e e e e e e aaaees 8% (9%
Share of Group capital employed...............cccc 25% 24%
Total production (thousand carats) — 100% basis@...........ooveiieoieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeens 15,551 11,277

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

(2)  Except for Gahcho Kué, from which the Group’s 51% attributable share is included.

The Group’s share of underlying EBIT from De Beersin H1 2020 andH1 2019 was US$(179) million and US$324
million, respectively. De Beers’ reduction in underlying EBIT was principally driven by lower sales volumes and
lower rough price index due to theimpactof COVID-19 on the global diamond industry.

The Group’s share of De Beers’ revenue was US$ 1,223 million and US$2,647 million forH1 2020and H1
2019 respectively. The54%decrease fromH12019 toH1 2020 was principally driven by lower sales volumes.

TotalDe Beers rough diamond productionon a 100% basis (with the exception ofthe Gahcho Kué joint
venture, which is on an attributable 51%basis) was 1 1.3 million caratsin H1 2020and 15.6 million caratsin H1
2019. The 27% decrease from H12019to H12020 was principally drivenby COVID-19 lockdowns in southern
Africa.

InH1 2020, Botswana (Debswana) production decreased by 36%to 7.5 million carats (H12019: 11.7 million
carats),driven bya lengthy nationwide lockdown from April 2,2020 to May 18,2020. In H12020, production at
Jwanengdecreased by 34% to 4.3 million carats (H1 2019: 6.6 million carats) due to the shutdown.InH1 2020
productionatOrapa decreased by 39%to 3.1 million carats (H1 2019: 5.1 million carats) due to the shutdownand
challenges related to the commissioning of a new plant infrastructure. In Namibia (Namdeb Holdings), production
increasedby 6% to 0.9 million caratsin H1 2020 (H1 2019: 0.8 million carats). Production from the marine
operationwas 19% higher, principally due to the Mafuta crawler vessel beingunder planned maintenance in the
second quarterof 2019. Productionatthe land operations decreased by 30% to 0.1 million caratsin H1 2020 (H 1
2019: 0.2 million carats) as a result of the COVID-19 shutdowns. In South Africa (DBCM), production increased
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by 37%to 1.3 million caratsin H1 2020 (H1 2019: 1.0 million carats), primarily due to anincreased grade as the
finalore from the open pit is mined prior to the transition tounderground, partially offset by the lockdown. In
Canada, productiondecreased by 23%to 1.6 million caratsin H1 2020 (2019:2.1 million carats) principally dueto
Victorreachingthe end ofiits life in the first half of 2019. Gahcho Kué decreased outputby 3% to 1.6 million carats
(H12019:1.7 million carats), principally due to COVID-19 measures.

Copper

The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of the Copper business segment and average market
price for copper for the periods indicated:

Six months
ended June 30,
2019 2020
(USSm unless
otherwise stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)................. 2,676 2,731
UNAerlying EBIT ... ....oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt ettt sttt aet s s ssesssnsssnnnes 469 378
Underlying EBITDA. ... ..ottt ettt etsssssesssssssennes 789 706
Capital MPIOYE.......uvviiiiiiiiiiiiiice e e e e e et e e e e e e eanaaes 7,258 9,274
Capital eXPendItUreD ... ..ot 242 729
Share of Group underlying EBIT...........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e e e e eeeraaeee s 12% 18%
Share of Group capital employed...........ooooiiiiiiiiiiiii 21% 26%
Production (KIotonnes) P .........oov oo e ettt 320 314
COPPEL (U.S. COMES/ID)Y ...ttt ettt et et 280 249

(1) Includes 60% share of Quellaveco expenditure after deducting direct funding from non-controlling interests. Quellaveco H1 2020 capex on
a 100% basis was US$692 million, of which the Group’s 60% share is US$415 million. Quellaveco H1 2019 capex on a 100% basis was
US$454 million and was fully funded by cash from the 2018 Mitsubishi syndication transaction and, hence, was not included in reported
capex.

(2) Total Copper segment production represents 100% of production for all operations except Collahuasi which represents 44%.
(3) Average LME price.

Copperbusiness segmentunderlying EBITin H1 2020 andH12019 was US$378 million and US$469 million,
respectively.

Underlying EBIT in H1 2020 decreased by 19%primarily as aresult of a 4% lower sales volume due to port
closures in Chile and 11%loweraverage Copper prices, mitigated by 21% lower average unit costs.

Group Revenue (includingattributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in H1 2020 andH1
2019 were US$2,73 1 million and US$2,676 million, respectively. Despitethe lowersalesand LME copper price,
Group Revenue increasedby 2% fromH12019 toH1 2020 due to anincrease in third party sales volumes. Fora
detailed discussion ofnon-IFR S measures, see “Presentation of Financial Information—Non-IFR S Financial
Measures.”

At Los Bronces, productionin H1 2020 decreased by 18%to 149,400 tonnes principally dueto expected lower
wateravailability impacting plantthroughput. The impacton production has been mitigated by the successful
implementation ofinitiatives to optimise plant efficiency, reduce wa ter consumption and securing additional
external sources of industrial or ‘grey’ water.

At Collahuasi, Anglo American’s attributable share of copper production was 142,200 tonnes in H1 2020, an
increase of 27% principally due to higher throughput and record copper recovery, reflecting plantimprovement
projects implemented during2019. (H1 2019: 112,000 tonnes).

ProductionatEl Soldadodecreased by 12% t022,300 tonnes in H1 2020 due to water availability issues (H1
2019:25,300tonnes).

PGMs

The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of the Platinum business segment and thea verage
basket price of metal sold forthe periods indicated:
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Six months ended June

30,
2019 2020
(USSm unless

otherwise stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue) 3,007 3,331
Underlying EBIT........ccooiiiiiiiiiie ittt ettt et e et e ettt e e et e e e eebeeesnnneeeens 659 476
Underlying EBITDA ........ooiiiiiiieiiiiee ettt ettt ettt e e et e e eebeeesabeea e 824 610
Capital eMPLOYEd.....ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieieeeeeeeee s 4,264 3,480
Capital eXPendittureD...........oov ettt ettt 217 200
Share of Group EBIT........ccooiiuiiiiiiiiieiiiiee ettt e e earae e e e 16% 23%
Share of Group capital employed...........ccooeeeiiiiiiiiiiii, 12% 10%
Platinum refined production (thousands 0f OUNCES)............uuvvvvvrevriiiiriiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieiiiiaanns 1,003 401
Palladium refined production (thousands 0f OUNCES) ..........uuuuuvruuuriuieriiiiiiirreeieeeaeeeeanannns 722 345
Rhodium refined production (thousands 0f OUNCES) ........uuvvvvvivrvvvviiiiiiiiiiriiiiiiriieieaaeaeenns 136 78
Average basket price (USS/OUNCE) ........coeviiureiiieeeeiecieeee e 2,685 5,520

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

PGMs’ business segment underlying EBIT in H1 2020and H1 2019 was US$476 million and US$659 million,
respectively. The 28%decrease fromH12019to 2020 was largely a result of the shutdown of the Anglo Converter
Plant (ACP) forrepairs and the impactof COVID-19related lockdowns.

Group Revenue (includingattributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in H1 2020 andH12019
were US$3,331 million and US$3,007 million, respectively. The11% increase fromH12019toH1 2020 was
principally dueto the 106% increase in average basket price, offset by lower sales volumes.

The average dollar price realized for the basket of metals sold by PGMsin H1 2020and H1 2019 was US$5,520
and US$2,685, perplatinum ounce, respectively. The increase of 106% fromH12019 to H12020 was driven by a
51% increase in palladium price anda 225%increase in thodium price. Theinitial gains were driven by strong
automotivedemand and, while both metals moved substantially lower when COVID-19 spread globally, they still
ended theperiodsignificantly higheryearon year.

The average marketprice forplatinumin H1 2020and H1 2019 was US$848 and US$832 perounce,
respectively. The average marketprice forpalladiumin H1 2020and H12019was US$2,136and US$1,410 per
ounce, respectively. The average marketprice forrhodium in H1 2020and H12019 was US$9,254 and US$2,846
perounce, respectively.

Totalplatinum production (metalin concentrate) in H1 2020, including both own-mined production and
purchase of concentrate, decreased by 25% to 748,000 ounces (H1 2019: 993,100 ounces) primarily dueto the
impactof COVID-19relatedlockdowns.

Refined platinum production decreased by 60% to401,000 ouncesin H1 2020 (H1 2019: 1,003,000 ounces),
while refined palladium output decreased by 52% to 345,000 ounces (H1 2019: 722,000 ounces). The reduction was
primarily attributable to the temporary shutdown of the ACP in March followinga force majeure event.

IronOre
The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of the [ron Ore business segment and average market

price foriron ore forthe periods indicated:
Six months ended

June 30,
2019 2020
(USSm unless

otherwise stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue).............. 3,584 3,291
Underlying EBIT ... 1,819 1,606
0 T 11 o H USRS 1,214 881
TPON OF€ BrazZil .....ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e ettt e e e e e e et e e e e e e e enebaaaaeeeeeenes 605 725
Underlying EBITDA........ooiiiiiieiiiiee ettt ettt et ettt e e ettt e e st e e e et e e e et eeesnabeeeenbeeesnbeeeesnsaeeeennne 2,036 1,827
CaAPItAl EMPLOYEA....eeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee ettt eeeeeeaaeae e asaaaaassssassssassssss s sssssss s s s st st ssssssssnssnnsnnnnnnen 7,116 7,849
Capital eXPenditure!) ... ..ottt 278 235



Share of Group underlying EBIT 45% 77%
Share of Group capital employed 21% 22%
Iron Ore Kumba production (Mt) 20.1 17.9
Iron Ore Brazil production (IME) @ ... ...oom oottt ettt 10.8 12.6
TEOM Oe (USSP, 91 91

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

(2) Iron Ore Brazil production is Mt (wet basis)

(3) Average iron ore market price for the period. Source: Platts (62% Fe, CFR). The Platts 62 Index is used for comparison purposes.
Differing grades of iron ore product are priced using other indices.

Iron Ore business segment’s underlying EBITin H1 2020 and H12019 was US$ 1,606 million and US$1,819
million, respectively. The 12% decrease from H1 2019 to H12020 was principally driven by lowerrealised prices
forboth operations and lower sales volumes at Kumba owingto COVID-19 related logistical constraints.

Group Revenue (includingattributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue) in H1 2020 and H1
2019 were US$3,29 1 million and US$3,584 million, respectively. The 8%decrease in Group Revenue from H1
2019 to H12020 was dueto lowerrealised prices for both operations and lower sales volumes at Kumba owing to
COVID-19 related logistical constraints.

Kumba

UnderlyingEBITin HI1 2020and H12019 was US$881 million and US$ 1,214 million, respectively. The 27%
decrease from H12019to H12020 was principally drivenby a 14% decrease in the average realised iron ore price
and lower sales volumes, partly offset by the favourable impactof the weaker South Africanrand.

Kumba'’s iron ore production for H1 2020 and H12019 was 17.9 Mt and20.1 Mt, respectively. The 11%
decrease from H12019to H12020was driven by lower workforce levels in response to the COVID-19 lockdown,
the subsequent reopening of operations with reduced work force levels of approximately 50% and the rampup of
productionto normal run rates in June, 2020.

Iron Ore Brazil

Underlying EBITin H1 2020and H12019 was US$725 million and US$605 million, respectively. The 20%
increase from H12019to H12020 was principally driven by higher sales volumes and lower unit costs.

I0B productionforH1 2020andH1 2019 was 12.6 Mt and 10.8 Mt, respectively. The 1 7% increase from H1
2019 to H12020 was primarily driven by improvements to operational performance from the ongoing
implementation of P101 initiatives, as wellas sustained operational stability.

Coal

The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of the Coal business segments and a verage realized
price formetallurgical and thermal coal for the periods indicated:

Six months

ended June 30

2019 2020

(US$m unless
otherwise stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)............... 3,204 1,969
L0 4T 154 7 4 Ve 2321 1 T 607  (271)
Metallurgical Coal ......... 610 (230)
South Africa.................. (32) (8)
Cerrejon..........vvvvvvvvvvnnnn. 29 (33)
Underlying EBITDA..................... 996 23
Capital @MPLOYEA. ..ot e e e e e e e e e et raeeeeeeeaas 4,470 3,735
Capital eXPenditure!) ... ..ot 336 375
Share of underlying Group EBIT... 15%  (13)%
Share of Group capital emMpPlOYed.........c.uvvviiiiiiiiiiiiie e e e e e e e e e e 13% 10%
Export metallurgical coal production (IME)...........coccuvviiiiiieiiiiiieee et e e e 10.0 7.8
Australia thermal coal production (Mt).............evvvvvvvnnnnn. 0.6 0.9
RSA thermal coal export production (Mt) 9.0 7.8




RSA thermal coal domestic (non-Eskom) production (IMt) ...............eeveeeeevuemumereeereiieeeeeeeerenneennnnnns 4.9 6.4
RSA ESKOm production (IMt) .........eeiiieiiiiiiiiieeeee et e ettt e e e e et e e e e e e eiiaaeee e e e e e eenaaaseeeeeeenes - -
Colombian export thermal production (IMt) ..............euuvereueurerrriieererrereeseeseeseeeeeaeereeeeaeaee—————————— 4.2 2.7

Export metallurgical Price (USSP ... oot ettt et et eeneas 187 120
Australian export thermal (USS/) P ... .o oo e 88 58
Australian domestic thermal (USS/)®).........ociiiiiiiooeee e - -
South Africa export thermal coal price (USSP ......ouiuioiieeeeeeeeee oo 64 61
South Africa domestic thermal coal price (USS/E)P) ..ot 15 15
Colombia export thermal coal price (USSP ... v 62 46

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

(2) Weighted average realized FOB sales price. Metallurgical coal and Australian thermal coal prices achieved at managed operations.

(3) Weighted average realized sales price.

Metallurgical Coal

Metallurgical Coal’s underlying EBIT in H1 2020and H12019 was US$(230) million and US$610 million,
respectively.

InH12020,underlying EBITdecreased by 138% to US$(230) million, largely dueto a reductionin the realized
price formetallurgical coal, a decrease in sales volumes, and an increase in unit costs.

Totalmetallurgical coal production in H1 2020 decreased by 22%to 7.8 Mt (H12019: 10.0Mt) due to
operationalincidents at Moranbah and Grosvenor, as wellas longwallmoves at Grosvenor and Grasstree.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in H1 2020 and H1
2019 was US$962 million and US$ 1,880 million, respectively.

The 49% decrease from H1 2019 to H12020 was primarily dueto a 36% reduction in the realized price for
metallurgical coal,anda 22% decrease in sales volumes following operational incidents atMoranbah and
Grosvenor,as wellas longwallmoves at Grosvenor and Grasstree impacting production.

South Africa and Cerrejon

Coal—South Africa and Cerrejon’s underlying EBIT in H1 2020and H1 2019 was US$(4 1) million and US$(3)
million, respectively.

Underlying EBIT in South Africa experienced a 75%movementto US$(8) million (H1 2019: US$(32) million)
driven primarily by higher domestic sales volumes and lower unit costs offset by lower export sales volumes and a
decrease in the realized export price.

Underlying EBIT atCerrejondecreasedby 214%to US$(33) million (H12019: US$29 million). The decrease
was primarily dueto a reductionin boththe realized price and sales volumes.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in H1 2020 and H1
2019 was US$1,007 million and US$ 1,324 million, respectively.

Group Revenue in H1 2020 (including attributable share of associates andjoint ventures’ revenue) was 24%
lower thanH1 2019, largely driven by a 24%reductionin exportsales volumes, and an 11% decrease in the

weighted average realized export price.

Total South Africa attributable productionin H1 2020 increased by 2% to 14.2Mt (H12019: 13.9Mt), largely
due to the consolidation of Rietvleiin H1 2020 offset by sections of Goedehoopreachingend oflife and the impact
of COVID-19 related lockdowns.

Export sales from South Africain H1 2020 decreased by 22% to 7.2 Mt (H1 2019: 9.2Mt), primarily due to the
impactof COVID-19related restrictions on production and thereduced demand.

Anglo American’s attributable output from its 33.3% shareholding in Cerrejénin H1 2020 decreased by 35% to
27Mt(H12019: 4.2Mt).

Nickel and Manganese

The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of the Nickel and Manganese business segmentand
the average marketprice fornickel for the periods indicated:

64



Six months ended

June 30,

2019 2020
(US$m unless

otherwise stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)............ 756 564
Underlying EBIT .......oeiiiiiiiie ettt e et e e e et e e e e e 249 132
INICK Lttt ettt et e e ettt e e et e e e nbe e e e sabbeeennbeeesneaeas 1 9
IMLANZANES €.ttt eeeseeee e s s s st s s s s s st s s ss s s sstsnnnssssnnnnes 248 123
Underlying EBITDAL ... ..ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e eeeeenns 326 218
Capital @MPLOYEA.....coiiiiiiiiiiii et e et e e e e e e e e aea s 2,428 2,119
Capital eXPenditture!) .. .......ooieiieee e e 20 12
Share of Group underlying EBIT ........c.uuviiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt et e e e e e e e 6% 6%
Share of Group capital employed...............cccoi 7% 6%
Nickel production (KIlOTONNES) ........eeeeeiieieeieeeeeeee e e e e e e e e e 19.6 21.7
Manganese attributable production (million tONNES) ............uvuuvrrrererrieiiiiieiierieeeereeeeeeeeeeaeeaaeaaaaa.. 1.8 1.7
Nickel price (U.S. €ents/Ib)P..........ovueiiiiiiiieriieieieie st 563 502

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

(2) Average LME price.

Nickeland Manganese business segment underlying EBIT in H1 2020and H12019was US$ 132 million and
US$249 million, respectively. The 47% decrease fromH1 2019to H12020 was principally dueto Manganese

performancewith a lower managanese ore price anda decreasein alloy sales, driven by lower production.

Group Revenue (includingattributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in H1 2020 andH12019
was US$564 million and US$756 million, respectively. The 25% decrease in Group Revenue fromH1 2019 to H1
2020 was primarily driven by the lower manganese ore price with the average benchmark price decreasing 20%, and

a 25% decrease in alloy sales, offset by increased Nickel sales volumes following improved operational stability.

Nickel
Nickelproduction in H1 20200f 21,700 tonnes was 11% above H1 2019, primarily due to improved operational
stability and the effect ofa planned stoppage at Barro Alto in the first half of 2019 (H12019: 19,600 tonnes.
Manganese
Underlying EBITin H1 2020and H12019 was US$123 million and US$248 million, respectively. The 50%

decrease from H12019to H12020was principally dueto the lower manganese ore price anda decrease in alloy
sales, driven by lower production.

The manganeseore production in H1 2020 decreased by 4% to 1.6 Mt (H1 2019:1.7 Mt), primarily due to the
COVID-19 lockdowns in South Africa offsetby improved production in Australia dueto improved concentrator and
PC-02 performance.

Crop Nutrients

The following table summarizes the results of operations of the Crop Nutrients business segment for the periods
indicated:
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Six months ended

June 30,
2019 2020

(USSm unless

otherwise stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)..... - 22
Underlying EBIT........ooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt et e e et e e e e e eaabaae e e e e eannrees - 4
Underlying EBITDA. - 4
Capital employed...... - 840
Capital expenditure® - 91
Share of Group underlying EBIT - 0%
Share of Group capital employed - 2%

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

During H1 2020, the Group completed theacquisition of Sirius Minerals Plc. Revenue, EBIT and EBITDA are
generated from a 30% interest in the Cibra Group, a fertiliser distributor based in Brazil.

Corporate and Other

The following table summarizes the results of operations of the Corporate and Other business segment for the
periods indicated:

Six months ended

June 30,
2019 2020

(USSm unless

otherwise stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)..... - 91
UNAerlying EBIT ........ouuuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitiitieesieeseeteee et aas s sasssss s ssssassassssssssasassssssssnnnnes (112) (62)
EXPLOTAION ...coiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeee e (54) (44)
Corporate activities and unallocated costs. (58) (18)
Underlying EBITDA. (38) (40)
Capital employed...... 44 174
Capital expenditure() 15 7
Share of Group underlying EBIT.........cooooiiiiiiiiiii e, 3)% 3)%
Share of Group capital empPloyed...........ooeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 0% 0%

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of

proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

Corporate activities and unallocated costs

Underlying EBITin H1 2020and H12019 was US$(18) million and US$(58) million, respectively. The
decrease in the underlying EBIT loss of US$40 million in H1 2020 was primarily drivenby lower depreciation.

Exploration

Exploration expenditure forH12020and H12019 was US$(44) million and US$(54) million, respectively.
The decrease from H1 2020 toH1 2019 reflects decreased exploration activities across most product groups, in
particularatDe Beers.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,2019,2018 AND 2017

The table below summarizes the Group’s income statement and certain other measures for the periods indicated
and should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the Group 2019 Consolidated
Financial Statements, the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements and Group2017 Consolidated Financial

Statements and notes thereto, which are incorporated by reference into this document.

Year-ended Year-ended Year-ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2017 2018 2019
(US $m)
Income statement
REVENUE. ...ttt 26,243 27,610 29,870
Total operating costs before special items and remeasurements............... (21,001) (22,379) (23.,543)
Operating profit before special items and remeasurements...................... 5,242 5,231 6,327
Operating Special IiteMS ........ceevrivriiiieeeeiiiiiieeeeeeeiiieee e e e e e . 382 963 (49)
Operating réeMeasureMENTS . ....evuvvrrreeeeerrriiiieeeeeeeriireeeeeeeesaanireeeeeeennnes 95) (125) (102)
EBIT from subsidiaries and joint Operations...................cccueeveeeueerevveennnns 5,529 6,069 6,176
Non-operating special TteMS ........ceeeeeieeieiieeeeeeeeee e (5) (94) 7
Share ofnet income from associates and joint ventures!........................ 567 728 389
Total profit from operations and aSSOCIAES .............uvvvvvvvvvrrvvrrerrerrrrnennnns 6,091 6,703 6,572
Net finance costs before financingspecial items and remeasurements..... (473) (380) (420)
Financing special items and remeasurements...........cc.eeveeeeeerreenneeeeennnnnns (113) (134) (6)
Profit DEfOre taX...uuuiiiiiiiie e 5,505 6,189 6,146
INCOME tAX EXPENSE....veieuiiiieiiiieeiitiee et e e et e e et e et e et e et e e (1.446) (1.816) (1.564)
Profit for the financial Year.........ccvvvveveeeiiiiiiiiiie e 4,059 4,373 4,582
Underlying EBIT.....coooiiiiiiiiiee ettt 6,247 6,377 7,010
Underlying eamings 3,272 3,237 3,468
Dividends per share (U.S. cents)®
OFAINATY Lottt e et e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e eeaaneeens 102.0 100.0 109.0
Balance sheet
Total assets 54,561 52,196 56,152
Net assetS...uvuvmrrrreerrnnnnnnns . 28,882 29,832 31,385
Total share capital 5,130 5,130 5,111
INEE AEDE ..t ettt e ettt e e e et e e e e e e abaaeeeeeeenee (4,501) (2,848) (4,626)
(1) Associates’ EBIT is reconciled to “Share ofnet income from associates and joint ventures” as follows:
REVENUE. ... e 2,407 2,586 1,955
Operating costs (before special items and remeasurem ents) (1,402) (1,440) (1,272)
Associates’ and joint ventures’ underlying EBIT ...................... 1,005 1,146 683
Net fINANCE COSES vuniiiieiiii et (53) (15) 31)
INCOME tAX EXPEISE .vvvuneeeeiiiiiieeeeeetiii e e e ettt e eeeeettie e e eeeeaaiiaees (373) (380) (258)
NON-CONTOIIING INLETESES ...uuvvniiiiiieeiieeiie e e e e e e e e e e e e ees (2) 12) 3)
Share of netincome from associates and joint ventures (before special
items and remeasurements) ................cccooviiiiiiiiiiiiee it 577 739 389
Special items and remeasurements (12) 0 0
Special items and remMeasuremMeEnts taX ...........c.uevenevunerunernerineesnersneraneaanns 2 an 0
Share of net (loss)/income from associates and joint ventures.................. 567 728 389

(2) Interim and year-end dividends proposed in respect of the applicable year-ended December 31.

Revenue

Group Revenue for2019,2018and2017 was US$29,870 million, US$27,610 million and US$26,243 million
respectively. The 8% increase from 2018 to 2019 was principally driven by increased prices across the Group,
particularly in iron ore and PGMs. The 5% increase from2017to 2018 was principally drivenby increased prices
across the Group, particularly the PGM basketof metals, thermal and metallurgical coaland nickel.
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Total Operating Costs

Totaloperating costs before operating special items and remeasurements for2019,2018and 2017 were
US$23,543 million, US$22,379 million and US$21,00 1 million, respectively. The 5% increase in operating costs
from 2018 to 2019 was principally driven by higher production volumes. The 7% increase in operating costs from
2017 to 2018 was principally driven by increases in overall production volumes and input costinflation and
operational stoppages. Averageexchange rates were relatively unchanged from2017.

Operating Special Items and Remeasurements

Operating specialitems (beforetax and non-controlling interest) in 2019,2018and 2017 amounted to a US$49
million loss, US$963 million gain anda US$382 million gain, respectively, and operating remeasurements were
losses 0f US$102 million, US$ 125 million and US$95 million, respectively.

The operating special items loss in 2019 of US$49 million principally consists of net impairment related credits
of US$ 131 million (principally comprising the impairment reversals of Minas-Rio of US$ 1,033 million and the
impairment charges of South Africanthermal coal of US$585 million, Cerrejon of US$334 million and Corporate
assets of US$30 million),anda loss of US$ 180 million principally relatingto the cost ofterminatinga long-term
power supply contractin Copper.

The operating special items gain in 2018 of US$963 million principally consists of netimpairment related
credits of US$ 1,043 million (principally the impairmentreversals of Moranbah North-Grosvenor and Capcoal
operations by US$876 million and US$266 million respectively offset by the write-off of assets in De Beers’ South
African operationsthatare nolonger expectedto generate future economic benefit of US$99 million) and a loss of
US$80 million relating to the cost to the Group of the transfer of liabilities and liquidations ofa South African
pension scheme.

The operating special items gain in 2017 of US$382 million principally consists of netimpairment related
credits of US$442 million (principally the impairment reversals of Sishenand El Soldado operations by US$468
million and US$194 million respectively), a restructuring costs credit of US$3 1 million relatingto the release of
previously recognized provisions relating to the closure ofthe Brisbane corporate office, following the decisionto
continue metallurgical coal operations in Australia, partially offset by animpairment ofthe investment in Ba fokeng-
Rasimone Platinum Mine (BRPM) of US$ 147 million, an impairment of other assets within the Coal segmentof
US$61 million (see “—Coal”).

Non-Operating Special Items

Non-operating special items (before tax and non-controlling interest) in 2019,2018 and 2017 amounted to a
US$7 million gain, US$94 million loss,and a US$5 million loss, respectively.

The 2019 non-operating special items include an impairment charge of US$59 million relating to the announced
equalization of ownership across the Group’s integrated metallurgical coal operations at Moranbah Northand
Grosvenorin Australia (Coal). On enteringinto anagreementforthesale ofa 12%interest in the Grosvenor mine
to the same consortium partners for cash proceeds of US$ 141 million, animpairment charge of US§59 million was
recorded to bringthe carryingamount of the related netassets into line with its fair value less costs to sellbased on
the fair value of the sales consideration. Non-operating special items further included adjustments relatingto former
operations in respect of disposals completed in prior periods of US$48 million gain,a US$23 million gain on
adjustments relating to business combinations in prior years and BEE transaction charges of US$ 13 million.

The 2018 non-operating special items include an impairment of US$85 million to the Group’s investment in
Bafokeng-Rasimone Platinum Mine, bringing its carrying value into line with its fair value less costs of disposal
followingthe agreementto sellthe investment, anda loss on disposal of US$71 million on the disposal of the
Group’s interest in the Union platinum mineand Masa Chrome Company Proprietary Limited (Platinum Group
Metals), partially offset by a gain ondisposal of US$84 million on the disposal of the Eskom-tied domestic coal
operations in South Africa, and a gain on disposal of US$34 million on thedisposal of the Group’s 88.17% interest
in the Draytonmine (Coal). Non-operating special items further included adjustments relating to former operations
in respect of disposals completed in prior periods of US$ 18 million and BEE transaction charges of US$36 million.

The 2017 non-operating special items include an impairment of US$ 197 million to the Union Platinum mine,
bringingits fairvalue into line with its fair valueless costs of disposal following the a greement to sell the operation,
partially offsetby a gain on disposal of US$82 million on disposal of long-dated resources in Platinum, a gainof
US$76 million on disposal of Dartbrook (Coal),anda gain of US$43 million on disposal of the group’s 11.18%
interest in Dreamvision Investments 15 Proprietary Limited (equivalent to a 2.28% holding in Exxaro), which
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formed part ofthe unwinding of Exxaro Resources Limited’s original BEE transaction. Non-operating special items
further included adjustments relating to business combinations amountingto a gain of US$59 million, principally in
respect of theacquisition of theremaining 50% share in De Beers Jewellers, and adjustments relating to former
operations amountingto a net charge of US$84 million, principally comprisinga provision for settlement ofclass
action claims.

Share of Net Income from Associates and Joint Ventures

Our share of net income from associates and joint ventures in 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$389 million,
US$728 million and US$567 million, respectively.

The US$339 million decrease from 2018 to0 2019 was principally due toa US$355 million decrease in net
income from Cerrejon (see “—Coal”) and Samancor Holdings (see “—Nickel and Manganese™), which in turn was
driven by lowerearnings: a US$175 million and US$ 180 million decrease, respectively.

Net Finance Costs before Financing Special Items and Remeasurements

Net finance costs before financing special items and remeasurements in 2019,2018 and 2017 were US$420
million, US$380 million and US$473 million, respectively.

The increase from2018to 2019 of US$40 million was principally driven by the adoption of IFRS 16 resulting
in interest expense on lease liabilities being recognized within interestand other finance expense in 20 19.

Financing Special Items and Remeasurements

Financingspecialitems and remeasurementsin 2019,2018 and 2017 were losses of US$6 million, US$134
million and US$113 million, respectively.

Financingspecial items and remeasurements in 2019 principally comprised a loss on derivatives hedgingnet
debt.

Income Tax Expensebefore Special Items and Remeasurements

Income tax expensebeforespecial items and remeasurementsin 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$ 1,760 million,
US$1,490million and US$ 1,324 million, respectively. Income tax expense isa function of profit before tax and the
tax rates applicable in the various geographic locations in which the Group operates.

The effectiverateof tax, before special items and remeasurements (including share ofassociates’ tax before
specialitems and remeasurements)—i.e. the underlying effective taxrate,in 2019,2018 and 2017 was 30.8%,
31.3% and 29.7%, respectively.

The decrease in the underlying effective tax rate from 2018 to 2019 was principally driven by the relativelevels
of profits arising in the Group’s operating jurisdictions. The increase in the underlying effectivetax rate from 2017
to 2018 was principally driven by the relative levels of profits arising in the Group’s operatingjurisdictions,
principally offset by a release of a deferred tax liability balance in Chile in 2018.

Associates’ andjoint ventures’ tax included within Net income from associates and joint ventures for the year
ended December31,2019is a charge of US$258 million (2018: charge of US$391 million). Excludingspecial
items and remeasurements, this becomes a charge of US$258 million (2018: charge of US$380 million).

The table below summarizes the Group’s tax expense before special items and remeasurements for theperiods
indicated.

Year-ended December 31, 2017 Year-ended December 31, 2018 Year-ended December 31, 2019
Associates’ Associates’ Associates’
and joint and joint and joint
Before ventures’ Calculatio Before ventures’  Calculatio Before ventures’ Calculatio
special tax and n of special tax and n of special tax and n of
items and non- underlyin  items and non- underlyin  items and non- underlyin
remeasure controlling g effective  remeasur- controlling g effective remeasure- controlling g effective
-ments interests @ tax rate ements interests ¥ tax rate ments interests tax rate
(US$m)
Profit before tax .. 5,346 375 5,721 5,590 392 5,982 6,296 263
TaX..ooeeevve. (1,324) (373) (1,697) (1,490) (380) (1,870) (1,760) (258)
Profit for the
financial year . 4,022 2 4,024 4,100 12 4,112 4,536 5
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Effective tax rate
including
associates ...... 29.7% 31.3% 30.8%
(1) This corresponds to the share of associates and joint ventures tax and non-controlling interests, presented net but not disclosed
separately on the income statement.

Income Tax Expense— Special Items and Remeasurements

For2019, of the totaltax credit of US$ 196 million, there is a net currenttax credit of US$56 million (2018:
charge of US$16 million)anda netdeferredtax credit of US$140 million (2018: charge of US$310million).

Tax on special items and remeasurements includes a tax remeasurement charge of US$406 million and tax on
specials credit of $602 million principally arising on Brazilian deferredtax assets (2018: charge of US$110
million).

Profitforthe Financial Year

Profit forthe financial years 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$4,582 million, US$4,373 million and US$4,059
million, respectively. The yearon year movements are explained by reference to the movements ofthe component

parts which arediscussed above.
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BUSINESS SEGMENT DISCUSSION — FULL-YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31,2019,2018 AND 2017

In this section, Group Revenue and underlying EBIT include the Group’s share ofrevenue and EBIT from
associates andjoint ventures and excludes special items and remeasurements, unless otherwise stated. Capital
expenditure relates to cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment in the year presented.

The table below sets forth the Group’s underlying EBIT by business segment for the years presented:

Year-
Year-ended Year-ended ended
December 31, December 31, December
2017 % 2018 % 31,2019 %
(USSm unless otherwise stated)

873 14.0 694 10.9 168 2.4
923 14.8 1,234 194 960 13.7
512 8.2 705 11.1 1,672 23.9
1,500 24.0 747 11.7 2,952 42.1
2,274 36.4 2,538 39.8 1,010 14.4
Nickel and Manganese.... 478 7.6 685 10.7 477 6.8
Corporate and Other.................... (313) (5.0) (226) (3.5) (229) (3.3)

De Beers

The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of De Beers for the years indicated:

Year-ended December 31,
2017 2018 2019
(US8m unless otherwise stated)

Group Revenue (includingattributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’

TEVENUE)....cccennnnn.... 5,841 6,082 4,605
Underlying EBIT......... 873 694 168
Underlying EBITDA 1,435 1,245 558
Capital eMPLOYEd.....cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee s 9,294 8,349 8,800
Capital expenditure(V... 273 417 567
Share of Group EBIT........cooouiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e e 14% 11% 2%
Share of Group capital employed...........coooeeeiiiiiiiiiiii e, 28% 26% 25%
Total production (thousand carats) — 100% basis® ...........ccocovveeevireeeieeeeeeeeeeen, 33,454 35,297 30,776

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of

proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

(2)  Except for Gahcho Kué, from which the Group’s 51% attributable share is included.

The Group’s share of underlying EBIT from De Beersin 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$ 168 million, US$694
million and US$873 million, respectively.

De Beers’ underlying EBIT in 2019 reduced by 76%, which was principally driven by midstream challenges as
a result of the carry-over of higherpolished inventories from 201 8 and caution due to macro-economic uncertainty.
Thisresulted in a decline in the price index, which in conjunction with a lower value sales mix in responseto the
weakerdemand for higher value diamonds curtailed both miningand trading margins. The reduction in underlying
EBIT was partially offset by improved efficiencies and cost savings. De Beers’ underlying EBIT in 2018 reduced
by 21%, which was principally driven by incremental expenditure on a number ofnew initiatives, including the
launch of Lightbox Jewelry (Lightbox™), Tracr™ and Gemfair™, as well as increasing expenditure in marketing,
explorationand evaluationin Canada, and, increasing provisions in respectof closure obligations. Margins in the
trading business were lower owing to volatile market conditions, and the margin at Element Six decreasedas a result
of a reduction in sales to the oiland gas industry.

The Group’s share of De Beers’ revenue was US$4,605 million, US$6,082 million and US$ 5,84 Imillion for
2019,2018and 2017 respectively. The 24% decrease from 2018 to 2019 was principally driven by challenging
trading conditions, with rough diamond sales decreasingby 26% to US$4.0 billion (2018: US$5.4billion). During
the year, the average rough price index declined by 6%, in response to the weaker demand for rough diamonds.
Stronger demand for lower-valuerough diamonds and a weaker demand for higher value diamonds, together with
the reduction in the rough price index, resulted in a 20% reduction in average realized price to US$137/ct (2018:
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US$171/ct). Retailrevenue also decreased, driven primarily by a decline in high value jewellery sales at De Beers
Jewellers, due to globaleconomic uncertainty and some very high value stonesales in 2018.

The 4% increase from 2017to 2018 wasprincipally driven by rough diamond sales increasingby 4% to US$54
billion (2017: US$5.2 billion), due to improved consumer demand for diamond jewellery and a 1% increase in the
average rough diamond price index. The average realized price increased by 6%to US$171/carat(2017:

USS$ 162/carat), reflecting the lower proportion of lower value rough diamonds being sold in the second half, which
resulted in a 2% decrease in consolidated sales volumes to 31.7 million carats (2017: 32.5million carats). Other
revenue also increased owing principally to improved ‘high end’ jewellery sales at De Beers Jewellers (consolidated
fora fullyearin 2018, compared with nine months in 2017), partly offset by a 5% decreasein Element Six revenue
due to a reductionin sales to the oiland gas sectors in 2018 (relativeto a period of recoveryin 2017).

TotalDe Beers rough diamond productionon a 100% basis (with the exception ofthe Gahcho Kué joint
venture, which is on an attributable 51%basis) was 30.8 million carats in 2019, 35.3 million caratsin 2018 and 33.5
million caratsin 2017. The 13%decreasefrom2018to 2019 was principally driven by a reduction in South African
productiona result ofthe transition from open pit to underground. While trading conditions have improved
somewhat since the third quarter of theyear, productionreduced in response to softer rough diamond demand
conditions compared with 2018. The 6% increase from2017to 2018 was principally driven by higher plant
utilization at Orapa, continued ramp-up of Gahcho Ku¢ and higher grades at Victor.

In2019, Botswana (Debswana) production decreased by 4% to 23.3 million carats (2018: 24.1 million carats).
In2019,productionatJwanengincreasedby 5% to 12.5 million carats (2018: 11.9million carats) as throughput
rose to partly offset a 12%decrease at Orapa to 10.8 million carats (2018: 12.2 million carats) owingto a delayin
an infrastructure projectand expected lower grades. In Namibia (Namdeb Holdings), productiondecreased by 15%
to 1.7 million caratsin2019(2018: 2.0 million carats). Production from themarine operation was 10% lower,
principally dueto routine planned vessel maintenance. Production at theland operations decreased by 29%to 0.4
million caratsin 2019 (2018: 0.6 million carats)as a result of placing Elizabeth Bay onto care and maintenance in
December2018. In South Africa(DBCM), productiondecreased by 59%to 1.9 million carats (2018: 4.7 million
carats),as theminingsequence in the final years ofthe Venetia open-pit requires higher volumes of wasteto be
mined so thatthe lastremainingore can be accessed. Production at Voorspoed ceased following the operation being
placed onto care and maintenance in the final quarter of 2018. In Canada, production decreasedby 13%to 3.9
million caratsin 2019 (2018: 4.5 million carats) principally due Victorreaching end oflife during the first quarter
02019, resultingin a 55% decreasein outputto 0.4 million carats (2018: 0.9 million carats). GahchoKué
maintained output at 3.5 million carats (2018: 3.5 million carats), with a planned grade reduction offset by strong
plant performance.

In 2018, Botswana (Debswana) productionincreased by 6% to 24.1 million carats (2017: 22.7 million carats).
In 2018, productionatJwaneng was flat, as theeffect of processing lower grades was offset by a 12% increase in
plant throughput. At Orapa,a 13%increase in outputin 2018 was driven principally by higher plantutilization and
the fulleffectof thesuccessful restart of the Damtshaaoperation. In Namibia (Namdeb Holdings), production
increasedby 11% to 2.0 million caratsin 2018 (2017: 1.8 million carats). Production from the marine operation
was 4% higher, driven by fewer in-port days for the Mafuta crawler vesseland the use ofa technology-led approach
foroptimizingtheperformance ofthe drill fleet. Productionatthe land operationsincreased by 34%to 0.6 million
caratsin 2018(2017: 0.4 million carats) as a result ofaccess to consistently higher grades, despite placing Elizabeth
Bay on care and maintenancein December2018. In South Africa (DBCM), production decreased by 10% to4.7
million carats (2017: 5.2 million carats), owingto a period of suspended productionat Venetia followinga fatal
incident, as wellas lower run-of-mine ore grades experienced as the mine approaches theend ofthe openpit.
Output was also affected by the placing of Voorspoed onto care and maintenance in the fourth quarter. In Canada,
productionincreased by 19%to 4.5 million carats in 2018(2017: 3.8 million carats) principally due to the full year
contribution from Gahcho Kué, which entered commercial production in March2017, and higher grades at Victor.
Victor ceased production in the first half 0of2019.

Copper

The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of the Copper business segment and average market
price for copper for the years indicated:
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Year-ended
December 31,

2017 2018 2019
(US$m unless otherwise

stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)................. 4,233 5,168 5,840
UNderlying EBIT ......cooiiiiieiiiiee ittt ettt ettt ettt e ettt e e ettt e e et e e e eabeee e sabeeeensbaeeenbeeeesnneeas 923 1,234 960
Underlying EBITDA.........ccceeeviireenne 1,508 1,856 1,618
Capital employed...........oovvvvvvvvvvvnnvnnnnnns 5,899 6,463 8,238
Capital expenditure™ ...........ccooevveenn. 665 703 1,078

Share of Group underlying EBIT 15% 19% 14%
Share of Group capital employed 18% 20% 23%
Production (KIOtOMNES) ... ..ottt ettt ettt 579.3 668.3 638.0
CopPer (U.S. CentS/I))......oiieieieeeeee et 280 296 272

(1)  Of the total capital expenditure in FY2019 of US$1,078 million, US$494 million (2018: US$131 million), relates to the Quellaveco project
and is presented on an attributable basis after deducting direct funding from non-controlling interests. FY2019 capital expenditure in
relation to the Quellaveco project on a 100% basis was US$1,338 million, of which US$515 million was funded by cash from the
Mitsubishi syndication transaction in 2018. Ofthe remaining US$823 million, the Group and Mitsubishi funded their respective 60% and
40% shares via shareholder loans. FY2018 capital expenditure in relation to the Quellaveco project, on a 100% basis was US$505 million.
US$187 million was spent prior to project approval on 26 July, 2018, of which Anglo American funded US$131 million and Mitsubishi
funded US$56 million. A further US$318 million was spent post-approval, of which Anglo American’s 60% share was funded from the
Mitsubishi syndication transaction and hence is not included in the reported capital expenditure.

(2) Total Copper segment production represents 100% of production for all operations except Collahuasi which represents 44%.

(3) Average LME price.

Copperbusiness segmentunderlying EBITin 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$960 million, US$ 1,234 million and
US$923 million, respectively.

Underlying EBIT in 2019 decreased by 22% primarily as a result of 5% lower production due to theongoing
severe drought conditions in Chile, mitigated to some extent by productivity improvements, including record copper
in concentrate production at Collahuasi,anda 6% reduction in unit costs.

Underlying EBIT in 2018 increased by 34% primarily as a result of 15% higher production owingto strong
mine andplantperformance and planned higher grades, as wellas 9% lowerunit costs,as a result of increased
productionand continued sustainable cost savings that fully offset the impactof inflation.

Underlying EBIT in 2017 increased by 254% primarily as a result ofa 27%increasein the average LME copper
price,as well asa continued focus on cost-reduction initiatives.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in 2019,2018 and 2017
were US$5,840 million, US$5,168 million and US$4,233 million, respectively. Revenue increased by 13% from
2018 t0 2019, principally driven by anincrease in third-party sales. Revenue increased by 22% from 2017 to 2018,
principally drivenby 16% higher sales volumes in line with increased production, as wellas 60% higher third-party
sales.

Sales of certain commodities are “provisionally priced” such that the price is not settled until a predetermined
future date usually based onthe average market price overa period defined in the contract. Revenue on these sales
is initially recognized at the current marketprice and then marked to market until finalsettlementusing the forward
price forthe period equivalentto thatoutlined in the contract (mark to market adjustments are recorded in revenue).
A gainto revenueof US$2 million (2018: loss to revenue of US$197 million; 2017: gainof US$182 million)
reflectingan increase in the copper price at the end of the period.

At Los Bronces, productionin 2019 decreased by 9% to 335,000 tonnes principally due to production losses
owingto lower water availability dueto unprecedented climate conditions. Productionin 2018 increased by 20%to
369,500 tonnes principally due to strongmineand plant performance, as wellas planned higher grades (2018:
0.76%vs2017: 0.71%).

At Collahuasi, Anglo American’s attributable share of copper production was 248,800 tonnes in 2019, an
increase of 1% principally due to planned lower grade (2019: 1.19%vs.2018: 1.29%) fully compensated by a solid
plant performance following the successful completion of planned three-month maintenance of Line 3 (responsible
for 60% plant throughput) during the first half of the year. In 2018 copper productionwas 246,000 tonnes, an
increase of 7% principally due to strong plantperformance following the completion of planned major maintenance
of Line 3 (responsible for 60% ofplant throughput), the installation o£24 new flotation cells during the first halfof
the yearandplannedhigher grades (2018: 1.29%vs.2017: 1.25%).
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ProductionatElSoldadoincreased by 3% to 54,200 tonnes in 2019 dueto higher planned grades (2019: 0.93%
vs2018: 0.85%). Production increased by 30% to 52,700 tonnesin 2018 (2017: 40,500tonnes) owinglargely to
the temporary suspension of mine operations during the first half of2017, which resulted in 6,000 tonnes oflost
outputin 2017,andplanned higherore grade (2018:0.85%vs.2017: 0.69%).

PGMs

The following table summarizes the results of operations of the Platinum business segment and thea verage
basket price of metal sold forthe years indicated:

Year-ended December 31,

2017 2018 2019

(US$m unless otherwise stated)
Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue) 5,078 5,680 6,866
Underlying EBIT......ooooiiiiiiiii 512 705 1,672
Underlying EBITDA ......coouiiiiiiiee ettt ettt ettt e et e st eeestvaeessebaeesssbaeessssaeeesnneens 866 1,062 2,000
Capital eMPLOYEd.......ooooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee e 4,510 4,058 4,045
Capital eXPenditUure!). ... ..ottt ettt 355 496 569
Share of Group EBIT......cccoooiiiiiiii e, 8% 11% 24%
Share of Group capital employed...........uvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 14% 13% 11%
Platinum refined production (thousands 0f OUNCES)...........ccevvvuriiiiiieeiiiiiiieeeeeeeiiieeee. 2,512 2,402 2,211
Palladium refined production (thousands 0f OUNCES)..........uvvvvvvrviriviriiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiaiieaaenns 1,669 1,502 1,481
Rhodium refined production (thousands 0f OUNCES).............oooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii, 323 293 293
Average basket price (USS/OUNCE) ........cceviiuuiiiiiieiiiiiiiieee et 1,966 2,219 2,819

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

PGMs’ business segment underlying EBIT in 2019,2018and2017 was US$ 1,672 million, US$705 million and
US$512 million, respectively. The 137%increase from 2018 to 2019 was largely a result ofa 27% increase in the
dollarbasketprice, driven primarily by palladium and rhodium.

The 38% increase from2017to 2018 was largely aresult of a 13%increasein the average basket price. Strong
prices forpalladium, thodium and the minor platinum group metals outweighed an 8% decline in the platinum price
during2018.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)in 2019,2018 and 2017
were US$6,866 million, US$5,680 million and US$5,078 million, respectively. The 21%increase from2018to
2019 was principally due to strong PGM prices as statedabove. The 12%increasefrom2017 to 2018 was
principally dueto a 13% improvement in the average basket price, despite a 3% decreasein volumes.

The average dollar price realized for the basket of metals sold by PGMsin 2019,2018and2017 was US$2,819,
US$2,219and US$1,966, per platinum ounce, respectively. The increaseof 27% from 2018 was dueto a 50%
increase in the average palladium price and a 77%increasein the average thodium price, principally driven by
strongautomotive resulting from tighter emissions regulations in key markets. The 13%increase from2017 was
duringa yearwhere the platinum price was driven lower, primarily by a decline in the dieselengine’s share ofthe
Europeancarsector. Despite disappointing global carsales, tighter global emissions regulation supported the prices
of palladium and rhodium, with theiraverage price forthe yearincreasingby 17% and 101 %respectively.

The average marketprice forplatinumin 2019,2018and2017 was US$864, US$880and US$950 per ounce,
respectively. The average marketprice forpalladiumin2019,2018and2017 was US$1,539,US$1,029and
US$871 perounce, respectively. The average marketprice forrhodiumin2019,2018and2017 was US$3,914,
US$2,214and US$1,097 per ounce, respectively. The average marketprice forgoldin2019,2018 and2017 was
US$1,392,US$1,269and US$1,258 per ounce, respectively.

Totalplatinum production (metal in concentrate), including both own-mined production and purchase of
concentrate, decreased by 15% to 2,050,600 ounces (2018: 2,484,700) due to thetransition ofa significant POC
supplieronto a tollingagreement. In 2018, total platinum production (metalin concentrate), including both own-
mined production and purchaseof concentrate, increased by 4%to 2,484,700 ounces (2017: 2,397,400) due to
record productionlevels at the Mogalakwena (achieved through mininga higher grade area and operational
optimization), Unkiand Kroondalmines.
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Refined platinum production decreased by 8%t0 2,210,900 ouncesin 2019 (2018: 2,402,400 ounces), while
refined palladium output decreased by 1% to 1,480,500 ounces (2018: 1,501,800 ounces). The reductionwas
primarily attributable to the POC to tolling transitionnoted in the previous section. Refined platinum production
decreased by 4% to 2,402,400 ounces in 2018 (2017: 2,511,900 ounces), while refined palladium outputdecreased
by 10% to 1,501,800 ounces (2017: 1,668,500 ounces). The reduction was primarily attributable to the planned
rebuild of Mortimer smelter in the second quarter of 2018, the partial rebuild at Polokwane smelter completing
duringthe second half ofthe year, commissioning of the Unki smelter in the third quarter, and maintenance work on
otherprocessing assets.

The platinum cash operating unit cost decreased by 1%in 2019to US$1,543 perounce (2018: US$1,561 per
ounce) primarily due to a weaker average ZAR rate. Theplatinum cash operatingunit cost increased by 8% in 2018
to US$1,561 perounce(2017: US$1,443 perounce) primarily due to rising input costinflation includinglabor,
diesel, electricity and coal. Lower ore stockpile capitalization also contributed to a higherunit cost.

IronOre

Following a reassessment ofthe Group’s reportable segments in 2018, the Group has presented the results of
the Iron Ore businesses as the [ron Ore reportable segment. Manganese, which was previously reported with [ron
Ore hasbeenaggregated with Nickelas a single reportable segment. Comparative informationhas beenrestatedto
reflect this change.

The following table summarizes the results of operations of the Iron Ore business segmentand average market
price foriron ore forthe years indicated:
Year-ended December 31,
2017 2018 2019
(US$m unless otherwise stated)

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue).............. 4,891 3,768 6,758
UNderlying EBIT.........uvviiiiiiiiiiiiieee ettt e et e e e et e e e e e e e aabaaee e e e e eaabaseeeeeeenes 1,500 747 2,952

Q111 F- PSP PPUSPPR 1,246 1,213 1,984

TEON OF€ BIAZil......ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeee ettt sesassesaes 335 (371) 1,089

Projects and COTPOTALE ........ceeviiuuiiiiiieetiiiieee e e ettt e e e ettt e e e et e e e e s e ibbeeeeeeeeenaaeees (81) 95) (121)
Underlying EBITDA ......couitiiiiiieeiieeeeeiee e eiiee e ettt e et eesibaeeestbaeesstbaeeasbaeesssssaeeassseeanssaeeensseeas 1,828 1,177 3,407
Capital @MPLOYEd......oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 7,603 6,929 8,363
Capital expenditure!)................ooiii oo 252 415 594
Share of Group underlyin@ EBIT ......cccoooiiiiiiiiii e, 24% 12% 42%
Share of Group capital emPlOYed..........uviiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e e e e e e e e e 23% 21% 24%
Iron Ore Kumba production (IME) ........cocuuiiiiieeeeiiiiiiiie e e ettt e e ettt e e e eataae e e e e e e eiabaaeeeeeeeenes 45.0 43.1 42.4
Iron Ore Brazil production (Mt)Z...........o.oi it 16.8 3.4 23.1
TEON OFe (USS/)D) et 71 69 93

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

(2) Iron Ore Brazil production is Mt (wet basis)

(3) Average iron ore market price for the year. Source: Platts (62% Fe, CFR). The Platts 62 Index is used for comparison purposes. Differing
grades ofiiron ore product are priced using other indices.

Iron Ore business segment’s underlying EBITin 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$2,952 million, US$747 million
and US$1,500 million, respectively. The 295% increase from 2018to 2019 was principally driven by high iron ore
market prices alongside increased sales at Iron Ore Brazil (“IOB”). The 50%decreasefrom2017 to 2018 was
principally dueto the suspension of operations at IOB fornine monthsdue to the pipeline incident, as wellas
reduced sales atKumba dueto logistical constraints through the year.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue) in 2019,2018 and
2017 were US$6,758 million, US$3,768 million and US$4,891 million, respectively. The79%increase in revenue
from 2018 to 2019 was dueto high iron ore prices and highersales at IOB. The 23%decreasein revenue from 2017
to 2018 was due to the reductionin sales caused by the IOB suspension in operations and rail constraints at Kumba.

Kumba
Underlying EBIT in 2019,2018and 2017 was US$ 1,984 million, US$ 1,2 13 million and US$ 1,246 million,

respectively. 2019 underlying EBIT was 64% higherin 2019 thanin 2018 principally due to the higher Platts 62%
Fe iron ore market price, partially offsetby reduced export and domestic sales due to port disruptions and reduced
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domestic demand. 2018 underlying EBITwas 3% lowerin 2018 thanin 2017 principally dueto a reductionin
export sales due to logistical constraints and inflationary inputcostpressures. This was slightly offsetby a 1%
increase in FOB realized price anda stronger South African rand.

Kumba’s iron ore production for2019,2018 and 201 7 was 42.4Mt,43.1 Mt and45.0 Mt, respectively. The
2% decrease from 2018to 2019 was primarily driven by the infrastructure upgrade ofthe dense media separation
plantatKolomela. The4% decrease from 2017to 2018 was primarily dueto the change in plan toincreasethe
quality ofore producedand in turn optimize margins in responseto logistical constraints in rail transportation.

Iron Ore Brazil

Underlying EBIT in 2019 wasUS$1,089 million principally due to the higher Metal Bulletin 66% iron ore
market price as wellas highersales. Underlying EBITin 2018 was US$(371) million principally due to the
suspension of all operations between March and December 2018 following a second leak in the 529 kilometre
pipeline. Underlying EBIT in 2017 was US$335 million, following operating losses in 2016 of US$6 million. This
reflected theoperation’s continued ramp-up to its current operating capacity and the cessation of capitalization of
operatingresults since January 2017.

I0B productionfor2019,2018and2017was23.1 Mt,3.4 Mtand 16.8 Mtrespectively. In 2019 production
was principally drivenby the access to the Step 3 ore, afteracquiring the mining license in December2018. In2018
productionwas suspended for nine months following thepipeline incident. The increase from 2016 to 2017 was
driven by the continuedramp up ofthe operation. Fullyearproductionin2017,at 16.8 Mt (wet basis), was within
the marketguidanceof 16-18 Mt (wet basis), although the ramp-up schedule was affected as mining operations were
restricted to the remaining Ore Reserves in the Step 2 license, which included lower-grade ore.

Minas-Rio projectcapital expenditure is estimated at US$8.2 billion.

The Minas-Rio iron ore projectin Brazil was acquired in two separatetransactions in 2007 and 2008. Priorto
2016, impairment charges totaling US$11.3 billion (before tax) were recorded againstthe carrying value of Minas-
Rio. The valuation was reassessedas at December 31,2019 and the previous impairment has been partially reversed
to a recoverable amount of US$5.3 billion, resultingin a gain of US$1.0 billion. The valuation remains sensitiveto
economic and operational factors that provide bothupside and downside risk, including price and the scheduling of
required permits and licenses. Forexample,a US$5/tonne change in the long-term price forecast for iron ore, with

all other valuation a ssumptions remaining the same, would change the valuationby US$0.6 billion.
Coal
The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of the Coal business segments and a verage realized
price formetallurgicaland thermal coal for the years indicated:

Year-ended December 31,
2017 2018 2019
(USSm unless otherwise

stated)

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)............... 7,211 7,788 6,137
UNderlying EBIT.......cooiuiiiiiiiie ittt ettt ettt e ettt e ettt e e et e e e sata e e e snateeeenbeeeesnnteesennaeeeennee 2,274 2,538 1,010

Metallur@iCal COoal.......uuuuuieiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiitiiit it aaaasa e s s aeaaaaeaeeseeaaeaanannees 1,594 1,774 1,148

SOUth ATTICA....cooiiiiieii 466 566 (35)

(0153 5 (10} s VPO 296 295 25

Projects and COTPOTALE.........eeevriieeeiiieeeitiee et e e e iieeeeteee ettt e e st eeeabeeeenabeeeesnbaeeesaneeas (82) 97) (128)
Underlying EBITDA .....cccuiiieiiiie e ctiee ettt e eeite e et e e et eeesitaeeestbaeesstbaeesssaeesssaeessssseessssaeesnsseeenns 2,868 3,196 1,832
Capital @MPLOYEd......oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 3,384 4,131 3,787
Capital EXPEnAITUIED.... ..ottt ettt ettt ettt 568 722 934
Share of underlying Group EBIT ..., 36% 40% 14%
Share of Group capital empPlOYed..........uvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e e e e 10% 13% 11%
Export metallurgical coal production (IME)..........cccuviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee et eeeee e e et e e 19.7 21.8 22.9
Australia thermal coal production (IMt)............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 1.6 1.4 1.4
RSA thermal coal export production (IMt) ...........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 18.6 18.4 17.8
RSA thermal coal domestic (non-Eskom) production (IMt) ...........cccccoovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeee, 7.5 10.9 9.8
RSA ESKOM Production (M) ......uueeeeueeeeeeeeeeeiiieieiititseersstssssaessssseeseseeesaesssssssssssssesssssseeeeeeenea——. 23.9 2.8 -
Colombian export thermal production (IMt) ............coooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 10.6 10.2 8.6
Export metallurgical Price (USSP ... v oottt ettt ettt ereeeeeen s 185 190 165
Australian export thermal (USS/P) .. ...o.oiiiiiioeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et 91 103 70

Australian domestic thermal (USS/E)®) ... ..o - - -



South Africa export thermal coal Price (USS/D P ... oot 76 87 61
South Africa domestic thermal coal price (USSP ..o eemieeeeeee oot 21 19 14
Colombia export thermal coal price (USS/t)........coiiiiiriieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 75 83 56

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

(2) Weighted average realized FOB sales price.

(3) Weighted average realized sales price.

Metallurgical Coal

Metallurgical Coal’s underlying EBIT in 2019,2018and 2017 was US$ 1,148 million, US$ 1,774 million and
USS$1,594 million, respectively.

In2019,underlying EBIT decreasedby 35% to US$ 1,148 million, largely due to a 13%reduction in realized
price. In2018, underlying EBITincreased by 11%to US$1,774 million, largely owingto an 11% increase in sales
volumes, favorable currency movements and a 3% improvement in the metallurgical coalrealized price.

Totalmetallurgical coal production in 2019 increased 5%, dueto a 1.0Mt increase at Grosvenor, operational
improvements leadingto a 10% increasein wash plant throughput at Moranbah North, and a strong performance at
Dawson, dueto productivity improvements that drove an increase in shovel and dragline performance, partially
offset by the impact ofanextended longwallmoveatMoranbah North. Total metallurgical coal productionin 2018
increasedby 11%, driven principally by sustained strong performanceat Moranbah North and increased output from
Grosvenor, partly offset by a declinein production at Capcoal’s Grasstree as the operationmoved tomore
challengingareas of the mineas it nears its end of life.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in 2019,2018 and 2017
were US$3,756 million, US$4,231 million and US$3,675 million, respectively.

The 11% decrease from2018t0 2019 follows the 13 % reduction in realized price. The 15%increase from 2017
to 2018 follows increased productionin 2018 as Metallurgical sales volumes increased by 11%to 22.0 Mt. The
increase is also reflective of a 3% increase in the metallurgical coal realized price, with market prices supported by
strong steelmaking margins globally and a number of supply disruptions in Australia.

Totalproduction from the Australian mines increasedby 9% from 2017to 2018. Hard Coking Coal production
increased by 11% driven principally by performanceatMoranbah Northand Grosvenor (benchmark HCC
producers), whilst Pulverized Coal Injection (“PCI””) production increased by 13% to 3.0 Mt following increases at
Capcoal. Thermalcoalproductiondeclined14%to 1.4 Mtin2018.

South Africa and Cerrejon

Coal—South Africa and Cerrejon’s underlying EBITin 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$(10) million, US$861
million and US$762 million, respectively.

Underlying EBIT in South Africa decreased by 106%to US$(35) million in 2019 driven primarily by a 30%
reductionin realized price. Underlying EBIT in South Africa increased by 21%to US$566 million in 2018, driven
largely by a 14% increasein the realized export thermal coal price. This was partially offset by lower volumes as

export sales were 1% lowerat 18.3Mtin2018.

The sale of the Eskom-tied domestic thermal coal operations, comprising New Vaal, New Denmark, and Kriel
collieries, as well as fourclosed collieries, to Seriti Resources was completed on March 1,2018. Production from
these assets, untilthe date of completion, was 2.8 Mtin 2018.

Underlying EBIT atCerrejondecreased 91% from 2018to 2019 to US$25 million (2018: US$295 million).
The decrease was primarily due to a 33% reductionin realized price. Underlying EBIT at Cerrejon was in line with
the prioryearat US$295 million in 2018 (2017: US$296 million), with an 11% increase in prices offsetting lower
volumes arising from permitting delays and weather impacts in the fourth quarter.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in 2019,2018 and 2017
were US$2,381 million, US$3,557 million and US$3,535 million, respectively.

Group Revenue in 2019 was 33%lowerthan 2018, largely driven by reduction in realized prices at South
Africa and Cerrejon. GroupRevenuein 2018 was largely in line with prioryearas a slight decline in South Africa
of 1% to US$2,719 million was offset by a 6% increaseat Cerrejonto US$838 million. The average realized price
forexport thermal coal was 89% ofthe average marketprice due to timing and quality differences relative tothe
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industry benchmark. The differencein the realized price compared with the marketprice, between2017and 2018,
reflects a changing quality mix owingto a higher proportion of secondary products being sold into the export
market.

Total South Africa attributable productionin 2019 decreased by 13%to 27.8 Mt, largely due to the sale of
Eskom-tied domestic thermal coal operations in 2018 and mine sections reaching theirend of life at Khwezela and
Goedehoop. Attributable production in 2018 decreasedto 32.1 Mt comparedto 49.9 Mt in 2017, largely due to the
sale of Eskom operations, which in turn was partly offsetby thetotal production from the Export mines increasing
by 12%to 24.6 Mtin 2018, driven by productivity-led growth from the underground operations.

Export sales from South Africaat18.1 Mtin 2019 were 1% below 2018, impacted by lower production
volumes.

Export sales from South Africaat18.3Mtin 2018 were 1% below 2017, impacted by lower production
volumes.

Export sales from South Africaat18.6 Mtin 2017 were 2% below 2016, impacted by lower production
volumes.

Anglo American’s attributable output from its 33.3% shareholding in Cerrejonwas 8.6 Mt in 2019, which was
16%below2018 levels. Attributable output was 10.2 Mtin 2018 which was below the 10.6 Mtin 2017, principally

due to permitting delays and wea ther impacts in the fourth quarter.

Nickel and Manganese

Following a reassessment ofthe Group’s reportable segments in 2018, the Group has presented the results of the
Iron Ore businesses as the Iron Ore reportable segment. Manganese, which was previously reported with Iron Ore
hasbeen aggregated with Nickelas a single reportable segment. Comparative information has been restated to
reflect this change.

The followingtable summarizes the results of operations of the Nickel business segment and the average market
price fornickel forthe years indicated:

Year-ended December 31,
2017 2018 2019
(USSm unless otherwise

stated)

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)............. 1,391 1,707 1,498
UNAerlying EBIT........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie ettt e et e e e e e e eaae e e e e e e e eaaraaeaeeeeenes 478 685 477

INECKEL .ttt ettt ettt e e ettt e e et e e st e e e sataeeeesbbeeeessbeeesnssaeesnsaaeenssraeennnns 0 75 89

VAN ZANES € ..ttt ettt sttt sttt bttt sttt ittt ittt nnnnnnnnnnes 478 610 388
Underlying EBITDA ......coviiiiiiiii ettt ettt e et e e ettt e e e s abe e e e s aab e e e eaaseeeasseeesaneeas 610 844 634
Capital €MPLOYEd.......oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 2,364 2,390 2,305
Capital eXPenditureD...........ooiie oot 28 38 42
Share of Group underlying EBIT ........c.cuviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee ettt e e e e aavr e e e e e e 8% 11% 7%
Share of Group capital empPlOYed...........vvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e 7% 7% 6%
Attributable production (f0NNES) ..........ceeiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeee et 43,800 42,300 42,600
Nickel price (U.S. Conts/ID)D........oeeeeeeeeeeee oottt ettt 472 595 632

(1) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

(2) Average LME price.

Nickeland Manganese business segment underlying EBIT in 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$477 million,
US$685 million and US$478 million, respectively. The 30% decrease from2018to 2019 was principally due to the
lower manganese ore price and a decreasein attributable manganese alloysales. The 43%increasefrom2017to
2018 was principally due to theincreasein both the nickeland manganese ore prices as wellas favorable exchange
rates and improved operational stability in nickel.

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ andjoint ventures’ revenue)in 2019,2018 and 2017
were US$ 1,498 million, US$ 1,707 million and US$ 1,391 million, respectively. The 12%decreasein revenue from
2018 to 2019 was primarily drivenby lower manganese ore price and a decrease in attributable manganese alloy
sales. The 23% increasein revenue from2017to 2018 was from animprovement of 24% in the nickel price and
23% in the manganese ore price.
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Nickel

Nickelproduction in 2019 042,600 tonneswas 1% above 2018, primarily due to improved operational stability.
Nickelproduction in 2018 042,300 tonneswas 1% below 2017 principally due to a 40-day planned maintenance
stoppage at Barro Alto in the first half 0of2018. Barro Alto produced 33,500 tonnes (2017: 34,900 tonnes), while
Codemin produced 8,800 tonnesin 2018 (2017: 8,900 tonnes).

Manganese

Underlying EBITin 2019,2018and 2017 was US$388 million, US$6 10 million and US$478 million,
respectively. The decreaseof US$222 million in 2019 was driven principally by lower manganese ore price and a
decrease in attributable manganese alloy sales. An increase of US$132 million in 2018 was primarily drivenby the
23% increase in average 2018 benchmark manganese ore price. The manganese ore productionincreased by 3% to
3.6 Mtin2018 (2017: 3.5 Mt), production from the Australian operations increasedby 10% in 2018 due to
improved concentrator availability, the effect of more favorable weather conditions and increased premium
concentrate ore (PC02) production. Ore production from the South African operations decreased by 6% asan
increase in higher quality premium material was more than offset by a decline in fine grained secondary products.
The production of manganese alloys increasedby 5% in 2018 to 157,000 tonnes (2017: 149,000 tonnes), mainly as
a result of improved furnace stability atthe Australian operations for the majority ofthe year. In South Africa,
manganese alloy productionimproved by 6% in 2018 while continuing to utilize only one ofthe operation’s four
furnaces.

Corporate and Other

The following table summarizes the results of operations of the Corporate and Other business segment for the
years indicated:

Year-ended December 31,
2017 2018 2019
(US$m unless otherwise stated)

Group Revenue (including attributable share of associates’ and joint ventures’ revenue)..... 5 3 121
Underlying EBIT.......ooiiiiiiiiiiiiee et ettt et e et e e e eatb e e e saabeeeeraeeeeaneeas (313) (226) (229)

2514 ] (o) 130 | PP PP PP PPPPPPPPPNt (103) (113) (128)

Corporate activities and unallocated cost™............ocooiiioiiiee e (210) (113) (101)
Underlying EBITDAL.......viiiiiiiii ettt ettt et e e et e e st e e e seabeeeaneeas (292) (219) 43)
Capital @MPIOYEU.......evviiiiiiiiiiiiiiie e e e e (241) 51 38
Capital eXPenditUre@........c.ooveeeeeeeeeeee e et 9 27 56
Share of Group underlying EBIT...........oooiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeieeee et (5.0)% 3.5)% (3.3)%
Share of Group capital employed.............ooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e 0.7Y% 0.2)% 0.1%

(1) Corporate activities and unallocated cost includes other mining and industrial which has been disclosed separately in prior years.

(2) Capital expenditure is defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related derivatives, and is presented net of
proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests
in order to match more closely the way in which it is managed.

Corporate activities and unallocated costs

UnderlyingEBITin2019,2018and2017 was US$(101) million, US$(1 13) million and US$(210) million,
respectively. The decreasein the underlying EBIT loss of US$97 million in 2018 was primarily drivenby a gain
recognized in the Group’s self-insurance entity, reflecting lower net claims and settlements during2018,as wellas
higher premium income.

Exploration

Exploration expenditure for2019,2018 and 2017 was US$ 128 million, US$ 1 13 million and US$ 103 million,
respectively. The increasefrom2018to 2019 reflects theincreased exploration activities across most product
groups, in particular, nickel, iron ore and metallurgical coal. The 10%increase from2017to 2018 reflects increased
explorationactivities a cross mostcommodities in 2018, but predominantly in diamonds.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Anglo American focuses on ensuring that there are sufficient committed loan facilities (including refinancing,
where necessary) in order to meetnear-term cash requirements, a fter taking into account cash flows from operations
and ourholding of cashand cash equivalents, as wellas any existing restrictions on distributions. We believe that
these facilities (including refinancing, where necessary) such as our Group-level $4.5 billion revolving credit bank
facility and $2.0 billion revolving credit bridge facility, and cash generation will be sufficient to cover our
anticipated near-term cash requirements. Uponthe closing of this offering, commitments under the Group’s $2.0
billion revolving credit bridge facility will be cancelled in an amountequalto proceeds ofthe Notes not used to
repay orredeem debt, in accordance with its terms.

Formore information on our borrowing arangements and liquidity sources, see “—Cash Flow—Funding
Sources” below, Notes 13 and 14 to the Group 2020 Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statementsand
Notes20 and21 to the Group2019 Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference herein.

We operatein some countries (principally South Africa) in which the existence of exchange controls may
restrict the use of certain cashbalances. The restrictions are notexpected to havea material effect on ourability to
meet ourongoingobligations. In light of the multinational nature of our business, cashis held in a number of
countries and currencies. The majority of ourcash is held in U.S. dollars, South African rand, Brazilianrealand
Australiandollars.

CASH FLow

The tables below summarize our consolidated cash flow statement for the periods indicated:

Six months
Year-ended December 31, ended June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(USSm)

Cash flows from OPerationsS..............uvvvvvvvvrrvveeereereerereeeeeeseeseeeeeeeeeeeea——.. 8,375 7,782 9,260 4,247 1,524
Dividends from associates and joint ventures.... 506 737 520 301 132
Dividends from financial asset investments....... 11 1 - - -
TNCOME tAX PRIttt ettt (843) _(1.393) (2.116) (1.143) _(451)
Net cash inflows from operating activities............ccevvveereeeiiiiinieeeeeeeeinnnees 8,049 7,127 7,664 3,405 1,205
Net cash used in INVEStNG ACHTVILICS.....uuveeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e, (1,947) (3,098) (4,716) (1,820) (2,360)
Net cash used in financing activities ............cceevveeviriierniereeirieie e (4.553) _(4.977) (3.116) (1,096) 1,311
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.................cococoevee... 1,549 (948) _(168) 489 156
Attributable free cash flowtD ......ooiiiiiiriiice e 4,943 3,157 2342 1,342 (1,257)

(1) Definition is set out in the “Non-IFRS financial measures” section. A reconciliation to “cash flows from operations”, the closest
equivalent IFRS measure, is provided with respect to HI 2020, 2019, 2018 and 2017 in the table below:

Six months ended

Year-ended December 31, June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(US$m)
Cash flows from operations. 8,375 7,782 9,260 4,247 1,524
Capital eXPenditures.........veeevviieeirieeeiiieeeiieeeeeiieeeeereeeeeiree e (2,150) (2,818) (3,840) (1,386) (1,808)
Capital repayment of lease obligations................cccvvvvvvvvvunnennnnnn. - - (272) (101) (75)
Cash tax PAId......veeervieeeiiiee et re e e e (843)  (1,393) (2,116) (1,143) (451)
Dividends from associates, joint ventures and financial asset
INVESTIMEILS ...vveeeeeeiiiiiieeee e e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e s e eeeieees 517 738 520 301 132

Net INterest!) ..o (355) (315)  (334) (155) (184)
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests .................eevvvvvvevennnn. (601) (837)  (894) (421) (395)
Attributable free cash flow.....................ccccviiiiiiiiiiiii, 4,943 3,157 2,324 1,342 (1,257)

(1) Includes cash outflows of US$124 million for the year ended December 31,2019 (2018: outflows of US$41 million) relating to
interest payments on derivative hedging net debt, which are included in cash flows from derivatives related to financing activities. H1
2020 includes cash inflows of $15 million (HI 2019: outflows of $38 million), relating to interest receipts (H1 2019: interest
payments) on derivatives hedging net debt, which are included in cash flows from derivatives related to financing activities.
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Net cash inflows from operatingactivities in H1 2020 and H12019 were US$ 1,524 million and US$4,247
million respectively. The 54%decrease from H12019 toH1 2020 was principally due to a decrease in underlying
EBITDA from subsidiaries and joint operations and a build-up in working capital.

Cash outflows on working capital were $ 1.4 billion (30 June 2019: outflows of $0.7 billion). Inventory
increasedby $1.2 billion, largely due to the impactof COVID-19 on demand for diamonds, repairs atthe ACP
affectingrefiningactivity at PGMs and weather impacts in late June on vesselloading at both Copperand Kumba.
Receivables increased by $221 million, owing to increased metal borrowing a ctivity within PGMs. Payables
decreasedby $38 million dueto reduced expenditure atoperations related to COVID-19 disruptions, partly offsetby
anincrease in a customer prepayment within PGMs, reflecting increased metal prices.

Net cash inflows from operatingactivitiesin 2019,2018 and 2017 were US$7,664 million, US$7,127 million
and US$8,049 million, respectively. The 8% increase from 2018 to 2019 was principally due to increased operating
profits, excluding impairment and impairment reversals, and thereclassification, under IFRS 16, of the majority of
lease payments from cash outflows from operating activities to cash outflows from financingactivities. The 11%
decrease from 2017 to 2018 was principally due to lower working capital movements.

Net cash used in investingactivitiesin H1 2020and H1 2019 were US$2,360 million and US$ 1,820 million
respectively. The 30%increase from H12019to H1 2020 was principally due to acquisition of Sirius Plc and
increased capital expenditure.

Net cash used in investingactivities in 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$4,7 16 million, US$3,098 million and
US$1,947 million, respectively. The 52%increase from 2018 to 2019 was principally due to increased capital
expenditure. The 59% increase from 2017 to2018 was, likewise, principally due toincreased capital expenditure.

Net cash flows in financingactivitiesin H1 2020and H1 2019 were US$1,311 million cash inflow and
US$1,096 million cashusedrespectively. The increasein cash inflow from H12019to H1 2020 was principally due
to proceeds fromissuance of bonds of $ 1,490 million, proceeds from borrowings of $1,948 and cash inflows from
derivativesrelatedto financingactivities of $ 1 13 million.

Net cash used in financingactivities in 2019,2018 and 2017 was US$(3,116) million, US$(4,977) million and
US$(4,553) million, respectively. Thedecrease in cash used between 2018 and 2019 of US$ 1,816 million reflects
lower repayments of bonds and borrowings of US$2,926 million, increased proceeds received from the issue of
bonds of US$311 million and increased proceeds from other borrowings of US$591 million. These were partially
offset by the non-recurrence of one-offproceeds received in 2018 from the issue of shares to Mitsubishi in respect of
the Quellavecotransaction of US$85 1 million, the buyback of US$777 million of ordinary shares under the Group’s
share buyback programme completed on March2,2020 and increased dividends paid to shareholders and non-
controlling interests of US$ 188 million. The majority oflease payments were reclassified from cash outflows from
operatingactivities to cash outflows from financing activities.

The increase in cash flows used between 2017 and 2018 0of US$424 million was principally due to higher
dividends paid to Group shareholders and non-controlling interests and lower proceeds from the issuance of bonds
offsetbyaninflow of US$851 million related to the cash subscription of US$851 million made by Mitsubishi in
Quellavecotogether with funding received from Mitsubishi priorto August 2018; this inflow is beingused to fund
capital expenditure at the project, with US$0.5 billion remainingat December31,2018.

Capital Expenditure
Capital expenditureis defined as cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment, including related
derivatives, and is presented netof proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and includes direct

funding for capital expenditure from non-controlling interests in order to match more closely the way in which it is
managed.

The followingtable summarizes capital expenditure by business segment for the periods indicated:

Six months ended June

Year-ended December 31, 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(US$m)
DIE BEETS .. 273 417 567 278 159
COPPCT ettt 665 703 1,078 242 729

&1



PlatiUm oo e 355 496 569 217 200

TrON Ore..coiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee 252 415 594 278 235
C0ALi i 568 722 934 336 375
Nickel and Manganese...........ceevuveeerniieeennieeeniieeeniieeene 28 38 42 20 12
Crop Nutrients - - - - 91
Corporate and Other.........cceeevvieviiieeeeiiiiieeee e 9 27 56 15 7
Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment..... 2,150 2,818 3,840 1,386 1,808

CapitalexpenditureforH12020 and H12019 was $1,808 million and $ 1,386 million respectively. Increased
capital expenditure was partly offset by weakening of producer currencies. Sustaining capital expenditure decreased
to $1.2 billion (30 June 2019: $1.3 billion), due to higher stripping and development costs in the prior year,
principally at De Beers, favourable foreign exchange rates, and deferrals as a result of COVID-19 related
restrictions.

Growth capital expenditure increased to $0.6 billion (30 June 2019: $0.1 billion), owing to increased expenditure at
Quellavecoof $0.4 billion, net of Mitsubishi funding (capital expenditure ona 100%basis at Quellaveco was $0.7
billion), and atthe Woodsmith polyhalite project (acquired in March2020) of $0.1 billion.

Capital expenditure for2019,2018 and 2017 was US$ 3,840 million, US$2,818 million and US$2,150 million,
respectively. Capitalexpenditure in 2019 increased primarily dueto higher sustaining capital driven by increased
strippingand development expenditure at Kumba and De Beers, a life-extension investment in the Kwezela coal
mine in South Africa, and an increase in growth capital expenditure, largely due to the Quellaveco expenditure. The
capitalexpenditure level in 2019 continued to underpin the planning and executionofall projects. Capital
expenditure in 2018 increased primarily dueto higher sustaining capital which was driven by stronger local
currencies, planned additional stay-in-business expenditure and increased capitalized development and stripping
expenditure.

Fora description ofthe Group’s project pipeline, see “Business Description—Strategy”.
Net Debt
Net debt, includingthe impact ofrelated hedges, as of December31,2019,2018and2017and June 30,2020

was US$4,626 million, US$2,848 million, US$4,501 million and US$7,617 million, respectively. Net debt is
calculated as follows:

As of December 31, As at June 30,
2017 2018 2019 2019 2020
(US$m)
Cash and cash equivalents.............ccocoeiiiiniiiiiiniiie 7,792 6,548 6,335 7,064 6,312
Short-term bomOWINgGS. ......ovviviiiiiiiiiiii (1,324) (581) (978) (509) (2,336)
Medium and long-term borrowings ............ccoceeviiiiiiiiiiiicinnnns (10,620) _(8,371) (9.744) (9.780) _ (11,638)
Net debt, excluding the impact of hedges ..........cccceveeerieenieens (4,152) (2,404) (4,387) (3,225) (7,662)
Hed@eS . .eveieieeeeeee e (349) (444) (239) (186) 45
Net debt, including the impact of related hedges.........c.cceeeenne (4,501) (2,848) (4,626) (3,411) (7,617)

Net debt movements are principally a function of cash flows from operating, investing and financing a ctivities.
In addition, non-cashitems including fair valueadjustments and exchange rate movements and hedges of debtalso

mfluence ournet debtlevel.

Net debtasof June 30,2020 increased by US$4,206 million, from US$3,4 11 million as of June 30,2019 to
US$7,617 million principally driven by attributable free cash outflows, the acquisition of Sirius Minerals Plc
(including debt acquired), the paymentof dividends to Anglo Americanplc shareholders and the purchase of
ordinary shares, including the completion of the share buyback programme announced in July 2019.

Netdebtasof December31,2019increased by US$ 1,778 million from US$2,848 million as of December 31,
2018 to US$4,626 million primarily drivenby US$0.5 billion of additional debt arising on adoption of IFRS 160n 1
January 2019, the purchase of US$0.8 billion of ordinary shares under the share buyback scheme completed on
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March 2,2020, and incorporation of Mitsubishidebt for the development of Quellaveco offsetting attributable free
cash flowof US$2.3 billion.

Netdebtasof December31,2018 decreased by US$ 1,653 million, from US$4,501 million as of December 31,
2017 to US$2,848 million principally due to free cash flow generation, partly offset by the payment of dividends to
Group shareholders in Mayand September2018. In March 2019, the Group issued €500 million 1.625% and £300

million 3.375% seniornotes due2026 and 2029 respectively under its EM TN programme.

In March2018, the Groupissued US$650 million 4.5% senior notes due2028 throughaccessingthe U.S. bond
markets. Between March and May 2018, the Group completed a number of bond buyback transactions consisting of
Euro and U.S. dollar denominated bonds with maturities from April2019to April2021. The Group used US$2.24
billion of cash toretire US$2.14 billion of contractual repayment obligations (including derivatives hedging the
bonds).

In September 2017, the Group completed a bond buyback transaction consisting of Euro and U.S. dollar
denominated bonds with maturities from September2018to November2020. The Groupused US$1.93 billion of
cash to retire US$1.86 billion of contractual repayment obligations (including derivatives hedging the bonds). In
September2017,the Groupissued US$650 million 3.625% senior notes due 2024 and US$650 million 4.000%
seniornotes due2027 throughaccessingthe U.S.bond markets. The Groupalsoissued €600 million 1.625% senior
notes due 2025 under its EMTN programme.

In March2017the Group completeda bond buyback transaction consisting of Euro and British pound
denominated bonds with maturities from April2018to June 2019. The Groupused US$1.27 billion of cashto retire
US$1.25 billion of contractual repayment obligations (including derivatives hedging the bonds). In April2017 the

Group issued US$300 million 3.750% senior notes due 2022 and US$700 million 4.750% senior notes due2027.

Non-wholly owned subsidiaries, where possible, will maintain theirown financing and funding requirements.
In most cases, the financing is non-recourse to Anglo American. In addition, certain projects are financed by means
of limited recourse project finance, if appropriate.

Funding Sources

The maturity profile of our debtobligations as of December31,2019 is set forthbelow:

Within Between Between
1yearor on 1year and 2 years and After
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
(US$m)
Secured
Bank loans and overdrafts...............ccccvvvnenn. 26 12 3 - 41
Leases.....oooovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee 209 88 103 154 554
Other 10anS .......oeeiieeiiiiiiiieeeeeeeiieee e 12 12 36 60 120
Total secured loans................ovvvvvvvvvvvnnnnn. 247 112 142 214 715
Unsecured
Bank loans and overdrafts.................cccvuvuee. 131 3 90 - 224
Bonds issued under EMTN programme......... 475 432 1,779 1,664 4,350
U.S. BONdS....coooeeiiiiiiiieieeeeciieeeeeeeeiiee. - 502 1,554 2,741 4,797
Bonds issued under AMTN programme........ - - - - -
Bonds issued under DMTN programme........ - 76 - - 76
Other 10anS.........cooeeviiiiiiiiieeeeeeciiieee e 137 - - 435 572
Total unsecured loans..............ccccvvveeeeennnn. 743 1,013 3,423 4,840 10,019
Total borrowings........cevveeeeeevrnciiieeeeennnnns 990 1,125 3,565 5,054 10,734

The Group had available undrawn committed borrowing facilities of US$8,666 million as at December31,
2019,US$7,314 million as at December31,2018,and US$9,008 million as of December31,2017.

The maturity profile of ourundrawn committed borrowing facilities as of December31,2019is set forth below:

Within Between Between
1yearor on 1 year and 2 years and After
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
(USSm)
Undrawn committed borrowing facilities....... 228 394 8,044 - 8,666
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Our available undrawn committed borrowing facilities of US$8,666 million as of December31,2019 included
undrawn rand facilities equivalent to US$200 million in respect of facilities with a 364 day maturity which roll
automatically on a daily basis, unless notice is served.

The maturity profile of ourdebtobligationsas of June30,2020is set forth below:

Within Between Between
1yearor on 1year and 2 years and After
demand 2 years S years Syears Total
(US$m)
Secured
21 6 10 8 45
222 91 96 149 558
Total secured loans..............ccccevvvvvvvvvnnnnnn. 243 97 106 157 603
Unsecured
Bank loans and overdrafts..................cooooneen. 615 176 751 - 1,542
Bonds issued under EMTN programme......... 745 880 886 1,673 4,184
U.S. BONdS....evviieeieiiiiiiiiieeeeeiieeeeeeeeee 507 308 2,765 3,012 6,592
Bonds issued under AMTN programme........ - - - - -
Bonds issued under DMTN programme........ 61 - - - 61
Other 10anS.........cooeeviieiiiiieeeeeeeiiieeee e 174 1 1 825 1,001
Total unsecured loans..........ccccoeevvvvvunnnnnnns 2,102 1,365 4,403 5,510 13,380
Total DOTOWINGS...ccvvveeeriiiieeiiiieeniieeeiae 2,345 1,462 4,509 5,667 13,983

The Group had available undrawn committed borrowing facilities of US$9,210 million as at June 302020 and
US$9,073 million asatJune30,2019.

The maturity profile of ourundrawn committed borrowing facilities as of June 30,2020 is set forthbelow:

Within Between Between
1yearor on 1year and 2 years and After
demand 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
(USSm)
Undrawn committed borrowing facilities....... 2,000 93 7,047 70 9,210

Our available undrawn committed borrowing facilities of US$9,210 million as of June 30,2020. The rand
facilities with a 364 day maturity whichrollautomatically on a daily basis, unless notice is served, were fully drawn
asatJune30,2020. In April2020, the Group signeda new $2.0 billion revolving credit facility with aninitial
maturity dateof April2021. The Grouphas, at its sole discretion, two options to extend the facility fora further six
months to October2021 and April2022.
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FINANCIAL RISK EXPOSURE AND MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposedin varyingdegrees toa variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of
Directors of Anglo Americanplc (the “Board”) approves and monitors therisk management processes, including
documented treasury policies, counterparty limits, controlling and reporting structures. The risk management
processes of Anglo American’s independently listed subsidiaries (including Anglo American Platinum and Kumba)
are in line with Anglo American’s own policies.

CreditRisk

The Group’s principal financial assets are cash, tradeand other receivables, investments and derivative financial
nstruments. The Group limits credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments through
diversification of exposures with a range of financial institutions approved by the Board. Counterparty limits are set
foreach financial institution with referenceto credit ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch
Ratings, shareholder equity (in case ofrelationship banks) and fund size (in case of assetmanagers).

Given the diverse nature ofthe Group’s operations (both in relation to commodity markets and geographically),and
the use of payment security instruments (including letters of credit from financial institutions), it does not have
significant concentration of credit risk in respect of trade receivables, with exposure spread overa large number of
customers. A provision forimpairment of trade receivables is made where thereis an identified loss event which,
based onprevious experience, is evidence ofa reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows.

Liquidity Risk

The Group ensures thatthere are sufficient committed loan facilities (including refinancing, where necessary) in
order to meet short-term cashrequirements, after taking into account cash flows from operations and its holding of
cash and cash equivalents, as wellas any group distribution restrictions that exist. In addition, certainprojectsare
financedby means of limited recourse project finance, if appropriate.

Foreign Exchange Risk

As a globalbusiness, the Groupis exposed to many currencies principally as a result of non-U.S. dollar operating
costsincurred by U.S. dollar functional currency companies and, to a lesser extent, fromnon-U.S. dollarrevenues.
The Group’s policy is generally notto hedge such exposures given the correlation, over the longer term, with
commodity prices and the diversified nature ofthe Group, although exceptions can be approved by the Group
Management Committee.

The Group’s policy is generally notto hedge such exposures given the correlation, over the longer term, with
commodity prices and the diversified nature ofthe Group, though exceptions can beapproved by the Group
Management Committee. In addition, currency exposures exist in respectof non-U.S. dollar approved capital
expenditure projects andnon-U.S. dollar borrowings in U.S. dollar functional currency entities. The Group’s policy
is that such exposures should be hedged subject toa review of the specific circumstances of the exposure.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest raterisk arises due to fluctuations in interest rates whichimpacton the value of shortterm investments
and financingactivities. The Group is principally exposed to U.S. and South Africaninterestrates.

The Group’s policy is to borrow funds exposed to floatingrates of interest given the link with economic output
and thereforethe correlation, over the longer term, with commodity prices. The Groupuses interest rate swap
contracts to manage its exposure to interest rate movements onits debt. Issuanceofa smallportionoffixedrate

debt may also beundertaken from time to time if approved by the Group Management Committee.

In respect of financial assets, the Group’s policy is to invest cashatfloatingrates of interest and to maintain
cash reserves in short term investments (less than one year) in order to maintain liquidity.

Commodity PriceRisk

The Group’s earnings are exposed tomovements in the prices of the commodities it produces. The Group’s
policy is to sell its products atprevailing market prices and is generally notto hedge commodity price risk, although
some hedging may beundertaken for strategic reasons. In such cases, the Group generally uses forward contracts
and other derivative instruments to hedge the price risk. Certain ofthe Group’s sales and purchases are
provisionally priced, meaning that the selling price is determined normally 30 to 180 days after deliveryto the
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customer, based on quoted market prices stipulated in the contract,and as a result are susceptible to future price
movements.

Derivatives and Hedging

The Group utilizes derivative instruments to manage certain marketrisk exposures as explainedabove. The
Group does notuse derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes; however it may choosenotto
designatecertain derivatives as hedges foraccounting purposes. Suchderivatives are classifiedasnon-hedges and
fairvalue movements are recorded in the income statement. The useof derivative instruments is subject to limits
and the positions are regularly monitored and reported to senior management. Derivatives are classifiedas current
or non-current depending on thematurity ofthe derivative.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Group enters into certain arrangements in the ordinary course of business that would be considered “off
balancesheet”. Sucharmangements principally arise from therequirement, in several jurisdictions, to provide
guarantees in respect of environmental restoration and decommissioning obligations. The Group has provided for
the estimated cost ofthese activities, see Note 15 tothe Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements.

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND COMMERCIAL COMMITMENTS

As of December31,2019, the Group had contractual cash obligations arising in the ordinary course ofbusiness
as follows:

Between Between
Less than 1 year and 2 years and More than
Total 1 year 2 years S years S years
(USSm)
Debt obligations™V ..........cccevvviriiii (12,703) (1,237) (1,525) (4,525) (5,416)
Lease obligations..........ccceeeeeeeeeecnnnnnen.n. (605) (245) (113) (144) (203)
Purchase obligations@............ccooveevennn.. (3,552) (1,841) (1,268) (443) -
Other liabilities® (4,881) (4,602) (12) (56) (211)
Total Contractual Obligations............. (21,741) (7,925) (2,918) (5,168) (5,830)

(1) Debt obligations include the effect of related currency derivatives and interest rate swaps and the anticipated future interest payments on
borrowings.

(2) Purchase obligations reflect the Group’s capital commitments at December 31, 2019.

(3) Other liabilities include trade payables and other financial liabilities of the Group.

Information relating to the Group’s post-retirement benefit obligations is provided in Note 27 of the Group 2019
Consolidated Financial Statements, incorporated by reference herein. On the basis of the levels of obligations
described above, the Group’s access todebtand equity capital markets, access to committed and uncommitted bank
debt, the level of cash deposits and the level of currently anticipated free cash flow, we believe thatthe Group has
sufficientshortand long-term sources of funding available to meet our liquidity requirements.

APPLICATION OF CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

In the course of preparing our financial statements, management necessarily makes judgments and estimates
that canhave a significant impact onthe financial statements. The most critical of these relate to estimation of Ore
Reserves, assessment of fairvalueand impairmentof assets. The use ofinaccurate assumptions in assessments
madeforany of these estimates could result in a significantimpacton financial results.

Fora detailed discussion of thesecritical accounting policies, judgments and estimates please see Note 7 to the
Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements and Note 8 to the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial
Statements, both incorporated by reference in this document.

These accounting policies are consistent with thoseadopted and disclosed in the Group financial statements for
the yearended December31,2018, exceptfortheadoptionof IFRS 16 Leases. IFRS 16 Leases became effective
forthe Group from January 1,2019. On transition, the present value of liabilities for existing operatingleases of
USS$0.5 billion was included within net debt.

The accounting policies applied in the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements are consistent with
those adopted and disclosed in the Group financial statements for the yearended 3 1 December2019. A number of
new accounting pronouncements, principally minor amendments to existing standards, also became effective on 1
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January 2020 and have been adopted by the Group. The adoption of these new accounting pronouncements has not
had a significant impact on the accounting policies, methods of computation or presentation applied by the Group.
The Group hasnot early adopted any other amendment, standard or interpretationthathas been issued butis not yet
effective. [tis expected that where applicable, these standards and amendments will be adopted on eachrespective
effective date.

D1FFERENCES BETWEEN IFRS AND U.S. GAAP

The financial information included in this documentin respect ofthe years ended December31,2019,2018 and
2017 hasbeen prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS, and the financial information for the periods ended
June 30,2020andJune 30,2019 has been prepared and presented in accordance with [AS 34. Certain differences
exist between IFRS and U.S. GAAP, which might be material to the financial information herein.

In makinganinvestment decision, investors must rely on their own examination of the Group, the terms ofthe
offeringand the financial information. Potential investors should consult their own professional advisers foran
understanding ofthe differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP, and how these differences mighta ffect the financial
information herein.
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REGULATION

We are subjectto government regulations that affectall aspects of our operations.

In most jurisdictions in which we operate, we enjoy the use ofrights granted to us by the relevant government
entity. These rights typically takethe form of a leaseor license that grants us the right to gain access to thelandand
to explore forand subsequently extract theminerals. Explomation rights typically includethe obligationto spend a
predetermined amount of money onthe exploration or to undertake specific exploration activities. The temms of the
leases or licenses, including the time period for which they are effective, are specific to thelaws of therelevant
governmental authority. Generally, we own the minerals that we extractand pay royalties or similartaxes to the
relevantgovernmental authority.

We also havea number of joint venture arrangements with governments and private entities (including the
Government ofthe Republic of Botswana and the Government ofthe Republic of Namibia), which are sometimes
necessary in orderto operate exploration and mining a ctivities in certain jurisdictions.

In addition toreliance upon government grants ofrights to explore for and extractmaterials, in certain
jurisdictions we rely uponthe relevant governmental authority to grant therights necessary to transport and to treat
the extracted minerals in orderto prepare them forsale, as wellas to exportthe raw or processed material.

Governments generally imposeapplicable regulations relating to, for example, environmental protection, water
use, land rehabilitation, occupational health and sa fety, indigenous land title and socio-economic commitments, and
we must comply with these regulations in order to continue to enjoy the right to conductour operations within that
jurisdiction. Theseobligations often require us to make substantial expenditure to minimize, to remediate orto
rehabilitatethe environmental impactof our operations, to ensure the safety of our employees and contractors and to
meet defined socio-economic obligations.

SOUTH AFRICA

Requirements to obtain pemmits and licenses are imposed by various departments ofthe South African
government. We strive to follow therequired procedures in the application for these environmental, water and

mineralpermits and licenses.

Additionally, the transfer of a share ofthe ownership, management and benefits ofthe South Africanmining
industry into the hands of people previously excluded from theeconomy is a longstanding government policy
referred to as Black Economic Empowement (“BEE”).

The MPRDA and the Mining Charter
Historical background

The South African Constitution expressly authorizes “...legislativeand other measures designed to protector
advance persons ... disadvantaged by unfair discrimination ...”. There are many examples of suchreparatory
initiatives across the South African economy, some of which are statutory/regulatory in nature (“Legal Instruments™)
while others are in the nature ofpolicies or guidelines (“Policy Instruments™).

In the mining industry, the primary Legal Instrument is the Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act,
2003 (“MPRDA”), which vests custodianship of South Africa’s minerals in the state, which in turn regulates the
right to prospect and minein the form of prospecting rights or Mining Rights to applicants. The MPRDA contains
within its objectives (section 2) the following (collectively referred to as the “Transformation Objectives™):

e Promotingequitable access to the nation’s mineral and petroleum resources to all the people of South
Africa (section 2(c) of the MPRDA);

e  Substantially and meaningfully expanding opportunities for historically disadvantaged persons,
including women and communities, to enter into and actively participate in the mineraland petroleum
industries and to benefit from the exploitation of the nation’s mineral and petroleum resources (section
2(d)ofthe MPRDA); and

e Promotingemployment and advancingthe socialand economic welfare of all South Africans (section
2(f)ofthe MPRDA).

Pursuant to the MPRDA, the Minister of Mineral Resources and Energy (“Minister”) and the Departmentof
Mineral Resources and Energy (‘DMRE”) are authorized to exercise the administrative discretion conferred under
that Act suchthat the Transformation Objectives are advanced. Examples of this authority include, butare not
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limited to, the adjudication ofapplications forthe award ofnew miningand prospectingrights andrequests for
consentforthetransfer of existingmining and prospecting rights between parties. Underthe MPRDA, the exercise
of administrative discretion by the Minister and the DMRE musttake into account the Transformation Objectives
and any such exercise which failed to consider the Transformation Objectives would be unlawfuland could be set
aside uponreview by the courts. The Transformation Objectives mustbe applied in a manner consistent with the
Constitution of South Africa andany overreach by the Minister orthe DMRE in applyingthe MPRDA is similarly
subject toreview by the courts.

The Policy Instrument supporting the Transformation Objectives is the “mining charter” provided for in section
100(2) of the MPRDA.

Section 100(2) provides thatthe Minister mustdevelop a “broad-based socio-economic Charter” for the South
African mining industry. The first of thesemining charters was publishedin 2004. Althoughthe MPRDA makes no
provision for theamendment or substitution ofthe mining charter, therehave been three revisions of the mining
charter, themost recenthaving been published in the government gazette on September27,2018 (referred toas
“MCIID).

As a Policy Instrument, MCIII establishes a policy and guideline for the framing, measurement and
implementation of each mining company’s contribution to the achievement of the Transformation Objectives.
Accordingly, MCIII provides guidance on reparatory initiatives in relation to employment equity (the South African
form of workplace a ffirmative action), human resource development, preferential procurement, corporate ownership,
migrant labor, housingand living conditions for employees, beneficiationas wellas mine community and rural
development. This guidance includes descriptions of what initiatives would qualify forrecognition, thetargeted
impactandtimeline for implementation as well as the manner of measuring completion. Beinga Policy Instrument,
this guidancedoes not constitutea binding legal obligation. That said, we have always regarded continued
performancein accordance with the mining charters as a responsibility arising from our commitmentto the socio-
economic developmentof South Africa. Since the promulgationofthe MPRDA, we haveconsistently submitted
our statutory annual returns to the DMRE, demonstrating our successful performance againstthe mining charter
targets.

We are encouraged by MCIII which includes a number of improvements when compared to previous mining
charters, mostnotably provisions exempting holders of existing mining rights from a requirement to undertake any
further BEE transactions for the remainder of the duration of the mining right, but we have identified a number of
ongoingconcerns:

*  The2018 High Courtof South Africa judgementin the matter of the Chamber of Mines of South Africa v
Minister of Mineral Resources and Others affirmed the view that a mining charter gazetted under section
100 of the MPRDA is a Policy Instrument rather than a binding and enforceable Legal Instrument. The
Minister had initially noted an appeal a gainst this judgement, but withdrew thatappeal in August 2020,
with the result that the judgmentnow forms part of settled law. However, MClll retains several provisions
which are constructed as if MCIII were a Legal Instrumentratherthana Policy Instrument. Until these
provisions are revised by the DMRE (in line with the 2018 judgement) orreviewed by the Courts, their
existence will continueto create confusion and, consequently, contribute to ongoing regulatory
uncertainty;

*  Thepurportedapplication of MCIII to licenses and permits granted under the Precious Metals Act and the
Diamonds Act, someof which must be renewed annually. The PreciousMetals Act regulates certain
aspects of our Anglo American Platinum business and the Diamonds Act regulates certain aspects of De
Beers’ South Africanoperations; and

*  Theinclusion of provisions in MCIII suggesting that new and further BEE ownership transactions will
need to be concludedatthe pointof renewal of a miningright, which is contrary to the provisions of the

MPRDA.

The ongoing concerns with the content of MCIII listed above form thebasis of anapplication fora judicial
review of MCIII instituted by the Minerals Council a gainstthe Minister of the DMRE in the High Court of South
Africa. Thatapplication was commenced in early May 2020. The Minister contended that the Minerals Councilhad
failed to join certain parties to the application and this argumentwas successful. While the Court is yet to deal with
the substance of the judicial review application, the Minerals Council has been ordered to join theseadditional
parties and thereafter return to Court to argue the judicialreview. A delay of up tonine months in determining the
judicialreview is anticipated. We continue to engage with the Government of South Africa aroundresolvingthese
concerns.
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Recent developments

A newbill, the Upstream Petroleum Resources Development Act, was published on 24 December2019 and
seeks to excise the regulation ofthe petroleum and gas sector in South Africa from the MPRDA. Tt is anticipated
that this bill will be under consideration foratleastthe next 12 months. The new billhasno impact uponour
miningoperations in South Africa, butwe are closely monitoring its development as it may impactcoal-bed
methane gas explorationrights held by our Coal South Africa mining business.

Current status of our rights

The DMRE hastodategranted our applications for conversion of our “old order” rights, i.c. mining rights as
they existed priorto the promulgation of the MPRDA, and severalnew miningrights havealso been granted. Allof
the licenses for our operating mines within Coal South Africa, Kumba, Anglo American Platinum and De Beers
Consolidated Mines are in full grant.

New and converted mining rights are granted fora maximum period of30 years, with renewals of up to
30yearseach. Theaverage remainingtenure of our existing mining rights is approximately 20 years. Prospecting
rights are valid fora period offive years, with one renewal of up to three years. For gas exploration rights, the
maximum period is three years with options of renewal forup to twoyears each. Furthermore, the MPRDA
provides fora retention period a fter prospecting of up to three years with one renewal of up totwo years, subjectto
certain conditions, suchas non-concentration of resources, fair competition and non-exclusion of others.

Miningrights are transferable only with the approval of the Minister and are subjectto various terms and
conditions, including commencement of operations within specified periods, continuing and active operations and
compliance with work programmes, social and labor plans, environmental authorizations and empowerment
requirements.

Undersection 47 ofthe MPRDA, miningrights can be suspended or cancelled by the Ministerif the holder has
breachedits obligations under the terms ofthe rights and has failed to remedy such breach after written notice ofthe
breach from the Minister and an opportunity forresponse. “Non-compliance” with MCIIlis not grounds for the
suspension or cancellation of a right.

The MPRDA imposes specific responsibilities on mining companies relating to environmental management and
in respect of any environmental damage caused by prospecting, exploration or miningactivities.

In accordance with the MPRDA, we are required to report annually to the DMRE onallaspects of our
compliance with the MPRDA and on progress against thetargets contained in MCIII. Ourreports have allbeen
accepted by the DMRE.

Exchange Controls

The followingis a general outline of South African exchange controlregulations (“Exchange Control
Regulations”)and its impact onthe Group’s business.

The current set of Exchange Control Regulations was promulgatedon December 1, 1961. Itisthe stated
intention ofthe South Africanauthorities to relax Exchange Control Regulations in an orderly manneras and when
it is deemed appropriate. Althougha gradualrelaxation has taken place overa number of years, and there hasbeena
recent announcement relating to further intended relaxations as described in greater detail below, exchange controls
still currently exist with the intention of controlling the flow of capitalinto and out ofthe member countries ofthe
Common Monetary Area (comprising South Africa, Lesotho, Namibia and Swaziland) and generally to preventthe

unauthorized exportof capital by residents.

The administration of exchange controls has been delegated to the Financial Surveillance Department of the
South African Reserve Bank (“SARB”). The SARB has broad discretion, butit acts within policies set by the
Minister of Finance and the National Treasury in consultation with the SARB. Certain powers have beendelegated
to authorized dealers (banks licensed by the SARB todealin foreign exchange) to approve applications for foreign
exchange. Matters that are beyond these powers arereferred to the SARB, which adjudicates applications ontheir
merits in accordance with policy and national interests.

Exchange Control Regulations apply to all South African residents. Forthis purpose,a residentis a natural
person or legalentity, whether of South African or any othernationality, who has taken upresidence, is domiciled or
registered in the Republic of South Africa. Abranchofa foreign company is resident for exchange control

purposes.
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All subsidiaries of the Groupregistered in South Africa, including AASA, Anglo American Platinum, De
Beers’ South African operations and Kumba, are South African residents and, consequently, are subject to South
African Exchange Control Regulations. Any offshore transaction by these companies ofa capitalnature requires
prior authorized dealer or SARB approval, depending on the value and specific circumstances of the transaction.

Most transactions ofa revenue nature would notusually require prior SARB approval, although there are
administrative and reportingrequirements. Thesetransactions would includethe importand/orexportoftrade
goods andthe remittance of dividends to non-residentshareholders from profits earned in the normal course of
business.

Normally, non-residents may freely invest or disinvest from South Africa and income due to the non-resident
may be freely remitted. However, because the Group’s acquisition of its South Africaninterests was by means of a
share issue,and because Anglo Americanis deemed to be an “emigrant shareholder” in terms of SARB regulations,
SARB approval would be required for the remittance ofany capital to the Group offshore by its South African
resident subsidiaries. Further, operating profits of the South African Group canbe distributed outside of South
Africa in the form ofdividends, although these cannot, without SARB approval, exceed the amountof the Anglo
Americanplc dividend and AASA isrequired to apply formally forapproval to remit thedistribution of operating
profits each time Anglo Americandeclares a dividend.

In his budget speech on February 26,2020, South Africa’s Minister of Finance announced a number of
measures to facilitate cross-border financial transactions, in support of trade and investment. The annexures to
South Africa’s budget review (the “Budget Review”) provideadditional detail, including a shift from the current
policy of exchange controls to a risk-based capital flow managementsystem that is in line with international best
practice. Thenew system is expected to provide companies in South Africa, including Anglo American, with
increased flexibility to manage cashresources to optimal effect. The adoption ofa risk-based capital flow
management system is intended to support South Africa’s economic growth and investment goals.

Anglo American notes that, as set out in Annexure E to the Budget Review, certain exchange control conditions
previously applicable to it will be aligned to the current foreign directinvestmentcriteria. In terms of thenew
system for capital flows that willalign South Africa’s approach with international best practice, Anglo Americanis
engaging with the South African Reserve Bank and National Treasury in respectof how it will apply to its business
in South Africa.
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT (INCLUDING SAFETY,HEALTH, ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL)

Anglo American has longbeen known as a leader in responsible mining. We understand success is born from
havinglong-term horizons and we must listen to theneeds of not only our shareholders, butour employees, host
governments, host communities, suppliers, of course our customers, and society as a whole. Identifyingand
understanding our material matters and risks is critical in the development and delivery of our strategy. The matters
identified through our materiality process were naturally numerous and wide-ranging. These were analysed and
prioritised by senior management and then reviewed and approved by the Board. Below are matters identified as

materialto our stakeholders and ourbusiness.

“WeCare” response programme

Anglo American acted quickly at the onset ofthe pandemic to support thelives and livelihoods of our
workforceand host communities through the health, socialand economic effects of the COVID-19 pandemic
through our global “WeCare” response programme. Our mines and host communities, which are also often home to
much ofourworkforce, operate as an ecosystem and both mustbe healthy to prosper.

Across our operational footprint and in those communities that are local to our operations, our “WeCare”
programme provides information and extensive practical supportacross fourpillars of: physical health, mental
health, living with dignity, and community response:

e Physical Health—education and behavioural change to supportpersonal healthand hygiene; health
screening andtesting; PPE andmedical equipment and facilities.

e Mental Health— employee support programmes to assist with mental health management, including via
ouremployee app and online events and other digital materials.

e Livingwith Dignity — direct employee and community support to combat gender-based and domestic
violence; work with health authorities to identify abuse cases and referrals to support mechanisms.

e Community Response — wide-ranging livelihoods programme to support communities through the
socialand economic effects ofthe pandemic, including: public information campaigns aimed at health
and hygiene;health screeningand COVID-19 testing; support for health service provision;
continuation of essential services (e.g. water, energy, accommodation); food package distribution;
employee match-giving programme; supportfor SMEs and entrepreneurs; support for teachers and
students; job training for post-pandemic employability; regional development planning to enhance
localeconomic activity for the longterm.

Safety

The safety of our people is always front of mind. Making sure every employee returns home at theend ofeach
day,better forhaving worked at Anglo American, is our vision for safety and health across the business. In this
context, there have been no fatal incidents at our managed operations in the first six months of 2020— a significant
achievement, particularly duringa period of major operational disruption with theneed for wholesale logistical
changes on site due to COVID-19related health measures. Serious safety incidents are stillan issue we need to
eliminate as, while their frequency may be much reduced, the impacton individuals and their families isrealand
sometimes lifelong. The gasignition atourunderground Grosvenor metallurgical coalmine in Australia in May, in
which five of our colleagues were seriously injured, reminds us again how we must continue to improvethe safety
of everyoneassociated with Anglo American. This critical work includes going beyond regulatory requirements and
industry bestpractice, while using every available technology—and developing new technologies—to keep people
safe.

Across the globalbusiness, we recorded another all-timelow total recordable case frequencyrate, representing
a further 3% improvement on therecord low we achieved in 2019 and a 62% improvementatour managed
operations since 2013. By beingunconditional about safety, major safety incidents should be consigned to history,
aswe have shown to bepossible across mostof our working locations. And while the first half 02020 was ourbest
overallsafety performance in our history, our progress strengthens our determination to deliver on ourclear
commitmentto zero ham.

Health

Supporting the overall health and well-being of our employees, mitigating workplace health risks and
promoting community health are therefore critical and longstanding commitments forus, embedded in our
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Sustainable Mining Plan. In 2019, we re-framed our approach to whatwe call Total Health. Total Health is adapted
from the World Health Organization’s Healthy Workplace Model and provides our framework for managing health
and wellness at Anglo American. We continue with our world-leading HIV/AIDS and TB-management
programmes and are seeing further declines in the incidence rates of these and other lifestyle diseases. Atthe end of
2019, we succeeded in reaching the first two objectives under the UNAIDS 90/90/90 targetforallemployees at
Anglo American operations where we have data available. 94% of employees know their HI'V status, and 92% of
those identified as HIV positive are having anti-retroviral treatment. The proportion of ouremployees with viral
loads so lowas to be undetectable currently varies between 80%and 90%. We know that a healthy workforce
comes from a healthy community and our innovative sustainability programme commits us to working with host
communities and governments to achieve the health targets in the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals.

Inclusion and Diversity

More broadly, creating a moreinclusive and diverse workplaceis business-critical forus anda key component
in building a sustainable and healthy business. Underpinned by our Code of Conductand values, our global
inclusion and diversity policy and mandatory leadership training set out the behaviors we expectof all our
colleagues. While we recognize that we havea longjourney ahead of us in many instances, we believe thatwe
should be providing more opportunities in the workplaceto people whohave physical and learning difficulties and
issues relatingto mental health, forexample. We have establisheda number of colleague networks in supportof
greaterinclusivity across its many dimensions in the UK, Australia, Chile and South Africa, and are partnering with
the Business Disability Forum and Mental Health First Aid England. Genderimbalanceis prevalentin the mining
industry and we have set clear pathways to greater female representation, including through recruitmentand talent
development. Theexecutive team, supported by the Board, is committed to promoting aninclusive culture, with
equality of opportunity for all—regardless of gender, race, ethnicity, sexual orientation or disa bility—enabling us to
appoint the right personto theright role, so that everyone canbring their full self to work.

FutureSmart Mining ™

At the heart of our strategy lies our FutureSmart Mining™ programme where technology, digita lization and our
ambitious Sustainable Mining Plan are working together to fundamentally change the physical processes of mining,
ourimpact on the environmentand how our stakeholders experience us. Our FutureSmart Mining™ programme
brings together step-change innovation in technology, digitalization and sustainability—working hand in hand
towards a more sustainable mining configuration. Forinstance, several of ournew technologies are aimed at
targetingthe metal or mineral more precisely, with much less waste rock, and lower water and energy intensity,
while others are intended to ensure that ourpeople are safely outof ham’s way. These physical and digital
technologies are allaboutmining sustainably.

Sustainable Mining

Our Sustainable Mining Plan, integral to FutureSmart Mining™, commits us to a series of ambitious goals over
thenextdecade. These goalsrelateto threemajorareas of sustainability aligned to the UN’s Sustainable
Development Goals: trusted corporate leader (i.e. advocating for the higheststandards of governance to drive
transparency and trust in mining and mined products); thriving communities; and healthy environment. While our
environmental goals will rely on many of the technologies we are deploying, we are also thinking innovatively to
create regional ecosystems of sustainable economic activity, collaborating with appropriate development partners.
The implementation of our Sustainable Mining Plan gathered pace in 2019, including in relation to addressing
society’s most pressing challenge—climate change—and to consumers’ desire to understand the provenance ofthe
products that they buy. Aswe work towards our vision of carbon-neutral mining, we have committed to using 100%
renewable energy from 2021 in Chile, for example; and we have committed to thehighest standards of ethical
productionby puttingall our managed mines through rigorous social and environmental responsibility certification
processes by 2025, starting with our Unki PGMs mine in Zimbabwe.

Environment

Our environmental performance improved significantly in 2019, and we continue to improve in 2020. However,
we did record one Level 3 environmental incident at PGMs’ basemetals refinery in South Africa, relatingto an
overflow from a storage pond due to excessive rainfall. Appropriate short term corrective and remedial a ctions were

completedand we are implementing further actions to preventrepeat incidents of this nature across the Group.

Our Sustainable Mining Plan includes commitments tobe a leader in environmental stewardship. By 2030, we
aim to: reduce GHG emissions by 30% againsta 2016 baseline; improve energy efficiency by 30%; achievea 50%
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net reduction in freshwater abstraction; and deliver net-positive impacts in biodiversity wherever we operate. In
addition, by 2040, we are aiming to be carbonneutral across our operations.

Climate change

Climate change is one of the defining challenges of ourtime. Aswe live up to our purpose to re-imagine
miningto improvepeople’s lives, it is incumbent uponus to be part ofa globalsolution. In 2019, a key focus has
been the analytical work to understand our emission footprint. Today, we have a clear view of the challenges and
opportunities for carbon-neutrality in the differentregions where we operate. Eachsite will require a tailored
approach,and, in some cases, we will need to develop new technology to drastically reduce our emissions.

In2019, our operations were responsible for 17.7 million tonnes of CO»-equivalentemissions (Mt COse). This
represents a 9% increase compared with 2018, and a 24%reduction against our BAU scenario, which meets our
2020 target a yearahead of schedule. Ourtotal energy consumption increased to 86.5 million GJ (2018: 83.9
million GJ). Thisrepresents a 3% increase compared with 2018, and a 5% reductiona gainst our BAU scenario.
The change in energy isas a result of increased demand with the return to productionatMinas-Rio, the progress at
Quellaveco, and lower consumption at Los Bronces, with droughtimpacting production, and from Venetia’s
transition to underground mining. In 2019, we improved the methodology to estimate our Scope 3 emissions, which
are emissions that occur from thetransport and use ofour products. We have estimated our Scope 3 emissions for
2019 at226 Mt COze, which for the first timeincludes a portfolio-wide calculation.

Biodiversity

We have set anambitious targetof a measurable net positive impact (NPI) on biodiversity as a result of Anglo
American’s activities, and aremoving quickly to putthis vision into practice.

Actively managing our impact onbiodiversity is essential forreducingrisk, and ensuring that Anglo American
is able to access land forminingin the future. Our NPI target means that any impacton biodiversity owingto Anglo
American’s activities mustbe outweighed by the biodiversity gains that we achieve. Forthis strategy to be
meaningful, we need to assess our full biodiversity impactrigorously, ensure plans are in place to minimize that
impact, rehabilitate land, and takea ppropriate offsetting measures. During2019, we made important progress in
applyingournew biodiversity technical standard, which we launched at theend 0f2018. We have also worked to
identify the partnerships that we need with conservation a gencies, governments, local communities and non-
governmental organisations (NGOs), to deliver projects thatappropriately balance our impact.

Water

Waterisa vitalresource for our operations and our communities alike, and the Group have taken important
steps to improve the way we define, accountandreportour wateruse. The Group take a catchment-wide, risk-based
approachto water management, addressing the risks of flooding, discharge, water scarcity, mine dewatering and
contamination. In2016,the Group launcheda new Group Water Management Standard that transformed theway
we assess and control our waterrisks and how we find opportunities for collaborative solutions with communities.
In 2019, the Group progressed with the completion of our water balances, improved site-wide water balances at
multiple sites and initialregional balances in Braziland South Africa. We expectallsitesto have completed water
balances with high-quality data by the end 0f2020.

Mine Closure and rehabilitation

The end of a mine’s operational life is far from beingtheend ofits social and environmental impact. Anglo
Americanrecognizes that it has a responsibility to close mines in a way that leaves a positive, healthy and
sustainable legacy. Takingthe lead onclosureand rehabilitation planning will havea positive effecton people’s
lives and on our financial performance.

Mineral Residue Facilities Management
Managementand storage of waste rock and the processed mineral residue known as tailings is a criticalissue
forourindustry. [trepresents a social, safety and environmental challenge that we are determined to meet.

Mineralresidue from mining includes both the waste rock from which we extractthe ore, and themineral
residue that remains after we processit. Tailings are the materials left over followingtheprocessing of mined ore
that separates the valuable metals or minerals from the host rock. Tailings are not thesameas wasterock, which
refers to material thatsurrounds an orebody and is displaced duringminingbutis not processed. Tailings canbe
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stored in mined-out pits or in underground mine openings, provided the groundwater impacts can be managed.
Often, theyare stored in specially constructed above-ground tailings storage facilities (TSFs). TSFs forwet tailings
are referred to as tailings dams, and TSFs for dry tailings are referred to as dry stacks. Where possible, we store
mineralresidue in dry stacks and in mined-outareas, which reduces both safety risks and impact onthe
environment.

Our Mineral Residue Facilities and Water Management team provides the strategic direction and technical
support tomanagethe risks associated with the TSFs. The team owns ourupdated Group Technical Standard,
which sets out five key requirements for facilities:

e Every facility must have a consequence classification of structure rating based onthe consequences of
credible failure modes. We base design, monitoringand surveillance requirements onthis rating.

e Every operation with a major or high-rated structure must have a competent person in charge, meeting
the competencies set out in the standard.

e Every facility must have an engineer of record working continuously with the owners, to ensure that
the structure is constructed and operated according to thedesign intent, and that it performs in line with
expectations.

e Anindependent technical review panel (TRP) of senior external engineers must conduct systematic,
ongoingreviews of each majororhigh rated facility. In 2019, we completed TRP appointments and
site visits at De Beers Canada, De Beers Consolidated Mines, and Debswana. Our Quellaveco copper
project in Peru, which is still under construction, received a second independent review in September
2019.

e Every facility must have a minimum set of 25 required documents and studies, signed off, including
design criteria and engineering documents, operation, maintenance and surveillance manuals, risk-
assessment and emergency-response plans, and permit and incident registers.

Anglo American also welcomes the newly released Global Industry Standard on Tailings Management
(“GISTM”). Our internal Technical Standard is well aligned with the GISTM and a structured approachis to be
planned forits Group-wide implementation.

In total, Anglo American manages 91 tailings storage facilities (TSFs), of which 40 are in active use, 33 are
inactive orin care and maintenance, and 18 are closed orrehabilitated. We take a holistic approachto thesafety of
ourtailings dams, which starts with our technical standards on design, monitoring, inspectionand surveillance, and
includes the way that we communicate with people livingnearthedams. Aspartofourupdated Social Way
management system, where relevant, we require sites to develop emergency preparedness plans and run drills with
local communities.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT OF ANGLO AMERICANPLC

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board provides leadership to the Groupandis collectively responsible for promoting and sa feguarding the
longterm success of the business. The Board is supported by a number of committees, to whichit has delegated
certain powers. Somedecisions are sufficiently material thatthey canonly be made by the Board as a whole
(including, amongother things, approval of business plans, budgets and material expenditure).

The Chairman, Stuart Chambers leads the Board, and is responsible for ensuring it works constructively asa
team. Mark Cutifaniis the chief executive and is responsible for the execution of strategy and the day-to-day

management of the Group, supported by the Group Management Committee (“GMC”) which he chairs.

The Company has adopted the Statementof Division of Responsibilities between the Chairman and Chief
Executive promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators. Itisthe Board’s view that the
Company has complied throughoutthe year with the UK Corporate Governance Codeissued by the Financial

Reporting Councilin July 2018.

The business is organized to reflect our values of integrity and accountability, helpingus to work together while
meeting the highest standards of governance. The Boardhas a strongindependentelement and currently comprises
the Chairman, three executive directors and eight independentnon-executivedirectors. The Board has a wide range
of skills and experience which contribute to thelongterm sustainable success of Anglo American. The Board is
supported by the Group general counsel and company secretary.

Conflicts of Interest

If directors become aware thatthey havea potential or actual direct or indirect interest in an existingor
proposedtransaction with Anglo American, they are required to notify the Board at thenext Board meetingorby a
written declaration. Directors and members of the GMC and its subcommittees have a continuing duty to update
any changes in their interests.

No potential conflicts of interest exist between each of the Directors’ duties to Anglo American plc and his or
herprivate interests or other duties other thanas reflected above.

Composition of the Board of Directors

There were a number of changes tothe Board in 2020,2019 and 2018, as described below.

At the conclusionof Anglo American’s Annual General Meeting (“AGM”)on May5,2020 Dr Mphu
Ramatlapeng, a non-executive director since July 2013, stepped down from the Board. Upon stepping down from

the Board, Dr Ramatlapengresigned from the Sustainability Committee.
Nonkululeko Nyembezijoined the Board as a non-executivedirector on January 1,2020.
Hixonia Nyasulu joined the Board as a non-executive director on November 1,2019.

On August 31,2019 Nolitha Fakude, a non-executive director of Anglo Americansince 2017, stepped down
from the Board, to takeup anexecutive role for Anglo Americanas Chairman of Anglo American’s management
board in South Africa. Uponstepping down from the Board, Nolitha Fakude stepped down from the Audit,
Nomination and Sustainability Committees.

Marcelo Bastos joined the Board as a non-executive directoron April 1,2019.

Dr Byron Grote, non-executive director since 2013 and Chair of the Audit Committee since 2014, succeeded Sir
Philip Hampton as Senior Independent Directoron January 1,2019.

Ian Ashby, non-executive directorsince 2017, succeeded Jack Thompson as Chair of the Sustainability
Committee on April30,2019.

Anne Stevens, non-executivedirector since 2012, succeeded Sir Philip Hamptonas Chair of the Remuneration
Committee onJanuary 1,2019.

In September 26,2018, Anglo American announced that non-executive directors Sir Philip HamptonandJack
Thompson would stepdown from the Board. Sir Philip Hamptonresigned on December31,2018 and Jack

Thompson resignedatthe AGM on April30,2019.
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The names and biographical details of the directors are set forth below. The business address of each Director
is 20 Carlton House Terrace, LondonSW1Y 5SAN, England.

Executive Directors

Mark Cutifani, ChiefExecutive, BE (Mining-Hons), FAusIMM, FREng, CEngFIMMM, DBA (Hon), DoL
(Hon) (62),appointed to the Boardas Chief Executive on April 3,2013. Mark contributes to Anglo Americanover
40 years’ experience of themining industry across a wide range of geographies and commodities. Mark is Chair of
the Group Management Committee (GMC), is a non-executive director of Anglo American Platinum, chairmanof
Anglo American South Africa and chairman ofDe Beers. Mark was previously CEO of AngloGold Ashanti
Limited, a positionhe held from 2007-2013. Beforejoining AngloGold Ashanti, Mark was COO at Vale Inco where
he was responsible for Vale’s globalnickel business. Prior to this he held senior executive positions with the
Normandy Group, Sons of Gwalia, Western Mining Corporation, Kalgoorlie Consolidated Gold Mines and CRA
(Rio Tinto). Mark is also an independent director of Total S.A. and a member of the board oftrustees of The Power
of Nutrition, an independent charitable foundation.

Stephen Pearce, Finance Director, BBus (Acc), FCA, GIA,MAICD (56),appointed to the Board asFinance
Directoron April 24,2017. Stephen contributes to Anglo American almost20 years of public company director
experienceand more than 30 years’ experiencein the mining, oiland gas, andutilities industries. Stephen became a
memberofthe GMC in January 2017 and joined the Boardin April2017. He is also a non-executive director of
Anglo American Platinum and De Beers. Before joining Anglo American, Stephen servedas CFOand anexecutive
director of Fortescue Metals Group from 2010to 201 6. Prior to that, he held the positions of managing directorand
CEO of Southern Cross Electrical Engineering Ltd and was CFO of Alinta Ltd. Stephen previously servedasanon-

executive director of Cedar Woods Properties Ltd. Stephenisalso a non-executivedirector of BAE Systems plc.

Tony O’Neill, Technical Director, MBA, BASc (Eng), FREng, FIMMM (63), appointed tothe Board as
Technical Director on July 22,2015. Tony contributes to Anglo American almost 40 years’ experience in the mining
industry across numerous geographies, and commodities spanning iron ore, copper, nickeland gold. Tonyjoined
Anglo American in September 2013 and has responsibility for the Technicaland Sustainability function. He isa
member of the GMC and a non-executive director of Anglo American Platinum and De Beers. Tony was previously
Executive Vice President— Business and Technical Developmentat AngloGold Ashanti Limited from 2008, where
he served asjointacting CEO during2013. His extensive career in the mining industry includes roles as Operations
Executive atNewcrest Miningand Head of the Gold Business at Western Mining Corporation.

Non-Executive Directors

Stuart Chambers, Chairman, BSc (63), appointed to the Board on September 1,2017 andas Chairmanon
November1,2017. Heis also Chairman ofthe Nomination Committee and a member of the Sustainability
Committee. Stuart bringsto Anglo American significant global executiveand boardroom experience across the
industrial, logistics and consumer sectors. He previously served as chairman of ARM Holdings plc and Rexam plc
until2016; and as a non-executive director on the boards of Tesco PLC (2010-15), Manchester Airport Group plc
(2010-13), Smiths Group plc (2006-12) and Associated British Ports Holdings plc (2002-06). Stuart’s executive
careerincluded 13 years at Pilkingtonplc and its subsequent parent company Nippon Sheet Glassuntil2010,in a
number of executive roles and ultimately as chiefexecutive of both companies. Priorto that,he gained 10 years of
sales and marketing experience at Mars Corporation, following 10 years at Shellas a chemical engineer. Stuart has
current external appointments as Chairman of Travis Perkins plc,anda member of the UK Takeover Panel.

Ian Ashby, BEng (Mining) (62),joined theBoardon July 25,2017 and is chair of the Sustainability
Committee and a member of the Nominationand the Remuneration Committees. Ian contributes to Anglo American
substantial knowledge ofthe minerals industry across a wide range of commodities, combined with global operating,
major projects and capital developmentexperience. [an served as President of Tron Ore for BHP Billiton between
2006 and2012, when he retired from the company. During his 25-year tenure with BHP Billiton, Ian held numerous
roles in its iron ore, base metals and gold businesses in Australia, the USA, and Chile, as wellas projects roles in the
corporateoffice. He beganhis nearly 40 yearmining career as anunderground minerat the Mount Isa Mines base
metals operations in Queensland, Australia. [an has previously served as chairman of Petropavlovsk plc,and anon-
executive director of Alderon Iron Ore Corp, Nevsun Resources Ltd, New World Resources PLC and Genco
Shipping & Trading, and in an advisory capacity with Apollo Global Management and Temasek.

Marcelo Bastos, MBA, BSc (Hons) Mech Eng(57), appointedto the Boardon April 1,2019 andis a member
of the Sustainability Committee. Marcelo contributes to Anglo American more than 30 years of operationaland
project experience in the mining industry across numerous commodities and geographies, particularly in South
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America. Marcelo servedas chief operating officerof MMG between2011and 2017, responsible forthe group’s
copper, zinc, silver, lead and gold operations, and sales and marketing. In thisrole, he also led the planningand
development ofthe Las Bambas copper minein Peru. Prior to MMG, Marcelo served as president of the BHP
Mitsubishi Alliance joint venture (metallurgical coal), presidentof BHP’s Cerro Matosonickel operationin
Colombia, presidentof nickel Americas, and president of Nickel West in Australia. His early careeruntil2004 at
Vale included serving as general manager of the Carajas operations in northern Braziland he was ultimately director
forthe company’s base metals operations. Marcelois a formernon-executive director of Oz Minerals Ltd. Marcelo
currently holds external appointments as non-executive director of Aurizon Holdings Ltd, Golder Associates, and
Iluka Resources Ltd.

Dr. Byron Grote, Senior Independent Director, PhD Quantitative Analysis (72),appointed to the Board on
April 19,2013 and as Senior Independent Director on January 1,2019. Heis chairof the Audit Committee and a
member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees. Byron contributes to Anglo American broad business,
financialandboard experience in numerous geographies. In2019 he was appointed chairman of Anglo American’s
newly created Global Workforce Advisory Panel. He served onthe BP plc board from 2000 until2013 and was
BP’s chief financial officer during much of that period. He was previously a non-executive director of Unilever NV
and Unilever PLC. Byron hascurrent external appointments of Vice chairman ofthe supervisory board of Akzo
NobelNV and a non-executive director of Standard Chartered PLC and TescoPLC. A member ofthe European
Audit Committee Leadership Network and an emeritus member of the Cornell University Johnson Advisory
Council.

Hixonia Nyasulu, BA Hons (65), appointed to the Board on November 1,2019andis a member of the
Nomination Committee. Hixonia contributes to Anglo American significantglobal board experience drawn from
the natural resources, financial services and consumer industries. Hixonia has previously served as a non-executive
director on the boards of Sasol, including five years as chairman, Nedbank, Unilever NV and Unilever PLC. She
hasalso served as a member of the South Africa advisory board of JPMorganand on theboard ofthe Development
Bank of Southern Africa. In 2004, Hixonia founded Ayavuna Women’s Investments (Pty) Ltd, a female-controlled
investment holding company. Priorto that,she ranT.H. Nyasulu & Associates, a strategy, marketing and research
company, after starting her careerat Unilever in South Africa. Hixonia wasa founder member of the Advisory
Group formed by the World Economic Forum to set up a community of global chairs. Hixonia currently holds
external appointments as Senior independent director of Vivo Energy plc,as a member of the board of AGRA, and
chairs the Africa Economic Challenge Fund, both not-for-profit organisations.

Nonkululeko Nyembezi, MSc, BSc, MBA (60), appointed to the Board on January 1,2020 andis a member of
the Audit and Sustainability Committees. Nonkululeko contributes to Anglo American great breadth of technical
and strategic insights with a background in engineering and extensive experience spanning mining, steel, financial
services and technology in South African and global organisations. Until June 30,2020 Nonkululeko was chief
executive officer of Ichor Coal. N.V. She has previously served as chair of Alexander Forbes Group and asa non-
executive director on the boards of Old Mutual plc, Exxaro Resources, Universal Coal plc and Denel, and as CEO of
ArcelorMittal South Africa. In her earlier career, Nonkululeko was chiefofficer of M&A forthe Vodacom group
and chiefexecutive officer of Alliance Capital, the thenlocal subsidiary of a New York-based global investment
management company. Nonkululeko has external appointments as Chairman of JSE Limited and Macsteel Service
Centres SA, and anon-executive director of Standard Bank of South Africa Limited.

Jim Rutherford, BSc (Econ), MA (Econ)(61),appointed to the Board onNovember4,2013 andis a member
of'the Audit, Remuneration and Sustainability Committees. Jim has over25 years’ experiencein investment
management and investmentbanking. He has extensive international experience and contributes to the Board
considerable financial insight from the perspective of the capital markets and a deep understanding of the mining
industry. Jim was formerly chairman of Dalradian Resources Inc. Between 1997and 2013, he was a senior vice
president of Capital International Investors, a division of Capital Group, and had responsibility for investments in
the miningandmetals industry. Priorto joining Capital Group, Jim was an investment analystcovering the South
Americanminingand metals industry for HSBC James Capelin New York. Jim currently holds external
appointments Chairman of Centamin plc, senior independent director of Anglo Pacific Group, and a non-executive

directorof GT Gold Corp.

Anne Stevens, PhD, BSc (71),appointed to the Board on May 15,2012 and is chair of the Remuneration
Committee and a member of the Audit and Nomination Committees. Anne contributes to the Board a wealth of
experienceand wide-ranging commercial acumen from a number of global industries in North, Centraland South
America. Anne was chiefexecutiveof GKN plc from November2017 to April2018. She was formerly chairman
and CEOof SAIT Services from 201 1 untilherretirementin December2014. From 2006 t0o2009, Anne was
chairman and CEO of Carpenter Technology Corporation. Priorto this, she was COO forthe Americas at Ford
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Motor Companyuntil2006, the culmination ofher 16 year career with the company. Herearly career was spent at
Exxon Corporation, where she held roles in engineering, productdevelopment, and sales and marketing. Anneisa
formernon-executive director of Lockheed Martin Corporation, GKN plc and XL Catlin.

Dr. Mphu Ramatlapeng, MD, MHSc (67). At the conclusion of Anglo American’s AGM on May 5,2020 Dr
Mphu Ramatlapeng, a non-executive director since July 8,2013, stepped down from the Board.

Audit Committee

The Board, in consultation with the Audit Committee chairman, makes appointments to the committee.

The roles and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include monitoring the integrity of financial reports,
making recommendations to the Board concerning the adoption of theannual and interim financial statements
reviewing the independenceand effectiveness ofthe independent auditors, approving the terms ofreference ofthe
internalaudit function, monitoring the effectiveness ofthe risk management policy, reviewing the effectiveness pf
the Group’s Code of Conduct and overseeing the Group’s relations with external auditors, which in 2019 included
conducting the tender process for the external audit services and making recommendations to the Board about the
appointment, remuneration and terms of engagement ofthe external auditor. The Committee’s recommendations
are submitted to the Board forapproval.

The Audit Committee presently consists of: Byron Grote (Chair), Nonkululeko Nyembezi (appointed January
1,2020),Jim Rutherfordand Anne Stevens, all of whom areindependent non-executive directors.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for establishing and developing the Group’s general policy on
executive and senior management remuneration including determining specific remuneration packages forthe
Chairman, executive directors, members of the Group Management Committee and other senior management for
review and approvalby the Board. The Remuneration Committeealso has inputand oversight on the reward policy
forthe broader workforce and consultation with the wider work force, shareholders and other stakeholderregarding
executive remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee presently consists of: Anne Stevens (Chair), Byron Grote, Jim Rutherford and
Ian Ashby, allof whom are independentnon-executive directors.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible foragreeinga skills, diversity and experience matrix forall directors
(with the approval of the Board) to identify and address any skills gaps when recruiting new directors, making
recommendations to the Board as to the composition ofthe Board and its committees and the balance between
executive andnon-executive directors in order to maintain a diverse Board with the appropriate mix of'skills,
experience, independenceand knowledge. With the assistance of external search consultants, the Nomination
Committee is also responsible foridentifyingand reviewing, in detail, potential candidates a vailable in the market
and agreeinga ‘longlist’ of candidates for each directorship. Following further discussionandresearch, the
Nomination Committee decides upona shortlist of candidates for interview and ultimately makes a recommendation
to the Board. The Committee ensures that thehumanresources function ofthe Group regularly reviews and updates
the successionplansforthe directors and senior managers. These are presented to the Board by the chiefexecutive
(in the absence of other executive directors) and discussed.

The Nomination Committee currently consists of: Stuart Chambers (Chair), Byron Grote, Anne Stevens, [an
Ashby and Hixonia Nyasulu (appointed January 1,2020).

Sustainability Committee

The Sustainability Committee is responsible for overseeing, on behalf ofthe Board, material management
policies, processes, and strategies designed to manage sa fety, health, environmentand socio-political risks, to
achieve compliance with sustainable development responsibilities and commitments and strive for an industry
leadership position on sustainability. The committee is responsible for reviewing the causes of any fatal or
significant sustainability incidents and ensuring learnings are shared a cross the Group.

At each meeting, the committeereviews detailed reports covering the Group’s performance across a range of
sustainability areas, including: safety; health and wellness; socio-political trends; human rights; climate change; and
environmental and social performance. Significantsocial, safety, healthand environmental incidents are reviewed
ateachmeeting, as are the results from operational risk reviews.
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The Sustainability Committee presently consists of: Tan Ashby (Chair), Marcelo Bastos, Stuart Chambers,
Mark Cutifani, Nonkululeko Nyembezi (appointed January 1,2020), Tony O’Neill, and Jim Rutherford. Mphu
Ramatlapengresigned from the committee on May 5,2020.

MANAGEMENT

The GMC is supported by the Corporate Committee, the Operational Committee, Innovation Committee,
Marketing Risk Committee and the Investment Committee.

Composition of the Group Management Committee

The names and biographical details of the presentmembers of GMCare set forthbelow. The business address
of each such personis 20 Carlton House Terrace, London, SW1Y 5AN. No potential conflicts of interest exist

between the duties of each such personto Anglo American plc and his or her private interests or other duties.

Mark Cutifani is chief executive of Anglo Americanplc, see “—Composition ofthe Board of Directors—
Executive Directors”.

Stephen Pearce is finance director of Anglo Americanple, see “—Composition of the Board of Directors—
Executive Directors”.

Tony O’Neill is technical director of Anglo Americanplec, see “—Composition of the Board of Directors—
Executive Directors”.

Didier Charreton, MSc (56), Didierjoined Anglo American in December2015. He has helda number of
senior HR roles across his 30-year career. From 2007 until2014, Didier was chief humanresources officer for
Baker Hughes, the U.S.-based oilfield services company. Priorto 2007, he was HR directorat Coats plc in the UK,
and before that held a number of HR roles at Schlumberger, based in the U.S., Argentina, Venezuela and France.

Bruce Cleaver, BSc, LLB,LLM (54), Brucehas servedas CEO of De Beers Group sinceJuly 2016. He has
previously served as Group Director, Strategy and Business Developmentat Anglo American,as wellas Executive
Head of Strategy and Corporate Affairs for De Beers, havingjoined the Group in 2005. Before joining De Beers, he
was a partnerat Webber Wentzel, Africa’s largest law firm, specialising in commercial matters.

Nolitha Fakude, BA (Hons) (55) Nolitha was appointed Group Director— South Africa on 1 September2019.
From April 2017 to August 2019, she served as a non-executive director onthe Board of Anglo American ple. Until
2016, Nolitha served as an executive directorat Sasol Limited and Executive Vice President of Strategy and
Sustainability. Priorto that she held senior management positions in corporatea ffairs, strategy and operations in the
retailand financial sectors. Nolitha is a non-executive director of JSE Limited, and a Patron of Guild Cottage home
forgirls. Inhernon-executive career, she has previously served as deputy chairand lead independent director of
Datacentrix Holdings Limited, and as a non-executive director of Harmony Gold and Woolworths Holdings.

Ruben Fernandes, MsC (Metallurgical Engineering), MBA (54) Ruben was appointed CEO of Base Metals on
March 1,2019. He previously servedas CEO of Anglo American Brazil. Priorto joiningthe Group in 2012, Ruben
washeadof miningat Votorantim Metals in Brazil, responsible for projects and exploration activities around the
world, as well asoperations in Peru and Colombia. Between2009and2011,he was COO at Vale Fertilizers,
responsible forthe fertilizer operations, sales and marketing. Rubenwas also CEO of Kaolin Companies — Para
Pigments and Cadam—two subsidiaries of Vale, between 2007 and 2009, and held various analysis, marketingand
projectrolesin Vale’s Base Metals business which he joined in 1999. Between 1988 and 1998, he held several
leadershiproles in the specialalloys industry.

Seamus French, BEng (Chemical) (57) Seamus has responsibility forthe Group’s Coal, Iron Ore and Nickel
businesses. He isa non-executive director of Kumba. Seamus joined the Groupin 2007 and was CEO of
Metallurgical Coalbetween2009and2013,and CEO ofCoaluntil2015. Priorto hiscareerat Anglo American,
Seamus joined WMC Resources in Australia in 1994 in a strategic planningand business developmentrole,and
progressed to various operational managementroles, gaining extensive experience in the Gold and Nickel businesses
before beingappointed executive general manager of the Copper-Uranium division. Seamus joined BHP Billiton as
Global Vice President, Business Excellence, following its takeover of WMCin 2005.

Anik Michaud, LL.L (Law)(52) Anik has servedas Group Director— Corporate Relations sinceJune2015.
Herremit includes corporate communication, international and government relations, social performance and
engagement, the implementation ofthe Group’s Sustainable Mining Plan under the FutureSmart Mining™
programme, and the office ofthe Chief Executive. Anik joined Anglo Americanin 2008 as Group head of corporate
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communication. Priorto that, she was director of public a ffairs for Rio Tinto Alcan, following 10 years with the
Alcan group. Anik began hercareerasthepolitical attaché to the Minister of Finance for Quebec.

Themba Mkhwanazi, BEng (Chemical) Hons(50) Themba has servedas CEO of Kumba since September
2016. Priorto that,he was CEO for Anglo American’s Thermal Coal business in South Africa, havingjoined the
Group in 2014. He has extensive experiencein the resources industry, including 18 years in his native South Africa,
aswell asin the U.S.and Australia. Before joining Kumba, Thembawas managing director for Huntsman Tioxide
in South Africa until2007, when he was appointed COO of Richards Bay Minerals, a joint venture between Rio
Tinto and BHP Billiton. In 201 1, he was seconded to Rio Tinto’s Australian coal business, beforetakingup the role
of regional general manager forthe Americasin 2012.

Richard Price,LL.B,BA (Hons) (56). Richardjoined Anglo Americanas Group General Counselin May
2017 and was appointed as Company Secretary in March 2018. Priorto joining Anglo American, he was a partner
at Shearman & Sterling, the international law firm workingacross EMEA, Asia and North America. In private
practice, Richard acted for clients across the metals, mining, energy and financial services sectors, among others,
assisting them with complex financing, corporate and compliance matters.

Natascha Viljoen, BEng (Metallurgical) EMBA (cum laude) (49) Natascha is a seasoned senior executive, with
28 years’ operational experience across the mining industry, spanning different countries, metals and minerals
includingthe PGMs. Before joining Amplats, she was group head ofprocessmg for Anglo Americanplc where she
led a globalteam that hasunlocked value across the Group’s processmg operations safely and with a long-term
perspective, recognising their critical commercial place in the mining value chain. Priorto joining Anglo American,
Natascha wasexecutive vicepresidentof processingat Lonmin. She beganhercareerasan engineerat Iscor. She
hasheld leadership positions at AngloGold and was general manager of BHP’s Klipspruit Colliery beforejoining
Lonmin in 2008. Nataschajoined Anglo American Platinum on April 1,2020 and the Group Management
Committee of Anglo Americanplc on April 16,2020.

Duncan Wanblad, BSc (Eng) Mech, GDE (Eng Management) (53) Duncan led our Base Metals business as
CEO from 2013 to 2019, and took on the Strategy and Business Developmentportfolio as Group Directorin 2016.
He is a non-executive director of De Beers and Kumba. Between 2009and 2013, Duncanheld theposition of
Group Director— Other Miningand Industrial. He was appointed joint interim CEO of Anglo American Platinum in
2007 (havingserved on theboard since 2004), before takingoveras CEO of Anglo American’s Copper operations
in 2008. Duncanbeganhis careerat Johannesburg Consolidated Investment Company Limited in 1990.

Peter Whitcutt, BCom (Hons), CA (SA), MBA (54) Peterhas servedas CEO of Marketing since January
2016. Heis a non-executive director of De Beers. Peterjoinedthe Group in 1990 within the Corporate Finance
division. He worked on the merger of Minorco with Anglo American Corporationof South Africa, thelistingof
Anglo American plc in 1999 and the subsequentunwinding of the cross-holding with De Beers. Peterwas
appointed Group Head of Financein 2003, CFO of Base Metals in August 2008 and from 2013 to 2015, he served as
Group Director— Strategy, Business Developmentand Marketing.

Chris Griffith, BEng (Mining) Hons, PrEng (55) Chris served as a member of the GMC during the year,
before steppingdownas CEO of Anglo American Platinum on April 16,2020.

Management Committees
Group Management Committee

The GMC is the principal executive committee. It is responsible for formulating strategy, setting targets and
budgets and managing the Group’s portfolio.

The names and biographical details of the current members are shown above. Thebusiness address ofeach
memberis 20 Carlton House Terrace, LondonSW1Y 5AN, England.

Corporate Committee

The Corporate Committee reviews corporate and ethical policies and processes, and financial performance and
budgets atbusiness unit level.
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Operational Committee

The Operational Committee is responsible for driving operational best practices across the Group andthe
setting of technical standards.

Investment Committee

The Investment Committee is responsible for making recommendations on capital investment proposals.

Marketing Risk Committee

The Marketing Risk Committeeis responsible for evaluating, monitoring, directing and controlling the
management of risk associated with the sales and marketingactivities of the Group.

Innovation Committee

The Innovation Committee is responsible for the governance oftechnology innovation projects.

Dates of Appointment and Re-election
ExecutiveDirectors)

The following table summarizes the executive directors’ date ofappointment and the applicable date of re-
election or election to the Board:

Next AGM
re-election or
Date of appointment election
Mark Cutifani (chief executive) .......... April 3,2013 May 2021
Stephen Pearce (finance director)......... April 24,2017 May 2021
Tony O’Neill (technical director) July 22,2015 May 2021

(1) At each AGM all directors shall retire from office.
Non-Executive Directors®®®)

All non-executive directors have letters of appointment with the Company for an initial period ofthree years
from their date of appointment, subjectto reappointmentat the AGM.

The following table summarizes the non-executive directors’ date ofappointment and the applicable date of re-
election orelection to the Board:

Next AGM
Date of re-election or
appointment election
Nonkululeko Nyembezi............................ January 1,2020 May 2021
Hixonia Nyasulu.........ccccccvvvviiiiiiiiininnnnn. November 1,2019 May 2021
Marcelo Bastos...........evvvvvvvevereeeiiiennninnnnnns April 1,2019 May 2021
Stuart Chambers.. September 1,2017 May 2021
Tan Ashby ..ooeviiiiiiiii, July 25,2017 May 2021
Jim Rutherford.........ccccovvvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn, November4,2013 May 2021
Byron Grote..... April 19,2013 May 2021
Anne Stevens May 15,2012 May 2021

(1) At each AGM, all directors shall retire from office.

(2) There is a one month notice period; however, the Group may in accordance with, and subject to, the provisions ofthe 2006 Companies Act,
by Ordinary Resolution of which special notice has been given, remove any director from office. The Company’s Articles of Association
also permit the directors, under certain circumstances, to remove a director from office.

(3) Mphu Ramatlapeng resigned at the AGM held on May 5, 2020.
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EMPLOYEES

Our employees are essential to the long-term success of the Group. We continue to invest in the development
of ourpeople andstrive to ensurethat we are positioned to attract andretain the bestminingand other talent.

The table below sets forth theaverage number of employees, excluding contractors and associates’ employees
and jointventures’ employees and including a proportionate share of employees within joint operations, by segment.

Year-ended December 31,

2017 2018 2019
(thousands)
DI BOIS ettt e ettt e et e ee e e e ettt eeeeetttu————aeeeetttt——aeatettt———aaetettttaaaeeerataas 10 10 9
Copper.... 4 4 4
PGMs ..... 36 33 31
Iron Ore.. 8 8 9
Coal..coovvviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiie, 9 7 7
Nickel and Manganese. 1 1 1
Corporate and Other............. 1 12
o171 DO U U TP P U PP PUUPPRPTNY 69 64 63

The table below sets forththeaverage number of employees excluding contractors and associates’ andjoint
ventures’ employees andincludinga proportionate share of employees within joint operations, by principal location
of employment.

Year-ended December 31,

2017 2018 2019
(thousands)

Lo L1 (N [ IO USSP 52 47 45
OBNET ATTICA. . .oiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeee et 4 4 4
8 8 8

1 1 1

2 2 3
2 2 2
69 64 _63

Fordetail of the Group’s retirement benefits, please see Note 27 to the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial
Statements, which are incorporated by reference in this document.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group has a related party relationship with its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

The Group, in the ordinary course of business, enters into various sale, purchase and service transactions with
joint ventures and associates and others in which the Group has a materialinterest. Thesetransactions are under
terms that are no less favorable than those arranged with third parties.

Dividends received from associatesand joint ventures during the year ended December 31,2019 totaled
US$520 million. Dividendsreceived from associates andjoint ventures during the yearended December31,2018
totaled US$737 million. Dividends received from associates andjoint ventures during the yearend December31,
2017 totaled US$506 million.

At December31,2019,the Group had providedloans to joint ventures of US$230 million. At December31,
2018, the Group hadprovided loans to joint ventures of US$22 1 million. At December31,2017,the Grouphad

provided loans to joint ventures of US$230 million.
There were no material related party transactions the Issuer entered into in 2020.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH SIYANDA

On February 1,2018, the Group completed thesale of its interestin the Union platinum mine and its interest in
MASA Chrome Company (Pty) Limited to a subsidiary of Siyanda Resources Proprietary Limited (“Siyanda”) for
consideration comprising upfront cash of ZAR400 million (approximately US$34 million) and deferred
consideration based on the operation’s cumulative free cash flow generationovera tenyear period. The transaction
was a smallerrelated party transactionunder FCA Listing Rules as Siyanda is a 30% associate ofthe Public
Investment Corporation, a substantial shareholder of Anglo American, and Siyanda is a 49.9% shareholder in Masa
Chrome Company (Pty) Limited, a subsidiary of Anglo American.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH THE INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

On August 1,2018, the Group completed thesale, by its 73 %-held subsidiary Anglo American Inyosi Coal
(Proprietary) Limited, of New Largo in South Africa to New Largo Coal Proprietary Limited (the “Purchaser”),
which is owned by Seriti Resources Proprietary Limited and Coalzar Proprietary Limited, two companies majority
owned and controlledby HDSAs, and the IDC.

The consideration payable for New Largo was ZAR850 million (approximately US$71 million). The
transactionwas a smallrelated party transactionunder FCA Listing Rules as the IDC, a substantial shareholder in
Anglo American’s subsidiary Kumba, is a shareholder in the Purchaser. The Transaction was subject tothe
requirements of FCA Listing Rule 11.1.10R, due to aggregation with the related party transaction in respect of
Union platinum mine and MASA Chrome Company (Pty) Limited involving the Public Investment Corporation, an
associateof theIDC, both of which are ultimately controlled by the Government of South Africa.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH THE PUBLIC INVESTMENT CORPORATION

On July 17,2018 Anglo Americanreported that its 79.4% owned subsidiary, Anglo American Platinum
Limited, announced its subsidiary, Anglo Platinum Marketing Limited (“APML”), had subscribed for interests in
two UK based venture capital funds (the “Funds”), with a total a ggregate commitment of US$ 100 million. Anglo
American Platinum’s commitment to the Funds was matched by a US$ 100 million commitment from South Africa’s
Government Employees Pension Fund represented by the Public Investment Corporation SOC Ltd (“PIC”). The
transactionwas a smallerrelated party transactionunder FCA ListingRule 11 asthe PICis a substantial shareholder

in Anglo American. Thetransactionwas therefore subject to the requirements of FCA ListingRule 11.1.10R.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION WITH MITSUBISHI

Anglo American announced on July 26,2018, that its Boardhad approved the development of the Quellaveco
copperproject in Peru. This follows the completion ofthe transaction announced in June 2018, whereby Mitsubishi
increased its interest in AAQSA, which owns the Quellaveco project, to 40% via the issuance of new shares. The
expected capital cost of the development was updated as part of the 2020 interim results presentationto US$5.3
billion to US$5.5 billion. The capitalcost willbe funded on an attributable basis: 60% by Anglo Americanand
40% by Mitsubishi, with the initial subscription by Mitsubishi to increase its interest reducing Anglo American’s
share of capital contributions to AAQSA forthe development of the Quellaveco projectby US$500 million andan
additional US$351 million to fundits initial share of capital expenditure, resulting in a total subscription of US$851
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million. The transactionwas a smallerrelated party transactionunder FCA ListingRule 11 as Mitsubishiis a
related party of Anglo American. The transaction was therefore subjectto the requirements of FCA Listing Rule
11.1.10R.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT
Remunemationandbenefits of key management personnelare given in Note 26 to the 2019 Group Consolidated

Financial Statements. Information relating to pension fund arrangements is disclosed in Note 27 to the 2019 Group
Consolidated Financial Statements.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE NOTES AND THE GUARANTEES

The following is a summary of thematerial provisions of the Indenture and the Notes. Copies of the Indenture,
the Guarantees and the Notes will be available for inspection during normal business hours at any time after the
closingdate of the offering of the Notes at the London offices of the Trustee, which are currently located at
Citigroup Centre, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB. Any capitalizedtermused herein but not defined shall have the
meaning assignedto suchtermin the Indenture.

GENERAL

The US$1,000,000,000 2.625% Senior Notesdue 2030 (the “2030 Notes™) and the US$500,000,0003.950%
Senior Notes due 2050 (the “2050 Notes” and together with the 2030 Notes, the “Notes”) will be issued and treated
astwo separateseries of debtsecurities under anIndenture datedas of April 8,2009, as supplemented by the first
supplemental indenture datedas of April 2,2012 and the second supplemental indenture datedas ofMay 14,2015
(together, the “Indenture”), among Anglo American Capital plc (the “Issuer”), Anglo Americanplc (the
“Company”’)and Citibank, N.A., as trustee (the “Trustee”), London paying agent and registrar (the “Agent”).

The Indenture is not required to be nor will it be qualified underthe U.S. Trust Indenture Act of 1939, as
amended (the “Trust Indenture Act”),and will not incorporate by reference any of the provisions of the Trust
Indenture Act. Consequently, the Holders of Notes generally will not be entitled to the protections provided under
such Actto holders of debtsecurities issued under a qualified indenture, including those requiring the Trustee to
resign in the eventof certain conflicts of interestand to inform the Holders of Notes of certain relationships between
it and the Issuer orthe Company. In this “Description of theNotes and the Guarantees”, theterms “Holder”,
“Noteholder”and other similarterms referto a “registered holder” of Notes, andnotto a beneficial owner of a book-

entry interest in any Notes, unless the context otherwise clearly requires.

BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., Santander Investment
Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Corp. and Scotia Capital (USA) Inc. (together, the “Initial Purchasers™)
propose to resellthe Rule 144 A Global Notes in registered form to certain institutions in the United States in
reliance upon Rule 144A. The Rule 144 A Global Notes may not be sold or otherwise transferred exceptpursuant to
registration under the Securities Act orin accordance with Rule 144A or pursuant to Rule 904 of Regulation S
thereunderorin a resale transaction that is otherwise exempt from such registration requirements, and will beara
legend to this effect. In light of current U.S. securities laws, subjectto certain exceptions, an exemption should be
available fora sale ortransfer of a Rule 144 A Global Note afterits Specified Date. The “Specified Date” means,
with respect to any Rule 144A Global Note, the date following the expiration of theapplicable required holding
period determined pursuant to Rule 144 under the Securities Act (such period, the “applicable holding period”) a fter
the later of the date ofacquisition of such Rule 144A Global Note from the Issuer, oran affiliateof the Issuer, orany
resale of such Rule 144A Global Note in reliance on Rule 144 under the Securities Act fortheaccountof eitherthe
acquirer orany subsequentholder of such Rule 144 A Global Note, in each case demonstrated to the reasonable
satisfaction of the Issuer orthe Company (whichmay require delivery oflegalopinions). Unlessa Holderofa
Rule 144 A Global Note holds such Rule 144A Global Note for the entire applicable holding period, such Holder
may not be able to determine the Specified Date because such Holdermaynotbe able to determine the last date on
which the Issuer, the Company or any affiliate thereof was thebeneficial owner of such Holder’s Rule 144A Global
Note. The registrars and thetransfer agents for the Notes will not be required to accept forregistration or transfer
any Rule 144 A Global Notes, exceptupon presentation of satisfactory evidence (which may include legal opinions)
that therestrictions on transfer have been complied with, all in accordance with such reasonable regulations as the
Issuerandthe Company may from time to time agree with suchregistrars and the transfer agents.

Forso longasany Notes remain outstanding and are “restricted securities” within themeaning of
Rule 144(a)(3)underthe Securities Act, the Company will, during any period in which it is neither subject to
Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, nor exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Exchange
Act,makeavailable to any registered Holder of Notes (orany Holder of a book-entry interest in such Notes
designated by the registered holder thereof) in connection with any sale thereofand to any prospective purchaser of
Notes ora book-entry interestin Notes designated by such registered holder, in each case uponrequestof such
registered holder, the information specified in, and meeting therequirements of, Rule 144A(d)(4) under the
Securities Act. As of the date ofthis document, the Company is exempt from reporting pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b)
underthe Exchange Act.

The Regulation S Global Notes will be resold by the Initial Purchasers only to non-U.S. persons located outside
the United States in offshore transactions in reliance on Regulation S.
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PRINCIPAL, MATURITY AND INTEREST

The Notes will be unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and will be unconditionally
guaranteed on a senior, unsecured basis by the Company (the “Guarantees’). The 2030 Notes and the 2050 Notes
are initially issuable in aggregate principal amounts not to exceed US$ 1,000 million and US$500 million,
respectively,and willmature on September 10,2030 and September 10,2050, respectively. The 2030 Notes and the
2050 Notes will bearinterest at 2.625%and 3.950%, respectively, per annum from the date ofthe initialissuance of
such Notes or from the mostrecent interest payment date to whichinteresthas been paid or provided for. Interest on
the Notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on March 10 and September 10, commencingMarch 10,2021, to the
person in whose name any 2030 Noteor 2050 Note, as applicable, is registered at the close of business on February
25 or August 25 (whether ornot a business day) immediately preceding such interest payment date (each,a “record
date”), notwithstanding any transfer or exchange of such Notes subsequentto the record date and priorto such
interest payment date, except that, if and to the extent the Issuer shall default in the payment of the interest due on
such interest paymentdate and the applicable graceperiod shallhave expired, such defaulted interestmay, at the
option of the Issuer, be paid to the persons in whose names Notesare registeredatthe close ofbusinessona
subsequent record date (which shallnot be less than fivedays which arebusiness days in New York City priorto the
date ofpayment of such defaulted interest) established by notice given by mailby oron behalf ofthe Issuerto the
Holders (which term means registered holders) of the 2030 Notes orthe 2050 Notes, as applicable, notless than
fifteen days preceding such subsequent record date. Interest willbe computed onthe basis of a 360-day year
consisting of twelve 30-day months and in the case ofanincomplete month, thenumber of days elapsed. Ifthe date
on which any interest payment or principal payment is to be madeisnot a business day in New York City and the
place of paymentof such interest or principal, such paymentwill be made onthe nextday whichis a business day in
New York City andthe placeof payment of such interest or principal without any further interest or other amounts
beingpaid or payable in connection therewith.

FORM AND DENOMINATION

The Notes will be issued in fully registered form and only in denominations of US$200,000 and integral
multiples of US$1,000 in excess thereof. The Notes will be issued initially as GlobalNotes.

FURTHER ISSUES

The Issuermay, from time to time, without noticeto or the consentof the Holders of the Notes, issue as many
distinct series of debt securities under the Indenture as it wishes. It mayalso from timeto time, withoutnotice to or
the consent ofthe Holders of the Notes, “reopen” each series of the Notes and create and issue additional notes
havingidentical terms and conditions as the 2030 Notes orthe 2050 Notes, as thecase may be, (orin all respects
except for the payment of interestaccruing prior to the issue date of such additional notes or except for the first
paymentof interest following the issue date of such additionalnotes) so thatthe additionalnotes are consolidated
and fom a single series of notes with the 2030 Notes orthe 2050 Notes, as thecase may be, (a “Further [ssue”™);
provided thatany additional notes which have the same CUSIP, ISIN or otheridentifyingnumber as the outstanding
Notes must be fungible with such outstanding Notes for U.S. federal incometax purposes.

The period of resale restrictions applicable to any Notes previously offered and sold in reliance on Rule 144A
shallautomatically be extended to thelast day ofthe period ofany resale restrictions imposed on any such additional
notes.

STATUS OF THE NOTES AND THE GUARANTEES

The Notes will be unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuerand will rank paripassu in right of
paymentamong themselves and with other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the [ssuer (sa ve for
certain obligations required tobe preferred by law). Uponissue, the Company willunconditionally guarantee, on a
senior, unsecured basis, the dueand punctual payment (andnotcollectability) of the principal of and interest on the
Notes (and the paymentof additional amounts described under “—Payment of Additional Amounts”) when and as
the sameshallbecome due and payable, whether at stated maturity, by declaration of acceleration, call for
redemptionorotherwise. The Guarantees will be an unsecured and unsubordinated obligation ofthe Company and
will rank pari passuin right of payment with other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness of the Company
(save forcertain obligations required to be preferred by law).
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PAYMENT OF ADDITIONAL AMOUNTS

The Issueror, if applicable, the Company (pursuant to theterms of the Guarantees) will makepayments of, orin
respect of, principal, any premium and intereston the Notes or any payment pursuant to the Guarantees, as thecase
may be, without withholding or deduction for oron accountof anyandall present or future tax, levy, impost or
other governmental charge whatsoever imposed, assessed, levied or collected (“Taxes”) by or fortheaccountofa
Relevant Jurisdiction (as defined below), unless such withholding or deductionis required by law.

Ifthe Issueror,if applicable, the Company is required by a Relevant Jurisdiction to deduct or withhold Taxes,
the Issueror, if applicable, the Company willpay to a Holder of a Noteorthe beneficial owner thereof such
additionalamounts (“Additional Amounts”) as may be necessary so thatthe netamount received by such Holder or
beneficial owner will not be less than theamount such Holder or beneficial owner would have received if such
Taxeshadnotbeenwithheld or deducted; provided, however, thatthe Issuer or, if applicable, the Company shallnot

berequired to pay any Additional Amounts for oron accountof:

)

(if)

(iii)
(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

any Taxes that wouldnothavebeenso imposed, assessed, levied or collected but for the fact that the
Holder orbeneficial owner of the applicable Note or Guarantee (ora fiduciary, settlor, beneficiary,
member or shareholder of, orpossessor of a power over, suchHolder orbeneficial owner, if such
Holderorbeneficial owneris an estate, trust, partnership or corporation) is orhasbeen a domiciliary,
national orresident of, orengaging orhavingbeen engagedin a trade or business or maintaining or
havingmaintained a permanentestablishmentorbeing orhavingbeen physically present in the
jurisdiction in which such Taxes havebeenimposed, assessed, levied or collected or otherwise having
or having had some connection with such jurisdiction, other than the mere holding or ownership of, or
the collection of principal of, and interest on, a Noteor the enforcement of a Guarantee, as the case

may be;

any Taxes that wouldnothavebeenso imposed, assessed, levied or collected but for the fact that,
where presentationis required in order to receive payment, theapplicable Note or Guarantee was
presented more than 30 days a fter the date on which such payment becamedueand payable orwas
provided for, whicheveris later, exceptto theextentthat the Holder or beneficial owner thereof would
have beenentitled to Additional Amounts had the applicable Note or Guarantee been presented for

paymenton any day during such 30-day period;
any estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, excise, personal property or similar Taxes;

any Taxes that are payable otherwise than by deduction or withholding from payments on or in respect
of the applicable Note or Guarantee;

any Taxes that wouldnothavebeen so imposed, assessed, levied or collected but for the failure by the
Holderorthe beneficial owner of theapplicable Note or Guaranteeto comply (following a written
request addressed tothe Holder or beneficial owner, as applicable), with any certification,
identification or other reporting requirements concerning the nationality, residence or identity of such
Holderorbeneficial owner or its connection with a RelevantJurisdiction if compliance is required by
statute, regulation or administrative practice of such Relevant Jurisdictionas a condition to relief or

exemption from such Taxes;

any withholding or deduction required to be made from a payment pursuant to Sections 1471-1474 of
the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as of theissue date (orany amended or successor version)
(the “Code”),any currentor future regulations or official interpretations thereof, any
intergovernmental a greement between a non-U.S. jurisdiction and the United States with respectto the
foregoing, any similarlaw orregulations adopted pursuantto such anintergovernmental a greement or
any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code; or

any combination ofthe Taxes described in (i) through (vi)above.

In addition, Additional Amounts will not be paid in respect ofany payment in respect of the applicable Notes or
Guarantees to any Holder or beneficial owner of theapplicable Notes or Guarantees that is a fiduciary, a partnership,
a limited liability company or any person other than the sole beneficial owner of such payment to theextent such
paymentwould berequired by thelaws of a Relevant Jurisdiction to be included, for tax purposes, in the income of
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a beneficiary or settlor with respect to such fiduciary, a member of such partnership, an interest holder in such
limited liability company ora beneficial owner that would not have been entitled to such amounts had such
beneficiary, settlor, member, interest holder or beneficial owner been the Holder of such Notes or Guarantees.

Whenever the Company refers in this document to the payment of the principal of any premium, any interest or
otheramounts to which a holder or beneficial owner is entitled, if any, on orin respect of the Notes orthe
Guarantees, unless the contextotherwise requires, the Company means to includethe payment of Additional
Amounts to theextent that, in context, Additional Amounts are, were or would be payable.

REDEMPTION
Optional Redemption

The Issuermay redeem each series of the Notes in whole orin part, at the Issuer’s option, atany time and from
time to time, priorto, in the case ofthe 2030 Notes, June 10,2030 (three months prior to thematurity date ofthe
Notes) (the “2030 Notes Par Call Date”’) and in the caseof the 2050 Notes, March 10,2050 (six months priorto the
maturity date of the Notes) (the“2050 Notes Par Call Date™),at a redemption price equal to the greater of (i) 100%
of the principalamountof the Notes to be redeemed and (ii) as determined by the Independent Investment Banker,
the sum of thepresent values ofthe applicable Remaining Scheduled Payments discounted to the date fixed for
redemption (the “Redemption Date”) ona semi-annualbasis (assuminga 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day
months orin the caseof an incomplete month, the number of days elapsed) at the Treasury Rate plus, in the case of
the 2030 Notes, 35 basis points and in the caseof the 2050 Notes, 40 basis points, together with, in each case,
accrued andunpaid intereston the principalamountof the Notes tobe redeemed to, butnotincluding, the
Redemption Date.

The Issuermayredeem the Notes in whole orin part,atits option, at any timeand from timeto time, on or
after, in the case of the 2030 Notes, the 2030 Notes Par Call Date and in the case ofthe 2050 Notes, the 2050 Notes
ParCallDate, at a redemption price equalto 100% ofthe principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed, together
with accrued and unpaid interest on the principal amount ofthe Notes to be redeemed to, but not including, the

Redemption Date.

In connection with such optional redemption, the following defined terms apply:

“Treasury Rate” means, with respect to any Redemption Date, therate per annum equalto the semi-annual
equivalentyield to maturity (computedas at thethird Business Day immediately preceding that Redemption Date)
of the Comparable Treasury [ssue, assuminga price forthe Comparable Treasury [ssue (expressedasa percentage
of its principal amount) equal to the Comparable Treasury Price forthat Redemption Date.

“Comparable Treasury [ssue” means the United States Treasury security selected by the Independent
Investment Banker that would be utilized, at thetime of selection and in accordance with customary financial
practice, in pricingnew issues of corporate debt securities of comparable maturity to the remaining term of the2030
Notes orthe 2050 Notes, as the casemay be, assuming for such purpose that the 2030 Notes mature on the
2030Notes Par Call Date andthe2050 Notes mature onthe 2050 Notes Par Call Date, as applicable.

“Comparable Treasury Price” means, with respect to any Redemption Date, (i) the average of the Reference
Treasury Dealer Quotations for that Redemption Date, a fter excluding the highest (or, if there is more thanonesuch
highest quotation , only oneof such quotations) and lowest (or, if there is more than one such lowest quotation, only
one of such quotations) of such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, or (ii) if the Independent Investment Banker
forthe Notes obtains fewer than four such Reference Treasury Dealer Quotations, the average of all such

Quotations.

“Independent Investment Banker” means one of the Reference Treasury Dealers appointed by the Issuerto act
asthe “Independent Investment Banker”.

“Remaining Scheduled Payments” means, with respect to each Noteto be redeemed, theremaining scheduled
payments of the principal thereofand interest thereon that would be due a fter therelated Redemption Date but for
such redemption, assuming for such purpose that the2030 Notes mature onthe 2030 Notes Par Call Date and the
2050 Notes mature on the 2050 Notes Par Call Date, as applicable; provided, however, that if that Redemption Date
is not an interestpayment date with respectto such Notes, the amount ofthe nextsucceeding scheduled interest
paymentthereon will be reduced by the amount of interest accrued thereon to that Redemption Date.

“Reference Treasury Dealer” means each of BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, HSBC
Securities (USA) Inc. and Santander Investment Securities Inc., their respective successors and two other nationally
recognized investment banking firms that are Primary Treasury Dealers specified from timeto time by the Issuer;
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provided, however, that if any ofthe foregoing shall ceaseto be a primary U.S. Government securities dealer in the
United States (a “Primary Treasury Dealer”), the Issuer shall substitute therefor another nationally recognized
investment banking firm that is a Primary Treasury Dealer.

“Reference Treasury Dealer Quotation” means, with respect to each Reference Treasury Dealerand any
Redemption Date, theaverage, as determined by the Independent Investment Banker, of thebid and asked prices for
the Comparable Treasury Issue (expressed in eachcase as a percentage ofits principal amount) quoted in writing to
the Independent Investment Banker by such Reference Treasury Dealerat 3:30p.m., New York City time, on the
third Business Day preceding that Redemption Date.

Notice of anyredemption will be given in accordance with “Notices” below atleast 10 days butnotmore than
60 days before the Redemption Date to each Holder of the Notes to be redeemed. On andafterany Redemption
Date, interest will cease to accrue on the Notes orany portion thereof called for redemption.

Upon presentation of any Noteredeemed in partonly, the Issuer will execute and instruct the Trustee to
authenticate and deliverto oron the order of the Holder thereof, at the expense ofthe Issuer, a new Note or Notes,

of authorized denominations, in principal amountequal to the unredeemed portion of the Note so presented.

On or before any Redemption Date, the [ssuer shall deposit with the Trustee money sufficientto pay the
redemption price of and accrued interest on the Notes to be redeemed onsuchdate. Iflessthanallthe Notesare to
beredeemed, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee by suchmethod as the Trusteeshalldeem
fairand appropriate. Theredemption price shallbe calculated by the Independent Investment Bankerand the Issuer
and notice of suchredemption price shall be provided to the Trustee and the Holders at least two (2) business days
priorto the Redemption Date, and the Trustee and any payingagent for the Notes shall be entitled to rely on such
calculation.

Final Maturity

Unless previously purchased orredeemed by the Issuer orthe Company orany of their Subsidiaries, and
cancelled, the principal amount of the 2030 Notes and the 2050 Notes will mature and become due and payable on
September 10,2030and September 10,2050, respectively, in an amountequalto their principal amount, with
accruedandunpaid interestto such date.

Reacquisition

There is no restriction on theability of the Issuer orthe Company orany oftheir respective Subsidiaries to
purchase orrepurchase Notes.

Redemption for Tax Reasons

Each series of the Notes is redeemable by the Issueratthe Issuer’s option at any time prior to their maturity if
due to a Change in Tax Law (as defined below) (i) the Issuer or, if applicable, the Company, in accordance with the
terms of the applicable Notes or the applicable Guarantees, respectively, has, or would, become obligated to pay to
the Holder orbeneficial owner of any Note any Additional Amounts; (ii) in the case of the Company, (A) the
Company would be unable, for reasons outside its control, to procure payment by the Issuer or (B) the procuring of
such paymentby theIssuer would be subject to withholding taxes imposed by a Relevant Jurisdiction; and (iii) the
obligation described in (i) cannot be avoided by the Issuer or, if applicable, the Company taking reasonable
measures available to it. In such case, the Issuermayredeem the Notes in whole, but not in part, uponnot less than
30 normore than 60 days’ noticeas provided in “Notices” below, at 100% ofthe principal amount of the Notes plus
accruedandunpaid interestto theapplicable Redemption Date and any Additional Amounts payable with respect
thereto; provided that (a) no suchnotice of redemption shall be given earlierthan 90 days priorto theearliest date on
which the Issuer or, if applicable, the Company would be obligated to pay any such Additional Amounts were a
paymentin respect oftheapplicable Notes or the applicable Guarantees then due and (b) at thetime such noticeis
given, such obligation to pay such Additional Amounts remains in effect. The Issuer’s right to redeem the Notes
shallcontinue as longas the Issuer orthe Company, as thecase may be, is obligated to pay such Additional
Amounts, notwithstanding that the Issuer or the Company shall have madepayments of Additional Amounts. Prior
to the givingof any suchnotice of redemption, the Issuer mustdeliverto the Trustee (1) a certificate stating that the
Issueris entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions
precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem haveoccurredand (2) an opinion of independent counsel of
recognized standing selected by the Issuer orthe Company, as applicable, to the effect thatthe Issuer orthe
Company has, orwould, become obligated to pay such Additional Amounts as a result of such change or
amendment.
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Forpurposes hereof, “Change in Tax Law” shallmean (i) any changes in, oramendment to, any lawof a
Relevant Jurisdiction (including any regulations or rulings promulgated thereunder) orany amendment to or change
in the application or official interpretation (including judicial or administrative interpretation) of such law, which
change oramendmentis announced, if applicable, and becomes effective on ora fter September 8,2020 or (ii) if the
Issuerorthe Company consolidates or merges with, or transfers or leases its assets substantially as anentirety to,
any person thatis incorporated or tax resident under the laws ofany jurisdiction other thana Relevant Jurisdiction,
asdefined immediately priorto such consolidating merger or other transaction, and as a consequence thereof'such
person becomes the successor obligorto the Issuer orthe Company in respectof Additional Amounts thatmay
become payable (in which case, for purposes ofthis redemption provision, allreferences to theIssuer, orthe
Company hereunder, asapplicable, shallbe deemed to be and include references to such person), any change in, or
amendmentto, any law ofthe jurisdiction of incorporation orresidence for tax purposes of such personorany
successor entity, orany political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein for purposes of taxation (including
any regulations orrulings promulgated thereunder) orany amendmentto or change in the application or official
interpretation (includingjudicial or administrative interpretation) of such law, which change or amendment becomes
effective onorafterthedate of such consolidation, merger or other transaction.

CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

Set forth below are certain ofthe defined terms used in the Notes and theIndenture. You should referto the
Notes andthe Indenture for the full set of definitions.

“Attributable Debt” means, as to any particular lease under which any Personis liable at the time as lessee, and
atanydateas ofwhich theamount of the paymentis to be determined, thetotalnet amount ofrent requiredto be
paid by such Personundersuch leaseduringtheremaining term of such lease (including any period for which such
lease has been extended or may, atthe option ofthe lessor, be extended), discounted from the respective due dates
thereof tothe date of determination at a rate perannum equivalent to the rate inherent in such lease (as determined
by the directors ofthe Company) compounded semi-annually, excluding amounts required to be paid onaccountof
or attributable to operating costs and overhead charges and including, in certain circumstances, any termination
penaltyin the case ofa lease terminable by the lessee.

“Business Day” means any day which is not, in London, England, New York City, orthe place of payment of
interest or principala Saturday, Sunday, a legalholiday ora day on which banking institutions in suchplaces are
authorized orobligated by lawto close.

“Company Jurisdiction” means any ofthejurisdictions of incorporation orresidence for tax purposes ofthe
Company orany successor entity, or any political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein.

“Consolidated Net Tangible Assets” means the a ggregate amount of assets (less applicable provisions) a fter
deducting therefrom (1)all current liabilities; (2) all goodwill, trade names, trademarks, patents, unamortized debt
discountand financings costs and all similarintangible assets; and (3) appropriate adjustments on account of
minority interests of other Persons holding stock in any Subsidiary ofthe Company, allas set forthon themost
recent consolidated balance sheet of the Company and computed in accordance with IFRS.

“Government Obligations” means money or obligations issued by the United States government.

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

“Indebtedness” means all obligations for borrowed money represented by notes, bonds, debentures or similar
evidence ofindebtedness and obliga tions for borrowed money evidenced by credit, loanor other like a greements.

“Issuer Jurisdiction” means any ofthe jurisdictions of incorporation orresidence for tax purposes of the Issuer
or any successor entity, orany political subdivision or taxing authority thereof or therein.

“Mortgage” means any mortgage, deed of trust, pledge, hypothéc, lien, encumbrance, charge or other security
interest of any kind.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, limited liability company,
joint stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or government or any agency or political subdivision
thereof.

“Principal Property” means the interest ofthe Company orany Subsidiary in any (a) mineral property or
(b) manufacturing or processing plant, building, structure, dam or other facility, together with the land upon which it
is erected and fixtures comprising a part thereof, whetherowned as ofthe date ofthe Indenture or thereafter
acquired or constructed by the Company or any Subsidiary, of which interest the net book value in each case, on the
date as of which the determination is being made, is an amountwhich exceeds 10% of Consolidated Net Tangible
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Assets, otherthan (i) any suchmineral property, manufacturing or processing plant, building, structure, dam or other
facility which, in the opinion ofthe Board, is not of material importance to the total business conducted by the
Company andits Subsidiaries as an entirety or (ii) any portion of any such property which, in the opinion ofthe
Board, isnot of material importanceto the use or operation of such property.

“Project Financing” means the financing or refinancing of the acquisition, construction, expansion,
improvement or development of any physical assets in which the providers of such finance orrefinance solely look
to the entity that owns and operates such assets, the equity interests in such entity, the assets themselves, and/or the
revenues generated thereby as the source ofrepayment ofthe amounts financed or refinanced, withoutrecourse to
the Company orany Subsidiary (otherthan suchentity) other than througha completion guarantee or other
obligations that are customary in non-recourse financing or refinancing.

“RelevantJurisdiction” means an [ssuer Jurisdiction and/ora Company Jurisdiction.

“Restricted Subsidiary” means (1) any Subsidiary which owns or leases a Principal Property;and (2) any
Subsidiary engaged primarily in the business of owning or holding securities of Restricted Subsidiaries.

“Sale and Leaseback Transactions” meanany arrangement with a bank, insurance company or other lender or
investor (other thanthe Company or a Restricted Subsidiary) providing for the leasing by the Company or any
Restricted Subsidiary of any Principal Property whichhas been oris to be sold ortransferred, more than 180 days
afterthelater of the acquisition, completion of construction or commencementof full operation thereofby the
Company orsuch Restricted Subsidiary to such lender or investor orto any Person to whom funds havebeenorare
to be advanced by such lender or investor on the security ofthatproperty orasset.

“Significant Subsidiary” means any Subsidiary that would be a “significant subsidiary” under the definition in
Article 1,Rule 1-02(w)(2) of Regulation S-X (but as calculated pursuant to IFRS), promulgated pursuant to the
Securities Act,as such Regulationis in effecton the date hereof.

“Subsidiary” means, at any relevant time, any person of which the voting shares or other interests carrying more
than 50% ofthe outstanding voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares or other interests are owned,
directly orindirectly, by or forthe Company and/or one or more Subsidiaries of the Company.

COVENANTS OF THE ISSUER AND THE COMPANY
Negative Pledge

Each of the Issuerand the Company will covenantunder the Indenture that for so longas any of the Notes are
outstandingunder the Indenture, and subjectto the provisions ofthe Indenture, it will not, and the Company will not
permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, create, permit to exist, incur, issue, guarantee, assume or otherwise have
outstandingany Mortgage on oroverany Principal Property now owned or hereafter acquired by the Company ora
Restricted Subsidiary to secure any Indebtedness ofthe Issuer, the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, oron
shares of stock or Indebtedness of any Restricted Subsidiary now owned or hereafter acquired by the Company ora
Restricted Subsidiary to secure any Indebtedness ofthe Issuer, the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary, unless at
the time thereof or prior thereto the Notes then outstanding under the Indenture are secured equally and ratably with
(or priorto)any andallsuch Indebtedness forso longas such Indebtedness is so secured by such Mortgage;
provided, however,suchnegative pledge will not apply to or operate to prevent orrestrict the following permitted
encumbrances:

(1) any Mortgage on property, shares of stock or Indebtedness of any Person existingatthe time such
Person becomes a Restricted Subsidiary or created, incurred, issued or assumed in connection with the
acquisition of any such Person;

2) any Mortgage on any Principal Property created, incurred, issued orassumedat or prior to the time
such property became a Principal Property or existing atthe time of acquisition of such Principal
Property by the Company ora Restricted Subsidiary, whether or not assumed by the Company or such
Restricted Subsidiary; providedthatno such Mortgage will extend to any other Principal Property of
the Company orany Restricted Subsidiary;

3) any Mortgage on allorany partof any Principal Property (including any improvements or additions to
improvements ona Principal Property) hereafter acquired, developed, expanded or constructed by the
Company orany Restricted Subsidiary to secure the paymentof allorany part ofthe purchaseprice,
cost of acquisition or cost of development, expansion or construction of such Principal Property or of
improvements or additions to improvements thereon (or to secure any Indebtedness incurred by the
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Company ora Restricted Subsidiary for thepurpose of financingall orany part ofthe purchaseprice,
cost of acquisition or cost of development, expansion or construction thereof or of improvements or
additions to improvements thereon) created priorto, at thetime of, or within 360 days afterthelater
of, the acquisition, development, expansion or completion of construction (including construction of
improvements or additions to improvements thereon), or commencementof full operation of such
Principal Property; providedthatno such Mortgage will extend to any other Principal Property of the
Company ora Restricted Subsidiary other than, in the case ofany such construction, improvement,
development, expansion or additionto improvement, allorany part ofany other Principal Property on
which the Principal Property so constructed, developed or expanded, or the improvement or addition
to improvement, is located;

any Mortgage on any Principal Property of any Restricted Subsidiary to secure Indebtedness owing by
it to the Company, the Issuer or another Restricted Subsidiary;

any Mortgage on any Principal Property of the Company to secure Indebtedness owingby it to the
Issueroranother Restricted Subsidiary;

any Mortgage on any Principal Property or otherassets ofthe Company orany Restricted Subsidiary
existingon the date ofthe Indenture;

any Mortgage on any Principal Property arisingby operationof law (oran agreement solely
evidencing otherwise applicable law) and (i) arising in the ordinary course of business or (ii) not
securing amounts more than 90 days overdue or otherwise being contested in good faith;

Judgment Mortgages on any Principal Property not givingrise to an Event of Default;

any Mortgage on any Principal Property of the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary in favor of the
government ofany country or political subdivision thereof, or any instrumentality of any of them,
securingthe obligations ofthe Company or any Restricted Subsidiary pursuantto any contract or

payments owedto such entity pursuant to applicable laws, rules, regulations or statutes;

any Mortgage on oroverallorany partof theinterestof the Company or any Restricted Subsidiary in
any jointventure, partnership or similarundertaking, including therevenues and assets derived by the
Company orany Restricted Subsidiary from such joint venture, partnership or similarundertaking, or
employedby the Company orany Restricted Subsidiary in such jointventure, partnership orsimilar
undertaking, which is in favor of its co-ventures and/or the manager or operator of thejoint venture,
partnership or similar undertaking as security for the due paymentof amounts payable under or in
respect of suchjoint venture, partnership or similarundertaking;

Mortgages arising in connection with any Project Financing;

any Mortgage on any Principal Property or other assets ofthe Company or any Restricted Subsidiary
createdforthesole purposeof extending, renewing, altering or refunding any ofthe foregoing
Mortgages (orany successive extension, renewal, alteration or refunding thereof); provided thatthe
Indebtedness secured thereby will not exceed the principal amountof Indebtedness so secured at the
time of such extension, renewal, alteration or refunding, plus an amount necessary to pay fees and
expenses, including premiums, related to such extensions, renewals, alterations or refundings, and that
such extension, renewal, alteration or refunding Mortgage will be limited to allorany part of the same
Principal Property and improvements and additions to improvements thereon and/or shares of stock
and Indebtedness ofa Restricted Subsidiary which secured the Mortgage extended, renewed, altered
or refundedeither of such property orshares of stock or Indebtedness;

Mortgages onany Principal Property subjectto Sale and Leaseback Transactions described below in
clause (1) or(3)of the section headed “Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions”; or

any Mortgage on any Principal Property or on any shares of stock or Indebtedness ofany Restricted
Subsidiary created, incurred, issued or assumed to secure Indebtedness of the Company orany
Restricted Subsidiary, which would otherwise be subject to the foregoing restrictions, in an aggregate
amount which, together with the aggregate principalamountof other Indebtedness secured by
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Mortgages onany Principal Property or on any shares of stock or Indebtedness of any Restricted
Subsidiary then outstanding (excluding Indebtedness secured by Mortgages permitted under the
foregoing exceptions) and the Attributable Debt in respectof all Sale and Leaseback Transactions
entered intoafter the date ofthe Indenture (not including Attributable Debtin respect ofany such Sale
and Leaseback Transactions described below in clause (1) or (3) of the section headed “Limitation on
Sale and Leaseback Transactions”) would not then exceed the greater of US$4 billion or 15% of
Consolidated Net Tangible Assets ofthe Company.

Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions

Each of the Issuerand the Company will covenantunder the Indenture that for so longas anyof the Notes are
outstandingunder the Indenture, and subjectto the provisions ofthe Indenture, it will not, and the Company will not
permit any Restricted Subsidiary to, enter into any Sale and Leaseback Transactionunless (1) such transaction
involves a leaseorright to possession oruse fora temporary periodnotto exceed three years following such
transaction, by the end of whichit is intended that theuse of such property by thelessee will be discontinued;

(2) immediately priorto the entering into of such transaction, the Company or such Restricted Subsidiary could
create a Mortgage on Principal Property subject to the Sale and Leaseback Transaction securing Indebtedness in an
amount equal to the Attributable Debt with respect to the particular Sale and Leaseback Transaction;or (3)the
proceeds of such transaction within 180 days a fter such transaction, are applied to either (A) the payment of all or
any part ofthe purchaseprice, cost ofacquisition, cost of development, costof expansion or costof construction of a
Principal Property or cost of improvements or additions to improvements thereon or (B) the retirement of long-term
debtrankingatleastratably with the Notes.

Limitation on Mergers and Consolidations

The Indenture will provide thatforso longas any of the Notes are outstandingunder the Indenture, each ofthe
Issuerandthe Company may not consolidate oramalgamate with ormerge (includingby wayofa schemeof
arrangement) into or with any other Person, or, directly or indirectly, sell, convey, transfer or lease its properties and
assets as an entirety or substantially as anentirety to any Person (otherthana Person satisfying the condition set
forth in clause (i), below, thatis directly or indirectly wholly owned by the Company), unless:

(1) the Person formed by or continuing from such consolidation or amalgamation or into which the Issuer
or the Company is merged orthe Person which acquires or leases the Issuer’s orthe Company’s
properties and assets as an entirety or substantially as an entirety is organized and existingunder the
laws of the United States, the United Kingdom or any other country that isa member of the
Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development, or the Republic of South Africa, Brazil or
India;

(ii) the successor Person assumes, or assumes by operation oflaw, the Issuer’s or the Company’s
obligations under the Notes, the Guarantees and the Indenture to pay Additional Amounts;

(iii) if the Issuer or Company, as applicable, is not the continuing entity, the successor Person expressly
assumes or assumes by operationof law all of the Issuer’s orthe Company’s obligations under the

Notes, the Guarantees and under the Indenture;

@iv) immediately before and after giving effectto suchtransaction,no Eventof Default (as defined below)
and no event which, afternoticeor lapse oftime or both, would become an Eventof Default, will have

happenedandbe continuing; and
) certain other conditions are met.

If, asa result of any such transaction, any ofthe Issuer’s orthe Company’s Principal Properties become subject
to a Mortgage, then, unless such Mortgage could be created pursuantto the Indenture provisions described under the
section headed “Negative Pledge” without equally andratably securingthe Notes, the Issuer orthe Company,
simultaneously with or priorto such transaction, will cause the Notes to be secured equally andratably with or prior
to the Indebtedness secured by such Mortgage.

The Notes will not contain covenants or other provisions to afford protectionto Holders in the event of a highly
leveraged transaction ora change in control of the Issuer orthe Company except as provided herein.
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Upon certain mergers or consolidations involving the Issuer or the Company, oruponcertain sales or
conveyances of the respective properties ofthe Issuer or the Company as an entirety or substantially as an entirety,
the obligations of the Issuer orthe Company, as the casemay be, under the Notes orthe Guarantees, as the casemay
be, shallbe assumedby the Person formed by suchmerger or consolidation or which shallhave acquired such
property (exceptin the caseof an acquisition of such property, forany such Person that meets the condition set forth
in clause (i), above, thatis directly orindirectly wholly owned by the Company) and upon suchassumptions such
Person shallsucceed toand be substituted for the Issuer orthe Company, as the casemay be, and then the Issueror
the Company, as thecase maybe, will be relieved from all obligations under the Notes or the Guarantee, as the case
may be. The terms “Issuer”and “Company”, asusedin the Notes, the Guarantees and the Indenture, alsoreferto

any such successors or assigns so substituted.

Provision of Financial Information

Forso longasany Notes areoutstanding, each Issuerand the Company shall deliver to the Trustee, orposton
its website copies of any annual reports or periodic results announcements it files with each ofthe United Kingdom
Financial Conduct Authority and the London Stock Exchange within 30 days a fter it files such documents with the
United Kingdom Financial Conduct Authority or London Stock Exchange, as the case may be; provided, however,
that this covenantshallnot create any obligation under the Indenture to make any such filings orto make such
filings in a timely manner. This covenantrelates solely to the obligations ofthe Issuerand the Company underthe
Notes andisnot intended to a ffect any obligations the Issuer or the Company may have under the UK Disclosure
and Transparency Rules.

CHANGE OF CONTROL REPURCHASE EVENT

Ifa Changeof Control Repurchase Event occurs, unless the Issuer has exercised its right to redeem the
Notes as described above, theIssuer orthe Company will be required to makean offerto eachholder of Notes to
repurchaseallorany part (equalto US$200,000 oran integralmultiple of US$ 1,000 in excessthereof) of that
holder’s Notes at a repurchaseprice in cash equalto 101% of the a ggregate principal amount of Notes repurchased
plusany accrued andunpaid intereston the Notes repurchased to, butnotincluding, the date of repurchase.

Within 30 days following any Change of Control Repurchase Eventor, at theoption ofthe Issuerorthe
Company, prior to any Change of Control, but after the public announcement of the Change of Control, the Issueror
the Company will mail, by first class mail orequivalent, a notice to eachholder, with a copy tothe Trustee,
describingthe transaction or transactions that constitute or may constitute the Change of Control Repurchase Event
and offering to repurchase Notes on the paymentdate specified in the notice, which date will be no earlierthan 30
daysandno laterthan 60 days from thedatesuchnotice ismailed. The notice shall, if mailed priorto thedateof
consummation ofthe Change of Control, state that the offer to purchase is conditioned ona Change of Control
Repurchase Event occurring on or prior to the payment date specified in the notice.

The Issuerand the Company will comply with the requirements of the Exchange Act,and any other
securities laws and regulations thereunder to the extent thoselaws andregulations areapplicable in connection with
the repurchase ofthe Notes as a result of a Change of Control Repurchase Event. To the extentthatthe provisions
of any securities laws orregulations conflict with the Change of Control Repurchase Eventprovisions of the Notes,
the Issuerand the Company will comply with the applicable securities laws and regulations and will not be deemed
to have breached theirrespective obligations under the Change of Control Repurchase Eventprovisions of the Notes

by virtue of such conflict.

On the repurchase date followinga Change of Control Repurchase Event, the Issuer or the Company will,
to the extent lawful:

1. accept forpayment allNotes orportions of Notes properly tendered pursuant to theIssuer’s orthe
Company’s offer;

2. depositanamount equalto the aggregate purchaseprice and accrued interest in respect of all Notes or
portions of Notes properly tendered with the Agent (or with such otheragent as agreeduponatsuch
time); and

3. deliverorcauseto be delivered tothe Trustee the Notes properly accepted, together with an officers’

certificate stating the aggregate principal amount of Notes being purchased by thelssuerorthe
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Company.

The Agent will promptly mailto eachholder of Notes properly tendered the purchaseprice forthe Notes,
and the Trustee will promptly authenticateand mail (or causeto be transferred by book-entry) to eachholdera new
note equalin principalamount to any un-purchased portion ofany Notes surrendered; provided thateachnew note
will be in a principalamountof US$200,000 or anintegral multiple of US$1,000 in excess thereof.

The Issuerorthe Company will not be required to make an offer to repurchase the Notes upon a Change of
ControlRepurchase Event if a third party makes such an offer in the manner, at the times and otherwise in
compliance with therequirement foran offer made by thelssuer orthe Company andsuch third party purchases all
Notes properly tendered and not withdrawn under its offer.

Forpurposes of the foregoing description of a repurchase at the option of theholders, the following
definitions are applicable:

“Below Investment Grade Ratings Event” means that the Notes cease tobe rated Investment Grade by at
least two of the three Rating Agencies on any date during the period commencing 60 days priorto,andending 60
daysafter (which 60-day period willbe extended so longas the rating of thenotes is under publicly announced
consideration fora possible downgrade by any Rating Agency) theearlier of (1) the occurrence of a Change of
Control; or (2) public notice of the occurrence ofa Change of Control or the intention ofthe Company to effect a
Change of Control. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, a Below Investment Grade Ratings Eventotherwise
arisingby virtue of a particular reduction in rating shallnot be deemed to have occurred in respectof a particular
Change of Control (and thus shallnot be deemed a Below Investment Grade Ratings Event for purposes ofthe
definition of Change of Control Repurchase Eventhereunder) if the Rating Agencies makingthe reductionin rating
to which this definition would otherwise apply do notannounce or publicly confirm orinform the Trustee in writing
atitsrequest thatthe reduction was the result, in whole orin part, of any eventor circumstance comprised of or
arisingas a result of, orin respect of, the applicable Change of Control (whether ornot the applicable Change of
Controlshallhave occurred at the time oftheratings event).

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of oneormore ofthe following:

1. thedirectorindirect sale, lease, transfer, conveyanceor otherdisposition (otherthanby way of
consolidation, amalgamation or merger), in one ora series of related transactions, of all or substantially
all of the assets ofthe Company and its Subsidiaries takenas a whole to any “person” (as that term is

used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), otherthan tothe Company oroneof its Subsidiaries;

2. the consummation of any transaction (including, without limitation, any consolidation, amalgamation,
or merger or other combination (including by way of a scheme ofarrangement)) the result of which is
thatany “person” (as thattermis used in Section 13(d)(3) ofthe Exchange Act) becomes the beneficial
owner (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of more
than 50% ofthe outstanding Voting Stock ofthe Company, measured by voting power rather than
number of shares;

3. the Company consolidates with, or merges with orinto, any Person, orany Person consolidates with,
or merges with orinto, the Company, in any such event pursuant to a transaction in which any of the
outstanding Voting Stock of the Company or such other Personis converted into or exchanged for
cash, securities or other property, other thanany such transaction where the shares ofthe Voting Stock
of the Company outstanding immediately prior to such transaction constitute, or are converted into or
exchanged for, a majority ofthe Voting Stock ofthe surviving Person immediately a fter giving effect
to such transaction;

4. the first day on which the majority of the members ofthe board of directors ofthe Company cease to
be Continuing Directors; or

5. theadoptionofaplanrelatingto the liquidation, windingup ordissolution of the Company.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemedto involvea change of control forthe

purposes ofthis definition only if (1) the Company becomes a direct or indirect wholly owned subsidiary of
a holdingcompany and (2)(A) the direct or indirect holders ofthe Voting Stock of such holding company
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immediately following thattransaction are substantially the same as the holders ofthe Company’s Voting
Stock immediately priorto thattransaction or (B) immediately following that transaction no person (other
than a holding company satisfying the requirements of this sentence) is the beneficial owner, directly or
indirectly, of morethan50% of the Voting Stock of suchholding company.

“Change of Control Repurchase Event” means theoccurrence of botha Change of Controlanda Below
Investment Grade Ratings Event.

“Continuing Director” means, as of any date of determination, any member of the board of directors of the
Company who:

1. wasamemberofsuchboardof directors onthe date ofthe Indenture; or

2. wasnominated forelection orelected to such board of directors with the approval of a majority of the
Continuing Directors who were members of such board of directors at the time of suchnominationor
election.

“Exchange Act” means the United States Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

“Fitch” means Fitch, Inc.,a subsidiary of Fimalac, S.A.,and its successors.

“Investment Grade” means a rating of Baa3 orbetterby Moody’s (orits equivalent under any successor
rating categories of Moody’s); aratingof BBB-orbetterby S&P orFitch (orits equivalent under any successor
rating categories of S&P and Fitch); orthe equivalent Investment Grade credit rating from any additional Rating
Agency orRating Agencies selected by the Issuer or the Company.

“Moody’s”means Moody’s Investor Services Ltd.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, joint venture, association, limited liability
company, jointstock company, trust, unincorporated organization or government or any agency or political
subdivision thereof.

“Rating Agency” means each of Moody’s, S&P and Fitch; providedthat if any of Moody’s, S&P or Fitch
ceases to rate the Notes or fails to make arating of the Notes publicly available forreasons outside ofthe Issuer’s or
the Company’s control, a “nationally recognized statistical rating organization” within themeaning of Section
3(a)(62) of the Exchange Act, selected by the Issuer orthe Company (as certified by a resolution ofthe Chief
Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer) as a replacementa gency for Moody’s, S&P or Fitch, or allof them, as
the case may be.

“S&P” means Standard & Poor’s Credit Market Services Europe Limited.

“Subsidiary” means, at any relevant time, any person of which the voting shares or other interests carrying
more than50%of the outstanding voting rights attached to all outstanding voting shares or other interests are

owned, directly orindirectly, by or for the Company and/or one or more subsidiaries of the Company.

“Voting Stock” of any specified “person” (as that term is used in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act)as
of any date means the capital stock of such personthatis at the timeentitled to vote generally in the election of the
board ofdirectors of such person.

The Change of Control Repurchase Event feature of the Notes may in certain circumstances make more difficult
or discourage a sale ortakeover of the Company and, thus, theremoval of incumbent management. Subject tothe
limitations discussed below, the Issuer or the Company could, in the future, enter into certain transactions, including
acquisitions, refinancings or other recapitalizations, that would not constitutea Change of Controlunder the Notes,
but that could increase theamount of indebtedness outstanding at such time or otherwise a ffect the Issuer’s orthe
Company’s capital structure or credit ratings on the Notes.

The Issuer or the Company may not have sufficient funds to repurchase allthe Notes, orany other outstanding
debt securities that the Issuer or the Company would be required to repurchase, upona Change of Control

Repurchase Event.
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EVENTS OF DEFAULT

Each series of the Notes will contain the following Events of Default (eachan “Event of Default”) with respect
to such Notes:

W)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

default in the paymentof any installment of interest (excluding Additional Amounts) upon any such
Note as and whenthe same shallbecomedueand payable, and continuance of such default for

30days;or

default in the paymentof theapplicable Additional Amounts as and whenthe sameshallbecome due
and payable, and continuance of such default fora period of30 days;or

default in the paymentof allorany part ofthe principal of or premium on any such Note as and when
the sameshall become due and payable either at maturity, upon any redemption, by declarationor
otherwise; or

default in the performanceorbreach of any covenantof the Issuer orthe Company in respectof such
Notes orthe Indenture (other than those described in paragraphs (i), (i) and (iii) above), and
continuance ofsuch default orbreach fora period of 90 days after there has been given a written
notice, by registered or certified mail, to the [ssuerand the Company by the Trustee orto the Issuer,
the Company andthe Trusteeby theHolders of at least 25% in principalamount ofthe outstanding
Notes affected thereby, specifying such default or breach and requiring it to be remedied and stating
that suchnotice isa “Notice of Default” under the Indenture; or

(a)any presentor future indebtedness ofthe Issuer, the Company orany Significant Subsidiary, other
than such Notes, fororin respect of moneys borrowed is declared orbecomes due and payable prior to
its stated maturity as the result of any event of default (howsoever described), or (b) any such
indebtedness is not paid whendueor, as the case maybe, within any applicable grace periodor (c) the
Issuer, the Company or any Significant Subsidiary fails to pay, within any applicable graceperiod
therefor, any amount payable by it under any present or future guarantee for, or indemnity in respect
of, any moneys borrowed orraised; providedthatthe aggregateamount of the relevantindebtedness,
guarantees and indemnities in respect of which one ormore of theevents mentioned in this

paragraph (v) will have occurred (which indebtedness, guarantees or indemnities have not been repaid
or paid andasto which suchdefault hasnotbeen cured or suchacceleration has not beenrescinded or
annulled) exceeds US$100,000,000 or its equivalent; or

a distress, attachment, execution or otherlegal process s levied or enforced a gainst any assets of the
Issuer, the Company orany Significant Subsidiary havinga value exceeding US$ 100,000,000
followingupon a decreeor judgmentof a court of competent jurisdictionand (A) is not discharged or
stayed within 90 days or (B)is the subject ofa bona fide active dispute (for the avoidance of doubt,
any suchdistress, attachment, execution or other legal process shallbe deemed discharged uponany
enforcement ofa Mortgage onany suchassets); or

the Issuer, the Company orany Significant Subsidiary admits in writingthat it is unable to pay its
debts generally; aresolutionis passed by theboard of directors of the Issuer orthe Company for such
entity to be wound up ordissolved;the Issuer or Company is unable to pay its debts within the
meaning of Section 123(2) of the Insolvency Act of GreatBritain or makes a general assignment for
the benefit of its creditors; anadministrator is appointed in respect of, or an administration order is
madein relationto, the Issuer orthe Company; theIssuer orthe Company stops payment of'its
obligations generally or ceases to carry onits business or substantially all thereof; oran encumbrancer
takes possession oran administrative or otherreceiver is appointed over the whole or any material part
of'the eitherthe [ssuer’s orthe Company’s assets; or

certain specified events in bankruptcy, insolvency orreorganization involving the Issuer, the
Company or any Significant Subsidiary; or

the Company ceases to own, directly or indirectly, allof the Voting Stock ofthe Issuer.
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The Issuerand/or the Company shall promptly notify the Trusteein writingupon becoming aware of the
occurrence ofan Event of Default.

The Indenture provides that if an Event of Default occurs and is continuing in respect of a series of Notes, (x)
then and in each and every such case (otherthan certain Events of Default specified in paragraphs(vii)and
(viii) above with respect to the Issuer orthe Company), unless the principal of allsuch Notes shallhavealready
become due and payable, eitherthe Trustee (atthe directionof the Holders) or the Holders ofnotless than25% in
aggregate principal amount of such Notes then outstanding, by noticein writing to the Issuer and the Company (and
to the Trustee if given by the Holders), may declarethe entire principalamount ofall such Notes issued pursuant to
the Indentureand interest accrued and unpaid thereon, if any, to be due and payable immediately, and upon any such
declaration the same shall become immediately dueand payable, without any further declaration or otheract on the
partoftheTrustee orany Holderand (y)if certain Events of Default described in paragraph (vii) or (viii) above
occur with respect to the Issuer orthe Company and are continuing, the principalamountof and accrued and unpaid
interest on all such Notes issued pursuant to the Indenture shall become immediately due and payable, withoutany
declaration orotheract onthe partof the Trustee orany Holder. Under certain circumstances, the Holders of a
majority in aggregate principalamountof such Notes then outstanding, by writtennotice to theIssuer, the Company
and the Trustee, may waive defaults and rescind and annul declarations ofacceleration and its consequences, but no
such waiverorrescission and annulmentshall extend to or shall affect any subsequent default or shallimpairany
right consequent thereon.

The Holders of a majority in aggregate principalamount ofthe Notes of the relevantseries then outstanding will
have the right to direct the time, method and place of conducting any proceeding forany remedy available to the
Trustee, orexercising any trustor power conferred on the Trustee, subjectto certain limitations to be specified in the
Indenture.

The Indenture provides that no Holder of any Note may instituteany action or proceedingatlaw orin equity or
in bankruptcy or otherwise upon orunder or with respect to the Indenture, or forthe appointment ofa trustee,
receiver, liquidator, custodian or other similar official or forany other remedy under the Indenture (except suits for
the enforcement of payment of overdue principal or interest) unless such Holder previously shallhave given to the
Trustee written notice ofan Event of Default and continuancethereofand unless the Holders of notless than 25% in
aggregate principalamount ofthe Notes of the relevant series then outstanding shall ha ve made written requestupon
the Trustee to institute suchactionor proceedings in its own name as Trustee and shallhave offered the Trustee
reasonable indemnity, the Trustee shallnot have instituted any such action or proceeding within 90 days ofits
receipt of such notice, request and offer of indemnity and the Trustee shallnot havereceived direction inconsistent
with such written requestby the Holders ofa majority in a ggregate principalamountof the Notes ofthe relevant
series at the timeoutstanding.

An Event of Default with respect to a given series of the Notes would notnecessarily constitute an event of
default with respect to the securities of any other series issued in the future under the Indenture.

The Indenture provides that each ofthe Issuer and the Company will each furnish to the Trustee onorbefore
June 30 in each year, if Notes are then outstanding, a certificate from anofficerasto his orherknowledge of the

Issuer’s orthe Company’s, as the casemay be, compliance with all conditions and covenants under the Indenture.

DEFEASANCE

The Indenture provides that the Issuer will havethe option either (a) to be deemed (together with the Company)
to have paid and discharged the entire indebtedness represented by, and obligations under, the applicable Notes and
the Guarantees and to havesatisfiedall the obligations under the Indenture relating to the Notes, and the Guarantees
(except for certain obligations, including thoserelating to the defeasance trustand obligations to register the transfer
or exchange of Notes, to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Notes and to maintain paying a gencies) on the
day afterthe applicable conditions described below have beensatisfied or (b) to cease (together with the Company)
to beunderany obligationto comply with the covenants described under “—Covenants of the [ssuerand the
Company—Negative Pledge”, “—Covenants of the Issuer and the Company—Provision of Financial Information”
and “—Covenants of the [ssuer and the Company—Limitation on Sale and Leaseback Transactions”and the
conditionrelating to the absence ofany events of default under “—Covenants of the Issuer and the Company—
Limitationon Mergers and Consolidations” under the Notes, and noncompliance with such covenants and the
occurrence of certain events described above under “Events of Default” willnot give rise to any Eventof Default

underthe Indenture, atany time after theapplicable conditions described below havebeen satisfied.

In orderto exercise either defeasance option, the Issuer mustdeposit with the Trustee, irrevocably in trust,
money or Government Obligations for the payment of principal of and interest (including Additional Amounts) on
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the outstanding Notes to and including the Redemption Date irrevocably designated by the Issuer on orpriorto the
date of deposit of suchmoney or Government Obligations, and must (i) comply with certain other conditions,
including delivering to the Trustee anopinionof U.S. counsel, ora rulingreceived from or published by the U.S.
Internal Revenue Service, to the effectthatbeneficial owners ofthe Notes will not recognize income, gain or loss for
United States federalincome tax purposes as a result ofthe exercise of such option and will be subject to U.S.
federal income tax on the same amount and in the same mannerand at the same timeas would have been the case if
such optionhadnotbeen exercisedand, in the case of (a) above, such opinion must state that it is based on a change
oflaworfinalandbindingrulingreceived from or published by the U.S. Internal Revenue Service after September
8,2020 and (i) pay in fullall otheramounts due and owingunder the Indenture.

MODIFICATION AND WAIVER
Without Consent of Noteholders

The Indenture provides provisions permitting the Issuer, the Company and the Trustee, withoutthe consentof
the Holders of any ofthe Notes of the relevantseries at any time outstanding, from time to time and atany time, to
enterinto an indenture or indentures supplemental to the Indenture or to otherwise amend the Indenture with respect
to such Notes:

e toconvey, transfer, assign, mortgageorpledge to the Trusteeas security for such Notes any property
or assets;

e toevidencethe successionof anotherpersonto thelssuer orthe Company, as the case maybe, or
successive successions, and the assumptionby the successor person ofthe covenants, agreements and

obligations ofthe Issuer orthe Company, as the case may be, pursuant to the Indenture;

e toevidenceand provide forthe acceptance ofappointment of a successor trustee, principal paying
agent, registrar or transferagent, as the case maybe;

e toaddtothecovenants of thelssuerandthe Company, asthe casemay be, such further covenants,
restrictions, conditions or provisions as the Issuer and the Company, as the case may be, and the
Trustee shall consider to be forthe protection of the Holders of such Notes, and to makethe
occurrence, or the occurrence and continuance, ofa default in any such additional covenants,
restrictions, conditions or provisions an Event of Default under the Indenture permitting the
enforcement ofallorany of theseveral remedies provided in the Indenture, such Notes or the related
Guarantees; provided that, in respect ofany such additional covenant, restriction, condition or
provision, such supplemental indenture may provide fora particular period of grace after default
(which maybe shorter or longer than thatallowed in the case of other defaults) ormay limit the
remedies available to the TrusteeuponsuchanEvent of Default or may limit the right of Holders of a
majority in aggregate principalamountof such Notes to waive suchan Eventof Default;

e tomodifytherestrictions on,and procedures for, resale and other transfers of such Notes pursuantto
law, regulation orpracticerelating to the resale or transfer of restricted securities generally;

e tocureany ambiguity orto correct or supplement any provision contained in the Indenture which may
be defective orinconsistent with any other provision contained therein or to make such other
provision in regard to matters or questions arisingunder the indentureas the Issuer or the Company
may deem necessary or desirable and which will not adversely affectthe interests ofthe Holders of
such Notes in any material respect (provided that any modification or amendment to conform
language in the Indenture to thatappearing in this description of notes shallbe deemednotto
adversely affect the interests ofthe Holders of such Notes in any material respect); or

e toissueasmanydistinctseries of debtsecurities undertheIndentureas the Issuer wishes orto
“reopen’ each series of notes and create and issue additional notes having identical terms and
conditions as an existing series of Notes (orin allrespects except for the paymentof interest accruing
priorto the issue date of suchadditionalnotes orexcept for the first payment ofinterest following the
issue date of such additionalnotes) so that the additional notes are consolidated and form a single
series with the applicable Notes.

With Consent of Noteholders

The Indenture provides provisions permitting the Issuer, the Company and the Trustee, with the consentof the
Holders of notless than a majority in a ggregate principal amount ofthe Notes ofa series at thetime outstanding
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(including consents obtained in connection with a tender offer or exchange offer for the Notes), from time to time
and atanytime, to enter into anindenture or indentures supplemental hereto forthe purpose of adding any
provisions to or changing in any manner or eliminatingany ofthe provisions of the Indenture or any supplementary
indenture or of modifying in any manner the rights of the Holders ofthe Notes or the Guarantees with respectto
such Notes; providedthatno suchindenture may, withoutthe consent of the Holder of each of the Notes so affected:

e change the stated maturity ofthe principal of orthe date for paymentof any instalmentof interest on
any Note;

e reduce the principalamount of or interest on any Note or Additional Amounts payable with respect
thereto orreduce theamount payable thereon in the event of redemption or default;

e change the currency of paymentof principal of or interest onany Note or Additional Amounts
payable with respect thereto;

e change the obligation ofthe Issuer orthe Company, as the case may be, to pay Additional Amounts;

e impairtheright to institute suit for theenforcement of any such payment on or with respect to any
Note;

e reduce the aforesaid percentage in principal amount of the outstanding Notes, the consent of whose
Holders is required forany such supplemental indenture; or

e reducethe aforestated aggregate principalamount ofany Note outstanding necessary to modify or
amendthe Indenture orany such Notes orto waiveany future compliance or past default orreduce
the quorum requirements or the percentage of aggregate principal amount of any Notes outstanding
required forthe adoption ofanyactionata meetingof holders of such Notes orreduce the percentage
of'the aggregate principalamount of such Notes outstanding necessary to rescind orannulany
declaration ofthe principal of and allaccrued and unpaid interest onany Notes to be due and payable;
provided thatno consentof any Holder ofany Note shallbe necessary to permit the Trustee, the
Issuerandthe Company to execute supplemental indentures described under “Modification and
Waiver—Without Consentof Noteholders” above.

Any modifications, amendments or waivers to the Indenture or to the conditions ofthe Notes will be conclusive
and bindingon allHolders of the Notes ofthe applicable series, whether ornot they have consented to suchaction
or were present atthe meetingatwhich suchaction was taken, and onall future holders of such Notes, whether or
not notation of such modifications, amendments or waivers is madeuponsuch Notes. Any instrumentgiven by or
on behalf of any Holder of sucha Notein connection with any consent to any such modification, amendment or
waiver will be irrevocable once given and willbe conclusive and binding on all subsequentregistered holders of
such Note.

PRESCRIPTION

Under New York’s statute of limitations, any legalactionupon the Notes in respectof interest or principal must
be commenced within six years after the paymentthereofis due. ThereaftertheNotes and the Guarantees will
become generally unenforceable.

LISTING

The Issuerexpects to makeanapplication for Admission ofeach series of the Notes to listing on the Official
List and to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Regulated Market, a regulated market.

The Issuerand the Company willuse theirreasonable best efforts to havesuch (i) Admission of the Notes to
trading on the regulated market of the London Stock Exchange and (i) listing of such Notes onthe Official List
become effective and then maintain such listing forso longas anyofthe Notes remain outstanding.

NOTICES
Notices to Holders of Notes willbe mailed by first-class mail (or equivalent) postage prepaid to Holders of

Notes at their last registered addresses as they appearin the Notes register. The Issuer and the Company will
considerany mailed noticeto have been given two Business Days afterit has been sent.

In addition, forso longas a given series of the Notes is listed on the Official List and admitted to trading on the
London Stock Exchange’s Regulated Market, and the rules of the London Stock Exchange so require, the Issuerand
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the Company will publish notices to the Holders of such Notes in a leading newspaper having general circulation in
London, England (which is initially expected to be the Financial Times)and immediately provide a copy thereof to
the Trustee. The [ssuerandthe Company will consider any published notice to be given on thedateof its first
publication.

CONSENT TO SERVICE, SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION; ENFORCEABILITY OF JUDGMENTS

Each of the Issuerand the Company will appoint CT Corporation System, as its process agentforany action
brought by a holderbased on the Indenture orthe Notes or Guarantees, as applicable, instituted in any state or
federal court in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York.

Each of the Issuer and the Company will irrevocably submit to thenon-exclusive jurisdiction ofany stateor
federal court in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York in respect ofany action brought by a holder based
on the Notes, the Guarantees orthe Indenture. Eachof thelssuerand the Company will also irrevocably waive, to
the extent permitted by applicable law, any objection to the venue ofany of these courts in an action ofthattype.
Holders of the Notes may, however, be precluded from initiating actions based on the Notes, the Guarantees or the
Indenture in courts other than those mentioned above.

Each of the Issuer and the Company will, to the fullest extentpermitted by law, irrevocably waiveand agree not
to plead any immunity from the jurisdiction ofany oftheabove courts in anyaction basedupon the Notes, the

Guarantees or the Indenture.

Since a substantial portion of theassets of each of the [ssuer and the Company is outside the United States, any
judgmentobtained in the United States againstthe Issuer or the Company, including judgments with respect to the
paymentof principal, premium, interest and any redemption price and any purchase price with respect to the Notes

or payments due under the Guarantee, may not be collectable within the United States.

GOVERNING LAw

The Indenture, the Notes and the Guarantees shallbe governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of
the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws thereof.

BOOK-ENTRY SYSTEM; DELIVERY AND FORM

Upon issuance, the Notes will be represented by beneficial interests in GlobalNotes. Each Global Note will be
deposited with, oron behalf of, DTC andregistered in the name of Cede & Co.,asnominee of DTC. Exceptunder
the circumstances described below, Global Notes willnot be exchangeable atthe option ofthe holder for certificated

notes and Global Notes will not otherwise be issuable in definitive form.

Upon issuanceof the Global Notes, DTC will credit the respective principal amounts of the Notes represented
by the GlobalNotes to the accounts of institutions that have accounts with DTC orits nominee(called participants
of DTC), including Euroclear and Clearstream. Theaccounts to be credited shallbe designated by the Initial
Purchasers. Ownership ofbeneficial interests in the Global Notes will be limited to participants or persons that may
hold interests through participants. Ownership of beneficial interest in the Global Notes will be shown on, and the
transfer of that ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC orits nominee (with respectto
participants’ interests) or by participants or persons that hold through participants. Suchbeneficialinterestshallbe
in denominations 0of US$200,000 and in multiples of US$ 1,000 in excess thereof.

So long as DTC, orits nominee, is the registered owner or holder of the Global Notes, DTC orits nominee, as
the case may be, will be considered the sole ownerand holder of the Global Notes forall purposes under the
Indenture.

Except as set forth below, owners ofbeneficial interests in the Global Notes:

e will notbe entitled to have the Notes represented by the Global Notes registered in theirnames, and

e will notreceive orbe entitledto receive physical delivery of Notes in definitive form and will not be
considered the owners or holders thereofunder the Indenture.

Accordingly, each personowninga beneficial interest in the Global Notesmust rely on the procedures of DTC,
and indirectly Euroclear and Clearstream, and, if such personis not a participant, on the procedures of the
participant through which such person owns its interest, to exercise anyrights of a holder under the Indenture.

Principalandinterestpayments on Global Notes registered in the nameof orheld by DTC orits nominee will
bemadeto DTC oritsnominee, as the casemay be, as the registered owner orholder of the Global Note. Noneof
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the Issuer, the Company, the Trustee or any payingagent for such Global Notes will haveany responsibility or
liability forany aspectof therecords relatingto or payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in
GlobalNotes or formaintaining, supervising or reviewing any records relating to such beneficial ownership
interests.

The Issuerexpects that DTC, uponreceipt of any payments of principal or interest in respectof the Global
Notes, will credit the accounts ofthe related participants (including Euroclear and Clearstream), with payments in
amounts proportionate to theirrespective beneficial interests in the principalamountof the Global Notes as shown
on therecords of DTC. Payments by participants toowners ofbeneficial interest in the Global Notes held through
such participants will be the responsibility of the participants, as isnow the case with securities held for the accounts
of customers in bearer form or registered in “streetname”.

Unlessand untilitis exchangedin whole orin part for Notes in definitive form in accordance with the terms of
the Indenture, a Global Note may not betransferred exceptas a whole by the depositary toa nominee of the

depositary orby a nomineeof DTC to DTC oranother nominee of DTC.

Ifany note, includinga Global Note, is mutilated, defaced, stolen, destroyed or lost, such notemay be replaced
with a replacementnote at theoffice ofthe registrar orany successor registrar or transfer a gent, on payment by the
Noteholder of such costs and expenses as may be incurred in connection with the replacement, and on suchterms as
to evidenceand indemnity as we may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes mustbe surrendered before
replacementNotes will be issued.

Exchanges of Global Notes for Definitive Notes

GlobalNotes shall be exchangeable for definitive notes registered in the names of persons other than DTC or ts
nominee for such Global Notes only if:

e DTC hasnotified theIssuerthatit is unwilling orunable to continue as depositary orhas ceased to be
a clearinga gency registeredunder the Exchange Act, and in either case, we havefailed to appointa
successor depositary within 90 days of such notice, or

e thereshallhave occurredand be continuinganEventof Default (as defined in the Indenture) with
respect to the Notes; or

e thelssuershallhave determinedin its sole discretion that the Notes shallno longerbe represented by
the applicable Global Notes.

Any GlobalNote that is exchangeable for definitivenotes pursuantto the preceding sentence shallbe
exchangeable for Notes issuable in denominations of US$200,000 and in multiples of US$1,000in excess thereof
and registered in suchnames as DTC shalldirect. Subjectto the foregoing, a Global Note shallnotbe
exchangeable, except fora Global Note oflike denominationto be registered in the name of DTC orits nominee.
Bearernotes will not be issued.

Exchanges Between and Among Global Notes

The “distribution compliance period”, as defined in Regulation S, will begin on the closingdateandend
40 daysafterthe closingdate of the offering.

Beneficial interests in one Global Note may generally be exchanged forinterests in another Global Note.
Depending on whether the transfer is beingmade during or a fter the distribution compliance period, and to which
GlobalNote the transferis beingmade, the Trustee may require the seller to provide certain written certifications in

the form provided in the Indenture.

A beneficial interestin a GlobalNote thatis transferred to a person who takes delivery through another Global
Note will, upon transfer, become subjectto any transfer restrictions and other procedures applicable to beneficial
interests in the other Global Note.

Transfers from Definitive Notes to Global Notes

Definitive notes, if any, may be transferred or exchanged for a beneficial interestin the relevant Global Note in
accordance with the procedures described in the Indenture.
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BOOK-ENTRY SETTLEMENT AND CLEARANCE

THE GLOBAL NOTES

Each series of the Notes willbe issued in the form of several registered notes in global form, without interest
coupons, which we referto as the Global Notes, as follows:

¢ Notessold to qualified institutional buyers under Rule 144A will be represented by oneormore
Rule 144 A Global Notes; and

e Notessold in offshore transactions to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S will be
represented by one ormore Regulation S Global Notes.

Upon issuance, each ofthe Global Notes will be deposited with the Registrar and Transfer Agent as custodian
for DTC and registered in the name of Cede & Co.,asnominee of DTC.

Ownership of beneficial interests in each Global Note will be limited to persons who have accounts with DTC,
or DTC participants, or persons who hold interests through DTC participants. We expect that under procedures

established by DTC:

e upondeposit of each Global Note with DTC’s custodian, DTC will credit portions oftheprincipal
amount ofthe Global Note to theaccounts of the DTC participants designated by the Initial
Purchasers; and

e ownership of beneficialinterests in each Global Note will be shown on, and transfer of ownership of
those interests will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC (with respect to interests of
DTC participants) and therecords of DTC participants (with respectto other owners of beneficial
interests in the GlobalNote).

Each Global Note and beneficial interests in each Global Note will be subjectto restrictions on transfer as
described under “Transfer Restrictions”.

See “Description of the Notes and the Guarantees—Book-Entry System; Delivery and Form”.

BOOK-ENTRY PROCEDURES FOR THE GLOBAL NOTES

All interests in the Global Notes will be subject to the operations and procedures of DTC, Euroclearand
Clearstream. We provide the following summaries ofthose operations and procedures solely forthe convenience of
investors. The information in this section concerning DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (referred to
herein as Clearstream)and their book-entry systems has been obtained from sources that we believe to be reliable,
but neither we northe Initial Purchasers take any responsibility for ormake any representation or warranty with
respect to the accuracy of this information. DTC, Euroclearand Clearstream areunderno obligationto follow the
procedures described herein to facilitate thetransfer of interestin Global Notes among participants and account
holders of DTC, Euroclearand Clearstream, and such procedures may be discontinued or modified at any time.
Neither we, the Company, the Trustee nor any payingagent will haveany responsibility forthe performance of
DTC, Euroclearand Clearstream or their respective participants or indirect participants of their respective
obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.

DTC hasadvisedus thatit is:
e alimited purpose trustcompany organized under the laws ofthe State of New York;
e a “bankingorganization” within themeaningoftheNew York State BankingLaw;
e amemberofthe Federal Reserve System;
e a“clearingcorporation” within themeaning of the Uniform Commercial Code; and

e a‘“clearingagency” registered under Section 1 7A ofthe Securities Exchange Act 0 1934.

DTC was createdto hold securities forits participantsand to facilitatethe clearance and settlement of securities
transactions between its participants through electronic book-entry changes to the accounts of'its participants.
DTC’s participants include securities brokers and dealers, including the Initial Purchasers; banks and trust
companies; clearing corporations and other organizations. Indirect access to DTC’s system is also available to
others such as banks, brokers, dealers and trustcompanies; these indirect participants clear through ormaintain a
custodial relationship with a DTC participant, either directly or indirectly. Investors who are not DTC participants
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may beneficially own securities held by oron behalf of DTC only through DTC participants or indirect participants
in DTC.

So long as DTC’snominee is the registered owner of a Global Note, that nominee will be considered thesole
ownerorholderofthe Notes represented by that Global Note forall purposes under the Indenture.

As a result, each investor who owns a beneficial interestin a Global Note must rely on the procedures of DTC
to exercise anyrights of a holder of Notes under the Indenture (and, if the investoris not a participant oranindirect
participant in DTC, on the procedures ofthe DTC participantthrough which theinvestor owns its interest).

Payments of principal, premium (if any) and interest with respectto the Notes represented by a Global Note will
be made by the Paying Agent to DTC’s nominee as the registered holder of the Global Note. Neither we northe
Paying Agent will have any responsibility or liability forthe payment of amounts to owners of beneficial interests in
a GlobalNote, forany aspect ofthe records relating to or payments made on account of those interests by DTC, or
formaintaining, supervisingorreviewinganyrecords of DTC relating to thoseinterests.

Payments by participants and indirect participants in DTC to the owners of beneficial interests in a Global Note
will be governed by standing instructions and customary industry practice and will be the responsibility of those
participants or indirect participants and DTC.

Transfers between participants in DTC will be effected under DTC’s procedures and will be settled in same-day
funds. Transfers between participants in Euroclear or Clearstream will be effected in the ordinary way under the
rules and operating procedures ofthose systems.

Cross-markettransfers between DTC participants, on the onehand, and Euroclear or Clearstream participants,
on the otherhand, will be effected within DTC throughthe DTC participants thatare actingas depositaries for
Euroclearand Clearstream. To deliverorreceive aninterest in a Global Note held in a Euroclear or Clearstream
account, aninvestor must send transfer instructions to Euroclear or Clearstream, as the case may be, underthe rules
and procedures of that system and within the established deadlines of thatsystem. If thetransactionmeets its
settlementrequirements, Euroclear or Clearstream, as the casemay be, will send instructions to its DTC depositary
to take actionto effect final settlement by delivering or receiving interests in the relevant Global Notes in DTC, and
making orreceiving payment under normal procedures for same-day funds settlementapplicable to DTC. Euroclear
and Clearstream participants may not deliver instructions directly to the DTC depositaries that are acting for
Euroclearor Clearstream.

Because oftime zone differences, the securities account ofa Euroclear or Clearstream participant that purchases
an interest in a GlobalNote from a DTC participant will be credited on the business day for Euroclear or
Clearstream immediately following the DTC settlement date. Cashreceived in Euroclear or Clearstream from the
sale of an interest in a Global Note to a DTC participantwill be received with value onthe DTC settlementdatebut
will be available in the relevant Euroclear or Clearstream cash accountas of the business day for Euroclear or
Clearstream following the DTC settlement date.

DTC, Euroclearand Clearstream haveagreed to the above procedures to facilitate transfers ofinterests in the
GlobalNotes among participants in those settlement systems. However, the settlement systems are not obligated to
perform theseprocedures and may discontinue or change these procedures at any time. Neither we northe Trustee
will haveanyresponsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream or their participants or indirect
participants of their obligations under the rules and procedures governing their operations.
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TAXATION

Tax legislation, including in the country wherethe investoris domiciled or tax residentand in the Issuer’s
country of incorporation, may have an impact onthe income that an investorreceives from the Notes. Prospective
holders of Notes are advised to consult their own tax advisors as to the tax consequences, under the tax laws ofthe
country of which they are resident, of a purchase of the Notes, including, without limitation, the consequences of the
receipt of interest and premium, if any, on any sale or redemption of the Notes orany interest therein.

UK TAX CONSIDERATIONS

The summarybelowis of a generalnature and describes certain UK tax implications of acquiring, holdingor
disposingof Notes. Itisnottax advice and is not intended to be exhaustive. The summaryis based on current UK
tax law, current UK H.M. Revenue and Customs (“HMRC”) published practice, which maynotbe bindingon
HMRC andthe temms of the double taxation treaty between the United States and the United Kingdom which
entered into forceon March 31,2003 (the “Treaty”), allof which aresubject to change atany time, possibly with
retrospective effect. The comments relateonly to the positionof persons who are the absolute beneficial owners of
their Notes andmaynotapply to certain classes ofholders, such as dealers in securities and holders who are
connected with the Issuer for UK tax purposes, and donotnecessarily apply where the income in respectof the
Notesis deemed for UK tax purposes tobe the income ofany person other than the holder of the Notes.

Please consult your own tax advisor concerning the consequences of acquiring, owning and disposing of
the Notes under UK tax law and the laws of any other jurisdictionin which you may be subject to tax.

Interest Payments: Any premium payable on a redemptionof the Notes at the option of the [ssuermay, in
certain circumstances, constitute interest for UK tax purposes and so be treated in the manner described below.
References to “interest” in this sectionmeaninterestas understood in UK tax law. The statements below do not take
account of any different definitions of interest which may prevailunderany otherlaw.

Payments ofintereston Notes issued by theIssuer will not be subject to withholding or deduction fororon
account of UK income tax because the Notes will be treatedas “quoted Eurobonds” (within the meaning of
section 987 of theIncome Tax Act 2007 (“ITA2007”)),so longasthe Notes are “listed ona recognised stock
exchange” (within themeaning of section 1005 ITA 2007) oradmitted to tradingon a “multilateral trading facility”
(within the meaning of section 987 ITA2007). Section 1005 ITA 2007 provides that securities will be treated as
“listed on a recognised stock exchange” if (and only if) they are admitted to trading on that exchange, and either
they are included in the United Kingdom official list (within the meaning of Part 6 of the Financial Services and
Markets Act 2000) or they are officially listed, in accordance with provisions corresponding to those generally
applicable in European Economic Area states, in a country outside the United Kingdom in which there is a
“recognised stock exchange”. The London Stock Exchange is a “recognised stock exchange” for these purposes.

Even if the Notes do not qualify as “quoted Eurobonds”, no withholding or deduction for oron account of UK
income tax is required (subjectto contrary direction from HMRC) in respectof payments to a holder who theIssuer
reasonably believes is the beneficial owner of the interest payable onthe Notes and s eithera UK resident company
or a non-UK resident company carryingon a trade in the United Kingdom through a UK permanent establishment
where the paymentis takenintoaccountin calculatingthe UK corporation tax liability of thatcompany, or falls
within various categories enjoyinga special tax status (including charities and certain pension funds), oris a
partnership consisting of such persons.

In most other cases, payments of interest will generally be subject to withholding or deduction for or on account
of UK income tax atthe basic rate, which is currently 20%. Certain holders of Notes whoare residentin the United
States may be entitled to receive payments free of withholding or deduction fororon account of UK tax underthe
Treaty and HMRC may issue a direction to the Issuerto that effect. Holders of Notes who are resident in other
jurisdictions may also be able to receive payment free of withholding or deduction for oron accountof UK tax or
subjecttoa lowerrateof such withholding or deduction under anappropriate double taxation treaty and HMRC may
issue a direction to that effect. However, any suchdirection will, in any case, be issued only onpriorapplication to
the relevant tax authorities by the holderin question. If sucha directionisnot in place atthe timea payment of
interest is made, the Issuer will be required to withhold or deduct for or on account of UK tax, although a holder of
Notes resident in another jurisdiction who is entitled to relief may subsequently claim from HMRC theamount, or
proportionofthe amount, withheld or deducted.

The interest on Notes issued by the Issuer will have a UK source for UK tax purposesand, as such, maybe
subject to UK tax by directassessment (including self-assessment) even where paid without withholding or
deduction fororon accountof UK income tax. However, interest with a UK sourcereceived without withholding or
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deduction fororon accountof UK income tax will not be chargeable to UK tax in the hands of a person (other than
certain trustees) who is not resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom unless thatperson carries on a trade,
professionor vocationin the United Kingdom through a branch oragency (or, for holders who are companies,
carries on a trade through a permanent establishment) in the United Kingdom in connection with which theinterest
is received orto which the Notes are attributable, in which case (subject to exemptions forinterestreceived by
certain categories ofagent) tax may be levied on the UK branch, agency or permanent establishment.

Disposal (including redemption): 1n general, a holder of Notes who is resident in a jurisdiction outside the
United Kingdom will not be liable to UK chargeable gains taxationin respect ofa disposal (including redemption)
of a Note,any gain accrued in respect ofa Note orany change in the valueof a Note, unless at the timeof the
disposal, the holder carries on a trade, profession or vocation in the United Kingdom througha branch oragency (or,
forholders who are companies, carries on a tradethrough a permanent establishment) and the Note was used in or
forthe purposes ofthat trade, profession or vocation or is attributable to thebranch oragency or permanent
establishment.

UK Corporation Tax Payers: In general, holders within the charge to UK corporation tax (other than certain
authorized investment funds) will be treated for UK tax purposes as realizing profits, gains or losses in respect of the
Notes on a basis which is broadly in accordance with theiraccounting treatment, so longas thataccounting
treatmentis in accordance with generally accepted accounting practice (as that term is defined for UK tax purposes).
Such profits, gains and losses whether attributable to currency fluctuations or otherwise will be taken intoaccountin
computing taxable income for UK corporationtax purposes.

Other UK Tax Payers: 1fthe holderis an individual resident in the United Kingdom for UK tax purposes, he or
she mayhave to account for UK capital gains tax in respect ofany gains arising on a disposal (including a
redemption) of a Note. Any such capital gains would be calculated by comparing the British pound values on
purchase and disposal of the Notes, so a liability to UK tax could arise even where the non-British pound amount
received on a disposal was less thanorthe same as the amountpaid for the Notes.

The rulesrelatingto “accrued income profits and losses” (contained in Part 12 ITA 2007) may apply to certain
holders who are not subject to UK corporationtax, in relationto a transfer ofthe Notes. On a transfer of securities
with accruedinterest, the rules usually apply to deem the transferor to receive an amount of income equalto the
accruedinterest and to treatthe deemed oractual interest subsequently received by the transfereeas reduced by a
corresponding amount.

Generally, persons whoare not resident in the UK and who do not carry on a trade in the United Kingdom
through a branch oragency in the United Kingdom for the purposes of which the Notes were used, held oracquired
will notbe subjectto therulesrelatingto accrued income profits and losses.

Dependent, among other things, on thediscount (if any) at which the Notes are issued, the Notes may be
deemedto constitute “deeply discounted securities” for the purposes of Chapter 8 of Part 4 of the Income Tax
(Tradingand Other Income) Act 2005. Ifthe Notes aredeemedto constitute deeply discounted securities, individual
holders of Notes who are resident for tax purposes in the United Kingdom or who carry ona trade, profession or
vocationin the United Kingdom through a branch oragency to whichthe Notes areattributable generally will be
liable to UK income tax on any gain made onthe sale or other disposal (including redemption) of the Notes.
Holders of Notes are advised to consult their own professional advisors if they require any advice or further
informationrelatingto “deeply discounted securities”.

Specialrules mayapply to individual holders who have ceased to be resident for UK tax purposes in the United
Kingdom and onceagainbecomeresident for UK tax purposes in the United Kingdom aftera period of
non-residence. Such holders should consult their own tax advisors.

Stamp Duty and Stamp Duty Reserve Tax (“SDRT”): No UK stamp duty or SDRT should arise on the issue or
transferof a Note, oron its redemption.

Provision of Information: Holders of Notes should notethat, in certain circumstances, HMR C has the power
to obtain information (including details of the beneficial owners of the Notes (or the persons forwhom the Notes are
held) orthe persons to whom payments derived from the Notes areormay be paid and information and documents
in connection with transactions relating to the Notes) from, amongst others, theholders of the Notes, persons by or
through whom payments derived from the Notes are made, persons who receive (or would be entitled toreceive)
such payments, persons who effect orare a party to transactions relating to the Notes onbehalf of others and certain
registrars oradministrators. HMR Calso has thepower, in certain circumstances, to obtain information from any
person in the UK who pays amounts payable on the redemption of notes that are deeply discounted securities for the
purposes ofthe Income Tax (Trading and Other Income) Act 2005, or receives such amounts for the benefit of
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another person (although HMR C published guidance indicates thatit will only exercise its power having first
announced widely thatit will begin to require the reporting of this information). Any suchinformation referredto in
this paragraph may, in certain circumstances, be exchanged by HMR C with the tax authorities in other countries.

CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS
This section describes certain U.S. federal income tax consequences to a U.S. holder (as defined below) of
owningordisposing of the Notes we are offering. It applies to youonly if youacquire Notes in the offeringatthe

initial offering price andyou hold your Notesas capital assets for U.S. federal income tax purposes. This section
doesnot describe allthe U.S. federal income tax considerations that may apply to you if you are a member of a class

of owners subjectto specialrules, such as:

e adealerin securities or currencies;

e atraderin securities that elects touse a mark-to-market method of accounting for your securities
holdings;

e abank;

e alife insurancecompany;

e  atax-exempt organization;

. a realestate investment trust;

e aregulatedinvestmentcompany;

e aU.S. expatriate;

e apersonthat owns Notes that are a hedge orthatarehedged againstinterestrate risks;

e anaccrualmethod taxpayer required to recognize income for U.S. federal income tax purposes no
laterthan when suchincome is taken intoaccountin applicable financial statements;

e aperson who holds the Notes in connection with a trade or business outside the United States;
e aperson that owns Notes as part ofa straddle or conversion transaction for tax purposes; or

e aperson whosefunctional currency fortax purposesis not the U.S. dollar.

If a partnership (oran entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. federalincometax purposes) holds
Notes, the U.S. federalincome tax treatment ofa partner will generally depend onthe status of thepartner and the
tax treatment ofthe partnership. Partnerships holding Notes and their partners should consult their tax advisors with

regard to the U.S. federalincometax treatmentof an investment in the Notes.

This section is based on the Internal Revenue Codeof 1986, as amended (the “Code”), its legislative history,
existingand proposed regulationsunderthe Code, published rulings and court decisions, allas of the datehereof.
These laws are subject to change, possibly on a retroactive basis. This section does notaddress alternative minimum
tax consequences, U.S. federal estate and gift tax consequences, the applicability of the Medicaretax onnet
investment income orany U.S. state and local ornon-U.S. tax consequences ofacquiring, owning or disposing of
Notes.

Please consult your own tax advisor concerning the consequences of owning these Notes in your
particular circumstances under the Code and the laws of any other taxing jurisdiction.

Youarea U.S. holderif you are a beneficial ownerof a Noteandyouare for U.S. federal incometax purposes:
e acitizen orindividual residentof the United States;

e acorporation,orotherentitytreated as a corporation for U.S. federal incometax purposes, created or
organizedin orunderthe laws ofthe United States, any statethereof or the District of Columbia;

e anestate whose incomeis subjectto U.S. federalincometax regardless ofits source; or

e atrustif(i) a U.S. court canexercise primary supervision over thetrust’s administrationand oneor
more U.S. persons are authorized to control all substantial decisions of the trustor (ii) a valid election

is in placeto treat thetrustasa U.S. person.
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Payments of Interest: You will be taxed on interest on your Notes (without reduction forany withholding tax)
and, without duplication, any Additional Amounts, including the amountof any withholding tax on payments of
Additional Amounts, as ordinary income at the timeyouactually or constructively receive the interest orwhen it
accrues, depending on your method of accounting for U.S. federal incometax purposes.

Interest paid by us on the Notes is income from sources outside the United States for the purposes of therules
regardingthe foreign tax credit allowable to a U.S. holder. The interest will, depending on your circumstances, be
either “passive” or “general” income for purposes of computing the foreign tax credit.

Ifa Changeof Control Repurchase Event occurs, the Issuer or Company will be required to make an offerto
each holder of Notes to repurchase allorany part ofthatholder’s Notes at a repurchase price in cashequalto 101%
of'the aggregate principalamount of Notes repurchased and any accrued interest (see “Description ofthe Notes and
the Guarantees—Change of Control Repurchase Event”). Notwithstanding this possibility, we do notbelieve that
the Notes are contingent payment debt instruments for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and, consequently, we do
notintendto treat the Notes as contingent payment debt instruments. If, notwithstanding our view, any of the Notes
were treated as contingent paymentdebt instruments, a U.S. holdermay be required to accrue ordinary income at a
rate that is differentto the stated interest rate onsuch Notes and to treat as ordinary income (rather than capital gain)
any gain recognized ona sale or othertaxable disposition of such Notes. The remainder of this discussion assumes
that theNotes willnot be treated as contingent payment debt instruments for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Disposition of a Note: You generally will recognize capital gain orloss on the sale, exchange, redemption,
retirementor othertaxable disposition of your Notes equal to the difference between theamount you realize on the
sale, exchange, redemption, retirement or other taxable disposition, excluding any amounts attributable to accrued
but unpaid interest, which will be taxed as describedabove, and yourtax basis in your Notes. Yourtax basis in your
Notes generally will be their cost. Capital gain ofa non-corporate U.S. holderis generally taxed atpreferential rates
where the property is held for more than one year. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations.

Information with Respectto Foreign Financial Assets: Certain owners of “specified foreign financial assets”
with an aggregate value in excess of US$50,000 (and in some circumstances, a higher threshold) may be required to
file an information report with respect to such assets with their U.S. federal incometax returns. “Specified foreign
financial assets” generally include financial accounts maintained by foreign financial institutions, including those in
which Notes may be held, and securities issued by non-U.S. persons, such as the Notes, if they are not held in
accounts maintained by financial institutions. Holders are urged to consult theirtax advisors regarding the
application ofthis reporting requirement to their ownership ofthe Notes.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting: Backup withholding and informationreporting
requirements may apply to certain payments to U.S. holders of interest onthe Notes and to theproceeds ofa sale or
otherdisposition ofa Note. Backup withholding (currently at a rate 0f24%) may be required if you fail (i) to
furnish your taxpayer identification number, (ii) to certify that you are notsubject to backup withholding or (iii) to
otherwise comply with the applicable requirements ofthe backup withholdingrules. Certain U.S. holders
(including, among others, corporations) are not currently subject to the backup withholding and information
reportingrequirements. Backup withholdingis not an additionaltax. Any amounts withheld under the backup
withholdingrules from a paymentto a U.S. holder generally may be claimedas a credit againstsuch U.S. holder’s
U.S. federalincome tax liability and any excess may result in a refund, provided that therequired information is
timely furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.
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PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION

Subject tothe terms and conditions of a purchase agreement among the Issuer, the Company and the Initial
Purchasers, the Issuerhas agreed to sell to the Initial Purchasers, and each Initial Purchaser has severally agreed to
purchase from theIssuer, the principal amount of Notes indicated in the followingtable.

Principal Amount of Principal Amount of

Initial Purchasers 2030 Notes 2050 Notes
BNP Paribas Securities COTP.......ccceerrirrereierirrereeisissesesiesesessssssesessssesens $200,000,000 $100,000,000
Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC ...t eesee e $200,000,000 $100,000,000
HSBC Securities (USA) TG e $200,000,000 $100,000,000
Santander Investment SECUTTtIES INC.....eovveveeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeenes $200,000,000 $100,000,000
CIBC World Matkets COIp. ...coveveeeeririeieiieiereeseisieseesssesesessesesesesseseseses $100,000,000 $50,000,000
Scotia Capital (USA) INC......ouevereeeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeeees e $100,000,000 $50,000,000
TOAL ettt e e et e e et et re et e et eeae e s esaeenens $1,000,000,000 $500,000,000

The obligations of the Initial Purchasers under the purchase a greement, including their a greement to purchase
Notes from the [ssuer, are severalandnotjoint. The purchase agreement provides that the Initial Purchasers will
purchase allthe Notes if any ofthem are purchased.

The Initial Purchasers initially propose to offerandsell the Notes atthe respective prices set forth onthe cover
page of this document. The Initial Purchasers may change such offering prices and any other sellingterms at any
time without notice. The offering of the Notes by the Initial Purchasers is subject to receipt and acceptance and
subject tothe Initial Purchasers’ right to reject any order in whole or part. The Initial Purchasers may offerandsell

Notes through certain of their a ffiliates.

In the purchase a greement, the Issuer and the Company haveagreed to indemnify the several Initial Purchasers,
theiraffiliates, directors, officers, employees and controlling persons a gainst certain liabilities in connection with
this offering, including liabilities under the Securities Act, and to contributeto payments that the several Initial

Purchasers may be required to make in respect thereof.

The Initial Purchasers expect thatdelivery ofthe Notes willbe madeagainst paymentthereforeon the
Settlement Date, which will be the second business day following the pricing date of the offering (this settlement
cycle beingreferred to as “T+2”).

The Notes and the Guarantees havenot been, and willnot be, registered under the Securities Act or qualified for
saleunderthe securities laws ofany state oranyjurisdictioninside or outsidethe United States. The Initial
Purchasers propose to resell the Notes and the Guarantees to qualified institutional buyers in reliance on Rule 144A
and outside the United States to certain non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S. Eachpurchaser of the Notes
offered hereby in making its purchase will be deemed to havemade by its purchase certain acknowledgments,
representations, warranties and a greements as set forthunder thesections entitled “Notice to Investors”™ and
“Transfer Restrictions”.

In connection with sales outside the United States, the Initial Purchasers have agreed that they will not offer,
sell or deliverthe Notes to, or forthe accountor benefit of, U.S. persons (i) as a part of the Initial Purchasers’
distribution at any time or (ii) otherwise until 40 days afterthelater of thecommencement ofthe offering or the date
the Notes are originally issued other than in accordance with Regulation S or another exemption from the
registration requirements of the Securities Act. The Initial Purchasers will send to each broker or dealerto whom
they sell such Notes during such 40-day distribution compliance period a confirmation or other notice setting forth
the restrictions on offers and sales ofthe Notes within the United States orto, or forthe account or benefit of, U.S.
persons.

In addition, until the expiration of the 40-day distribution compliance periodreferred to above, an offerorsale
of the Notes within the United States by a broker/dealer, whether ornot participating in this offering, may violate the
registration requirements of the Securities Act if such sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A or
pursuantto another exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

The Notes are a new issue of securities for which there currently is no market. The Issuer intends tomake an
application for Admission ofeach series of the Notes to listing on the Official List and to trading on the London
Stock Exchange’s Regulated Market, a regulated market. The Initial Purchasers have advised the Issuerthat
following the completion of this offering, they presently intend to make a marketin the Notes. They are not
obligated todo so, however, and any market-making activities with respect to the Notes may be discontinued at any
time at theirsole discretion without notice. In addition, such market-makingactivity will be subjectto the limits
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imposedby the Securities Act andthe Exchange Act. Accordingly, the Issuercannotgive anyassurance as to the
development ofany marketorthe liquidity ofany marketfor the Notes.

In connection with this offering, the Stabilizing Managers may engage in over-allotment, stabilizing
transactions, syndicate covering transactions and penalty bids. Over-allotment involves sales in excess of the
offering size, which creates a shortposition for the Initial Purchasers. Stabilizing transactions involve bids to
purchase the Notes in the openmarket for the purpose of pegging, fixing ormaintaining the price of the Notes.
Syndicatecovering transactions involve purchases of the Notes in the open market after the distribution has been
completedin orderto covershortpositions. Penalty bidspermit the Stabilizing Managers to reclaim a selling
concession from a broker/dealer when the Notes originally sold by such broker/dealer are purchasedin a stabilizing
or syndicate covering transaction to cover short positions. Any ofthese activities may prevent a declinein the
market price of such Notes, and may also cause theprice of such Notes to be higher than it would otherwise be in
the absence of thesetransactions. The Stabilizing Managers may conductthese transactions in the over-the-counter
market or otherwise. If the Stabilizing Managers commence any of these transactions, they may discontinue them at
any time.

The Issuerand the Company have each agreednotto, fora period from thedatehereofuntilthe date ofdelivery
of the Notes, without the prior written consentof theInitial Purchasers, directly orindirectly, issue, sell, offerto sell,
grant any option for the sale of, or otherwise dispose of, any securities similar to the Notes, or any securities
convertible into or exchangeable forthe Notes orany such similar securities or the Guarantees, except forthe Notes
sold to the Initial Purchasers pursuant to the purchasea greement.

The Initial Purchasers and their respective affiliates are full service financial institutions engaged in various
activities, which may include sales and trading, commercial and investmentbanking, advisory, investment
management, investment research, principal investment, hedging, market making, brokerage and other financial and
non-financial activities and services. Certain ofthe Initial Purchasers and their respective affiliates have provided,
and may in the future provide, a variety of theseservices to the Issuer and the Company and to persons and entities
with relationships with the Issuer and the Company, for which they received or will receive customary fees
expenses. In particular, affiliates of certain ofthe Initial Purchasers are lenders under certain of our existing credit
facilities, and proceeds from the sale of theNotes may be used to service orrepay these facilities. Affiliates of BNP
Paribas Securities Corp. and Santander Investment Securities Inc. are lenders under the Group’s $2.0 billion
revolving credit bridge facility and will have their commitments thereunder cancelled in an amountequalto the
proceeds ofthe Notes not used to repay orredeem debt, in accordance with its terms. Additionally, BNP Paribas,an
affiliate of BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Goldman Sachs & Co. LLC, HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. and Santander
Investment Securities Inc. are acting as dealer managers in connection with the Tender Offers and willreceive

customary fees for performing theseservices. To theextent that any ofthe Initial Purchasers ortheirrespective
affiliates own any ofthe 2.500% Guaranteed Notes due 2021, 3.500% Guaranteed Notes due 2022 orthe 4.125%
Senior Notes due 2022, they may receive a portion ofthe netproceeds ofthis offering in connection with the Tender

Offersandthe purchase by the Company ofallora portion of suchnotes.

In the ordinary course of their various business activities, the Initial Purchasers and their respective affiliates,
officers, directors and employees may purchase, sellorhold a broad array ofinvestments, including servingas
counterparties to certain derivatives and hedging instruments, and actively trade securities, derivatives, loans,
commodities, currencies, credit default swaps and other financial instruments for theirown accountand forthe
accounts oftheir customers, and such investment and trading activities may involve orrelateto assets, securities
and/orinstruments oftheIssuer orthe Company (directly, as collateral securing other obligations or otherwise)
and/or persons and entities with relationships with the Issuer or the Company. Certain ofthe Initial Purchasers or
theiraffiliates that havea lending relationship with the Issuer or the Company routinely hedge their credit exposure
to the Issuer orthe Company consistent with their customary risk managementpolicies. Typically, such Initial
Purchasers andtheir a ffiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the
purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in the securities of the Issuer or the Company,
including potentially the Notes offered hereby. Any such credit default swaps or short positions could adversely
affect future trading prices of the Notes offered hereby. The Initial Purchasers and their respective affiliates may
also communicate independent investment recommendations, market color ortradingideas and/or publish or express
independentresearch views in respect of such assets, securities or instruments and may at any timehold, or
recommendto clients that they should acquire, longand/or shortpositions in such assets, securities and instruments.

To the extent any Initial Purchaserthat isnota U.S. registered broker dealer intends to effect any offers orsales
of any Notes in the United States, it will do so through oneormore U.S. registered broker dealers in accordance
with the applicable U.S. securities laws and regulations.
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European Economic Areaand UK Retail Investors

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed thatit has notoffered, sold or otherwise madeavailable and
will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes to any retailinvestorin the EEA orin the UK. Forthese
purposes, a retail investor means a person whois one (ormore) of: (i) a retailclient as definedin point (11) of
Atticle 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, “MiFID I17); or (i) a customer within themeaning of Directive
EU 2016/97 (as amended or superseded, the “Insurance Distribution Directive”), where that customer would not
qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MiFIDII.

References to Regulations or Directives include, in relation to the UK, those Regulations or Directives as they
form part of UK domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 orhavebeenimplemented in
UK domestic law, as appropriate.

United Kingdom

Each Initial Purchaser has represented and agreed that (a) it has only communicated or caused to be
communicated and willonly communicate or cause to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in
investment activity (within themeaning of Section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or
sale of the Notes in circumstances in which Section 21(1) ofthe FSM A does notapply to theIssuer orthe Company;
and (b) it has complied and willcomply with allapplicable provisions of the FSM A with respectto anything in
relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

Hong Kong

The contents of this documenthavenotbeenreviewed by any regulatory authority in Hong Kong. Youare
advisedto exercise cautionin relationto the offer. If you are in any doubt aboutany ofthe contents of this
document, youshould obtain independent professional advice.

The Notes maynot be offered or sold in Hong Kong by means ofany document other than (i) to “professional
investors” as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and anyrules
madeunderthat Ordinance, or (ii) in other circumstances which do not result in the documentbeinga “prospectus”
asdefinedin the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of that Ordinance; and no advertisement,
invitation or document relating to the Notes may be issued ormay be in the possession ofany person for the
purposes ofissue (in each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), which is directed at, orthe contents of which
are likely to be accessed orread by, the public in Hong Kong (except if permitted todo so underthelaws of Hong
Kong) otherthan with respectto Notes whichare orare intended to bedisposed of only to persons outside Hong
Kongoronly to “professionalinvestors”as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and any rules madeunder that Ordinance.

Singapore

This document has not beenregistered as a prospectus under the Securities and Futures Act, Chapter289 of
Singapore (the “SFA”) by the Monetary Authority of Singapore, and the offer of the Notes in Singaporeis made
primarily pursuant to the exemptions under Sections 274 and 275 ofthe SFA. Accordingly, this documentand any
otherdocumentormaterial in connection with the offer orsale, orinvitation for subscription or purchase, of the
Notes maynot be circulated or distributed, normay the Notes be offered orsold, ormadethe subjectof an invitation
forsubscription or purchase, whether directly or indirectly, to any personin Singapore otherthan (i)to an
institutional investor as defined in Section 4 A of the SFA (an “Institutional Investor”) pursuantto Section 274 ofthe
SFA, (ii) to an accredited investoras definedin Section 4A of the SFA (an “Accredited Investor”) or otherrelevant
person as defined in Section275(2) of the SFA (a “Relevant Person™) and pursuant to Section275(1) of the SFA, or
to any personpursuant toanofferreferredto in Section 275(1A) of the SFA, and in accordance with the conditions
specified in Section 275 ofthe SFA or (iii) otherwise pursuant to, and in accordance with, the conditions of any
otherapplicable exemption or provision of the SFA.

Itis a condition of the offer that where the Notes are subscribed for or acquired pursuantto an offer made in
reliance on Section275 ofthe SFA by a Relevant Person whichis:

(a) acorporation(whichisnotan Accredited Investor), the sole business of whichis to hold investments
and the entire share capital of which is owned by one ormoreindividuals, each of whomisan
Accredited Investor; or
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(b)  atrust(where the trustee isnot an Accredited Investor), the sole purpose of which is to hold
investments and each beneficiary of thetrust is an individual who is an Accredited Investor,

the securities or securities-based derivatives contracts (each as defined in Section2(1) of the SFA) of that
corporation and thebeneficiaries’ rights and interest (howsoever described) in thattrust, shallnot be
transferred within six months a fter that corporation or that trusthas subscribed fororacquired the notes
except:

(1) toanInstitutional Investor, an Accredited Investor, a Relevant Person, or which arises from an
offerreferredto in Section275(1 A) ofthe SFA (in the case ofthatcorporation) or Section
276(4)(1)(B) of the SFA (in the case ofthattrust);

(2) whereno consideration is or will be given for the transfer;
(3) wherethe transferis by operation oflaw;
(4) asspecified in Section276(7) of the SFA; or

(5) asspecified in Regulation 37A of the Securities and Futures (Offers of Investments) (Securities
and Securities-based Derivatives Contracts) Regulations 201 8.

SingaporeSecuritiesand Futures Act Product Classification — Solely forthepurposes of our obligations
pursuantto Sections 309(B)(1)(a)and 309(B)(1)(c) of the SFA, we havedetermined, and hereby notifyall relevant
persons (as defined in Section 309A of the SFA) that the Notes are “prescribed capital markets products” (as defined
in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018) and “Excluded Investment Products” (as
defined in MAS Notice SFA 04-N12: Notice onthe Sale of Investment Products and MAS Notice FAA-N16:

Notice on Recommendations on Investment Products).

Switzerland

We have notand will not register with the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (“FINMA”)as a
foreign collective investment scheme pursuant to Article 119 of the Federal Act on Collective Investment Scheme of
23 June 2006, as amended (“CISA”),and accordingly the securities being offered pursuantto this prospectus have
notandwill not be approved, and maynot belicenseable, with FINMA. Therefore, the securities havenotbeen
authorized for distributionby FINMA as a foreign collective investmentscheme pursuantto Article 119 CISA and
the securities offered hereby may not be offered to thepublic (as this term is defined in Article 3 CISA)in or from
Switzerland. The securities may solely be offered to “qualified investors,” as this term is defined in Article 10
CISA, and in the circumstances set outin Article 3 of the Ordinance on CollectiveInvestment Scheme of22
November2006, as amended (“CISO”), such that there is no public offer. Investors, however, do notbenefit from
protection under CISA or CISO orsupervisionby FINMA. This prospectus and any other materials relatingto the
securities are strictly personaland confidential to each offereeand donotconstitute an offer to any other person.
This prospectus may only be used by those qualified investors to whom it has been handed out in connection with
the offer described herein and may neither directly or indirectly be distributed ormade available to any person or
entity otherthanits recipients. It maynotbe usedin connection with any other offerandshallin particularnot be
copied and/or distributed to the public in Switzerland or from Switzerland. This prospectus does notconstitutean
issue prospectus as thattermis understood pursuantto Article 652a and/or 1156 ofthe Swiss Federal Code of
Obligations. We have not applied fora listing of the securities on the SIX Swiss Exchange orany otherregulated
securities marketin Switzerland, and consequently, the information presented in this prospectus does not necessarily
comply with theinformation standards set out in the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange and corresponding
prospectus schemes annexed to the listingrules of the SIX Swiss Exchange.

Taiwan

The Notes have not beenand willnot be registered or filed with, orapproved by, the Financial Supervisory
Commissionof Taiwanand/or any other regulatory authority of Taiwan pursuant torelevant securities laws and
regulations and maynot be sold, issued or offered within Taiwan through a public offering or in circumstances
which could constitute an offer within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of Taiwan orrelevantlaws
and regulations that require a registration, filing orapproval of the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan
and/or any other regulatory authority of Taiwan. No personorentity in Taiwan has beenauthorized to offer orsell
the Notes in Taiwanthrougha public offering or in any offering thatrequires registration, filing orapproval of the
Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan exceptpursuant to the applicable laws and regulations of Taiwanand
the competent authority’s rulings thereunder.
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Japan

The securities offered hereby have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and
Exchange LawofJapan (LawNo.25 of 1948 asamended, the “FIEL”) and each Initial Purchaser has agreed that it
will not offer orsellany securities, directly orindirectly, in Japanorto, or forthe benefit of, any resident of Japan
(which term asused herein means any personresidentin Japan, including any corporation or other entity organized
underthe laws of Japan), orto others forre-offeringorresale, directly orindirectly, in Japan orto a resident of
Japan, exceptpursuant to anexemption from the registra tion requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the

FIEL and any otherapplicable laws, regulations and ministerial guidelines of Japan.
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TRANSFERRESTRICTIONS

The Notes and the Guarantees havenot beenregistered under the Securities Act orany other applicable
securities laws, and maynotbe offered, sold ordelivered in the United States orto, or forthe accountor benefit of,
any U.S. person, except pursuant to an effective registration statement or in a transaction not subjectto the
registration requirements of the Securities Act or in accordance with anapplicable exemption from the registration
requirements and those otherlaws. Accordingly,theNotes and the Guarantees are being offered and sold only (i) to
qualified institutional buyers in a privatesale exempt from theregistration requirements ofthe Securities Act
pursuantto Rule 144 A and any other applicable securities laws or (ii) outside the United States to non-U.S. persons
in compliance with Regulation S.

Each purchase of Notes is subjectto restrictions on transfer as summarized below. By purchasing Notes, each
purchaser will be deemed to have made the following acknowledgements, representations to and agreements with us

and the Initial Purchasers:

(1) The purchaserunderstands and acknowledges that:

e cach ofthe Notes and the Guarantees have not been registered under the Securities Act orany other
securities laws and are being offered for resale in transactions that donotrequire registration under

the Securities Act orany other securities laws; and

e unlesssoregistered, the Notes and the Guarantees maynotbe offered, sold or otherwise transferred
except underanexemption from, orin a transaction not subjectto, the registration requirements of the
Securities Act orany otherapplicable securities laws, and in each case in compliance with the

conditions for transfer set forth in paragraph (3) below.

(2) The purchaserrepresents that it isnot an affiliate(as defined in Rule 144 underthe Securities Act) of the
Company orthe Issuer, that the purchaseris not actingon behalf of such persons and that either:

e thepurchaseris a qualified institutional buyer (as defined in Rule 144A), is aware that the sale to it is
beingmade in reliance on Rule 144 A and is purchasing Notes forits own account or for the account
of another qualified institutional buyer; or

e thepurchaserisnota U.S.person (as definedin Regulation S)oris acquiring the Notes forits own
account oras a fiduciary oragent for others in a transaction outside the United States pursuant to
RegulationS.

(3) Thepurchaserrepresents that it is purchasing Notes for its own account, or forone or more investor
accounts forwhich itis actingasa fiduciary oragent, in each casenotwith a view to, or for offerorsale in
connection with, any distribution of the Notes in violation of the Securities Act, subjectto any requirement
of law that the disposition of its property or the property of that investoraccountoraccounts beat alltimes
within its or their controland subject to its or theirability to resell the Notes pursuantto Rule 144A orany
otheravailable exemption from registrationunder the Securities Act. The purchaseragrees onits own
behalfand onbehalf ofany investoraccount for which it is purchasing Notes, and each subsequent holder
of the Notes by its acceptance ofthe Notes will agree, that until the end of the Resale Restriction Period (as
defined below), the Notes may be offered, sold or otherwise transferred only: (a)to us; (b)undera
registration statement that has been declared or has become effective under the Securities Act; (c) forso
longasthe Notes are eligible forresale under Rule 144 A, to a person thesellerreasonably believes is a
qualified institutional buyer that is purchasing for its own account or fortheaccountof another qualified
institutional buyer and towhom noticeis given that the transferis beingmade in relianceon Rule 144 A;
(d) through offers and sales thatoccur outside the United States within the meaning of RegulationS; (e) to
an institutional accredited investor (within the meaning of Rule 501(a)(1), (2), (3) or(7) underthe
Securities Act) that is purchasing for its own accountor for the account ofanother institutional accredited
investor, in each case in a minimum principal amount of Notes of US$250,000; or (f) underany other
available exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act; in each case in compliance
with any applicable state securities laws; subjectin eachof theabovecases to any requirementof law that
the disposition of theseller’s property orthe property of aninvestoraccountoraccounts be at alltimes
within the seller’s oraccount’s control.

The purchaseralso acknowledges that:
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e theaboverestrictions on resale willapply from the closing dateuntil the date after which such Notes
may be freely transferred pursuantto Rule 144 under the Securities Act (in the caseof the Notes sold
pursuantto Rule 144 A) or40 days (in the case of the Notes sold pursuantto Regulation S) after the
laterofthe closingdateand the lastdatethatwe orany ofouraffiliates were the owner of the Notes
or any predecessor ofthe Notes (the “Resale Restriction Period”), and will not apply afterthe
applicable Resale Restriction Period ends;

e if a holderof Notes proposes to resell or transfer Notes under clause (e) above before theapplicable
Resale Restriction Period ends, the sellermustdeliverto us andthe Trusteea letter fromthe
purchaser in the form set forth in the indenture which mustprovide, among other things, that the
purchaseris an institutional accredited investor that is not acquiring the Notes for distribution in
violation ofthe Securities Act;

e we and theTrustee reserve theright to require in connection with any offer, sale or other transfer of
Notesunderclauses (d), (e)and (f) above the delivery of an opinion of counsel, certifications and/or
otherinformationsatisfactory to us and the Trustee; and

e cach Notebeingsold pursuantto Rule 144A will containa legend substantially to the following
effect:

THIS SECURITY HAS NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR OTHER
JURISDICTION. NEITHER THIS SECURITY NOR ANY INTEREST OR PARTICIPATION HEREIN
MAY BE REOFFERED, SOLD, ASSIGNED, TRANSFERRED, PLEDGED, ENCUMBERED OR
OTHERWISEDISPOSED OF IN THE ABSENCE OF SUCH REGISTRATION OR UNLESS SUCH
TRANSACTIONIS EXEMPT FROM, OR NOT SUBJECT TO, SUCH REGISTRATION. THE
HOLDER OF THIS SECURITY, BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF, AGREES ONITS OWN BEHALF
AND ON BEHALF OF ANY INVESTOR ACCOUNT FOR WHICHIT HAS PURCHASED
SECURITIES, TO OFFER, SELL OR OTHERWISE TRANSFER SUCH SECURITY, ONLY (A) TO
THEISSUER, (B) PURSUANT TO A REGISTRATION STATEMENT THAT HAS BECOME OR
BEENDECLARED EFFECTIVE UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (C) FOR SO LONG AS THE
SECURITIES ARE ELIGIBLEFOR RESALE PURSUANT TORULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES
ACT, TO A PERSONIT REASONABLY BELIEVESIS A “QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER”
AS DEFINED INRULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT THAT PURCHASES FOR ITS OWN
ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ANOTHER QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONALBUYER AND
TO WHOM NOTICE IS GIVEN THAT THE TRANSFER IS BEING MADE INRELIANCE ONRULE
144 A, (D) PURSUANT TO OFFERS AND SALES THAT OCCUR OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES
IN ACCORDANCE WITHREGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (E) TO AN
INSTITUTIONAL “ACCREDITED INVESTOR” WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 501 (@)(1), (2),
(3) OR (7) UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT THAT IS ACQUIRING THE SECURITY FOR ITS OWN
ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ANOTHER INSTITUTIONAL ACCREDITED INVESTOR,
INEACH CASE IN A MINIMUM PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF THE SECURITIES OF US$250,000, FOR
INVESTMENT PURPOSES ANDNOT WITH A VIEW TO OR FOR OFFER OR SALEIN
CONNECTION WITH ANY DISTRIBUTION IN VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT,

(F) PURSUANT TO THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION PROVIDED BY RULE 144 UNDER
THE SECURITIES ACT (IF AVAILABLE) OR (G) PURSUANT TO ANOTHER AVAILABLE
EXEMPTION FROM THEREGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT, SUBJECT
TO THE ISSUER’S AND THE TRUSTEE’S RIGHT PRIOR TO ANY SUCH OFFER, SALE OR
TRANSFER PURSUANT TO CLAUSES (D), (E), (F) OR (G) TO REQUIRE THEDELIVERY OF AN
OPINION OF COUNSEL, CERTIFICATION AND/ OR OTHER INFORMATION SATISFACTORY TO
EACH OF THEM. THIS LEGEND WILLBE REMOVED UPON THE REQUEST OF THE HOLDER
AFTER THE RESALE RESTRICTION TERMINATION DATE.

e cach Notebeingsold pursuantto Regulation S will contain a legend substantially to the following
effect:

THIS SECURITY HASNOT BEENREGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS
AMENDED (THE “SECURITIES ACT”), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OR OTHER
JURISDICTION, AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD OR DELIVERED IN THE UNITED STATES
OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, ANY U.S. PERSON, UNLESS SUCH NOTES
ARE REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR AN EXEMPTION FROM THE
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)

©)

(6)

)

REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS THEREOF IS AVAILABLE. THISLEGEND WILL BE
REMOVED AFTER THE EXPIRATION OF FORTY DAYS FROM THE LATER OF (i) THE DATE ON
WHICHTHESENOTES WERE FIRST OFFERED AND (ii) THE DATE OF ISSUE OF THESE NOTES.

The purchaserhasreceived a copy ofthe prospectus relating to the offering of the Notes and the Guarantees
and acknowledges that (a ) neither we nor the Initial Purchasers or any personrepresentingus or the Initial
Purchasers have madeany representation to it with respect to us orthe offeringand the sale of the Notes
and the Guarantees other than the information contained in and incorporated by reference into this
documentand (b)it hashadaccess to suchfinancial and other information and has been offered the
opportunity to ask questions of us and received answers thereto, as it deemed necessary in connection with
the decision to purchase Notes.

The purchaser understands that we, the Company, the Initial Purchasers and others will rely upon thetruth
and accuracy ofthe foregoing representations, acknowledgements and agreements and agrees thatif any of
the representations and acknowledgements deemed to have been made by it by its purchase ofthe Notes are
no longeraccurate, the purchaser shall promptly notify us and the Initial Purchasers. If the purchaseris
acquiringthe Notes as a fiduciary oragent for one ormoreinvestor accounts, it represents that it has sole
investment discretion with respectto each suchaccountandit has full powerto make the foregoing
representations, acknowledgements and a greements on behalf of such account.

The purchaser: (a)isable to fend foritself in the transactions contemplated by this document; (b) has such
knowledge and experiencein financial and business matters as to be capable of evaluating themerits and
risks of its prospective investment in the Notes; and (c) has theability to bear the economic risks of its
prospective investment and can a fford the complete loss of such investment.

By acceptance ofa Note, each purchaser and subsequent transferee will be deemed to haverepresentedand
warranted that either (a) no portion of theassets used by such purchaser or transferee to acquire or hold the
Notes constitutes assets of any employee benefit planthat is subject to Title I of the United States
Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), a plan, individual retirement
account or otherarrangement that is subject to Section4975 of the United States Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended (the “Code”) or provisionunder any federal, state, local, non-U.S. or otherlaws, rules or
regulations that are similar to such provisions or ERISA orthe Code (collectively, “Similar Laws™) or
entity whose underlying assets are considered to include “plan assets” ofany such plan, accountor
arrangement or (b) the purchase and holding of the Notes will not constitute a non-exempt prohibited
transactionunder Section406 of ERISA or Section4975 of the Code ora violationunder any applicable

SimilarLaws.
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LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters in connection with this offering will be passed upon for us by Shearman & Sterling
(London) LLP, as to matters of United States federal law, New York State lawand English law. Certain legal
matters in connection with this offering will be passed upon forthe Initial Purchasers by Davis Polk & Wardwell

LondonLLP, asto matters of United States federaland New York State law.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements ofthe Group as atand forthe year-ended December31,2019, forthe
year-ended December31,2018and fortheyear-ended December31,2017, prepared in accordance with IFRS as
adopted by the European Unionhave been audited by Deloitte LLP, independentauditors, as stated in theirreports
incorporated by reference herein. Forthe periodcommencingJanuary 1,2020, PwC are successor auditors to
Deloitte LLP and are our independentauditors. The Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements for the
six-month period ended June 30,2020 prepared in accordance with [AS 34 as adopted by the European Union and

the Disclosure Guidance and Transaparency Rules sourcebook of the United Kingdom’s FCA have been reviewed
by PwC.
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DESCRIPTION OF ANGLO AMERICAN CAPITAL PLC

INCORPORATION, REGISTERED OFFICE AND PURPOSE

Anglo American Capital, a wholly owned subsidiary of Anglo American, was incorporated and registered in
England and Wales under theregistered number 046588 14 on February 6,2003 and operates under the Companies
Act2006 asa public limited company. Itsregistered office isat 20 Carlton House Terrace, LondonSW1Y 5SAN.
Anglo American Capital was formed as a special purpose company solely for the purposes of issuing debt securities
and hasno subsidiaries.

Anglo American Capital’s authorized share capitalis £50,000and US$1,000,000,000 divided into 50,000 3%
cumulative preference shares of£1.00 each and 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of US$1.00 each, of which 50,000
cumulative preference shares and 5,700 ordinary shares are in issue and fully paid up. Allof Anglo American
Capital’s issued shares arebeneficially owned by Anglo American.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Directors of Anglo American Capital and their functions and principal directorships outside Anglo
American Capital are as follows:

Principal Directorships outside

Name Title Anglo American Capital

Alan Macpherson...........ccccvvveeeeeeeeennnnns Director None

Stephen Pearce.........ccoocveeenieiinnicinnne Anglo American plc, De Beers, Anglo
American Platinum Limited, BAE

Director Systems plc

Clare Davage .......ccooeeeeeevviiieeeeeeeeiiienns Director None

Ellie Klonarides.............ccoovvveveeeieenennnnn. Director None

Richard Price ........ccccooovviiiiiiiiiiiiii, Director None

Matthew Walker...........ccooevvvviiieiennnnnns Director None

Zahira Quattrocchi..........ccccvvvvvvvvvvnnnnnn. Director None

Aaron Field........cccooooviiiiiiiiiiiiiiinn, Director None

The business address ofeach of the above is 20 Carlton House Terrace, London SW1Y 5AN andthetelephone
number of Anglo American Capital’s registered office is: +44 (0)20 7968 8888.

No potential conflicts of interest exist between the Directors’ duties to Anglo American Capital and their private
interests or other duties.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Deloitte audited Anglo American Capital’s accounts in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards
in the United Kingdom for the period from February 6,2003 (Anglo American Capital’s dateof incorporation) to
December31,2004and in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) from
December31,2005to December31,2019. Audit reports issued by Deloitte onthese financial statements were
without qualification.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

AUTHORIZATION

The issue of the Notes, or, in the case ofthe Company, the giving of the guarantee, has been duly authorized by
the resolutions of the Board of Directors of Anglo Americanplc dated July 28,2020 and of the Board of Directors

of Anglo American Capital plc dated August28,2020.
LISTING

Applicationhas been made to the FCA forthe Notes to be admitted to the Official List and to the London Stock
Exchange forthe Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange’s Regulated Market and is
expected tobe effective as of September 10,2020, subjectonly to the issuance of the Global Notes. The listingof
the Notes on the Official List will be expressedas a percentage oftheirnominalamount (exclusiveof accrued
interest). Priorto listing of the Notes on the Official List and Admissionto trading, however, dealings will be

permitted by the London Stock Exchange in accordance with its rules. Transactions will normally be effected for
delivery on the third working date after the day of the transaction.

The Issuer’s and the Company’s out-of-pocket expenses in relationto Admission to trading of the Notes on the
London Stock Exchange’s Regulated Market are expected to amountto approximately £300,000.

CLEARING REFERENCE NUMBERS
The Notes have beenaccepted for clearance through DTC’s book-entry settlement system. The CUSIP and
ISIN numbers forthe Notes areas follows:

2030 Notes distributed pursuantto Rule 144 A: CUSIP 034863 AX8,ISIN US034863AX89
2050 Notes distributed pursuantto Rule 144 A: CUSIP 034863 AY6,ISIN US034863AY62
2030 Notes distributed pursuantto Regulation S: CUSIP G0446N AS3, ISIN USG0446NAS39
2050 Notes distributed pursuantto Regulation S: CUSIP G0446N AT1,ISIN USG0446NAT12

The address of DTC is The Depository Trust Company, 55 Water Street, New York, NY 10041-0099, USA.
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND POSITION AND PROSPECTS

There has been no significantchange in the financial performance and financial position ofthe Group since
June 30,2020, beingthedateof themost recentinterim financial statements.

Save as discussed under “Recent Developments—COVID-19 Pandemic”, there has been nomaterial adverse
change in the prospects of the Group since December31,2019, being the date ofits last published audited financial
statements.

There has been no significantchange in the financial performance and financial position ofthe Issuer since
December31,2019,beingthe date ofits last published audited financial statements.

Save as discussed under “Recent Developments—COVID-19 Pandemic”, there has been nomaterial adverse
change in the prospects of the Issuer since December31,2019, beingthe date ofits last published audited financial
statements.

LITIGATION

Proceedingsin South Africa

Silicosis class action

AASA wasnamedasone of32 respondents in a consolidated class certification application filed in the South
Gauteng High Court (Johannesburg) on behalf of former mineworkers (or their dependants or survivors) who
allegedly contractedsilicosis ortuberculosis as a result ofhaving worked for various gold mining companies
includingsome in which AASA was a shareholder andto which AASA provided various technicaland
administrative services.’
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The parties reached a settlementagreementin May2018. This settlement (i) required approval by the High
Court of South Africa, and (ii) contained a provision that nomore than 2,000 people opt out of the approved
settlementagreement. Thesettlement agreementwas approved by the High Court in July 2019, and the final
conditionprecedent was achieved in December 2019, when it was confirmed that fewer than 2,000 persons elected

to opt out of the settlementa greement.

The settlement accordingly became effectiveon December 10,2019. Asa result, the independent trusthas been
constituted, and is responsible for tracking and tracing potential claimants, conducting benefit evaluations to
determine whether the claimants qualify for benefits and the disbursements of compensation to qualifying claimants.
The compensation from the trustwill be in addition to the statutory benefit the claimants may receive. The trust is
established ona defined benefit model, with compensation payable to all potentially qualifying claimants. Funding
forpayment of compensation will be provided on a drip feedmodel overthe 13-year duration of thetrust.

AASA’s anticipated21%share ofthe total cost of implementing the agreement is currently estimated at circa
US$101 million. The ultimatecostof the settlement will depend onthe number of eligible claimants, claim history
and diseaseprevalence. Theassumptions underpinning the financial provisions remainunchanged. The provided
amount has beenamended to take into account payments made in 2019, foreign exchange fluctuations, discounting
to current values, and allocations to currentand non-current liabilities.

Settled litigation

AASA was also a defendant in approximately 4,400 separate lawsuits filed in the North Gauteng High Court
(Pretoria), which were referred to arbitration. These 4,400 claims (approximately 1,200 of which were separately
instituted against AngloGold Ashanti) were settled by AASA and AngloGold Ashantiin 2016, without admission of

liability, foran amountwhich is not material to AASA.

Otherthanas disclosed in this section, there are no governmental, legal orarbitration proceedings (including
any suchproceedings which are pending or threatened of which the Company or the Issuer is aware), duringthe 12
months preceding the date ofthis document whichmayhave, orhavehadin the recentpast, significant effects on

the Issuerand/orthe Group’s financial position or profitability.

NATURE OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND AUDITORS

Deloitte LLP has made reports under Chapter 3 of Part 16 ofthe Companies Act 2006 on the statutory accounts
of the Company and theIssuer fortheyears ended December31,2019,2018 and 2017 (each incorporated by
reference in this document), which were unqualified and did not contain any statement asis described in
Sections 498 (2) or(3) of the Companies Act 2006. Any financial information included in this document (other than
the statutory accounts incorporated by reference in this document) do not constitute the statutory accounts ofthe
Company orthe [ssuer within the meaning of Section435 (1)and (2) of the Companies Act 2006 for any period
presented. Statutoryaccounts of the Company andtheIssuerhave been delivered to the Registrar of Companies in

England and Wales fortheyear-ended December 31,2019 in accordance with, and as required by, UK law.

The independent auditors of the Company and theIssuer fortheyears ended December31,2019,2018 and
2017 were Deloitte of 2 New Street Square, London EC4A 3BZ, who are registered to carry out audit work by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales andregulated by the Audit Inspection Unit of the
Professional Oversight Board of the Financial Reporting Council in the United Kingdom, whoseaddress is Eighth
Floor, 1 Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5AG. Deloitte hasnointerestin the Issuer orthe Company.

YIELD

The projectedyield of the2030 Notes willbe 2.729% and of the 2050 Notes will be 4.033%. Such projection
hasbeen calculated on thebasis of the offering prices as atthe date ofthis document andis not an indication of
actual future returns for investors.

INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE

Save forany fees payable to the Initial Purchasers, so faras the Company and the Issuer are aware, no person
involved in the issue of the Notes has an interest materialto the offer.

DOCUMENTS

Forthe life of this document, copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at (i) in the
case of the documents listed in (a) and (d), https:/www.angloamerican.com/investors/fix ed-income-investors/usd-
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mvestor-downloads (ii) in the case of the documents listed in (b), https:/www.angloamerican.com/investors/fixed-
income-investors/issuer-document-downloads and (iii) in the case ofthedocuments listed in (c), at the websites
listed in the section entitled “Incorporation of Certain Information by Reference’:

(a) this document;

(b) the Memorandum and Articles of Association of Anglo Americanplc and Anglo American
Capitalplc;

(©) the Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements, the Group 2019 Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements, the Group 2017 Consolidated

Financial Statements, the Issuer 2019 Financial Statements, theIssuer 2018 Financial Statements and
the Issuer2017 Financial Statements; and

(d) the Indenture.
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DEFINED TERMS

Defined Term Definition

“2030 Notes” 2.625% Senior Notes due 2030
“2050 Notes” 3.950% Senior Notes due 2050
“AA Sur” Anglo American Sur SA

“AAIC” Anglo American InyosiCoal
“AASA” Anglo American South Africa Proprietary Limited
“Agent” Citibank, N.A.

“ANM” National Mining Agency

“AMSA” ArcelorMittal South Africa Limited
“Anglo American”, “Company” and “Guarantor” Anglo American plc

“Anglo American Capital” and “Issuer” Anglo American Capital plc

LR N3

“Anglo American Group”, “Group”, “us”,

“Anglo American Platinum”
“AngloGold Ashanti”
“Atlatsa”

“Australian dollar” and “AUD”
“BBBEE”

“BEE”

“Brazilianreal” and “BRL”
“British pound” and “GBP”
“Canadiandollars” and “CAD”
“Cerrejon”

“CFEM”

“Chilean peso” and “CLP”
“CMA”
“CRARegulation”

“c/lb”

“DBCM”

“De Beers”

“Debswana”
“Deloitte”
“DNPM”
GCDMRE"J

44DTC”
“Eskom”

“Euro” and “EUR”

“Exchange Act”

“FCA”

“Ferroport”

“FI EL’ >

“FSMA”
“GEMCO”
GGGMC”
‘GGRB,’

we” and “our”

Anglo American, together with its subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates

Anglo American Platinum Limited

AngloGold AshantiLimited

Atlatsa Resources Corporation

The lawful currency of Australia

Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment

Black Economic Empowement

The lawful currency of Brazil

The lawful currency of the United Kingdom

The lawful currency of Canada

Carbones del Cerrejon Limited, Cerrejon Zona Norte SA
and CMC-CoalMarketing Company Limited
Calculation of mining royalties

The lawful currency of Chile

Competition and Markets Authority

Regulation (EC)No. 1060/2009

U.S. cents perpound

De Beers Consolidated Mines Limited

DB Investments Plc and De Beers Plc together with its
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies
Debswana Diamond Company, a 50:50joint venture with
the GRB

Deloitte LLP

National Departmentof Mineral Production

South African Department of Mineral Resources and
Energy

The Depository Trust Company

Eskom Holdings Limited (the South African electrical
utility operator)

The lawful common currency of the EU member states
who haveadoptedthe Euro as their sole national currency
The United States Securities Exchange Act 0f 1934, as
amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder

the Financial Conduct Authority actingunder Part VI of
the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

Ferroport Logistica Comercial Exportadora SA (formerly
referred to as LLX Minas-Rio Logistica Comercial
Exportadora SA or LLX Minas-Rio Logistica SA)
Financial Exchange Law of Japan (Law No.25 of 1998,
asamended)

The Financial Services and Markets Act 2000

Groote Eylandt Mining Company Pty Limited

Group Management Committee

The Governmentof the Republic of Botswana
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4‘GRN,7
“Group 2020 Condensed Interim Financial Statements”

“Group 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements”

“Group 2018 Consolidated Financial Statements”

“Group 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements”

“Half Year Financial Report”

“HDSAC(s)”
“Hotazel”
“H12019”
“H12020”
“IAS 34”
“IFRS11”
“IFRS”

L‘IMF’?
“Indenture”

“Indicated Mineral Resource”

“Initial Purchasers”

The Governmentof the Republic of Namibia

The unaudited consolidated condensed financial statements
of'the Anglo American Group and notes thereto prepared in
accordance with International Accounting Standard 34
Interim Financial Reporting and therequirements ofthe
Disclosure Guidance and Transparency Rules (“DTR”) of
the FCA in the United Kingdom as applicable to interim
financial reporting for the six months ended June 30,2020.
The audited consolidated financial statements ofthe
Anglo American Group andnotes thereto prepared in
accordance with IFRS and Company financial statements
prepared in accordance with UK GAAP, together with the
related independentauditor’s audit report, as at and for the
year-ended December31,2017
The audited consolidated financial statements ofthe
Anglo American Group andnotes thereto prepared in
accordance with [FRS and Company financial statements
prepared in accordance with UK GAAP, together with the
related independentauditor’s audit report, as at and for the
year-ended December31,2018

The audited consolidated financial statements ofthe
Anglo American Group andnotes thereto prepared in
accordance with [FRS and Company financial statements
prepared in accordance with UK GAAP, together with the
related independentauditor’s audit report, as at and for the
year-ended December31,2019

Interim report ofthe Group for the six months ended June
30,2020

Historically Disadvantaged South Africans

Hotazel Manganese Mined and Metalloys

Six months ended June 30,2019

Six months ended June 30,2020

International Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial
Reporting

International Financial Reporting Standard 11 Joint
Arrangements

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted for
use by the European Union

International Monetary Fund

The Indenture, dated April 8,2009, as supplemented by
first supplemental indenture dated as of April2,2012 and
the second supplemental indenturedated as of May 14,
2015, under which the Notes will be issued, among the
Issuer, Anglo Americanand Citibank, N.A.

An Indicated Mineral Resourceis that part of a Mineral
Resource for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical
characteristics, grade and mineral content canbe
estimated with a reasonable level of confidence. Itis
based onexploration, sampling and testing information
gathered through a ppropriate techniques from locations
such as outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and drill holes.
The locations are too widely or inappropriately spaced to
confirm geological and/or grade continuity but are spaced
closely enough for continuity to be assumed

BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Goldman Sachs Co.LLC,
HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., Santander Investment
Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Corp. and Scotia
Capital (USA)Inc.
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“Iron Ore Brazil”
“Issuer2017 Financial Statements

ER]

2

“Issuer2018 Financial Statements

ER]

“Issuer2019 Financial Statements

“Joint Bookrunners”

“JORC Code”

“kt”

“Kumba”

“Lafarge”

“Lafarge Tarmac”

661b77

“Measured Mineral Resource”

“MIiFIDIT”
“Minas-Rio”

“Minas-Rio Project”
“Mineral Resource”

“Mining Charter”

The business unit containing the Minas-Rio Project

The audited financial statements of Anglo American
Capitalandnotes thereto prepared in accordance with UK
GAAP, together with the related independentauditor’s
auditreport,as at and forthe year-ended December31,
2017

The audited financial statements of Anglo American
Capitalandnotes thereto prepared in accordance with UK
GAAP, together with the related independentauditor’s
auditreport,as at and forthe year-ended December31,
2018

The audited financial statements of Anglo American
Capitalandnotes thereto prepared in accordance with UK
GAAP, together with the related independentauditor’s
auditreport, as at and forthe year-ended December31,
2019

BNP Paribas Securities Corp., Goldman Sachs & Co.
LLC,HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., Santander Investment
Securities Inc., CIBC World Markets Corpand Scotia
Capital (USA)Inc.

The Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration
Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves, 2012
edition

Denotes kilotonnes

Kumba Iron Ore Limited

Lafarge SA

Thejoint venture between Lafarge and Tarmac

Denotes pounds

A Measured Mineral Resource is thatpart ofa Mineral
Resource for which tonnage, densities, shape, physical
characteristics, grade and mineral content canbe
estimated with a high level of confidence. Itisbasedon
detailed and reliable exploration, sampling and testing
information gathered through a ppropriate techniques from
locations suchas outcrops, trenches, pits, workings and
drill holes. The locations are spaced closely enough to
confirm geological and grade continuity

Directive 2014/65/EU

Anglo American Minério de Ferro Brasil SA (previously
Anglo Ferrous Minas-Rio Mineracdo SA)

Minas-Rio together with Ferroport

A MineralResourceis a concentration or occurrence of
material of intrinsic economic interestin oron the Earth’s
crust in such form, quality and quantity that there are
reasonable prospects for eventual economic extraction.
The location, quantity, grade, geological characteristics
and continuity of a Mineral Resource are known,
estimated or interpreted from specific geological evidence
and knowledge. Mineral Resources are sub-divided, in
orderof increasing geological confidence, into Inferred,
Indicated and Measured categories

The Broad-Based Socio-Economic Empowerment Charter
forthe South African Mining Industry

146



“Mining Right”

“Minorco”

‘GMOndi’J
“MPRDA”

“Mt”

“Mtpa”
“NamdebHoldings”
“Niobium”

“Notes”
“Official List”
“old ordermining” or “prospecting rights”

“Operating Model”

“Ore Reserves”

“oz”
“PCI”

“Peace River Coal”
“PGM(s)”

“Phosphates”

“Ponahalo Holdings”
“Ponahalo Investments”
“Probable Ore Reserves”

The Mining Right granted by the South African
Departmentof Mineral Resources in accordance with the
provision of MPRDA to undertake or conduct mining
activities fora defined periodin relationto the area and
the mineral to which the Mining Right relates andin
accordance with the terms and conditions imposed by the
MiningRight and the MPRDA.

Minorco Société¢ Anonyme, a Luxembourgbased
company

MondiGroup

The South African Mineral and Petroleum Resources
Development Act,2002

Denotes million tonnes

Denotes million tonnes per annum

Namdeb Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

Anglo American Niobio Brasil Limitada (previously
Mineracio Cataldo de Goids Limitada, “Catalao™)

The 2030 Notes together with the 2050 Notes

The official list of the FCA

Prospecting, miningand mineral rights formerly regulated
underthe South African Minerals Act 50 0f 1991 ofthe
RSA and South Africancommon law

A model forhow we set targets, plan, manage, execute
and improve our work, bringing consistency ofapproach
to everythingwe do

An Ore Reserve is the economically mineable partofa
Measured and/or Indicated Mineral Resource. Itincludes
dilutingmaterials and allowances for losses, which may
occur when thematerialis mined. Appropriate
assessments and studies havebeen carried out and include
consideration of and modification by realistically a ssumed
mining, metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal,
environmental, socialand governmental factors. These
assessments demonstrate at thetime ofreporting that
extractioncould reasonably be justified. Ore Reserves are
sub-divided in order of increasing confidence into
Probable Ore Reserves and Proved Ore Reserves.
Denotes ounces

Pulverized coal injection

Peace River Coal Incorporated

Platinum group metal(s)

Anglo American Fosfatos Brasil Limitada

Ponahalo Holdings (Proprietary) Limited

Ponahalo Investments (Proprietary) Limited

A Probable Ore Reserve is the economically mineable
partof anIndicated, and in some circumstances, a
Measured Mineral Resource. Itincludes diluting
materials and allowances for losses which may occur
when the materialis mined. Appropriateassessments and
studies have been carried outand include consideration of
and modification by realistically assumed mining,
metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, environmental,
socialand governmental factors. These assessments
demonstrateatthe time of reporting thatextraction could
reasonably be justified.
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“Proved Ore Reserves”

L‘RBCT”
‘6RMX”
‘GRPM”
‘6RSA’7
“Samancor”

“Samancor Holdings”
“Samancor Marketing”
“SARB”

“SARS”

“Scaw Metals”

“SI0C”
L&Sirius”

“South Africanrand”, “ZAR”
“Tarmac”

“TEMCO”
“Tender Offers”

“tonnes”

“Trustee”

“Trust Indenture Act”
“UK GAAP”

“U.S. GAAP”

“US$” and “U.S.dollar”

A Proved Ore Reserve is the economically mineable part
of a Measured Mineral Resource. It includes diluting
materials and allowances for losses which may occur
when the materialismined. Appropriateassessments and
studies have been carried outand include consideration of
and modification by realistically assumed mining,
metallurgical, economic, marketing, legal, environmental,
socialand governmental factors. These assessments
demonstrateatthe time of reporting thatextraction could
reasonably be justified

The Richards Bay Coal Terminal

Readymix concrete

Rustenburg Platinum Mines

The Republic of South Africa

Samancor Holdings together with GEMCO, TEMCO and
Samancor Marketing

Samancor Holdings Proprietary Limited

Samancor Marketing Pte. Ltd

South African Reserve Bank

South African Revenue Service

Scaw South Africa (Proprietary) Limited together with, in
respect of periods priorto 2011, the Scaw Metals
International business

Sishen Iron Ore Company (Proprietary) Limited

Sirius Minerals plc

The lawful currency of the Republic of South Africa

The group of aggregates and building products companies
operating, under the Tarmac brand in the UK, Middle East
and priorto its disposalin 2014, Tarmac Building
Products Limited

Tasmanian Electro Metallurgical Company Pty Limited
The tender offers to purchase (i) a portionof theIssuer’s
€377,819,0002.500% Guaranteed Notes due 2021 and
€750,000,0003.500% Guaranteed Notes due 2022 (the
“Euro Tender Offer”)and (ii)any andall of the Issuer’s
US$ 600,000,0004.125% Senior Notes due 2022 (the
“US Tender Offer” and together with the Euro Tender
Offer, the “Tender Offers”), as described under
“Summary—Recent Developments—Tender Offers”
Denotes metric tonnes (1,000 kilograms)

Citibank, N.A.

The U.S. Trust Indenture Act of 1939, asamended
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice in the United
Kingdom

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United
States

The lawful currency of the United States of America
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No dealer, salesperson or other person is authorized to give any
information or to represent anything not contained in this
document. You must not rely on any unauthorized information
or representations. This document constitutes a prospectus that
has been prepared solely for the purpose of Admission of the
Notes and does not constitute an offer for sale of Notes. The

information contained in this document is current only as of its US$1’500’000’000
date.
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